Functional adaptation of the plant receptor-kinase gene SYMRK paved the way for the evolution of root endosymbioses with bacteria

Katharina Markmann Munich 2008

Functional adaptation of the plant receptor-kinase gene SYMRK paved the way for the evolution of root endosymbioses with bacteria

Kumulative Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades der Naturwissenschaften

an der Fakultät für Biologie

der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

vorgelegt von

Katharina Markmann

aus Warendorf

München, den 31.07.2008

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 07.11.2008

Erklärung und ehrenwörtliche Versicherung

Ich versichere hiermit, dass ich die vorliegende Arbeit selbständig durchgeführt und keine anderen als die angegebenen Hilfsmittel und Quellen benutzt habe. Ich habe weder anderweitig versucht, eine Dissertation einzureichen oder eine Doktorprüfung durchzuführen, noch habe ich diese Dissertation oder Teile derselben einer anderen Prüfungskommission vorgelegt.

München, den _____

Katharina Markmann

Erstgutachter: Zweitgutachter: Prof. Dr. Martin Parniske Prof. Dr. Arthur Schüßler Für meine Eltern

Table of contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS	1
ABBREVIATIONS	. 4
SPECIES NAMES AND AFFILIATIONS	5
FIGURES AND BOXES	6
TABLES	7
1 SUMMARY	8
2 INTRODUCTION AND SCIENTIFIC CONTEXT	
EVOLUTION OF ROOT ENDOSYMBIOSIS WITH BACTERIA:	
HOW NOVEL ARE NODULES?	9
2.1 Abstract	10
2.2 Root nodulation symbiosis: a rare but efficient source of nitrogen for plants	10
2.3 What are the key genetic inventions of the nodulating clade?	12
2.4 Bacterial uptake evolved by arbuscular mycorrhiza gene recruitment	18
2.5 SYMRK is a likely determinant of the genetic predisposition for nodulation	19
2.6 Combining infection and organogenesis: What makes a "predisposed rosid" a "nodulator"?	21
2.7 Cytokinin is a trigger for nodule organogenesis	23
2.8 Concluding remarks	28
2.9 Acknowledgements	29
2.10 References	30
3 The study	
FUNCTIONAL ADAPTATION OF A PLANT RECEPTOR-KINASE	
PAVED THE WAY FOR THE EVOLUTION OF INTRACELLULAR ROOT	
SYMBIOSES WITH BACTERIA	35
3.1 Introduction	36

3.2 Results
Structural and functional conservation of the common symbiosis gene <i>CYCLOPS</i> reveals a conserved AM genetic program
Rice <i>CYCLOPS</i> can function in both AM and RNS in a legume
The symbiosis receptor-like kinase gene SYMRK is structurally divergedin angiosperms
<i>SYMRK</i> is required for actinorhiza, suggesting a common genetic program for RNS
<i>SYMRK</i> function in AM is conserved across rosid lineages
<i>Lotus SYMRK</i> is sufficient for both RNS and AM in another legume, <i>Medicago truncatula</i>
"Full-length" <i>SYMRK</i> versions from symbiotically distinct rosids can support both AM and RNS in <i>Lotus</i>
<i>SYMRK</i> versions of reduced length restore AM but not RNS in <i>Lotus</i> 5
3.3 Discussion
An ancient genetic program for AM among angiosperms
A molecular link between the two types of RNS
<i>SYMRK</i> is not involved in determining host-microbiont specificity
A role of <i>SYMRK</i> in the predisposition to evolve RNS
SYMRK domain function and evolution
Additional components required for nodulation
3.4 Conclusions
3.5 Materials and methods
Isolation of <i>SYMRK</i> homologues7
Construct generation for mutant complementation and <i>Datisca SYMRK</i> RNAi experiments
Biological material and phenotyping assays
Plant transformation
Quantitative PCR of reverse transcribed cDNA (qRT-PCR) 7
Computational analysis
Accession Numbers
3.6 References
3.7 Acknowledgements

2_____

4	SPECIAL THANKS	87
5	Appendix	88
	5.1 List of publications and author contributions	88
	5.2 Publications and manuscripts	90
	5.3 Curriculum Vitae	145

Abbreviations

AM	Arbuscular Mycorrhiza
AR	Actinorhiza
bp	nucleic acid base pair(s)
BLAST	basic local alignment search tool
°C	degree(s) Celsius
CaMV	cauliflower mosaic virus
CC	coiled-coil domain
CCaMK	calcium/calmodulin dependent protein kinase
cDNA	complementary DNA
CEC	conserved extracellular region of predicted SYMRK proteins
DMI2	does not make infections 2
DNA	desoxyribonucleic acid
(e)GFP	(enhanced) green fluorescent protein
g/l	gram(s) per litre
h	hour(s)
IT	infection thread
LRR	leucine-rich repeat
LYK	LysM domain containing receptor-like kinase
ml	milliliter(s)
mm	millimeter(s)
mRNA	messenger RNA
n	number of tested items or specimens
NEC	N-terminal extracellular region of predicted SYMRK proteins
NFR	nod factor receptor
NIN	nodule inception
NLS	nuclear localization signal
nm	nanometre(s)
NORK	nodulation receptor kinase
NUP	nucleoporin
OD ₆₀₀	optical density at 600 a wavelength of 600 nm
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
pg	picogram(s)
PIT	pre-infection thread
РК	protein kinase domain
PPA	pre-penetration apparatus
qRT-PCR	quantitative RT-PCR
RACE	rapid amplification of cDNA ends
RLS	rhizobium-legume symbiosis
RNA	ribonucleic acid
RNAi	RNA interference
RNS	root nodule symbiosis;
RT-PCR	polymerase chain reaction following reverse transcription of RNA

SbtM4	symbiosis induced subtilase gene 4 (SbtM type)
SYMRK	symbiosis receptor-like kinase
ТМ	transmembrane domain
WOC	week(s) of co-cultivation
WT	wild type; wild-type
μΜ	micromolar
μm	micrometer(s)

Species names and affiliations

Plants (Kingdom Plantae)

Abbreviation	Order	Common name
A. verticillata	Fagales	
A. glutinosa	Fagales	alder
A. thaliana; Arabidopsis	Brassicales	thale cress
D. glomerata; Datisca	Cucurbitales	durango root
L. japonicus; Lotus	Fabales	birdsfoot trefoil
L. albus	Fabales	lupine
L. esculentum	Solanales	tomato
O. sativa	Poales	rice
P. rhoeas	Ranunculales	рорру
T. majus; Tropaeolum	Brassicales	nasturtium
Z. mays	Poales	maize
	Abbreviation A. verticillata A. glutinosa A. thaliana; Arabidopsis D. glomerata; Datisca L. japonicus; Lotus L. albus L. esculentum O. sativa P. rhoeas T. majus; Tropaeolum Z. mays	AbbreviationOrderA. verticillataFagalesA. verticillataFagalesA. glutinosaFagalesA. thaliana; ArabidopsisBrassicalesD. glomerata; DatiscaCucurbitalesL. japonicus; LotusFabalesL. albusFabalesL. esculentumSolanalesO. sativaPoalesP. rhoeasRanunculalesT. majus; TropaeolumBrassicalesZ. maysPoales

Fungi (Kingdom Fungi)

Full scientific name	Abbreviation	
Glomus intraradices Schenck & Smith	G. intraradices	

Bacteria (Kingdom Eubacteria)

Full scientific name	Abbreviation
Agrobacterium rhizogenes	A. rhizogenes
Frankia spec.	Frankia
Mesorhizobium loti	M. loti
Sinorhizobium meliloti	S. meliloti

Reference of the bacterial strains used in this study is provided in the materials and methods section (3.5, page 72).

Figures and boxes

Figure 1:	Common endosymbiosis genes exhibit divergent patterns of structural and
	functional evolution
Figure 2:	The variation in gene structure and domain composition between SYMRK
	versions from different angiosperm lineages is exceptional among genes
	that are required for both AM and RNS symbioses (common symbiosis
	genes)
Figure 3:	Root nodulation symbiosis with nitrogen-fixing bacteria is embedded in
	conserved genetic programs
Figure 4:	CYCLOPS is conserved in structure and AM function between between the
	rosid dicot L. japonicus (Lotus) and the monocot O. sativa (rice)
Figure 5:	O. sativa (rice) CYCLOPS restores both fungal and bacterial endosymbioses
	in L. japonicus (Lotus) cyclops-3 mutants
Figure 6:	SYMRK exon-intron structure and root endosymbiotic abilities of
	angiosperm lineages
Figure 7:	SYMRK kinase regions share several defining conserved amino acid
	motifs, which are absent in similar sequences in A. thaliana (Arabidopsis)
	and O. sativa (rice)
Figure 8:	RNS and AM are impaired in D. glomerata (Datisca) SYMRK (DgSYMRK)
	knockdown roots
Figure 9:	L. japonicus (Lotus) SYMRK (LjSYMRK) restores RNS and AM in
8	<i>M. truncatula (Medicago) dmi2</i> 5P mutants
Figure 10:	D glomerata (Datisca) M truncatula (Medicago) and T maius
	(<i>Tropaeolum</i>) SYMRK restore fungal and bacterial endosymbioses in
	L. japonicus (Lotus) symrk-10 mutants
Figure 11.	SYMRK of the actinorhizal plant C_{adjuca} (Casuarina) restores funcel and
11gui (11,	bacterial endosymbiosis in L. <i>janonicus</i> (Lotus) symrk-10 mutants
	Les la contrat en la contrata de la
Figure 12:	L. esculentum (tomato) and O. sativa (rice) SYMRK restore AM symbiosis

	in Lotus symrk-10 mutants, but cannot or only partially complement	
	bacterial endosymbiosis formation	57
Figure 13:	AM formation, but not RNS and IT formation are restored in L. japonicus	
	(Lotus) symrk-7 and -10 mutant lines segregating the L. esculentum	
	(tomato) SYMRK genomic region under control of the tomato SYMRK	
	(LeSYMRK) promoter	58
Figure 14:	NIN and SbtM4 expression are not induced in M. loti R7A induced	
	L. japonicus (Lotus) symrk-7 roots carrying tomato SYMRK (LeSYMRK)	59
Figure 15:	Structure of the L. japonicus (Lotus) SYMRK ΔNEC version (ΔNEC-	
	LjSYMRK) compared to full-length LjSYMRK and O. sativa SYMRK	
	(OsSYMRK)	59
Figure 16:	An L. japonicus (Lotus) SYMRK (LjSYMRK) deletion construct lacking the	
	NEC region is sufficient for AM formation, but not for RNS in Lotus	60
Box 1:	Model systems for RNS transfer	27
Box 2:	Superficial details	27

Tables

Table 1:	SYMRK homologs, conceptual SYMRK proteins and the closest A. thaliana	
	(Arabidopsis) sequences	45
Table 2:	Restoration of root symbioses in <i>dmi2</i> and <i>symrk</i> mutants upon transformation	
	with different SYMRK versions	51
Table 3:	Summary of AM and RNS phenotyping results of Lotus symrk-7 and -10	
	mutant lines segregating the tomato SYMRK genomic region under control of	
	the tomato SYMRK promoter	56
Table 4:	Oligonucleotide primer sequences	75

7

1 Summary

Combining a phylogenetic evolutionary approach with functional genetic analyses, this dissertation reveals breakthrough insights into the evolution of intracellular plant root symbioses with fungi or bacteria. Arbuscular Mycorrhiza (AM) with fungi is widespread among land plants today, and believed to date back to their earliest representatives. However, plant genes required for this symbiosis were confirmed only in legumes at the time this project started. The thesis provides evidence for a functional conservation of the legume symbiosis genes *CYCLOPS* and *SYMRK* in AM across dicot and monocot angiosperm lineages, and thus for the existence of a conserved genetic basis of AM in angiosperms. Rice *cyclops* mutants proved unable to form AM, and rice *CYCLOPS*, as well as *SYMRK* versions from rice and different dicot angiosperms were found to restore AM when transgenically introduced into legume mutants in which the orthologous genes are defective.

In legumes, at least seven "common symbiosis" genes—including *SYMRK* and *CYCLOPS*—are required not only for AM, but also for the more recently evolved root nodule symbiosis (RNS) with nitrogen-fixing rhizobia. RNS occurs in two major forms, legume-rhizobium symbiosis and Actinorhiza. RNS types differ in bacterial partner, intracellular infection pattern, and morphogenesis. This work identifies the receptor-like kinase gene *SYMRK* as the first plant gene known to be required for actinorhiza. *SYMRK* is shown to be necessary for Actinorhiza of the cucurbit *Datisca glomerata* and the Fagales tree *Casuarina glauca* with actinobacteria of the genus *Frankia*, providing the first functional evidence that all three types of plant root endosymbiosis, AM and both forms of RNS, are genetically and hence evolutionarily linked.

The overlap of AM and RNS genetic programs suggests a recruitment of symbiosis genes from AM during RNS evolution, but the molecular basis for this event is not clear. This work reveals that *SYMRK* exists in at least three distinct structural versions, of which the shorter forms from rice and tomato are sufficient for AM, but not for functional endosymbiosis with bacteria in the legume *Lotus japonicus*. Only the longest version, which is present in all RNS forming groups, can fully support RNS. All other common symbiosis genes are structurally conserved between monocot and dicot angiosperms, and rice *CYCLOPS* proved competent to support both AM and RNS in *Lotus japonicus*. The combined data support the idea that *SYMRK* sequence evolution was involved in the recruitment of a pre-existing signalling network from AM, paving the way for the evolution of intracellular root symbioses with nitrogen-fixing bacteria.

The key results of the study are discussed and interpreted in the light of a broader scientific context in the second chapter, which has been submitted as a review article.

2 Introduction and scientific context

Evolution of root endosymbiosis with bacteria: how novel are nodules?

The content of this chapter has been published as a review article. The manuscript and figures were prepared by the author of the thesis.

Markmann, K. and Parniske, M. (2009).

Evolution of root endosymbiosis with bacteria: how novel are nodules? Trends in Plant Science: 14, 77-86.

2.1 Abstract

Plants form diverse symbioses with nitrogen-fixing bacteria to gain access to ammonium, a product of the prokaryote-exclusive enzyme nitrogenase. Improving the symbiotic effectiveness of crop plants like maize, wheat or rice is a highly topical challenge and could help reduce the need for energy-intense nitrogen fertilizer in staple food production. Root nodule symbiosis (RNS) constitutes one of the most productive nitrogen-fixing systems, but it is restricted to a small group of related angiosperms. Here, we review the genetic regulation of RNS and its interconnections with other plant symbiosis or plant developmental programs. Since RNS uses genetic programs that are widely conserved in land plants, we evaluate the prospects for a transfer to plants that are currently non-nodulating.

2.2 Root nodulation symbiosis: a rare but efficient source of nitrogen for plants

Limitation of water or nutrients such as nitrogen, potassium and phosphate restricts plant growth and development in many terrestrial ecosystems. Mutualistic symbioses of roots with fungi or bacteria help plants to cope with these constraints. Associative nitrogen fixation is found in plants as diverse as ferns (e.g. *Azolla*), gymnosperms (e.g. coralloid roots of cycads) and monocots, which can host endophytic diazotrophs such as *Azoarcus* or *Azospirillum*. Among the most sophisticated associations are intracellular (endo-) symbioses, where the microbial partner is accommodated within a living host cell [1]. This inter-organismic intimacy is based on complex molecular crosstalk between the partners and, except in parasitic associations where bacterial nitrogen fixation remains inefficient, allows efficient nutrient exchange to the benefit of both [1]. Root nodule symbiosis (RNS) effectively renders plants independent of other nitrogen supplies [2] but is restricted to only four related orders within the Eurosid clade of angiosperms [3]. RNS is characterized by two major evolutionary inventions: the intracellular uptake of bacteria and the formation of specialized organs, the root nodules [4,5]. The latter provide a suitable microenvironment for nitrogenase activity and allow

for a protected, controlled development of high bacterial population densities. Nodules thus resemble 'micro-fermenters' within the host plant that are optimized for symbiosis maintenance.

There are two main types of RNS that differ in bacterial partners, infection mechanisms and nodule organogenesis and morphology [4,5]. Legumes, including important agricultural crops such as soybean (*Glycine max*), common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) and pea (*Pisum sativum*), interact with phylogenetically diverse nitrogen-fixing bacteria known as rhizobia [2,4]. Actinorhiza, a symbiosis with nitrogen-fixing actinobacteria of the genus Frankia [6], is formed by members of three rosid orders: the Fagales, Cucurbitales and Rosales [7]. Examples are alder (*Alnus spp.*), sea buckthorn (*Hippophae rhamnoides*) and the subtropical tree genus *Casuarina* [8].

Within the four orders where RNS occurs, its distribution is scattered [7,9]. It is an ongoing challenge to decipher the combination of molecular adaptations characterizing RNS-forming plants (i) relative to related species outside of the nodulating clade and (ii) relative to non-nodulating representatives within. The close kinship of taxa forming RNS prompted the proposition that a common ancestor could have acquired a genetic predisposition to evolve nodulation [3]. This predisposition, consisting of one or more genetic advances, consequently became a basis for the evolution of all types of RNS. This hypothesis predicts that the existing forms of RNS have overlapping genetic programs. However, experimental evidence for a genetic program shared between both types of RNS was obtained only recently [10,11]: post-transcriptional gene silencing demonstrated that the SYMBIOSIS RECEPTOR-LIKE KINASE (SYMRK) gene (also known as <u>DOES NOT MAKE INFECTIONS 2</u> [DMI2] in Medicago truncatula [barrel medic] and <u>NODULATION RECEPTOR KINASE [NORK]</u> in Medicago sativa [alfalfa]) [12,13], which is necessary for the interaction of legumes with rhizobia [12,13], is also required for actinorhiza with Frankia in the Fagales tree Casuarina glauca [10] and the cucurbit Datisca glomerata [11]. The common requirement of SYMRK is probably representative for other genes shared between RNS in legumes and actinorhiza (Figures 1, 2 and 3) and provides important support for the hypothesis that actinorhiza and legume RNS share a common genetic ancestry.

In this review, we discuss the genetic features that distinguish 'nodulators' from nonnodulating plants – and form the molecular prerequisite for the complex evolutionary achievement of nitrogen-fixing RNS.

2.3 What are the key genetic inventions of the nodulating clade?

Among the prime candidates for adaptations specific to RNS-forming plants are genes involved in the perception of rhizobial signaling molecules, namely lipochitooligosaccharide nodulation (Nod) factors. These receptors are required for the earliest host responses to symbiotic rhizobia and are involved in determining host-symbiont specificity [14–17]. They are likely to represent relatively recent achievements during the evolution of legume RNS. In the Japanese legume Lotus japonicus, a close relative of the Eurasian birdsfoot trefoil, perception of Nod factors depends on the receptor-like kinases (RLKs) NOD FACTOR RECEPTOR 1 (NFR1) and NFR5 and is highly specific in that Nod factors produced by different bacterial strains can be distinguished if they show minor alterations of their chemical structure [15-17]. NFR-predicted proteins contain lysine motif (LysM) domains in their predicted extracellular part, and these domains are involved in Nod factor recognition in L. japonicus [17]. Closely related genes mediate Nod-factor signaling in other legumes such as M. truncatula [14,18]. In an approach to induce a compatible interaction of rhizobial bacteria with an incompatible legume, M. truncatula was equipped with L. japonicus Nod factor receptor genes (NFR1 and NFR5). Transgenic roots formed bacteria-containing nodules with the specific partner of L. japonicus, Mesorhizobium loti [17]. Although these nodules were not fully functional [17], the observations demonstrate that Nod factor receptors have a central role in defining host ranges in rhizobium-legume interactions. The Nod factor receptors are closely related to two receptors identified in the nonnodulating angiosperms Arabidopsis thaliana (thale cress) and rice (Oryza sativa), which are required for the defense-related perception of chitin oligomers, a chemical signature of fungi [19,20].

The high level of specificity of Nod-factor recognition and the necessity to evoke

12

symbiosis-related rather than defense-related downstream responses call for artificial transfer of compatible receptors to potential new hosts. Alternatively, infection systems that are likely to be independent of Nod-factor signaling, such as those employed by certain photosynthetic bradyrhizobia that induce nodules on aerial plant parts [21] or actinorhiza with Frankia [22], represent an interesting resource for further exploitation towards developing artificial host systems. Because these bacteria lack common nod genes required for Nod-factor synthesis in rhizobia [21,22], they must rely on alternative strategies to induce nodule organogenesis and infection. A key question is whether the Nod-factor receptors are specific to the legume branch of the nodulating clade or whether actinorhiza plants employ the same type of receptor for detection of Frankia symbionts. Key genes required for Nod-factor synthesis have not been detected in the fully sequenced Frankia genomes ([22]; Box 1). However, the exceptional genus Parasponia belongs to the Rosales that are normally nodulated by Frankia but is nodulated by rhizobia. Parasponia nodulation requires the rhizobial common nod genes, which suggests that LysM RLKs could be involved in RNS in this plant [23]. Although Parasponia might be an exception, it is possible that the adaption of LysM receptors for the recognition of symbiotic bacteria goes back to the 'predisposition event', but their involvement in actinorhizal symbiosis with Frankia is presently unclear.

Figure 1. Common endosymbiosis genes exhibit divergent patterns of structural and functional evolution. SYMRK, which might form the entry point to the common AM and RNS program for endosymbiosis with fungi or bacteria, has at least three distinct structural versions. All of these support AM symbiosis with fungi, but only the longest version is sufficient for functional RNS [11]. This longest SYMRK version has been found only in rosids and seems to be present in all species that form RNS, as well as in their relatives, such as poplar or Tropaeolum, that do not form RNS but form only AM symbioses [11]. This pattern suggests an involvement of SYMRK in a genetic adaptation that might have provided a molecular basis for the evolution of RNS within the rosid lineage. A common ancestor of the rosid clade (dark purple) possibly acquired a specific adaptation of SYMRK, allowing plant-bacterial interactions to access the conserved AM genetic program for endosymbiosis, which encompasses at least six further genes (CASTOR [34]; POLLUX [31,34]; NUP85 [35]; NUP133 [36]; CCaMK [32,37]; CYCLOPS [33,38]). In contrast to SYMRK, these are structurally conserved across dicot and monocot angiosperms (Figure 2). Potentially, the monomorphic components of the common symbiosis program can support RNS [26,28,38,39,47]. The small pictograms refer to the root endosymbiosis types supported by the respective structural version of SYMRK. Angiosperm orders shaded dark gray include members forming AM and actinorhizal RNS with Frankia (AR), those shaded light purple form AM and another form of RNS, rhizobium-legume symbiosis (RLS). Members of orders shaded light blue form AM but no RNS. The plant names (same color code as for orders) refer to species containing the respective structural versions of SYMRK. Asterisks (*) indicate the availability of data on the functional capabilities of the respective SYMRK genes [10.11]. Abbreviations: AM, arbuscular mycorrhiza; AR, actinorhiza; RLS, rhizobium-legume symbiosis; RNS, root nodulation symbiosis. Key to plant names: alder, Alnus glutinosa; Casuarina, C. glauca; Datisca, D. glomerata; Lotus, L. japonicus; maize, Zea mays; Medicago, M. truncatula and M. sativa; poplar, P. trichocarpa; poppy, Papaver rhoeas; Tropaeolum, T. majus; rice, Oryza sativa. Predicted protein regions are abbreviated as: CEC, conserved extracellular domain; LRR, leucine-rich repeat; NEC, Nterminal region of unknown function; PK, protein kinase domain; TM,

transmembrane domain. Nomenclature of angiosperm phylogeny is based on Ref. [81].

14





Figure 2. The variation in gene structure and domain composition between SYMRK versions from different angiosperm lineages is exceptional among genes that are required for both AM and RNS symbioses (common symbiosis genes). The longest known version of SYMRK (a) contains three LRR motifs, all encoded by individual exons. Two shorter versions exist in other plant lineages, which form AM, but no RNS. SYMRK from the asterid tomato represents an intermediate version that only has two LRR encoding exons. The shortest known versions of SYMRK were isolated from monocots, such as rice [11]. In those regions of the gene that are present in all versions, intron positions and phases are conserved. Other common symbiosis genes (b-q) required for intracellular infection are structurally conserved between dicot and monocot angiosperms, such as Lotus and rice. Minor variations in exon lengths exist, but intron positions and phases are conserved in all cases. In Lotus CYCLOPS (g), two NLS motifs are predicted in silico, as compared to one in rice, but only one of the NLS from the Lotus ortholog was functional in a heterologous localization experiment [38]. Only this one, which corresponds to the one conserved in rice CYCLOPS, is depicted here. Key to plant names: Lotus, L. japonicus; tomato, Lycopersicon esculentum; rice, Oryza sativa. Filled boxes represent exons, or those regions of exons that are part of the coding sequence. Introns are not depicted, and dotted lines indicate the positions of exon-intron borders. Arrowheads indicate exon-intron borders that cannot be correlated between predicted orthologs with certainty. Predicted protein regions are abbreviated as: AI; CaM, autoinhibitory domain overlapping with calmodulin binding site; EF, calcium-binding EF hand; CC, coiled-coil region; CEC, conserved extracellular region; LRR, leucine-rich repeat motif; NEC, N-terminal extracellular region of unknown function; NLS, nuclear localization signal; PK, protein kinase domain; TM, transmembrane domain; SP, signal peptide. The annotations follow in silico predictions or published annotation of the depicted or homologous sequences where appropriate [11,13,37,38]. The genomic and coding sequences used for prediction of exon-intron structures were: (a) SYMRK (DMI2; NORK) [11-13], AP004579 and AF492655 (Lotus), AY940041 and AY935266 (tomato); AP003866 and AK099778 (rice); (b) CASTOR [34], AB162016 and AB162157 (Lotus), NC 008396 and AK068216 (rice); (c) POLLUX (DMI1) [31,34], AB162017 and AB162158 (Lotus), NC 008394 and AK072312 (rice); (d) NUP85 [35], AP009253 and AB284835 (Lotus), NC 008394 and AK072636 (rice); (e) NUP133 [36], AJ890252 and AJ890251 (Lotus), NC_008396 and AK073981 (rice); (f) CCaMK (DMI3) [32,37], AM230792 and AM230793 (Lotus), AC097175 and AK070533 (rice); (g) CYCLOPS [38], AP009158 and EF569221 (Lotus), AP008212 and EF569223 (rice). Coding sequences used for exon-intron structure determination are derived from cDNA, not from *in silico* predictions. Parts of the figure are modified from Ref. [11].

2.4 Bacterial uptake evolved by arbuscular mycorrhiza gene recruitment

RNS is genetically embedded in an ancient program for endosymbiosis that is widely conserved in plants today. The majority of land plants form arbuscular mycorrhiza (AM), a symbiosis with fungal symbionts of the phylum Glomeromycota [24]. AM hosts benefit from the extensive access of the fungal mycelia to soil compartments by exchanging photosynthates for water and nutrients such as phosphate [25]. AMforming angiosperms have been shown to possess conserved genes required for intracellular accommodation of microbial symbionts [11,26-29]. Although originally evolved for symbiosis with fungi, components of this program are functional in RNS with bacteria and could potentially support RNS also in lineages that do not currently contain nodulating species. The 'common symbiosis program' is defined by genes that are required for both intracellular root symbioses with bacteria (RNS) and fungi (AM) [1]. In the model legume L. japonicus, seven common symbiosis genes have been identified [30], and for four of these, orthologs were isolated from other legumes such as M. truncatula, M. sativa and garden pea [12,31-33]. The RLK SYMRK (DMI2; NORK) functions among the earliest components of the common symbiosis program, near the point where rhizobium-legume signaling merges with the AM genetic program [12,13,16]. Further common symbiosis proteins include the two predicted cation channels CASTOR and POLLUX (M. truncatula DMI1) [31,34], two nuclear pore proteins (NUP85 [35] and NUP133 [36]), the calcium and calmodulin dependent

<u>k</u>inase CCaMK (*M. truncatula* DMI3) [32,37] and the nuclear protein CYCLOPS [38] (*M. truncatula* INTERACTING PROTEIN OF DMI3 [IPD3]) [33].

The requirement of legume genes for both bacterial and fungal symbioses inspired the hypothesis that pre-existing AM genes were recruited during the evolution of RNS [1]. Indeed, predicted common symbiosis gene orthologs from non-legume dicots and from monocots were shown to be essential for AM in these lineages or supported AM if introduced in legume mutants deficient in the respective genes. Rice lines mutated in *CASTOR*, *POLLUX*, *CCaMK* (*DMI3*) or *CYCLOPS* (*IPD3*) were unable to establish

symbiosis with AM fungi [26,28,29,38,39], and transgenic introduction of *CASTOR*, *CCaMK* and *CYCLOPS* into corresponding legume mutants restored AM formation [26,28,38,39]. *SYMRK* genes from different dicot angiosperms and the monocot rice complemented the loss of AM in an *L. japonicus symrk* mutant [11]. This provides evidence for a conserved genetic framework of AM in angiosperms (Figure 1).

In contrast to RNS, plant organogenetic programs are not induced during AM [40]. However, in both symbioses the host plant accommodates the respective microbial symbiont inside living plant cells. Prior to AM fungal infection of host epidermal and cortical cells, characteristic nuclear movements and rearrangements of cytoskeleton and organelles occur [41,42]. Formation of the resulting cellular 'pre-penetration apparatus' was found to depend on the common symbiosis genes DMI2 (SYMRK) and DMI3 (CCaMK) in M. truncatula [42], indicating their involvement in preparing host cells for the intracellular invasion by fungal symbionts. Strikingly similar phenomena were observed in both rhizobium-legume [43,44] and actinorhizal [45] interactions, where cytoplasmic bridges, termed 'pre-infection threads', form in host cells before bacterial invasion. In both AM and RNS, these cytological structures dictate the path of microbial progression through infected host cells [41–45]. Consistent with this, mutant phenotypes of legumes impaired in common symbiosis genes involve either a total block or early arrest of intracellular microbial infection [30]. Together, these data strengthen the hypothesis [1] that AM gene recruitment during RNS evolution laid the basis for intracellular accommodation of bacteria. The recruitment event could have enabled the integration of receptor-mediated perception of bacterial partners into the pre-existing AM genetic program, which was a decisive step in the evolution of RNS. The genetic basis for this novel link might be identical to the enigmatic predisposition event at the root of the nodulating clade.

2.5 SYMRK is a likely determinant of the genetic predisposition for nodulation

Genetic adaptations conferring the predisposition to nodulate [3] have been acquired by

the ancestor of the monophyletic nodulating clade. Therefore, the corresponding features should be present in nodulating and non-nodulating members of this clade. At the same time, such adaptations should be absent in other angiosperm lineages. A corresponding pattern has so far only been detected for SYMRK, making this gene a prime candidate for carrying decisive sequence and functional alterations acquired by the ancestor of the nodulating clade. Among common symbiosis genes required for endosymbiotic infection in AM and RNS, contrasting evolutionary patterns are apparent (Figures 1 and 2). Unique structural and functional divergence was found between SYMRK genes isolated from different angiosperm lineages (Figures 1 and 2). At least three distinct versions of SYMRK exist, which differ in the domain configuration of the predicted products and in their potential to confer symbiotic ability [11]. Only the longest version, which is present in rosids including legumes, actinorhizal hosts and also non-nodulating species, fully supports both AM and RNS [11]. Both shorter SYMRK versions fully support AM but not RNS when transgenically introduced into a legume symrk mutant background [11]. The precise molecular features that are responsible for these differences remain to be determined. Interestingly, only the monocot version can support basic RNS related responses, including organogenesis induction and rare, aberrant infection events [11]. The precise extent to which non-rosid SYMRK versions can function in root interactions with bacteria remains to be determined. But the apparent correlation between the occurrence of the full-length SYMRK version in a monophyletic group including all RNS-forming lineages and the potential of this version, as opposed to the shorter ones, to support functional endosymbiosis with bacteria suggests that SYMRK is involved in the predisposition for nodulation. By contributing to the general ability of rosid lineages to evolve RNS, the longest SYMRK version is likely to represent one of the genetic advances that paved the way for RNS evolution in an ancestor of the nodulating clade [11].

In contrast to SYMRK, other common symbiosis genes exhibit a conserved exon-intron

structure within the coding sequence and similar predicted protein domains in hosts from dicot and monocot angiosperm lineages [27,32,34–36,38] (Figure 2). Examples are *CASTOR, CCaMK* and *CYCLOPS*, where this structural conservation coincides with conserved functionality in root endosymbioses. *CCaMK* from the monocots rice [46] and *Lilium longiflorum* [47] restored RNS when introduced into *ccamk* mutants of the legume *M. truncatula*, although later stages of symbiosis establishment were compromised when rice *CCaMK* was used for complementation [46]. In *castor, ccamk* and *cyclops* loss-of-function mutants from *L. japonicus*, rice versions of the respective genes fully restored both AM and RNS [28,38].

Potentially, with the exception of SYMRK [11], common symbiosis proteins from nonnodulating lineages can thus support RNS without major modification. The observed sequence adaptations of *SYMRK* might have been sufficient for the recruitment of the common symbiosis program in an ancestor of all nodulators.

2.6 Combining infection and organogenesis: what makes a 'predisposed rosid' a 'nodulator'?

Despite the scattered occurrence of nodulation within the rosid lineage, plant-bacterial endosymbioses have only been detected in association with nodule organogenesis. A known exception is *Gleditsia triacanthos* (honey locust), in which infection-thread formation and symbiotic nitrogen fixation do not involve the development of nodules [48]. In addition, organogenesis can be uncoupled from intracellular infection in nodulating legume species [47,49–52]. Mutants of *Sinorhizobium meliloti* exist that fail to induce root-hair reactions or intracellular infection in their host, *M. sativa*, but are able to induce nodule organogenesis [49]. By contrast, particular lines of *M. sativa*, *M. truncatula* and *L. japonicus* develop spontaneous nodules in the complete absence of rhizobia [47,49–52]. These data indicate that intracellular infection and nodule organogenesis are genetically separable processes in RNS. Consequently, genes involved in spatially coordinating and synchronizing nodule organogenesis with

bacterial infection are essential for an efficient RNS. Mutants in three independent loci were identified in *L. japonicus* that exhibit root nodule organogenesis in the absence of rhizobia. Two of the respective genes have been isolated [37,52]. Versions of CCaMK that are mutated in or lack the autoregulatory domain of the protein can induce the development of bacteria-free nodules with normal tissue organization in legumes forming either determinate [37] or indeterminate nodules [47]. CCaMK is presumed to be involved in deciphering nucleus-associated 'calcium spiking' [32,53], periodic fluctuations of calcium concentration that occur in response to rhizobia or isolated Nod factors [54]. Similar calcium-fluctuations of a distinct pattern occur in response to AM fungi [55], suggesting that calcium spiking might be involved in inducing different downstream responses in bacterial and fungal symbioses [55]. However, the observation that monocot orthologs can restore nodulation in *ccamk* loss-of-function mutants [28,46,47] rules out the possibility that legume-specific adaptations of *CCaMK* are essential for nodule organogenesis in this lineage.

In the *L. japonicus* intracellular infection program, *CCaMK* functions upstream of the common symbiosis gene *CYCLOPS* [38], which is required for intracellular infection but not for induction of nodule organogenesis. However, nodule organogenesis aborts at a primordial stage in *cyclops* mutants [38]. This developmental arrest can be circumvented by autoactive CCaMK, indicating that the initiation of organogenesis is partially parallel to the common symbiosis program for intracellular infection [38]. Importantly, these observations also suggest that in the wild-type situation, the progression of intracellular bacterial infection is a prerequisite for completion of nodule development [38].

RNS-related responses induced by an autoactive CCaMK version require several putative transcriptional regulators [37,47,56], which, in contrast to CCaMK itself, are not required for AM [56–59]. These include the GRAS type transcription factors <u>NODULATION SIGNALING PATHWAY 1 (NSP1) [60,61]</u> and NSP2 [61,62], the <u>ETHYLENE RESPONSE FACTOR (ERF)-type AP2 protein ERF REQUIRED FOR NODULATION 1 (ERN1) [56] and NODULE INCEPTION (NIN) [59,63]. These all belong to families that contain close homologs in other angiosperms, including the</u>

nonsymbiotic *A. thaliana* and the monocot rice [56,60,61,64]. It is possible that specific adaptations of the respective legume genes are required for their function in RNS because *NbNSP1* from *Nicotiana benthamiana* (tobacco) only partially complemented RNS in *M. truncatula nsp1* mutants [61]. Interestingly, these genes are required for both nodule organogenesis and infection-thread initiation (NSP1 [57,60]; NSP2 [58,62]; NIN [59]) or infection-thread development (ERN1 [56]). Their precise role during symbiosis establishment is unclear but potentially involves the regulation of distinct response patterns in root epidermal and cortical layers [65]. Several lines of evidence, most notably the discovery that a cytokinin receptor (*L. JAPONICUS* <u>H</u>ISTIDINE <u>K</u>INASE 1 [LHK1] [52,66], *M. truncatula* <u>C</u>YTOKININ <u>RE</u>SPONSE 1 [CRE1] [67]) has an important role in initiation of nodulation, indicate that cytokinin is a key trigger for nodule organogenesis, as discussed in two recent reviews [68,69]. In a possible scenario, Nod-factor signaling via the common symbiosis program initiates cytokinin production, which in turn induces transcriptional regulation of genes controlling progression of nodule organogenesis [68] in a cell-type-specific manner [69].

2.7 Cytokinin is a trigger for nodule organogenesis

Consistent with an essential role of cytokinin in initiating nodule organogenesis, an autoactive version of the cytokinin receptor LHK1 induces spontaneous nodule organogenesis in the absence of rhizobia [52]. By contrast, an *lhk1* loss-of-function allele (*hit1-1*) supports intracellular bacterial infection but strongly impairs the formation of nodules [66]. Experimental downregulation of the *M. truncatula* predicted ortholog of this gene, *CRE1*, led to loss of nodule organogenesis [67], indicating a role of cytokinin in the formation of both determinate and indeterminate nodules.

Both rhizobial and *Frankia* strains have been reported to secrete cytokinin [70,71], and Nod-factor-deficient, non-nodulating strains of *Sinorhizobium meliloti* regain the potential to induce nodule-like organs when manipulated to secrete *trans*-zeatin, a naturally occurring cytokinin [72]. These observations suggest a possible role of cytokinin secreted by bacterial symbionts during symbiosis establishment in the induction of nodule organogenesis in RNS.

Photosynthetic *Bradyrhizobium* strains were identified that lack the *nodABC* operon required for Nod-factor synthesis and were proposed to induce nodulation in a Nodfactor-independent manner by using purine derivatives, which could be related or identical to phytoactive cytokinins [21]. Together, these data suggest that bacterial symbionts might contribute to nodule organogenesis induction, or even circumvent the Nod-factor signaling pathway, by releasing cytokinin and activating the LHK1-mediated organogenesis program.

Presumed *LHK1* or *CRE1* orthologs are conserved in angiosperms, including *Arabidopsis* and rice [73,74]. Testing the potential of deregulated versions to autoinduce similar organogenetic responses in non-nodulating plants could reveal whether nodulating groups evolved a partially specific, LHK1-mediated cytokinin response [65] or whether they fully rely on pre-existing programs for organogenesis.

The direct involvement of cytokinin signaling in the regulation of nodule organogenesis relates RNS to fundamental developmental processes, such as lateral-root generation [67,73,75], regulation of root length [52,66,67,73] and vascular morphogenesis [52,76] (Figure 3). The evolution of nodule organogenesis might thus have involved the adaptation of pre-existing root developmental programs such that they respond to hormonal re-balancing of the root cortex induced by signals associated with endosymbiotic bacterial infection [68,77,78]. Consistent with this is the occurrence of nodules and nodule-like structures in diverse landplant lineages, indicating that the genetic tools for their formation are not limited to RNS-competent rosids. For example, nodules that are likely to have evolved as modified lateral roots similar to actinorhizal nodules occur naturally in some gymnosperms such as *Podocarpus spp.*, where they are colonized by AM fungi and potentially provide a setting for bacterial nitrogen fixation [79]. Artificial induction of nodule-like structures was reported in rice after partially macerated root tissue was exposed to rhizobial bacteria [80]. Finally, nitrogen-fixing nodules differ greatly in their morphological and developmental characteristics between RNS-forming groups [4,5], giving further indication that a broad range of host genetic backgrounds can potentially support nodule formation.

Figure 3. Root nodulation symbiosis (RNS) with nitrogen-fixing bacteria is embedded in conserved genetic programs. Genes required for intracellular infection with (a) arbuscular mycorrhiza (AM) are shared with both main types of RNS, (b) rhizobium-legume symbiosis (RLS) and (c) actinorhiza (AR) with Frankia. Nodule organogenesis might be closely related to (d) lateral root formation. Three modules (i-iii) are apparent that define genetically separable response patterns in RNS. (i) Plant genes required for host-symbiont recognition in the different symbiosis types are likely to carry specific adaptations. Candidates are known only for RLS, where LysM kinases (LiNFRs in Lotus japonicus, and MtLYKs as well as MtNFP in Medicago truncatula) are required for the specific perception of rhizobial chito-oligosaccharide Nod factors (b) [14-18]. AM and AR are likely to employ other genes for recognition of fungal and Frankia signals, the chemical nature of which is not yet resolved ((a) and (c), respectively). (ii) The core module for intracellular infection is defined by at least seven genes that are required for endosymbiosis with both bacteria and fungi in legumes [30], and is likely to be conserved across AM-forming angiosperms [11,26,28,29,38,39,47]. SYMRK is likely to be active at the entry point of this program. The longest, probably rosid-specific version of the gene might carry an adaptation that specifically links receptor-mediated bacterial recognition to the common symbiosis program for endosymbiotic uptake. SYMRK is also required for AR, suggesting that the two forms of RNS rely on similar genetic programs [10,11]. Epidermal responses leading to intracellular infection involve distinct patterns of calcium oscillation in RLS and AM [54,55]. These calcium signals (referred to as 'calcium spiking') potentially represent a key trigger of AM- or RNS specific downstream gene activation. In RLS, activation of the common symbiosis program is assumed to induce the synthesis of cytokinin, which is assumed to act as a signal regulating organogenetic response in the root cortex [52,68,69]. The cytokinin receptor LHK1 (CRE1 in M. truncatula) has a central role in nodule organogenesis induction [52,66,67]. (iii) In the legume L. japonicus, continuous signaling from progressing intracellular infection, possibly via cytokinin, is necessary for maintenance and completion of nodule organogenesis [38] (b). Cytokinin balancing also has a central role in the induction of lateral roots (LRs), which structurally resemble actinorhizal nodules [5]. Response patterns are distinct in that a relative increase in cortical cytokinin levels induces nodulation but represses lateral-root formation [67,75]. Three histidine kinases (AtLHK1, AtLHK2 and AtLHK3), including a putative ortholog of LjLHK1 (MtCRE1), are involved in regulating LR formation in the nonsymbiotic Arabidopsis thaliana [73] (d). It is possible that cytokinin induction of nodule organogenesis involves specific spatial induction patterns of cytokinin biosynthesis, molecular adaptations of LiLHK1 (MtCRE1) or downstream targets that are exclusive to RNS-forming species.



Box 1. Model systems for RNS transfer

Basal but efficient forms of RNS promise to involve a minimal set of host and bacterial genetic adaptations required for engineering artificial host systems. Developmental features of symbiosis establishment, mode. such as infection intracellular accommodation of the microbial symbiont or nodule organogenesis, depend on the host genotype [4,5], rendering the plant the prime target for such engineering efforts. Actinorhizal hosts [82] and legumes of the family Caesalpiniaceae, as well as some Fabaceae [4], retain their bacterial symbionts in tubular infection-thread-like structures lined with plant cell wall material. These have been referred to as 'fixation threads' [4] because they are the sites of bacterial nitrogen fixation in the respective lineages, and they might represent an ancient form of bacterial accommodation [4]. This is in contrast to many legumes of the families Mimosaceae and Fabaceae, including most fabacean legumes. where rhizobia are within crop hosted specialized membrane-bound compartments termed symbiosomes [83]. Because symbiosome formation stringent demands poses on the genetic compatibility of the symbiotic partners and plant control of the symbiosis, fixation thread symbioses like actinorhizas might be more suited as model systems for RNS transfer. Bacterial candidates for engineering artificial RNS systems should be compatible with a wide range of host genetic backgrounds. broad-host-range Promising examples include symbionts like Rhizobium sp. strain NGR234 [84] or Frankia bacteria [22], of which many strains can efficiently infect phylogenetically diverse hosts after either intraor intercellular infection modes [85]. Most actinorhiza-forming Frankia bacteria [86], as well as certain rhizobia, such as Azorhizobium caulinodans [87] and symbiotic Burkholderia strains [88], have the capacity to subsist and fix nitrogen under both symbiotic and nonsymbiotic conditions. Although other factors can restrict nitrogen fixation within plant roots [89], such strains could provide a basis for artificially generating beneficial associations on a nonspecific or partially specific basis [90].

Box 2. Superficial details

In addition to Nod factors, other rhizobial molecules, such as exopolysaccharides and secreted effector proteins [49,91,92], can contribute to establishing fully compatible interactions with legumes. This equally applies to symbioses involving narrow- [49] and broad-host-range rhizobial strains like *Rhizobium sp.* strain NGR234 [91]. The possible existence of additional checkpoints for mutual compatibility in rhizobium–legume systems, potentially involving as yet unknown molecular components [17,91,92], might challenge a successful biotechnological transfer of fully compatible RNS. Deciphering the precise roles of bacterial surface molecules and secreted proteins in both legume and actinorhizal RNS represents an intriguing field for future research efforts.

2.8 Concluding remarks

The emergence of RNS seems to be based on the evolutionary concept of recruitment, in that many RNS-related processes rely on conserved genetic programs that also support pre-existing plant developmental processes and that later acquired additional roles in RNS. Its restricted occurrence in a few rosid plant orders, all part of a monophyletic clade, indicates that more than one specific molecular adaptation was necessary to make RNS evolution possible (Figure 3). These respective genetic changes probably served to link, or add to, pre-existing genetic programs, creating a novel trait of high ecological and economic value. The plant genes involved in these adaptations represent vantage points for efforts to transfer RNS to new hosts. Respective candidate proteins are involved (i) in direct host-microbiont crosstalk (for example, LysM receptor kinases such as L. japonicus NFRs or M. truncatula LYKs and NFP) and (ii) in mediating the molecular integration of plant-bacterial signaling into the host genetic background, thereby 'tapping' pre-existing plant programs for additional use in RNS. A possible example of such a 'recruiter protein' is the RLK SYMRK (DMI2; NORK), which probably contributed to the potential of AM hosts to form endosymbioses with bacteria [1], a capacity that later became associated with nodule organogenesis on independent evolutionary occasions [1,3], perhaps through the cytokinin receptor LHK1 (CRE1).

Efforts towards engineering novel host systems should focus on identifying the crucial specificities of RNS and aim to bring these together within target hosts. To achieve artificial forms of RNS efficient in symbiotic nitrogen fixation, more insights will further be required into the fine-tuning of host-bacterial recognition and compatibility determination (Box 2). In the past, genetic dissection of RNS has predominantly focused on legume model systems where the plant genetic programs involved are likely to be strongly derived. Less specialized forms of RNS, including actinorhizal associations with Frankia bacteria, combine features that render them more promising models for potential RNS transfer to new hosts (Box 1). Deciphering genetic determinants for the existing diversity of RNS within and beyond the legume lineage

will thus be an important step towards identifying a basic set of RNS genetic requirements and, ultimately, combining them in potential new systems.

2.9 Acknowledgements

We thank Martin Groth, Stefanie Kiebart, Esben Madsen and Thomas Ott for discussions and for critically reading the manuscript. We apologize to the authors whose work we could not discuss here owing to space limitations.

2.10 References

- 1 Kistner, C. and Parniske, M. (2002) Evolution of signal transduction in intracellular symbiosis. Trends Plant Sci. 7, 511–518
- 2 Young, J.P.W. (1992) Phylogenetic classification of nitrogen-fixing organisms. In Biological Nitrogen Fixation (Stacey, G. et al., eds), pp. 43–86, Chapman & Hall
- 3 Soltis, D.E. *et al.* (1995) Chloroplast gene sequence data suggest a single origin of the predisposition for symbiotic nitrogen fixation in angiosperms. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 92, 2647–2651
- 4 Sprent, J.I. (2007) Evolving ideas of legume evolution and diversity: a taxonomic perspective on the occurrence of nodulation. New Phytol. 174, 11–25
- 5 Wall, L.G. and Berry, A.M. (2008) Early interactions, infection and nodulation in actinorhizal symbiosis. In Nitrogen-fixing Actinorhizal Symbioses (Pawlowski, K. and Newton, W.E., eds), pp. 147–166, Springer
- 6 Pawlowski, K. and Sprent, J. (2008) Comparison between actinorhizal and legume symbiosis. In Nitrogen-fixing Actinorhizal Symbioses (Pawlowski, K. and Newton, W.E., eds), pp. 261–288, Springer
- 7 Swensen, S.M. (1996) The evolution of actinorhizal symbioses: evidence for multiple origins of the symbiotic association. Am. J. Bot. 83, 1503–1512
- 8 Dawson, J.O. (2008) Ecology of actinorhizal plants. In Nitrogen-fixing Actinorhizal Symbioses (Pawlowski, K. and Newton, W.E., eds), pp. 199–234, Springer
- 9 Doyle, J.J. *et al.* (1997) A phylogeny of the chloroplast gene *rbcL* in the Leguminosae: taxonomic correlations and insights into the evolution of nodulation. Am. J. Bot. 84, 541–554
- 10 Gherbi, H. *et al.* (2008) *SymRK* defines a common genetic basis for plant root endosymbioses with arbuscular mycorrhiza fungi, rhizobia, and *Frankia* bacteria. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105, 4928–4932
- 11 Markmann, K. *et al.* (2008) Functional adaptation of a plant receptor kinase paved the way for the evolution of intracellular root symbioses with bacteria. PLoS Biol. 6, e68
- 12 Endre, G. *et al.* (2002) A receptor kinase gene regulating symbiotic nodule development. Nature 417, 962–966
- 13 Stracke, S. *et al.* (2002) A plant receptor-like kinase required for both bacterial and fungal symbiosis. Nature 417, 959–962
- 14 Limpens, E. *et al.* (2003) LysM domain receptor kinases regulating rhizobial Nod factor-induced infection. Science 302, 630–633
- 15 Madsen, E.B. *et al.* (2003) A receptor kinase gene of the LysM type is involved in legume perception of rhizobial signals. Nature 425, 637–640
- 16 Radutoiu, S. *et al.* (2003) Plant recognition of symbiotic bacteria requires two LysM receptor-like kinases. Nature 425, 585–592
- 17 Radutoiu, S. *et al.* (2007) LysM domains mediate lipochitinoligosaccharide recognition and *Nfr* genes extend the symbiotic host range. EMBO J. 26, 3923–3935
- 18 Amor, B.B. *et al.* (2003) The NFP locus of *Medicago truncatula* controls an early step of Nod factor signal transduction upstream of a rapid calcium flux and

root hair deformation. Plant J. 34, 495-506

- 19 Kaku, H. *et al.* (2006) Plant cells recognize chitin fragments for defense signaling through a plasma membrane receptor. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103, 11086–11091
- 20 Wan, J. *et al.* (2008) A LysM receptor-like kinase plays a critical role in chitin signaling and fungal resistance in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Cell 20, 471–481
- 21 Giraud, E. *et al.* (2007) Legumes symbioses: absence of *Nod* genes in photosynthetic bradyrhizobia. Science 316, 1307–1312
- 22 Normand, P. *et al.* (2007) Genome characteristics of facultatively symbiotic *Frankia sp.* strains reflect host range and host plant biogeography. Genome Res. 17, 7–15
- 23 Marvel, D.J. *et al.* (1987) Rhizobium symbiotic genes required for nodulation of legume and nonlegume hosts. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 84, 1319–1323
- 24 Schüßler, A. *et al.* (2001) A new fungal phylum, the Glomeromycota: phylogeny and evolution. Mycol. Res. 105, 1413–1421
- 25 Javot, H. *et al.* (2007) Phosphate in the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis: transport properties and regulatory roles. Plant Cell Environ. 30, 310–322
- 26 Chen, C. *et al.* (2007) Fungal symbiosis in rice requires an ortholog of a legume common symbiosis gene encoding a Ca2+/calmodulin dependent protein kinase. Plant Physiol. 145, 1619–1628
- 27 Zhu, H. *et al.* (2006) Tracing non-legume orthologs of legume genes required for nodulation and arbuscular mycorrhizal symbioses. Genetics 172, 2491–2499
- 28 Banba, M. *et al.* (2008) Divergence of evolutionary ways among common sym genes: *CASTOR* and *CCaMK* show functional conservation between two symbiosis systems and constitute the root of a common signaling pathway. Plant Cell Physiol. 49, 1659–1671
- 29 Gutjahr, C. *et al.* (2008) Arbuscular mycorrhiza-specific signaling in rice transcends the common symbiosis signaling pathway. Plant Cell, DOI: 10.1105/tpc.108.062414
- 30 Kistner, C. *et al.* (2005) Seven *Lotus japonicus* genes required for transcriptional reprogramming of the root during fungal and bacterial symbiosis. Plant Cell 17, 2217–2229
- 31 Ane, J.M. *et al.* (2004) *Medicago truncatula DMI1* required for bacterial and fungal symbioses in legumes. Science 303, 1364–1367
- 32 Levy, J. *et al.* (2004) A putative Ca2+ and calmodulin-dependent protein kinase required for bacterial and fungal symbioses. Science 303, 1361–1364
- 33 Messinese, E. *et al.* (2007) A novel nuclear protein interacts with the symbiotic DMI3 calcium- and calmodulin-dependent protein kinase of *Medicago truncatula*. Mol. Plant Microbe Interact. 20, 912–921
- 34 Imaizumi-Anraku, H. *et al.* (2005) Plastid proteins crucial for symbiotic fungal and bacterial entry into plant roots. Nature 433, 527–531
- 35 Saito, K. *et al.* (2007) NUCLEOPORIN85 is required for calcium spiking, fungal and bacterial symbioses, and seed production in *Lotus japonicus*. Plant Cell 19, 610–624
- 36 Kanamori, N. *et al.* (2006) A nucleoporin is required for induction of Ca2+ spiking in legume nodule development and essential for rhizobial and fungal symbiosis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103, 359–364
- 37 Tirichine, L. et al. (2006) Deregulation of a Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent kinase
| 32 | |
|----|---|
| | |
| 38 | leads to spontaneous nodule development. Nature 441, 1153–1156
Yano, K. <i>et al.</i> (2008) CYCLOPS, a mediator of symbiotic intracellular
accomodation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105, 20540–20545 |
| 39 | Chen, C. <i>et al.</i> (2008) <i>OsIPD3</i> , an ortholog of the <i>Medicago truncatula</i> DMI3 interacting protein IPD3, is required for mycorrhizal symbiosis in rice. New Phytol 180 311–315 |
| 40 | Parniske, M. (2004) Molecular genetics of the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis.
Curr Opin Plant Biol 7 414–421 |
| 41 | Genre, A. <i>et al.</i> (2008) Prepenetration apparatus assembly precedes and predicts the colonization patterns of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi within the root cortex of both <i>Medicago truncatula</i> and <i>Daucus carota</i> . Plant Cell 20, 1407–1420 |
| 42 | Genre, A. <i>et al.</i> (2005) Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi elicit a novel intracellular apparatus in <i>Medicago truncatula</i> root epidermal cells before infection. Plant Cell 17, 3489–3499 |
| 43 | Timmers, A.C. <i>et al.</i> (1999) Refined analysis of early symbiotic steps of the Rhizobium– <i>Medicago</i> interaction in relationship with microtubular cytoskeleton rearrangements. Development 126, 3617–3628 |
| 44 | van Brussel, A.A. et al. (1992) Induction of pre-infection thread structures in the leguminous host plant by mitogenic lipooligosaccharides of <i>Rhizobium</i> . Science 257, 70–72 |
| 45 | Berg, R.H. (1999) Cytoplasmatic bridge formation in the nodule apex of actinorhizal root nodules. Can. J. Bot. 77, 1351–1357 |
| 46 | Godfroy, O. <i>et al.</i> (2006) A rice calcium- and calmodulin-dependent protein kinase restores nodulation to a legume mutant. Mol. Plant Microbe Interact. 19, 495–501 |
| 47 | Gleason, C. <i>et al.</i> (2006) Nodulation independent of rhizobia induced by a calcium-activated kinase lacking autoinhibition. Nature 441, 1149–1152 |
| 48 | de Faria, S.M. <i>et al.</i> (1999) Nodulação em espécies florestais, especifidade hospedeira e implicações na sistemática de Leguminosae. In Interrelação fertilidade, biologia do solo e nutrição de plantas. [Soil Fertility, Soil Biology and Plant Nutrition Interrelationships] (Siquieira, J.O. et al., eds), pp. 667-686, Solos: Sociedade Brasileira de Ciencias de Solo-Universidade Federal de Lavras Dept |
| 49 | Finan, T.M. <i>et al.</i> (1985) Symbiotic mutants of <i>Rhizobium meliloti</i> that uncouple plant from bacterial differentiation. Cell 40, 869–877 |
| 50 | Truchet, G. <i>et al.</i> (1989) Alfalfa nodulation in the absence of <i>Rhizobium</i> . Mol. Gen. Genet. 219, 65–68 |
| 51 | Tirichine, L. <i>et al.</i> (2006) Spontaneous root-nodule formation in the model legume <i>Lotus japonicus</i> : a novel class of mutants nodulates in the absence of rhizobia. Mol. Plant Microbe Interact. 19, 373–382 |
| 52 | Tirichine, L. <i>et al.</i> (2007) A gain-of-function mutation in a cytokinin receptor triggers spontaneous root nodule organogenesis. Science 315, 104–107 |
| 53 | Mitra, R.M. <i>et al.</i> (2004) A Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase required for symbiotic nodule development: gene identification by transcript-based cloning. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 101, 4701–4705 |
| 54 | Oldroyd, G.E. and Downie, J.A. (2006) Nuclear calcium changes at the core of symbiosis signalling. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 9, 351–357 |
| 55 | Kosuta, S. et al. (2008) Differential and chaotic calcium signatures in the |

symbiosis signaling pathway of legumes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105, 9823-9828

- 56 Middleton, P.H. *et al.* (2007) An ERF transcription factor in *Medicago truncatula* that is essential for Nod factor signal transduction. Plant Cell 19, 1221–1234
- 57 Catoira, R. *et al.* (2000) Four genes of *Medicago truncatula* controlling components of a nod factor transduction pathway. Plant Cell 12, 1647–1665
- 58 Oldroyd, G.E. and Long, S.R. (2003) Identification and characterization of nodulation-signaling pathway 2, a gene of *Medicago truncatula* involved in Nod factor signaling. Plant Physiol. 131, 1027–1032
- 59 Schauser, L. *et al.* (1999) A plant regulator controlling development of symbiotic root nodules. Nature 402, 191–195
- 60 Smit, P. *et al.* (2005) NSP1 of the GRAS protein family is essential for rhizobial Nod factor-induced transcription. Science 308, 1789–1791
- 61 Heckmann, A.B. et al. (2006) *Lotus japonicus* nodulation requires two GRAS domain regulators, one of which is functionally conserved in a non-legume. Plant Physiol. 142, 1739–1750
- 62 Kalo, P. *et al.* (2005) Nodulation signaling in legumes requires NSP2, a member of the GRAS family of transcriptional regulators. Science 308, 1786–1789
- 63 Marsh, J.F. *et al.* (2007) *Medicago truncatula NIN* is essential for rhizobialindependent nodule organogenesis induced by autoactive calcium/calmodulindependent protein kinase. Plant Physiol. 144, 324–335
- 64 Schauser, L. *et al.* (2005) Evolution of NIN-like proteins in *Arabidopsis*, rice, and *Lotus japonicus*. J. Mol. Evol. 60, 229–237
- 65 Oldroyd, G.E. and Downie, J.A. (2008) Coordinating nodule morphogenesis with rhizobial infection in legumes. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 59, 519–546
- 66 Murray, J.D. *et al.* (2007) A cytokinin perception mutant colonized by Rhizobiumin the absence of nodule organogenesis. Science 315, 101–104
- 67 Gonzalez-Rizzo, S. *et al.* (2006) The *Medicago truncatula* CRE1 cytokinin receptor regulates lateral root development and early symbiotic interaction with *Sinorhizobium meliloti*. Plant Cell 18, 2680–2693
- Frugier, F. et al. (2008) Cytokinin: secret agent of symbiosis. Trends Plant Sci.
 13, 115–120
- 69 Oldroyd, G.E. (2007) Plant science. Nodules and hormones. Science 315, 52–53
- 70 Stevens, G.A. and Berry, A.M. (1988) Cytokinin secretion by *Frankia sp.* HFP ArI3 in defined medium. Plant Physiol. 87, 15–16
- 71 Sturtevant, D.B. and Taller, B.J. (1989) Cytokinin Production by *Bradyrhizobium japonicum*. Plant Physiol. 89, 1247–1252
- 72 Cooper, J.B. and Long, S.R. (1994) Morphogenetic rescue of *Rhizobium meliloti* nodulation mutants by *trans*-zeatin secretion. Plant Cell 6, 215–225
- 73 Nishimura, C. *et al.* (2004) Histidine kinase homologs that act as cytokinin receptors possess overlapping functions in the regulation of shoot and root growth in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Cell 16, 1365–1377
- Han, Q.M. *et al.* (2004) A CHASE domain containing protein kinase *Os*CRL4, represents a new *AtCRE1*-like gene family in rice. J. Zhejiang Univ. Sci. 5, 629–633
- 75 Laplaze, L. *et al.* (2007) Cytokinins act directly on lateral root founder cells to inhibit root initiation. Plant Cell 19, 3889–3900

34	
76	Mähönen, A.P. et al. (2000) A novel two-component hybrid molecule regulates
77	vascular morphogenesis of the <i>Arabidopsis</i> root. Genes Dev. 14, 2938–2943 Guinel, F.C. and Geil, R.D. (2002) A model for the development of the rhizobial and arbuscular mycorrhizal symbioses in legumes and its use to understand the roles of ethylene in the establishment of these two symbioses. Can. J. Bot. 80, 695–720
78	Mathesius, U. <i>et al.</i> (2000) Rhizobia can induce nodules in white clover by 'hijacking' mature cortical cells activated during lateral root development. Mol. Plant Microbe Interact. 13, 170–182
79	Becking, J.H. (1965) Nitrogen fixation and mycorrhiza in <i>Podocarpus</i> root nodules. Plant Soil 23, 213–226
80	Al-Mallah, M.K. <i>et al.</i> (1989) Formation of nodular structures on rice seedlings by Rhizobia. J. Exp. Bot. 40, 473–478
81	The Angiosperm Phylogeny Group (2003) An update of the Angiosperm Phylogeny Group classification for the orders and families of flowering plants: APG II. Bot. J. Linn. Soc. 141, 399–436
82	Berg, R.H. (1999) Frankia forms infection threads. Can. J. Bot. 77, 1327–1333
83	Oke, V. and Long, S.R. (1999) Bacteroid formation in the Rhizobium–legume symbiosis. Curr. Opin. Microbiol. 2, 641–646
84	Pueppke, S.G. and Broughton, W.J. (1999) <i>Rhizobium sp.</i> strain NGR234 and <i>R. fredii</i> USDA257 share exceptionally broad, nested host ranges. Mol. Plant Microbe Interact 12 293–318
85	Miller, I.M. and Baker, D.D. (1986) Nodulation of actinorhizal plants by <i>Frankia</i> strains capable of both root hair infection and intercellular penetration. Protoplasma 131, 82–91
86	Silvester, W.B. <i>et al.</i> (2008) Oxygen responses, haemoglobin, and the structure and function of vesicles. In Nitrogen-fixing Actinorhizal Symbioses (Pawlowski, K and Newton W.E. eds) pp. 105–146. Springer
87	Lee, K.B. <i>et al.</i> (2008) The genome of the versatile nitrogen fixer <i>Azorhizobium</i> <i>caulinodans</i> ORS571 BMC Genomics 9, 271
88	Elliott, G.N. <i>et al.</i> (2007) <i>Burkholderia phymatum</i> is a highly effective nitrogen- fixing symbiont of <i>Mimosa spp.</i> and fixes nitrogen <i>ex planta</i> . New Phytol. 173, 168–180
89	Webster, G. <i>et al.</i> (1997) Interactions of rhizobia with rice and wheat. Plant Soil 194, 115–122
90	Normand, P. and Mullin, B.C. (2008) Prospects for the study of a ubiquitous actinomycete, <i>Frankia</i> , and its host plants. In Nitrogen fixing Actinorhizal Symbioses (Pawlowski K and Newton W E eds) pp. 289–303. Springer
91	Le Quere, A.J. <i>et al.</i> (2006) Structural characterization of a K-antigen capsular polysaccharide essential for normal symbiotic infection in <i>Rhizobium sp.</i> NGR234: deletion of the <i>rkpMNO</i> locus prevents synthesis of 5,7-diacetamido- 3,5,7,9-tetradeoxy-non-2-ulosonic acid. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 28981–28992
92	Kambara, K. <i>et al.</i> (2008) Rhizobia utilize pathogen-like effector proteins during symbiosis. Mol. Microbiol. 71, 92–106

3 The study

Functional adaptation of a plant receptor-kinase paved the way for the evolution of intracellular root symbioses with bacteria

This chapter is based on the following publication:

Markmann, K., Giczey, G., and Parniske, M. (2008).

Functional adaptation of a plant receptor-kinase paved the way for the evolution of intracellular root symbioses with bacteria. PLoS Biology: 6, e68.

It further includes sections of the publications below, as well as additional unpublished data, that were prepared by the author of this thesis:

Gherbi, H.*, **Markmann, K.***, Svistoonoff, S., Estevan, J., Autran, D., Giczey, G., Auguy, F., Peret, B., Laplaze, L., Franche, C., Parniske, M., Bogusz, D. (2008).

SymRK defines a common genetic basis for plant root endosymbioses with arbuscular mycorrhiza fungi, rhizobia, and *Frankia* bacteria. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA: 105, 4928-4932.

* These authors contributed equally to the work.

Yano, K., Yoshida, S., Müller, J., Singh, S., Banba, M., Vickers, K., **Markmann, K.**, White, C., Schuller, B., Sato, S., Asamizu, E., Tabata, S., Murooka, Y., Perry, J., Wang, T., Kawaguchi, M., Imaizumi-Anraku, H., Hayashi, M., Parniske, M. (2008).

CYCLOPS, a mediator of symbiotic intracellular accomodation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA: 105, 20540-20545.

3.1 Introduction

Nitrogen limits plant growth in many terrestrial ecosystems. Evolutionary adaptations to this constraint include symbiotic associations with bacteria that are capable of converting atmospheric nitrogen into ammonium. Extracellular associations of plants with diverse groups of nitrogen-fixing bacteria are phylogenetically widespread, but only a small group evolved the ability to accommodate bacteria endosymbiotically inside cell wall boundaries. Bacterial symbionts are confined within tubular structures called infection threads, which are surrounded by a host-derived membrane that is continuous with the plasma membrane, and bound by plant cell wall-like material [1, 2]. The bulk of host plants including all actinorhizal species retain the bacterial symbionts within these structures during the nitrogen-fixing stage of the symbiosis [1, 3]. In the most advanced forms found exclusively among legumes (Fabales) and Gunnera [4], symbiotic bacteria are delimited from the host cell cytoplasm only by a plant-derived membrane in the mature stage of the symbioses. In the respective legumes, they develop into bacteroids contained in organelle-like symbiosomes, where nitrogen fixation takes place (for a review, see [5]). Bacterial endosymbioses in both legumes and actinorhizal plants are typically associated with the formation of novel, root-derived plant organs, so-called nodules [6].

Nitrogen-fixing root nodule symbiosis (RNS) occurs in two major forms. Actinorhiza hosts belong to three eurosid orders (Figure 6) and nodulate with Gram-positive actinobacteria of the genus *Frankia* [7]. Legumes, on the contrary, enter specific interactions with members of a diverse group of Gram-negative bacteria, termed rhizobia. For almost a century, the extreme diversity in organ structure, infection mechanisms, and bacterial symbionts among nodulating plants obscured the fact that the nodulating clade is monophyletic, which was revealed by molecular phylogeny relatively recently [8]. The restriction of endosymbiotic root nodulation to a monophyletic group of four angiosperm orders (Figure 6) is coincident with a patchy occurrence within this clade. These observations led to the hypothesis that a genetic

change acquired by a common ancestor may predispose members of this lineage to evolve nodulation endosymbiosis with bacteria [8].

The molecular adaptations underlying the evolution of plant-bacterial endosymbioses are still a mystery, despite a substantial biotechnological interest in understanding the genetic differences between nodulating and non-nodulating plants. While the molecular communication between legumes and rhizobia has been studied in some detail, important clues are expected from the genetic analysis of the yet underexplored Actinorhiza.

Bacterial signalling molecules and corresponding plant receptors involved in RNS are known only for the legume–rhizobium interaction. *Frankia* signals may be biochemically distinct from rhizobial chito-oligosaccharide nodulation factors [9, 10], which would suggest an independent mechanism of host–symbiont recognition in Actinorhiza [11].

Phenotypic analysis of legume mutants has revealed a genetic link between RNS and Arbuscular Mycorrhiza (AM), which is a phosphate-scavenging association between plant roots and fungi belonging to the phylum Glomeromycota [12]. Fungi generally enter host root epidermal cells by forming swollen hyphal structures termed appressoria on the root surface, and penetrating directly into epidermal or outer cortical cells [13]. Hyphal entry may be eased by what is thought to be a host response involving the separation of epidermal cells at their antiklinal borders ("epidermal opening") [14]. After intracellularly traversing the epidermal and outer cortical cell layers, hyphae reenter the apoplast to proceed towards the inner cortex of the root. The key features of AM symbiosis, and sites of most pronounced plant-fungal intimacy during symbiosis development, are finely branched hyphal stuctures termed arbuscules [13]. Arbuscules are formed within inner cortical cells surrounding the central root vasculature, and are the presumed centres of exchange for nutrients between fungus and host [13, 15].

AM is widespread among land plants, where forms of AM are found in representatives of all major lineages [16]. Fossil evidence for ancient AM-like associations [17] suggests a role of this symbiosis in the colonization of land about 450 million years ago.

Whether the widesprad occurrence of this symbiosis is based on a common, conserved AM genetic program has long been unclear, as genes required for AM were known exclusively from legumes until recently [13, 18, 19]

The link of plant-fungal and plant-bacterial endosymbioses in legumes, which involves at least seven genes [20-24] termed "common symbiosis genes" [25], inspired the idea that during the evolution of bacterial endosymbiosis, genes were recruited from the preexisting AM genetic program [26]. The molecular steps involved in the recruitment event are not clear, and key prerequisites for this scenario have not been verified.

3.2 Results

Structural and functional conservation of the common symbiosis gene *CYCLOPS* reveals a conserved AM genetic program

To gain insight into the evolution of root endosymbioses, we analyzed common symbiosis genes across angiosperm lineages with different symbiotic abilities. Many, including the calcium/calmodulin kinase gene *CCaMK* [22, 27], the gene *CYCLOPS* encoding a nuclear protein [19], or genes encoding the predicted cation channels CASTOR and POLLUX [20, 28, 29], are conserved in overall domain structure (Figure 2).

To test the functional stability of a structurally conserved representative, we analyzed *CYCLOPS*, which shows identical exon-intron structures in *Lotus* and rice [19] (Figure 4 A) and a 45% overall identity of the predicted proteins. The precise role of the CYCLOPS protein in symbiosis is still unknown. It co-localizes with and is phosphorylated by CCaMK [30], and *CYCLOPS* has thus been placed downstream of *CCaMK* in the common symbiosis genetic network leading to AM and RNS establishment [19].

Upon infection with the bacterial symbiont *M. loti, Lotus cyclops* mutants develop primordial swellings devoid of bacteria, with infection being arrested at the stage of

early infection thread elongation [19]. Although hyphae occasionally enterd the root cortex, infection with the AM fungus *G. intraradices* is frequently aborted within the epidermal and outer cortical layers. Aberrant hyphal structures similar to "balloon-like swellings" [31] associated with abortion of infection in legume mutants impaired in other common symbiosis genes like *SYMRK*, *CASTOR* and *POLLUX* [31, 32] accompanied the fungal growth arrest (Figure 5 A–B), suggesting defects in plant coordination of the intracellular infection process.

To determine whether the function of CYCLOPS in AM is conserved in the monocot lineage, we analyzed the AM phenotype of four independent rice cyclops mutant lines, each carrying a retrotransposon Tos17 insertion within exon six of rice CYCLOPS (OsCYCLOPS) (Figure 4 A). Upon co-cultivation with G. intraradices, no arbuscules were seen in any of the mutant root systems tested (Figure 4 B). The fungus did, however, enter the root cortex, and abundant intraradical mycelium was observed (Figure 4 B). This indicates that CYCLOPS is required for arbuscule- and hence AM development in rice. The AM phenotype of these rice mutants resembles that apparent in Lotus japonicus (Lotus) cyclops mutants, where arbuscules rarely develop [31]. Aborted infection sites were present, but were also occasionally found in arbusculated control roots carrying wild type OsCYCLOPS alleles, and thus were not indicative for the mutant phenotype in this species. Despite the absence of arbuscules, likely the centres of nutrient exchange between host plant and fungus, few vesicles or intraradical spores were present in rice cyclops mutant roots. Such structures are formed by some AM fungi inter- or intracellularly within host roots, and are assumed to serve as storage organs and propagative modules [33]. A possible explanation for their presence in arbuscule-free cyclops roots is allocation of carbohydrate resources from chive nurse plants to parts of the same mycelium infecting rice roots. Alternatively, intraradical hyphae may mediate residual nutrient exchange in these cases. Vesicle numbers remained at a low basal level in homozygous mutant plants. In contrast, arbuscule and vesicle numbers were increased after three as compared to two weeks of co-cultivation with G. intraradices in plants carrying wild type alleles of OsCYCLOPS (Figure 4 B),

indicating continuous transfer of nutrients from the host plant to the fungus during progression of symbiotic infection.

The loss of AM in rice *cyclops* mutant lines reveals the functional conservation of a legume AM gene in the monocot rice, suggesting that the widespread occurrence of AM symbiosis may be based on a common, conserved genetic program.

Rice CYCLOPS can function in both AM and RNS in a legume

We tested whether CYCLOPS from rice is sufficient to function in root endosymbioses in a legume. Using *A. rhizogenes*-infection, we generated *Lotus* line EMS126 (*cyclops* -3) [19] roots carrying the *OsCYCLOPS* coding sequence under control of the *Lotus CYCLOPS* (*LjCYCLOPS*) promoter region. In these roots, both AM formation and RNS were restored (Table 2, Figure 5), indicating that the *CYCLOPS* gene of the nonnodulating monocot rice can interact with the *Lotus* symbiosis signalling context to support not only AM fungal, but also bacterial endosymbiosis.

The symbiosis receptor-like kinase gene *SYMRK* is structurally diverged in angiosperms

Contrasting to the conserved structure of *CYCLOPS* and other common symbiosis genes, we discovered exceptional diversification among genes encoding the symbiosis receptor kinase SYMRK in different plant species (Figure 6). While putative SYMRK kinase domains are conserved and contain characteristic sequence motifs discriminating them from related kinases (Figure 7), the predicted extracellular portion of SYMRK occurs in at least three versions of domain composition (Figure 6 and Table 1). The longest *SYMRK* version is present in all tested rosids, including nodulating and non-nodulating lineages. Comprising 15 exons, it encodes three leucine-rich repeat (LRR)





(A) Exon structures of *Lotus* and rice *CYCLOPS* genes are conserved. Exons are labelled 1-11. Only regions covering the coding sequences are represented. Dotted lines indicate intron positions, black bars represent predicted nuclear localization signals (NLSs) and grey bars coiled-coil regions in the conceptual amino acid sequences. Only one out of two predicted NLSs of *Lotus CYCLOPS* is depicted, as only this one proved functional in heterologous localization tests in tobacco [19]. Flags mark positions of Tos17 insertions in four rice *cyclops* lines analyzed. (B) Quantitative AM analysis in rice *cyclops* Tos17 insertion lines. For each of the lines, roots of twelve WT and twelve mutant plants were tested. An equal number of plants for each line was phenotyped after two and three WOC. Values are derived from 100 intersects randomly scored in four roots per plant. Intersects were scored as containing arbuscules, vesicles, or hyphae only. Standard errors are indicated. Hom., homozygous mutant plants; WOC, weeks of co-cultivation; WT, wild-type.



cyclops-3 + LjCYCLOPS

Figure 5. O. sativa (rice) CYCLOPS restores both fungal and bacterial endosymbioses in L. japonicus (Lotus) cyclops-3 mutants. Transgenic roots were A. rhizogenes-induced and selected via fluorescence of eGFP encoded on the transfer-DNA. (A-B and G-H) cyclops-3 roots transformed with a control vector lacking a CYCLOPS expression cassette. (C–D and I–L) cyclops-3 roots carrying the Lotus CYCLOPS coding sequence and (E-F and M-P), the rice CYCLOPS coding sequence, both under control of Lotus CYCLOPS promoter region. (A-F) Roots co-cultivated with G. intraradices for three weeks. (A-B) Transgenic control root with extraradical mycelium but no intraradical fungal colonization or arbuscule formation. (A-B) Fungal infection attempts aborted within the epidermal or outer cortical tissue. (C-F) cyclops-3 roots carrying the Lotus CYCLOPS (C-D) and rice CYCLOPS (E-F) coding sequences, showing dense fungal colonization (C and E) and arbuscule formation in the inner cortical tissue (D and F). (G-P) Root systems inoculated with a DsRED expressing strain of *M. loti*, and incubated for four weeks. (G-H) Transgenic control root without mature nodules. Small primordial swellings (arrow in G) do not contain bacteria (not shown). Such swellings are typically formed in Lotus cyclops mutant roots upon M. loti inoculation [19].

(I–P) *cyclops-3* roots carrying the *Lotus CYCLOPS* (I–L) and rice *CYCLOPS* (M–P) coding sequences, showing mature nodules. Nodules exhibit pink coloration in white light (K and O) and red fluorescence of the inner nodule tissue (L and P) indicating the presence of symbiosis-specific leghemoglobins and of *DsRED* expressing bacteria, respectively.

ai; aborted infection; ap, fungal appressorium; ar, arbus-cule; eh, extraradical hypha; h, intercellular hypha; ls, infection site; vt, root vasculature. Scale bars: (A, C and E) 0.1 mm; (B, D and F) 0.02 mm; (G-J) and (M-N), 2 mm; (K-L) and (O-P), 0.5 mm.

cyclops-3 + OsCYCLOPS



Figure 6. SYMRK exon-intron structure and root endosymbiotic abilities of angiosperm lineages. All putative SYMRK genes encode an N-terminal signal peptide, an extracellular region with two or three LRR motifs and one imperfect LRR, a transmembrane domain, and an intracellular serine/threonine protein kinase. SYMRK regions encoding putative kinase domains exhibit conserved intron positions and phases. Bars illustrate the exon-intron and predicted protein domain structure of representative SYMRK candidates. Positions of introns are indicated by black arrowheads. Predicted protein domains are SP, signal peptide; NEC, N-terminal extracellular region; CEC, conserved extracellular region preceeding LRRs; LR(R), leucine-rich repeats; TM, transmembrane domain; and PK, protein kinase domain. Names refer to species sampled and are shaded according to their root endosymbiotic capabilities: black, endosymbiosis with Frankia bacteria (Actinorhiza) and AM formation; gray, endosymbiosis with rhizobia and AM formation; white, AM formation only. Pictograms symbolize AR, Actinorhiza; RLS, Rhizobium-Legume Symbiosis; AM, Arbuscular Mycorrhiza. Dashed frames have no phylogenetic implications. The cladogram depicts relationships of angiosperm orders as deduced by molecular markers [34,35]. The four orders containing nodulating taxa are shaded light gray. Squares at the tips of branches indicate the presence of taxa with particular root endosymbiotic phenotypes (colour code is as for sampled plants). Filled and white wedges indicate branches where taxa on order and family level have been omitted, respectively. Popular species designations refer to Alder, Alnus glutinosa; Poplar, P. trichocarpa; Tomato, L. esculentum; Poppy, P. rhoeas; Rice, O. sativa; Maize, Z. mays.

Sequences aligning with regions upstream of exon four of L/SYMRK are not cellular region (CEC); black, LRRs; gray, imperfect LRR; white, juxtamembrane Figure 7. SYMRK kinase regions share several defining conserved amino acid motifs, which are absent in in all sequences, residues found in at least 50% of the brane region; green, protein kinase domain. Light blue bars with stars mark some of but not in other homologous sequences in rice and Arabidopsis. Locus tags are for similar sequences not regarded as A. thaliana (Arabidopsis) and Black shading indicates delimit predicted regions; brown, transmemthe regions conserved amino acid residues identical Dark blue, conserved extracandidates. sequences are shaded gray. SYMRK protein domains. among SYMRK candidates, included in the alignment. sedneuces O. sativa (rice). indicated SYMRK similar Bars

CHEMICS AND FOUND TO ANY AND ANY AND ANY			WLPSTTSTALETITTYCS (SHPOR ALLPSTTSTALETITTYCTICO ALVIPSTSSTALETITTYCTICO ALVI
		SIGNAL DO DE LO DE	SSNRYS IVLRK SSNRYS IVLRK SSNRYS IVLRK SSNRYS IVLRK SSNRYS IVLRK SSNRYS IVLRK SSNRYS IVLRK SSNRYS IVLR SSNRYS IVLR SSNRYS IVLR SSNRYS IVLR SSNRYS IVL SSNRYS IVL SSNR
	DEFT KEVSTOLET DEFT KEVSTOLET DIST KEVSTOLET DIST KEVTER DIST KEVTER DIST KEVTER DIST KEVSTOLET DIST KEVSTOLET DIST KEVSTOLET DIST ATTERNOOLE KEVSTOLET DIST ATTERNOOLE COMPANY COMP		The second secon
MIK 2012 SSI ARMY MILE AND A SSI ARMY MILA AND A SSI ARMY MILA AND A SSI ARMY MILA AND	GAAKKYPMETTI 1155128 GAAKKYPMETTI 1155128 GEGRIYPMATTI 1155128 GEGRIYPMATTI 1155128 RIDAGAGOTERULI 1253 RUDASERVENKIR 1151253 RUDASERVENKIR 1151253 RUDASERVENKIR 1151253 RUDASERVENKIR 1151253 RUDASERVENKIR 1151253 RUDASERVENKIR 1151253 RUDASERVENKIR 1151253 RUDASERVENKIR 121253 RUDASERVENKIR 1212533 RUDASERVENKIR 1212533 RUDASERVENKIR 1212533 RUDASERVENKIR 1212533 RUDASERVENKIR 1212533 RUDASERVENKIR 12125	ALC: A CALLER PERSVERAL ALC: A CALLER PERSVER	PETINGS VALUE LEDAN PETINGS VALUE LEDAN PEANE AND LEREDAN PEANE AN
Consugas- runtum and an	TLAFFULFUCERERATIONS TLAFFULFUCERERATIONS TLAGTLFFERERSTIPS TLAUGILFFERERSTIPS TLAUGILFFERERSTIPS TUTGLTFFUCLERSISPEC TUTGLTFFUCLERSISPEC TLAUGULFFERERSTIAN TLAUGULF	REPARATION DE LA COMPANY A LA C	GOVERABLA,
			A REAL REAL PARTICLE AND A
MCRLOKNERSELLON No. LELIONORSERLILIARSEN PERIODON VERTORIA REALIZIONORSEN VERTORIA REALIZIONO VERTORIA REALIZIONO VERTORIA REALIZIONO VERTORIA REALIZIONO VERTORIA VERTORIA REALIZIONO VERTORIA	GREESCONNE ENERGICESCONNE EREC	15.54 O ORDER TO THE OLDER TO T	
(359) (359) (359) (358) (359) (379) (375) (359) (365) (365) (365) (365) (365) (365) (365) (375)	(506) (502) (502) (502) (502) (513) (513) (513) (513) (513) (513) (513) (514) (514) (515) (515) (515) (515)	(644) (644) (647) (647) (659) (656) (651) (652) (651) (653) (653) (653) (653)	(795) (792) (792) (792) (792) (792) (792) (803) (792) (792) (711) (711) (711) (711) (711) (711) (711) (711) (711) (711) (712)
L.japonicus M.sativa A.satus A.glutinosa C.glauca D.glomerata P.trichocarpa P.trichocarpa P.trichocarpa P.trichocarpa P.escularum L.escularum P.thoeas C.esciva O.sativa O.sativa Atlg7750 Atlg7750	L.japonicus M.aativus L.albus A.glutinosa A.glutinosa C.glumerata D.glomerata P.trichoarpa P.tri	L.japonicus M.sativa A.albus L.albus C.alauca C.alauca D.glomerata P.trichocarpa P.trichocarpa P.trichocarpa P.trichocarpa P.thoeas P.escularium P.escularium P.escularium P.escularium P.escularium P.escularium P.escularium P.escularium P.escularium P.escularium P.escularium P.escularium P.escularium P.escularium P.escularium P.escularium P.escularia P.	L.japonicus M.sativa M.sativa L.albus A.glutinosa C.glauc D.glomerata D.glomerata D.glomerata D.glomerata D.glomerata D.glomerata L.esculentum L.esculentum L.esculentum D.glog1200 A1167720 A1167720 A1167720 A1167720 A1167720

motifs and an extended N-terminal domain of unknown function (NEC-domain, Figure 6 and Table 1). Outside of the eurosid clade, which encompasses all nodulating groups, one or more exons are absent from *SYMRK* coding sequences (Figure 6 and Table 1).

mRNA					% AA identity/similarity		
Species	accession	AAs	Exons	LRRs	Overall	EC	IC
L. japonicus	AF492655 [24]	923	15	3	100/100	100/100	100/100
M. sativa	AJ491998 [24]	925	15	3	82/87	74/83	92/95
L. albus	AY935267 [36]	923	15 ^b	3	79/86	72/83	89/92
A. glutinosa	AY935263 [36]	941	15 ^b	3	61/75	51/69	78/88
C. glauca	EU273286 [37]	942	15	3	60/73	48/63	79/87
D. glomerata	AM271000 [36]	934	15	3	61/73	54/67	71/80
P. trichocarpa	AM851092 ^a	933	15 [°]	3	59/71	49/66	75/81
T. majus	AY935265 [36]	945	15 ^b	3	59/72	50/65	74/84
L. esculentum	AY935266 [36]	903	14	2	54/68	45/65	72/81
P. rhoeas	AM270999 [36]	902	14 ^b	2	54/69	43/59	75/86
Z. mays	DQ403195 [38]	579	12	2	55/69	30/49	74/86
O. sativa	XM_478749 [39]	576	12	2	55/69	33/51	72/84
A. thaliana	NM_105440 [40]	929	15	3	34/51	29/43	50/68
A. thaliana	NM_129261 [40]	933	15	3	33/50	27/42	50/69

 Table 1. SYMRK homologs, conceptual SYMRK proteins and the closest A. thaliana (Arabidopsis) sequences

Percentages of AA identity/similarity are relative to the *Lotus japonicus* SYMRK sequence and were obtained *via* BLASTX analysis using the NCBI Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (<u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/BLAST/</u>). AAs, amino acids; LRRs, predicted leucine-rich repeat domains; EC, extracellular region and PK, protein kinase domain of the conceptual proteins.

^a The genomic sequence is available at <u>http://genome.jgi-psf.org/Poptr1/Poptr1. home.html</u>, the gene location is Poptr1/LG_VII:12333164-12338867.

^b Only cDNA sequence information was obtained. The exon-intron structure was predicted based on splice site prediction and conserved intron position in other *SYMRK* genes.

^c Only genomic sequence information was obtained. The exon-intron structure was predicted based on splice site prediction and conserved intron position in other *SYMRK* genes.

Genetic evidence indicates that SYMRK acts near a point of molecular convergence of AM and legume-rhizobium signalling [24, 41]. The presumed ability of its diverged extracellular domain to perceive symbiosis-related signals [24] renders it a prime target for investigating the molecular adaptations underlying the evolution of RNS.

The homogenous occurrence of "full-length" *SYMRK* genes among legumes, actinorhizal plants, and non-nodulating rosids raises the intriguing possibility that *SYMRK* is involved in a proposed genetic predisposition [8] of this clade to evolve RNS. An important prediction following from this hypothesis is the common requirement of a full-length *SYMRK* version for all types of RNS. Furthermore, non-nodulating members of this monophyletic clade would be expected to hold the same predisposition, and thus equally carry RNS-competent versions of *SYMRK* provided that such competence was not secondarily lost. To test this concept, we analyzed the functional capabilities of "full-length" *SYMRK* genes from symbiotically diverse rosids.

SYMRK is required for actinorhiza, suggesting a common genetic program for RNS

D. glomerata (Datisca; Cucurbitales) is a member of the only herbaceous acinorhizal genus [42], exhibiting faster growth and smaller statue than other actinorhizal model plants such as the Fagales tree species Casuarina glauca (Casuarina) or Allocasuarina verticillata [11]. It is thus well suited for laboratory work, but transgenic plants or roots for genetic analysis and symbiosis phenotyping have not been generated previously in this species. To investigate SYMRK function in Actinorhiza, we therefore established a hairy root transformation system for Datisca. We reduced root mRNA levels of Datisca SYMRK (DgSYMRK) via RNA-interference (RNAi). Quantitative PCR following reverse transcription showed a 36%-99% reduction of DgSYMRK transcript levels in knockdown roots (n = 16) compared with vector control roots (n = 16). Eight weeks after inoculation with Frankia bacteria, no nodules were detected on DgSYMRK RNAi roots (Figure 8 A-B). Instead, only small, primordial swellings formed on 16% of independent transformed roots (9/55). Nonsilenced control roots of the same plants and roots transformed with a binary vector lacking the silencing cassette (transgenic control roots) showed wild type-like nodules with lobed structure typical for Datisca (Figure 8 A–B). This result demonstrates that SYMRK is essential for Actinorhiza development in Datisca.

In a similar approach, in cooperation with the group of D. Bogusz (Institut de Recherche pour le Développement, Montpellier, France) we downregulated *SYMRK* in roots of the actinorhizal tree *Casuarina* using RNAi [37]. Similar to *Datisca*, nodulation with *Frankia* was strongly impaired in *Casuarina* [37]. In conjunction with the well-documented role of legume *SYMRK* in the interaction with rhizobia [24, 43], *SYMRK* thus represents a common genetic requirement for the two types of bacterial root endosymbiosis.

SYMRK function in AM is conserved across rosid lineages

In legumes, *SYMRK* is required for the infection and AM symbiosis establishment with glomeromycotan fungi [24, 32, 43]. To test whether *DgSYMRK* and *CgSYMRK* are also required for AM, we inspected *Datisca* and *Casuarina SYMRK* RNAi roots for AM formation with the fungus *G. intraradices. Datisca* wild-type roots of the same plants used for hairy root induction and independent transgenic control roots formed AM, with dense arbuscular colonization of inner cortical cells (Figure 8 C–D and E–F, respectively). In contrast, symbiotic development in *DgSYMRK* RNAi roots was strongly impaired. In 82% of independent transformed roots, no fungal infection was observed, despite the presence of extensive extraradical mycelium (Figure 8 G), with those roots exhibiting strong reduction levels of *DgSYMRK* being nonsymbiotic concerning both nodulation and AM formation. Occasional infection attempts occurred but typically were aborted in the outer cell layers (Figure 8 H). Similar results were obtained for *Casuarina* [37]. We conclude that *SYMRK* is involved in both bacterial and fungal endosymbioses not only in legumes, but also in the actinorhizal plants *Datisca* and *Casuarina*, all belonging to independent orders of rosid angiosperms.

Lotus SYMRK is sufficient for both RNS and AM in another legume, *Medicago truncatula*

The legume herbs *Medicago truncatula* (*Medicago*) and *Lotus japonicus* (*Lotus*) fall into two distinct cross-inoculation groups, meaning that they exhibit compatibility with different rhizobial strains [44]. They also display distinct types of nodule organogenesis, with *Medicago* forming zoned, indeterminate nodules with persistent tip meristem [45] and *Lotus* forming round, determinate nodules where the developmental stage of the infected tissue is uniform [46].

To determine whether *SYMRK* plays a role in regulating these differential parameters, we tested whether *Lotus SYMRK* (*LjSYMRK*) can mediate RNS in *Medicago*. The specific symbiont of *Lotus* is *Mesorhizobium loti*, whereas *Medicago* interacts with *Sinorhizobium meliloti*. *Medicago dmi2* 5P mutants exhibit a deletion in exon three of the SYMRK ortholog *DMI2*, leading to a frameshift and premature stop codon. *Dmi2* 5P plants form no infection threads or nodules upon inoculation with either rhizobial strain. Transgenic roots of these plants, and of wild-type control plants carrying *LjSYMRK*, formed infection threads and indeterminate, pink nodules typical for *Medicago* [45] with *S. meliloti* (Figure 9 A-J and Table 2). *LjSYMRK* can therefore fully restore RNS of *Medicago* with *S. meliloti*. This indicates that *SYMRK* is not directly involved in determining legume–rhizobium specificity, nor in mediating specific developmental processes during nodule organogenesis.

Medicago dmi2 5P mutants are also impaired in AM. No arbuscules were observed within two weeks of co-cultivation, with fungal infection being aborted at the root surface or after entry into epidermal cells (Figure 9 K–L and Table 2) *LjSYMRK* restored the AM defect in transgenic roots of this line (Figure 9 O–P and Table 2), demonstrating that *SYMRK* is sufficiently similar to *DMI2* to support both fungal and bacterial endosymbioses in *Medicago*.



non-transformed

control vector

DqSYMRK RNAi

Figure 8. RNS and AM are impaired in D. glomerata (Datisca) SYMRK (DgSYMRK) knockdown roots. Co-transformed roots express DsRED1 as a visible marker.

(A–B) Nodulated wild-type root (left), control root transformed with pRedRoot lacking the silencing cassette (middle), and non-nodulated DgRNAi knockdown root (right) (A) under white light and (B) with transgenic roots showing DsRED1 fluorescence.

(C-H) AM phenotype of D. glomerata (Datisca) wild type, transgenic control, and DgSYMRK knockdown roots. (C–D) Wild-type and (E–F) transgenic control roots are well colonized and show arbuscules in inner cortical cells. (G-H) Typical DgSYMRK knockdown root with no AM formation but extraradical hyphae (eh) and aborted fungal infection (ai). Such features were not seen in Datisca wild-type or transgenic control roots and are reminiscent of those observed on L. japonicus symrk mutant roots (Figure 10). Roots were inoculated simultaneously with Frankia bacteria and G. intraradices (eight weeks). Transgenic and regenerated nontransgenic roots of 27 (control) and 23 (DgSYMRK RNAi construct) plants from three independent experiments were tested. Independent transformed roots examined were n = 42 (control) and n = 55 (DgSYMRK RNAi).

ar, arbuscule; eh, extraradical hyphae; ai, aborted infection; is, wild-type infection site; vt, root vasculature. Scale bars: (A–B) 2 mm; (C, E, and G) 0.1 mm; (D, F, and H) 0.02 mm.



wild type + LjSYMRK

dmi2 + LjSYMRK



Figure 9. Lotus japonicus (Lotus) SYMRK (LjSYMRK) restores RNS and AM in *M. truncatula* (Medicago) *dmi2* 5P mutants.

Tranasgenic roots were A. rhizogenes-induced and selected via fluorescence of eGFP encoded on the transfer-DNA. (A-B and K-L) Medicago dmi2 5P roots transformed with the respective control vector lacking an LjSYMRK expression cassette. (C-F and M-N) Medicago wild-type and (G-J and O-P) dmi2 5P roots transformed with the LjSYMRK coding sequence controlled by the LjSYMRK promoter. (A–J) Roots at five weeks post inoculation with S. meliloti expressing DsRED. (A-B) Transgenic dmi2 5P roots carrying the control vector, showing no nodules. (C–D) Nodules on transgenic and nontransgenic roots of a wild-type plant transformed with LjSYMRK and (E-F) individual nodule containing DsRED expressing S. meliloti bacteria. (G-H) dmi2 5P root system with nodule formation confined to roots transformed with LjSYMRK. (I-J) Nodule on an LjSYMRK containing dmi2 5P root showing bacterial DsRED expression

(K–P) Roots co-cultivated with G. intraradices for two weeks. (K-L) Transgenic dmi2 5P control roots lacking hyphal proliferation and arbuscule (ar) formation in the inner root cortex. Hyphal swellings in the root periphery (L) indicate abortion of fungal infections. Longer co-cultivation for three weeks or more allowed successful fungal infections of mutant roots, which was similarly reported for other *dmi2* mutant lines [47]. (M–N) Wild-type and (O–P) dmi2 5P roots transformed with LjSYMRK showing dense fungal colonization and arbuscule formation in the root inner cortex.

ai, aborted infection; ap, fungal appressorium; ar, arbuscule; eh, extraradical hypha; h, intercellular hypha; vt, root vasculature. Scale bars: (A–D and G–H) 2 mm; (E–F and I–J) 0.5 mm; (K, M, and O) 0.1 mm; (L, N, and P) 0.02 mm.

Plant					Nodules/ nodulated
genotype	Transgene	AM+	ІТ	Nod+	plant
dmi2 5P	marker only*	0/21	-	0/17	0
dmi2 5P	LjSYMRK [§]	20/23	+	16/25	4.5
symrk-10	marker only*	3/285	-	0/96	0
symrk-10	LjSYMRK [§]	40/45	+	32/39	4.9
symrk-10	∆NEC- <i>LjSYRMK</i> [§]	16/31	+	0/22	0
symrk-10	MtSYMRK [§]	20/25	+	18/31	4.2
symrk-10	CgSYMRK [§]	27/48	+	11/63	4.1
symrk-10	DgSYMRK [§]	20/40	+	6/18	5.8
symrk-10	TmSYMRK [§]	20/28	+	14/21	2.6
symrk-10	LeSYMRK [§]	24/34	-	0/31	0
symrk-10	OsSYMRK [§]	38/40	+*	6**/43	1.5
cyclops-3	marker only*	0/12	-	0/11	0
cyclops-3	LjCYCLOPS	19/24	+	14/21	3,1
cyclops-3	OsCYCLOPS [¢]	18/25	+	15/24	3,0

Table 2. Restoration of root symbioses in *dmi2* and *symrk* mutants upon transformation with different SYMRK versions

Numbers refer to *Agrobacterium rhizogenes*-transformed root systems. \blacklozenge For negative controls, mutant plants were transformed with the respective binary vector lacking a *SYMRK* or *CYCLOPS* expression cassette. Constructs were under control of the *LjSYMRK* (\S) or *LjCYCLOPS* (\clubsuit) promoter regions. Numbers are compiled results of one (*Medicago truncatula*) or two to three (*Lotus japonicus*) independent experiments. Wild type roots transformed with the same constructs formed wild type-like AM, ITs and nodules. IT, infection thread formation; Nod+, number of root systems showing nodules containing bacteria. *Infection threads were seen very rarely in these roots. **Nodule-like structures were small and showed, with one exception, no pinkish coloration under white light.

"Full-length" *SYMRK* versions from symbiotically distinct rosids can support both AM and RNS in *Lotus*

To analyze the symbiotic capabilities of "full-length" eurosid *SYMRK* genes from a legume (*MtDMI2*), two actinorhizal plants (*CgSYMRK* and *DgSYMRK*), and the non-nodulating, AM-forming *Tropaeolum majus* (*Tropaeolum*; Brassicales) (*TmSYMRK*), we tested their potential to function in the *Lotus* symbiosis signalling context. We introduced these genes, under the control of the *Lotus SYMRK* promoter region, into roots of *Lotus* line SL1951–6 (*symrk-10*), which carries a *symrk* mutant allele encoding a kinase-dead SYMRK version [48, 49]. Upon inoculation with *G. intraradices, symrk*-

10 roots form no AM, and fungal infections are typically associated with aberrant hyphal swellings and are aborted after entry into epidermal cells (Figure 10 A-B and Table 2). Interaction with *M. loti* is blocked at an early stage, and no infection threads or nodules form (Figure 10 C-D and Table 2). In symrk-10 roots transformed with MtDMI2, CgSYMRK, DgSYMRK or TmSYMRK both AM and nodulation were restored, the latter involving the formation of infection threads and pink, bacteria-containing nodules (Figure 10 K-AB, Figure 11 and Table 2) that were indistinguishable from wild-type nodules. Although complemented AM roots often contained aborted fungal infection sites and poorly colonized regions, possibly reflecting varying levels of transgene expression or, in the case of heterologous SYMRK genes, suboptimal compatibility with the Lotus symbiosis signalling context, the decisive symbiotic structures such as wild type-like infection sites and arbuscules were present in these roots. In conclusion, consistent with a role of SYMRK in the predisposition to evolve RNS, we could not detect a functional diversification of the rosid SYMRK version linked to features differentiating actinorhizal and legume nodulation, or to the specific recognition of bacterial symbionts.

Figure 10: *D. glomerata (Datisca), M. truncatula (Medicago), and T. majus (Tropaeolum) SYMRK* restore fungal and bacterial endosymbioses in *L. japonicus (Lotus) symrk-10* mutants. Transgenic roots were induced by *A. rhizogenes* infection and identified *via* fluorescence of eGFP encoded on the transfer-DNA.

⁽A–D) Lotus symrk-10 roots transformed with the respective control vector lacking a SYMRK expression cassette.

⁽E–AB) Lotus symrk-10 roots transformed with Lotus (E–J), Medicago (K–P), Datisca (Q–V) and Tropaeolum (W–AB) SYMRK under control of the LjSYMRK promoter region.

⁽A, B, E, F, K, L, Q, R, W, and X) Roots co-cultivated with *G. intraradices* for three weeks. (A–B) Transgenic control roots devoid of intraradical hyphae or arbuscules, with aborted fungal infection structures within epidermal cells.

Roots carrying *Lotus* (E–F), *Medicago* (K–L), *Datisca* (Q–R), and *Tropaeolum* (W–X) *SYMRK* with dense fungal colonization of the inner root cortex (E, K, Q, and W) and arbuscule formation in inner cortical cells (F, L, R, and X).

⁽C, D, G–J, M–P, S–V, and Y–AB) Root systems inoculated with *M. loti* expressing *DsRED* at four weeks post inoculation. (C–D) Transgenic control roots showing no nodules. *symrk-10* root systems transformed with *Lotus* (G–J), *Medicago* (M–P), *Datisca* (S–V), and *Tropaeolum* (W–AB) *SYMRK* develop nodules on transgenic roots. Nodules exhibit pink coloration in white light, indicating the presence of symbiosis-specific leghemoglobins (I, O, U, and AA) and DsRED fluorescence in inner nodule tissue indicating the presence of *M. loti* (J, P, V, and AB).

ai, aborted infection; ap, fungal appressorium; ar, arbuscule; eh, extraradical hypha; is, infection site; vt, root vasculature. Scale bars: (A, E, K, Q, and W) 0.1 mm; (B, F, L, R, and X) 0.02 mm; (C, D, G, H, M, N, S, T, Y, and Z) 2 mm; (I, J, O, P, U, V, AA, and AB) 0.5 mm.







wild type + symrk-10 + CgSYMRK CgSYMRK K N

11. SYMRK Figure of the plant C. glauca actinorhizal (Casuarina) (CgSYMRK) restores fungal and bacterial endosymbiosis in L. japonicus symrk-10 mutants. Transformation assay and selection were as in Figure 10. (A-B) and (G-H) symrk-10 roots transformed with a control vector lacking a SYMRK expression cassette. (C-D) and (I-K) Wild-type roots and (E-F) and (L-N) symrk-10 roots transformed with CgSYMRK under control of the LjSYMRK promoter region, respectively.

(A-F) Plants were co-cultivated with *G. intraradices* for three weeks. (A-B) Transgenic control mutant roots with no fungal colonization, and no arbuscule formation in the root cortex. Fungal infections are aborted in the epidermis or outer cortical cells. (C-D) Wild-type and (E-F) *symrk-10* roots with dense fungal colonization of the inner cortex (C and E), and arbuscule formation in inner cortical cells.

(G-N) Roots four weeks after inoculation with *M. loti* expressing *DsRED.* (G-H) Transgenic and non-transgenic *symrk-10* control roots without nodules. (I-K) Wild type and (L-N) *symrk-10* roots with nodules that show a pinkish coloration under (I and L) and DsRED fluorescence (K and N), indicating the presence of symbiotic leghemoglobins and *M. loti* bacteria, respectively.

ai, aborted infection; ap, fungal appressorium; ar, arbuscule; eh, extraradical hyphae; vt, root vasculature. Scale bars: (A, C and E) 0.1 mm; (B, D and F) 0.02 mm; (G-H) 1 mm; (I-N) 0.5 mm.

SYMRK versions of reduced length restore AM but not RNS in Lotus

SYMRK from the AM forming, but non-nodulating eudicots *Papaver rhoeas* (poppy) and *Lycopersicon esculentum* (tomato) represent intermediate length and domain composition with two LRR encoding exons only, but a full-length N-terminal domain (Figure 6 and Table 1). To explore the symbiotic capabilities of this version, we introduced the two-LRR encoding tomato *SYMRK* (*LeSYMRK*) genomic sequence fused to the *LjSYMRK* promoter into *Lotus symrk-10* transgenic roots. *LeSYMRK* restored AM symbiosis, but neither infection threads nor nodules developed upon inoculation with *M. loti* (Table 2 and Figure 12 E–L).

In hairy roots, which represent transgenic tissue generated on a non-transgenic background plant, morphological reactions of root hairs to symbiosis-related stimuli are difficult to monitor, as they may differ from wild-type roots. Similarly, expression level changes of symbiosis-regulated genes may be abnormal in transgenic roots on chimaeric plants. To further investigate to what extent the two-LRR *LeSYMRK* candidate can mediate symbiotic development in legumes, we therefore stably introduced its genomic sequence, including promoter region, into two *Lotus symrk* mutant lines, EMS61 (*symrk-7*) encoding a truncated SYMRK protein [24, 49] and *symrk-10*. Consistent with the observations on transgenic roots carrying the *LeSYMRK* genomic sequence fused to the *Lotus SYMRK* promoter, the *LeSYMRK* gene and promoter region restored AM symbiosis in these plants. In contrast, neither infection threads nor nodules developed upon infection with *M. loti* (Figure 13 and Table 3). The phenotypic rescue of AM cosegregated with *LeSYMRK* in mutant populations segregating the transgene (Figure 13 A).

Plant genotype	Transgene	AM+	ІТ	Nod+	Nodules/ nodulated plant
wild type	-	78/80	+	10/10	2.8
symrk-7	-	0/48	-	0/26	0
symrk-7	LeSYMRK	21/23	-	0/11	0
symrk-10	-	2/75	-	0/27	0
symrk-10	LeSYMRK	64/75	-	0/35	0

Table 3. Summary of AM and RNS phenotyping results of Lotus symrk-7 and -10 mutant lines segregating the tomato SYMRK genomic region under control of the tomato SYMRK promoter.

Plants were co-cultivated with *G. intraradices* for three weeks to test for AM formation, or with *M. loti* expressing *LacZ* for two weeks to analyze the interaction with rhizobial symbionts. AM-: no arbuscules present; AM+: both arbuscules and vesicles present; IT, infection thread formation. Four independent transgenic lines were tested, two in *symrk*-7 and two in *symrk*-10 background, and similar results were obtained in two (AM) or one (IT formation, nodulation) independent experiments.

Figure 12. *L. esculentum* (tomato) and *O. sativa* (rice) *SYMRK* restore AM symbiosis in *Lotus symrk-10* mutants, but cannot or only partially complement bacterial endosymbiosis formation. Transformation assay and selection were as in Figure 2.7. (A–D) *Lotus symrk-10* roots transformed with the respective control vector lacking a *SYMRK* expression cassette. (E–L) *Lotus* wild-type (E–H) and *symrk-10* (I–L) roots transformed with *LeSYMRK*. (M–Z) *Lotus* wild-type (M–R) and *symrk-10* (S–Z) roots transformed with *OsSYMRK*.

(A, B, E, F, I, J, M, N, S, and T) Roots co-cultivated with *G. intraradices* for three weeks. (A and B) Transgenic *symrk-10* control root with extraradical mycelium but no intraradical fungal colonization or arbuscule formation. Swollen hyphal structures indicative of aborted fungal infections can be observed within epidermal cells (B and arrow in A). (E and F) Wild-type and (I and J) *symrk-10* roots transformed with *LeSYMRK*, showing fungal colonization of the inner root cortex (E, I) and arbuscule formation in inner cortical cells (F, J). (M and N) Wild-type and (S and T) *symrk-10* mutant roots transformed with *OsSYMRK*, similarly showing cortical AM colonization (M, S) and arbuscule formation (N, T).

(C, D, G, H, K, L, O–R, and U–Z) Root systems inoculated with *M. loti* expressing *DsRED* at four weeks post inoculation. (C and D) *symrk-10* root system with transgenic control roots, showing no nodules. (G and H) and (O–R) Wild-type root systems with *M. loti*–containing pink nodules on nontransgenic and on transgenic roots carrying *LeSYMRK* or *OsSYMRK*, respectively, indicating that these transgenes do not impair nodulation in transgenic wild-type roots. (K and L) *symrk-10* root system transformed with *LeSYMRK*, showing no nodules. In a single case, one nodule primordium was observed. (U–Z) *symrk-10* root system transformed with *OsSYMRK*, showing no fully developed nodules, but nodule primordia which are mostly noncolonized by bacteria, the latter proliferating on the primordial surface (W and X). In rare cases, small nodules were observed that contained bacteria, but, with one exception, showed no pinkish coloration in white light (Y and Z).

ai, aborted infection; ap, fungal appressorium; ar, arbuscule; eh, extraradical hypha; is, infection site; vt, root vasculature. Scale bars: (A, E, I, M, and S) 0.1 mm; (B, F, J, N, and T) 0.02 mm; (C, D, G, H, K, L, O, P, U, V) 2 mm; (Q, R, and W–Z) 0.5 mm.

56



Q R W X Y Z



Figure 13. AM formation, but not RNS and IT formation are restored in *L. japonicus* (*Lotus*) *symrk-7* and *-10* mutant lines segregating the *L. esculentum* (tomato) *SYMRK* genomic region under control of the tomato *SYMRK* (*LeSYMRK*) promoter.

(A) Compilation of genotyping and AM phenotyping results for one representative line each in *symrk-7* and in *symrk-10* background. Plants were co-cultivated with *G. intraradices* for three weeks.

(B–G) Plants were cultivated on plates containing nitrogen-free medium for five days and mock-inoculated (B, D and F) or inoculated with *M. loti* MAFF expressing *DsRED* (C, E and G) to examine root hair reactions (3–6 days post inoculation). (B–C) Wild type plants, (D–E) *symrk-7* mutants, and (F–G) *symrk-7* mutants stably transformed with the *LeSYMRK* genomic region. (B, D and F) No root hair curling or strong deformations were observed in mock-inoculated roots of either line. (C) In wild type plants inoculated with *M. loti*, root hairs showed normal curling and IT formation, the majority of root hairs remained non-deformed. (E–G), The majority of root hairs displayed extensive branching and tip bulging in roots of control mutant and transgenic plants alike, and no entrapment of bacteria in curling root hairs was observed. Similar results were obtained in four independent experiments. A similar root hair response to inoculation with *M. loti* is characteristic for *Lotus symrk* mutants [24].

AM-: no arbuscules present; AM+: both arbuscules and vesicles present. Scale bars: 50 µM.



Figure 14. NIN and SbtM4 expression are not induced in M. loti R7A induced L. japonicus (Lotus) symrk-7 roots carrying tomato SYMRK (LeSYMRK).

Transgenic plants (*symrk-7* + *LeSYMRK*) are homozygous for the *LeSYMRK* genomic region under control of the *LeSYMRK* promoter. Wild type and *symrk-7* control plants are non-transgenic. Wild type plants show a strong induction of both *NIN* (A) and *SbtM4* (B), which are known to be induced upon inoculation with *M. loti* in *Lotus*, while no significant induction could be detected in *symrk-7* controls or *symrk-7* plants transformed with *LeSYMRK*. Values are relative to mock-inoculated controls. Five days old seedlings were inoculated with *M. loti* R7A (OD600 = 0,01) and harvested at four days post inoculation (dpi) for RNA extraction and qPCR analysis. Values are averaged from three technical replicates of two independent biological replicates, derived from 6-8 bulked roots each. Error bars indicate standard errors of the mean.



Figure 15. Structure of the *L. japonicus* (*Lotus*) SYMRK \triangle NEC version (\triangle NEC-*Lj*SYMRK) compared to full-length *Lj*SYMRK and *O. sativa* SYMRK (*Os*SYMRK).

The $\triangle NEC-LjSYMRK$ deletion construct lacks those parts of the NEC region that are absent in rice (*OsSYMRK*), but retains the three LRR-encoding exons. Bars illustrate the coding sequence of the respective *SYMRK* versions. Prediced protein domains and motifs are indicated. SP, signal peptide; NEC, N-terminal extracellular region; CEC, conserved extracellular region preceeding LRRs; LR(R), leucine-rich repeats; TM, transmembrane domain; and PK, protein kinase domain.



Figure 16. An *L. japonicus* (*Lotus*) *SYMRK* (*LjSYMRK*) deletion construct lacking the NEC region is sufficient for AM formation, but not for RNS in *Lotus*. Assay and selection were as in Figure 10.

(A–B and I–J) Lotus symrk-10 roots transformed with a control vector lacking a SYMRK expression cassette. (C–D and K–L), Lotus symrk-10 roots carrying the full length LjSYMRK cDNA under control of the LjSYMRK promoter region. (E–F and M–N) Lotus wild type and (G–H and O–P) Lotus symrk-10 roots transformed with an LjSYMRK deletion construct lacking the NEC region (Δ NEC-LjSYMRK) (Figure 15).

(A–H) Transgenic roots co-cultivated with *G. intraradices*. (A–B) Transgenic control root with extraradical mycelium but no intraradical fungal colonization or arbuscule formation. Fungal infection attempts are aborted within the epidermal or outer cortical tissue. (C–H) *symrk-10* roots carrying the full *LjSYMRK* cDNA (C–D) and *Lotus* wild type (E–F) and *symrk-10* (G–H) roots carrying the Δ NEC-*LjSYMRK* version, with *G. intraradices* colonization and arbuscule formation in the inner cortical cells.

(I–P) Root systems inoculated with *M. loti.* (I–J) *symrk-10* root system with transgenic roots carrying a control vector, showing no nodules. (K–L) *symrk-10* root system with nodules on a root carrying the full *LjSYMRK* coding sequence. (M–N) *Lotus* wild type root system with nodules on transgenic roots carrying the reduced *LjSYMRK* version (fluorescent). Nodules are also apparent on a non-fluorescent root, not carrying the transgene. (O–P) *symrk-10* root system with roots carrying the reduced *LjSYMRK* version, forming no nodules.

ai; aborted infection; ap, fungal appressorium; ar, arbuscule; eh, extraradical hypha; is, infection site; vt, root vasculature. Scale bars: (A, C, E and G) 0,1 mm; (B, D, F and H) 0,02 mm; (I–P) 2 mm.

To test the responsiveness of *Lotus symrk* mutant plants carrying *LeSYMRK* at a more refined morphological and regulatory level, we isolated a *symrk-7* line homozygous for *LeSYMRK*. Upon inoculation with *Mesorhizobium loti*, root hairs of *Lotus symrk* mutant plants bulge and branch extensively, showing no infection pocket or infection thread formation [24]. Likewise, infection with a *DsRED* expressing strain of *M. loti* revealed no infection pockets or -threads in roots of *symrk-7* plants homozygous for *LeSYMRK*, and root hairs showed excessive branching and tip bulging similar to nontransgenic mutant controls (Figure 13 B–G). Root hairs of wild type plants displayed normal curling and infection thread formation, the majority of hairs remaining non-deformed (Figure 13).

Consistent with a complete block of responsiveness to rhizobial symbionts, induction of the RNS-responsive genes *NIN* [50] and *SbtM4* [51] in roots of *symrk-7* plants homozygous for *LeSYMRK* was at a similar minimal level as in nontransgenic mutant controls when co-cultivated with *M. loti* for four days (Figure 14). In contrast, both genes were strongly upregulated in roots of wild type control plants.

To test whether the LRR motif that is present in the rosid *SYMRK* version, but absent in *SYMRK* candidates from toamto, poppy and monocots is required for root endosymbioses in *Lotus*, we constructed deletion versions of *LjSYMRK*. Because the LRR located towards the N-terminus of the predicted protein (LRR1) shows high sequence similarity and is thus likely to be phylogenetically conserved between the versions, we generated deletion constructs lacking either one of the LRR2 or LRR3 encoding exons. Neither of these constructs was potent to restore AM or RNS in *Lotus symrk-10* mutants (not shown). These results indicate that no proteins capable of fulfilling normal functions in symbiosis were produced. To further analyze these regions, additional constructs could be generated and tested that rely on point mutations in the LRRs in question to reduce the risk of misfolding of the mutated proteins.

The AM-forming, non-nodulating monocots *Oryza sativa* (rice) and *Zea mays* (maize) harbour a "minimal" *SYMRK* version encoding two LRRs only and a short N-terminal region, mainly covered by a single exon aligning with exon four of *LjSYMRK* (Figure 6

and Figure 7). To determine the role of *SYMRK* regions absent in monocot versions of the gene we generated an *LjSYMRK* version that structurally mimics rice *SYMRK* (*OsSYMRK*) in lacking sequence stretches which encode the N-terminal extracellular (NEC) region of the protein (Δ NEC-*LjSYMRK*, Figure 15). We tested whether this construct is sufficient for endosymbiosis establishment in *Lotus symrk-10* mutants. Although at lower rates than full-length *LjSYMRK* (Table 2), Δ NEC-*LjSYMRK* restored AM upon inoculation with *G. intraradices*, and wild type-like infection sites and arbuscules were formed in transgenic roots (Table 2 and Figure 16 A–B and E–H). Hence, Δ NEC-*LjSYMRK* is sufficient for AM formation.

In contrast, no infection threads or nodules were observed four weeks after inoculation with *M. loti* (Table 2 and Figure 16 I–J and M–P), whereas the introduction of the full-length *LjSYMRK* coding sequence restored both AM with fungi and RNS with bacteria (Table 2 and Figure 16 C–D and K–L). The NEC extension of *LjSYMRK* thus proved indispensable for bacterial endosymbiosis in *Lotus*. Similar to *LeSYMRK*, the reduced version of *LjSYMRK* thus selectively supports fungal, but not bacterial endosymbiosis in *Lotus*.

To determine whether the short *SYMRK* version of rice is sufficient for endosymbiosis formation in an RNS host, we introduced the *OsSYMRK* genomic sequence controlled by the *LjSYMRK* promoter into *Lotus symrk-10* roots. AM was fully restored in these roots, whereas nodulation with *M. loti* was impaired (Table 2 and Figure 12 M–Z). *Symrk-10* roots containing *OsSYMRK* exhibited primordial swellings generally devoid of bacteria after inoculation with *M. loti* (Figure 12 U–X). In rare cases, infection threads and small round nodules were observed, which contained bacterial colonies (Figure 12 Y–Z). Hence, similar to *LeSYMRK* and ΔNEC-*LjSYMRK*, *OsSYMRK* is compromised in supporting bacterial endosymbiosis in *Lotus*.

Successful complementation of *symrk-10* mutants with different *SYMRK* variants depended on the introduction of genomic sequence stretches. Although *Lotus* and *Tropaeolum SYMRK* coding sequence attached to the native *Lotus SYMRK* promoter region restored both AM and RNS in *Lotus symrk* mutant lines, no complementation

was observed using coding sequences of *Medicago* or rice. Also, complementation rates were lower and complementation was less reliable when using tomato *SYMRK* coding sequence as compared to genomic sequence (not shown). In the case of *Medicago DMI2*, retainment of the first intron was sufficient to achieve full complementation in *Lotus* for both AM and RNS. Where complementation of symbioses with fungi and bacteria was selective, namely in the intermediate tomato and minimal rice versions, we therefore generated constructs containing full genomic sequences for complementation assays to avoid that results were influenced by insufficient levels of correctly spliced *SYMRK* transcripts. However, for the Δ NEC-*LjSYMRK* deletion construct, only coding sequence was used. The results obtained with this construct should thus be interpreted with caution.

3.3 Discussion

An ancient genetic program for AM among angiosperms

The requirement of *CYCLOPS* for arbuscule formation, and thus for the establishment of functional AM in the monocot rice suggests a conserved role of this gene in monocot and dicot angiosperms. Rice *CYCLOPS*, and different versions of *SYMRK* from both dicot and monocot lineages were found competent to restore AM in *Lotus symrk* mutants, indicating that the role of *SYMRK* in AM is conserved despite the structural divergence evidenced by this gene. These data suggest a homologous nature of the AM genetic program in angiosperms. The recent finding that loss-of-function mutations in the rice version of *CCaMK* result in loss of AM symbiosis [18, 52], further supports the idea of widespread AM gene conservation. Interestingly, we found that the nonmycorrhizal legume *Lupinus albus* contains a full-length *SYMRK* version showing no apparent difference to other rosid *SYMRK* genes (Figure 7). To clarify whether the absence of AM in this species is in any way associated with the *SYMRK* gene, additional analyzes of the functional capabilities of this ortholog are required.

Syntenic and BLAST analyzes of the *Arabidopsis thaliana* (*Arabidopsis*) genome indicate that the lack of root symbiotic capability in this species is accompanied by a deletion of several symbiosis genes, including *SYMRK*, *CCaMK* and *CYCLOPS* [19, 29, 53]. Their conservation in AM forming species but absence in the asymbiotic *Arabidopsis* is consistent with an ancient and specific role in symbiosis. The analysis of plant progam components for AM and AM-like associations in non-angiosperm land plants, such as gymnosperms, bryophytes and pteridophytes (ferns) will be a future challenge.

A molecular link between the two types of RNS

In legumes, *SYMRK* is indispensable for root endosymbiosis with rhizobia and AM fungi [24, 43]. We show here that this endosymbiosis gene is also required for RNS in

the actinorhizal cucurbit *Datisca glomerata*, and the tree species *Casuarina glauca* (Fagales) [37]. *SYMRK* represents the first plant gene known to be necessary for Actinorhiza. Its common requirement for legume interaction with rhizobia and for Actinorhiza indicates a shared genetic basis of the two different types of RNS.

Interestingly, the modes of bacterial infection likely differ between these two actinorhizal species. *Frankia* infecting *Casuarina* and other actinorhizal Fagales, such as *Alnus* [54], enter the host root *via* intracellular root hair infection [55], an entry mode requiring *SYMRK* in legumes infected intracellularly by rhizobia [24, 43]. Among actinorhizal hosts, this infection mode is limited to Fagales species [7]. In the cucurbit genus *Datisca, Frankia* are assumed to penetrate intercellularly between epidermal and cortical cells of young roots [7]. The requirement of *SYMRK* for Actinorhiza may thus encompass actinorhizal hosts infected by both intra- and intercellular bacterial invasion. Further studies are required to determine the degree of overlap between the genetic systems of legume-rhizobium interaction and Actinorhiza, and define where the differences in symbiosis development, and determine how the fine-tuning of regulatory and response patterns differs between RNS forming groups, generating the present diversity of nodulation types with respect to organogenesis, ontogeny and cytology.

SYMRK is not involved in determining host-microbiont specificity

Ligands of the SYMRK extracellular domain have not been described to date, and the precise functions of SYMRK in AM and RNS are still unclear. In theory, the full-length, rosid version of SYMRK could exhibit features necessary for the specific recognition of bacterial symbionts. These features may not be required for AM formation, and may thus be missing in SYMRK versions of AM forming species outside the rosids where RNS with bacteria is absent, accounting for the inability of SYMRK versions from other non-eurosid lineages to support RNS in legumes.

We found that *SYMRK* genes from legumes of different cross-inoculation groups, and from other rosid lineages that form Actinorhiza with *Frankia* bacteria or are even unable to form RNS can support the specific interaction of a legume with its rhizobial symbiont. Thus, a combination of other factors, including nod factor receptor kinases [41, 44, 56], lectins [57] and perhaps yet-unknown additional components, is accountable for the fine-tuning of recognition specificity in plant–bacterial endosymbioses within the rosids.

A role of *SYMRK* in the predisposition to evolve RNS

Our survey of *SYMRK* sequences across angiosperms revealed at least three structurally distinct versions, and we could show that this polymorphism is functionally related to the root symbiotic capabilities of host plants. The variation in SYMRK domain composition is unique among the known common symbiosis genes (Figure 2). The congruence between the phylogenetic distribution of the "full-length" *SYMRK* version with the nodulating clade strongly suggests a link between *SYMRK* sequence evolution and the acquisition of endosymbiotic root nodulation with bacteria. The full-length version of SYMRK, which is required for RNS, is present in a monophyletic clade encompassing both nodulating and non-nodulating lineages. These facts make it a good candidate to be involved in a molecular predisposition for RNS proposed by Soltis *et al.* [8].

An attractive hypothesis is that *SYMRK* sequence divergence was a critical step in mediating the recruitment of the otherwise conserved common symbiosis pathway from the pre-existing AM genetic program. Recruitment was proposed to account for the genetic link of AM and nodulation in legumes [25, 26] and would make root–bacterial endosymbiosis as a whole a fascinating example for novel traits evolving on the basis of pre-existing genetic patterns. Further genetic adaptations would have been required for RNS involving nodule organogenesis to occur.

The decisive novelty that the molecular predisposition for RNS, by mediating the recruitment of AM genes, brought about may be the ability accomodate bacteria intracellularly. The common symbiosis genes defining the overlap of AM and RNS genetic programs play an apparent role in the intracellular infection process of fungi in AM, and of rhizobia in rhizobium-legume interactions. Supporting this hypothesis, a feature associated with endosymbiotic bacterial infection in both actinorhizal [58] and legume hosts [59], the formation of intracellular pre-infection threads (PITs) in host cells. These cytoplasmic structures resemble the pre-penetration apparatus (PPA) preceding fungal infection during AM formation [60, 61]. Forming in anticipation of bacterial symbionts, PITs are thought to coordinate the uptake of bacteria and determine the spatial progression of infection through the host cell [58, 59]. A similar role in guiding fungal transition through host cells in AM has been demonstrated for PPAs [60, 61]. These developmental similarities in AM, Actinorhiza, and legume-rhizobium infection may reflect a common genetic program for endosymbiosis establishment and symbiont uptake in all three types of interactions. In AM, PPAs are not formed in mutants that are defective in certain common symbiosis genes including SYMRK [60, 61]. It is therefore possible that a recruitment of AM symbiosis genes during the evolution of RNS facilitated the induction of intracellular accommodation structures in response to bacteria.

SYMRK domain function and evolution

Repetitive LRR modules have been implicated in the determination and evolution of novel recognition specificities of receptor proteins [62-64]. Interestingly, adaptive changes reflecting positive selective constraints can be traced in LRR– and NEC– encoding regions of *SYMRK* genes from different *Medicago* species [65]. Our functional comparison of eurosid *SYMRK* versions indicates that *SYMRK* is not involved in determining recognition specificity in nodulation. However, an extended *SYMRK* version containing a set of three LRR motifs, as present in eurosid *SYMRK* genes, is required for fully supporting RNS of *Lotus* with *M. loti*. Shorter *SYMRK* versions from
tomato or rice only suffice for AM. These functional differences may be caused by individual amino acid sequence polymorphisms, or alternatively, exons that are specifically required for bacterial endosymbiosis may be lacking in rice and tomato *SYMRK* versions. The Δ NEC-*Lj*SYMRK version of *Lotus* SYMRK, lacking the NEC region but exhibiting all three LRR motifs, was equally unable to restore RNS, while supporting AM in *Lotus symrk* mutants. These combined data indicate that both the NEC region and the LRRs are necessary for RNS establishment. At an overall structural level, exon acquisition from other genes encoding LRR or NEC-like domains [43, 66] or, alternatively, retainment of exons in eurosid *SYMRK* genes, may have been an integral genetic factor in the evolution of bacterial endosymbiosis in angiosperms.

The observation of small nodule-like structures on *Lotus symrk* mutant roots transformed with the *OsSYMRK* construct is counterintuitive, considering that the *LeSYMRK* and Δ NEC-*LjSYMRK* versions, which resemble legume *SYMRK* genes more closely, do not support such developmental responses.

A possible explanation for the different capabilities of tomato and rice *SYMRK* to support RNS in the complementation assays be that the nonmatching NEC region of *LeSYMRK* negatively interferes with RNS establishment, but not AM signalling in *Lotus*.

The *Lotus symrk* mutant line used for complementation assays, *symrk-10*, encodes a kinase-dead SYMRK protein [49]. This line was selected for the experiments due to its strong mutant phenotype, high rates of seed set and germination, and good growth and developmental properties as well as ease of transformability. It cannot be excluded that in *symrk-10* transgenic roots expressing rice *SYMRK*, *Lotus* mutant protein is produced which forms heterodimers with the shorter rice SYMRK version. These heterodimers would contain intact *Lotus* SYMRK extracellular domains, and rice SYMRK kinase domains, possibly leading to a complex of residual functionality in response to bacterial symbionts. Intermolecular phosphorylation has been demonstrated for SYMRK, and it is possible that SYMRK proteins form dimers or oligomers [49]. Similar effects may be blocked in the case of roots transformed with tomato *SYMRK* due to the presence of an

extracellular extension interfering with the extracellular domain of the *Lotus symrk* mutant protein. To obtain clarity about this possibility, and to confirm the degree of functionality of *OsSYMRK* in *Lotus* root endosymbiosis, the complementation assays performed in this study should be supplemented with similar assays using a different *symrk* mutant background, where the presence of mutant protein potentially exhibiting residual functionality can be excluded. Candidate mutant lines include such where the *SYMRK* coding sequence encodes a stop codon, like *Lotus symrk-19* [Perry *et al.*, manuscript in preparation] or is interrupted by deletion (*Medicago* dmi2 5P) or insertion (*Lotus symrk-1* [24] or *symrk-3* [24]) of mutations close to the translation start site, or in regions of the gene encoding predicted extracellular sections of the protein, precluding proper membrane localization.

Like tomato SYMRK, the ANEC-LjSYMRK version of Lotus SYMRK restored AM only, with no evidence for organogenesis induction after inoculation of transgenic roots with *M. loti.* This is despite the higher similarity of its sequence to the native *Lotus SYMRK* at the sequence level as compared to rice SYMRK, and despite the presence of all three LRR motifs. The differences in competence of rice SYMRK and $\Delta NEC-LjSYMRK$ to support responsiveness to bacterial symbionts in Lotus are difficult to explain, but it should be pointed out that ΔNEC -LiSYMRK was generated using coding sequence only. The results obtained with ΔNEC -L_jSYMRK should thus be interpreted with care, considering the importance of intronic sequences for efficient complementation with other SYMRK versions. Rice SYMRK supported the initiation of nodule orgaogenesis only when genomic sequence was used, while OsSYMRK coding sequence attached to the LiSYMRK promoter restored neither AM nor RNS in Lotus symrk roots. It is therefore possible that due to a lack of intronic regulatory sequences ΔNEC -L_jSYMRK expression levels were too low to allow for responsiveness to rhizobia in transgenic roots. Lower levels of SYMRK may suffice for AM restoration, resulting in a certain degree of AM complemented roots. The experiment should thus be repeated using genomic sequence for construct generation.

It is not clear whether for the different *SYMRK* genes used in this study intronic sequences are directly involved in regulation of expression levels or transcript nuclear

export, or some *SYMRK* versions are processed by the *Lotus* splicing machinery in the absense of introns, thereby generating misspliced transcripts.

It is possible that regulatory sequences are also present in introns of *Lotus SYMRK*. In the case of *LjSYMRK*, which perfectly matches with the *Lotus* signalling context, reduced levels of native protein may suffice to support endosymbiosis establishment. On the contrary, reduced expression levels in combination with imperfect compatibility of heterologous or artificial *SYMRK* genes may result in an inability of these versions to restore endosymbioses.

The NEC domain encoded by *Lotus SYMRK* exons two and three, upstream of the conserved LRR flanking region (CEC), is present across eudicot plants (Figure 6). Its function outside the nodulating group is unknown. The proposed involvement of *SYMRK* in processes such as reduction of the touch sensitivity of root hairs [67] may rely on this domain thereby imposing selective constraints. The NEC domain shows possible overall relatedness but only a low level of similarity to sequences present in the rice genome, and to sequences other than *SYMRK* candidates in genomes of dicots like *Arabidopsis* [43]. The apparent divergence observed among these potentially homologous sequences of yet unknown function is consistent with a hypothetical role as a receptor domain.

It will be a future challenge to determine the contribution of individual SYMRK LRR units as well as of the NEC domain and to resolve at the amino acid level the features of SYMRK proteins involved in conferring endosymbiotic nodulation capacity.

Additional components required for nodulation

The diversity and scattered occurrence of nodulation symbioses within the eurosid lineage suggest multiple independent origins [68]. Only a subset of the plant species carrying the "full-length" version of *SYMRK* develop root nodules, yet *SYMRK* of the non-nodulating *Tropaeolum* proved competent to support RNS in *Lotus*. Hence, there must be additional genetic features distinguishing the nodulators. Candidate genes include those that express the legume LysM receptor kinases NFR1 and NFR5 [41, 56,

69], which are required for responsiveness to rhizobial lipo-chito-oligosaccharide nodulation factors, but not for AM formation. A potential relevance of LysM receptors in Actinorhiza, or the identity of alternative receptors perceiving yet unknown *Frankia* signals, remains to be determined.

3.4 Conclusions

Our findings indicate a monophyletic nature of the genetic program for AM in angiosperms, and suggest that AM-forming, non-nodulating representatives – including cereals like rice – share a basal set of endosymbiosis determinants. In legumes, certain AM genetic components are also necessary for the interaction with rhizobia [19-24], and we show here that this common endosymbiosis program encompasses actinorhizal nodulation. Together, these findings provide first functional evidence for the long-standing hypotheses that plant nodulation symbioses are of common ancestry [70], and that some of their signalling components were recruited from ancient AM functions [25, 26].

Endosymbiosis genes identified to date reflect differential evolutionary forces. Genes like *CYCLOPS* and *CCaMK* [30, 71] are highly conserved and can potentially function in plant-bacterial signalling also in non-nodulating lineages, as suggested by their ability to restore nodulation in respective legume mutants. In contrast, structurally and functionally distinct *SYMRK* versions exist in extant angiosperms with different root symbiotic abilities. The differential potential of tomato and rice *SYRMK*, and of the Δ NEC version of *Lotus SYMRK* to complement plant-fungal but not plant-bacterial interactions in *Lotus* suggests that *SYMRK* is directly involved in the evolution of bacterial endosymbioses and ultimately RNS.

3.5 Materials and methods

Isolation of SYMRK homologues

We used a PCR strategy employing degenerate primers to obtain *SYMRK* sequence information from diverse angiosperms, for which no genome or root-derived expressed sequence tag sequences were available. Degenerate primers for the isolation of *SYMRK* genes were positioned in regions of the coding sequence conserved among *SYMRK* candidates, but not in other similar *O. sativa* (rice) and *A. thaliana* (*Arabidopsis*) sequences. For primer sequences, see Table 4.

 λ Zap cDNA libraries were available for isolation of *L. esculentum* (tomato) and *Alnus glutinosa* (alder) *SYMRK*. A cosmid clone carrying the *LeSYMRK* genomic region was isolated from a pooled tomato Cf2/9 library (kind gift of J.D.G. Jones, The Sainsbury Laboratory, United Kingdom) and shotgun sequenced.

For rapid amplification of complementary DNA ends (RACE) reactions, total RNA was extracted from roots of uninoculated seedlings or young plants using the Nucleospin RNA Plant kit (Macherey-Nagel) and DNaseI treated. Reverse transcription and 5'/3'RACE reactions were done using the SMART RACE kit (Clontech), following nested degenerate PCR reactions ([10 s 94 °C, 10 s 52 °C, 30 s 72 °C] × 35, 5 min 72 °C) to obtain initial sequence information.

Construct generation for mutant complementation and *SYMRK* RNAi experiments

For hairy root complementation assays, *SYMRK* cDNAs were amplified from complementary DNA (cDNA) preparations (Superscript II, Invitrogen) of uninoculated roots of the respective species. Binary transformation vectors were pCAMBIA 1302 or pK7WG2D,1 [72] derivatives. *D. glomerata* (*Datisca*), *L. japonicus* (*Lotus*), *Me. truncatula* (*Medicago*), and *T. majus* (*Tropaeolum*) *SYMRK* coding sequences were amplified from cDNA using primers DgSYMRK_EC_f with DgSYMRK_PK_r,

LjSYMRK_EC_f with LjSYMRK_PK_r, MtSYMRK_EC_f with MtSYMRK_PK_r, and TmSYMRK_EC_f with TmSYMRK_PK_r (Table 4), respectively.

The *LjSYMRK* delta NEC deletion construct (ΔNEC-*LjSYMRK*) was amplified as two fragments using primers LjSymRK_EC_f with LjSYMRK_EC_r and LjSYMRK_exon4_f with LjSymRK_PK_r (Table 4), which were then combined by overlapping PCR.

An MtSYMRK genomic segment containing intron one was amplified from total DNA using primers MtSYMRK EC f with MtSYMRK 01 r (Table 4) and ligated to the 3' fragment of the MtSYMRK cDNA following BstB1 digestion of both. The genomic sequences of tomato and rice SYMRK were amplified from total DNA using primers LeSYMRK EC f with LeSYMRK PK r and OsSYMRK EC f with OsSYMRK PK r (Table 4), respectively. A 285-bp fragment amplified with primers polyA NOS f and polyA NOS r (Table 4) from pJawohl8 RNAi (kind gift of P. Schulze-Lefert, Max Planck Institute for Plant Breeding Research, Cologne, Germany) was used as terminater in all constructs. SYMRK genes or coding sequences were under control of 4,970 bp of genomic sequence preceding the LjSYMRK translation start site. For pK7WG2D constructs, the cauliflower mosaic virus (CaMV) 35S promoter driving the Gateway-cassette was deleted Sal1(10124)-Sal1(38). C. glauca (Casuarina) cDNA was amplified and cloned as described [37].

CYCLOPS coding sequences were amplified from cDNA preparations (Superscript II, Invitrogen) obtained from root material of uninoculated rice (*O. sativa* subspecies *japonica*, cultivar Nipponbare) or *L. japonicus* ecotype Gifu roots and cloned into a pCAMBIA 1301 derived vector. *Lotus* and rice *CYCLOPS* coding sequences were amplified using primers LjCYCL_ATG_f with LjCYCL_TAA_r and OsCYCL_ATG_f with OsCYCL_TAA_r (Table 4), respectively. The same 285 bp NOS (nopaline synthase) terminater fragment was used as for *SYMRK* constructs. *CYCLOPS* constructs were under control of 2271 bp genomic sequence preceding the *LjCYCLOPS* translation start site.

For *Datisca* RNAi experiments, a pRedRoot- [73] based binary vector encoding DsRED1 for visible selection was equipped with a pKANNIBAL [74] CaMV 35S promoter-driven hairpin construct containing 367-bp of 3' coding and untranslated sequence of *DgSYMRK* in forward and reverse orientation, amplified with primers DgSYMRK_RNAi_f and DgSYMRK_RNAi_r (Table 4). For *Casuarina* RNAi experiments, construct generation was as described [37].

Table 4.	Oligonucleotide	primer sequences
----------	-----------------	------------------

	Primer Name	Sequence 5' to 3'
А	ALIEN_r	gaatccatagatctcatatattcagaagcrttrttytc
	EAM_r	aaagcaacttcaacaactctccacadngcytc
	EWA_f	ccaagacatgaatggtctctggtngartgggc
	GREP_f	ttctgctggaaattgttactggamgngarccnyt
В	Dg3RACE_f	ggcagtggcgtgtatcgaaccc
	Dg5RACEinn_r	ggactcacaagccaggccatcccagg
	Dg5RACEout_r	gttgggaggaagctcattgccatcgcc
	Le3RACE_f	tgcatggcgggacattgtaagaga
	Le5RACEinn_r	ccatgataccctcccttgatagt
	Le5RACEinn_r	cactetecacagegeetea
	Pr3RACE_f	agaagcaatgtggagggtggtt
	Pr5RACEinn_r	ccacattgcttctgcattataccctgctt
	Pr5RACEout_r	caacttcaaccaccctccacattgctt
	Tm3RACE_f	catgcatggctgacattgttcgtg
	Tm5RACEinn_r	gtaacccccttttatggtcggat
	Tm5RACEout_r	gctacttctaccactcgccacatt
С	LjSYMRK_EC_f	TTATTTATCGATGatggagttaccagc
	LjSYMRK_EC_r	ctctcatcttctgaatcactcccactatgctctcaaacccttcagttgc
	LjSYMRK_exon4_f	gcaactgaagggtttgagagcatagtgggagtgattcagaagatgagag
	LjSYMRK_PK_r	ATTAAACCTAGGTAATAAGTCGACctatctcggctgtgggtgag
	MtSYMRK_EC_f	TTATTTATCGatgatggagttacaagttattaggatatttag
	MtSYMRK_01_r	cagaaatctatgtagtctttggtggc
	MtSYMRK_PK_r	ATTAAACCTAGGTAATAAGTCGACctatctcggttgagggtgtgac
	DgSYMRK_EC_f	TTATTTATCGatgatgatggaaggattgcataattg
	DgSYMRK_PK_r	ATTAAACCTAGGTAATAAGTCGACt
		catctgggttcaggaggagccaag
	TmSYMRK_EC_f	TTATTTATCGatgatgatggaaagactcgac
	TmSYMRK_PK_r	ATTAAACCTAGGTAATAAGTCGACctatcttggttcaggaggagtc
	LeSYMRK_EC_f	TTATTTATCGatggaagtagataattgctggaac
	LeSYMRK_PK_r	ATTAAACCTAGGTAATAAGTCGACcagcatttaccttggttgtggag
	OsSYMRK_EC_f	TTATTTATCGatggccgcccgcttcg
	OsSYMRK_PK_r	AAATAACCTAGGctaccccggaagcgaaggca
	LjCYCL_ATG_f	AATTAACCTAGGATCCatggaaggggggggttttctgg
	LjCYCL_TAA_r	AATAATCCCGGGttacattttttcagtttctgatag
	OsCYCL_ATG_f	AATTAACCTAGGATCCatggagggcaggggtctgtctgag
	OsCYCL_TAA_r	AATAATCCCGGGttatgtgttggtatcagagacg
	polyA_NOS_f	AATAAACCTAGGatcagcttgcatgccggtcg
	polyA_NOS_r	AAATAAGTCGACctagagtcaagcagatcgttcaaac
D	DgSYMRK_RNAi_f	GGATCGATGGTACCatgcagaggcaatgtgga
	DgSYMRK_RNAi_r	GCTCTAGACTCGAGtcactctttcataatttcccaaaaggt

Е	DgqPCR_Ubi_f	atgcagatytttgtgaagac
	DgqPCR_Ubi_r	accaccacgragacggag
	DgqPCR_SYMRK_f	tgtgtgctaaggtggcagactttgg
	DgqPCR_SYMRK_r	aactatggctcgtgtagtactcgggatc
	LjqPCR_Ubi_f	atgcagatcttcgtcaagaccttg
	LjqPCR_Ubi_r	acctcccctcagacgaag
	LjqPCR_NIN_f	tggatcagctagcatggaat
	LjqPCR_NIN_r	tctgcttctgctgttgtcac
	LjqPCR_SbtM4_f	atgtaagctatgctgctggaatagag
	LjqPCR_SbtM4_r	atgcaacagcaggggctag
F	OsSYMRK_Ex4_f	ctcaggtcgtggcgcgacggtgacccgtgc
	OsSYMRK_Ex5_r	ccacgctgatagataggccatgagg
	OsCYCL_In3_f	aggcattttcatcacccatc
	OsCYCL_Ex6_f	cacccagtcagactccaaca
	OsCYCL_Ex6_r	atgctgtaccaagccaaacc
	Tos17_f/r	attgttaggttgcaagttagttaaga

(A) Degenerate oligonucleotide primers used for identification of *SYMRK* candidates. (B) Nondegenerate primers used in 3' and 5' RACE reactions to isolate full-length cDNA sequences of *SYMRK* homologs. (C) Nondegenerate primers used to generate *SYMRK* constructs for hairy root complementation experiments. Upper case characters in the sequences indicate restriction enzyme sites or artificial sequence framing these. (D) Nondegenerate primers used for the preparation of the *DgSYMRK* RNAi construct. (E) Degenerate and nondegenerate primers used for expression level analysis of the indicated genes via qPCR in *Datisca* (*Dg*) and *Lotus* (*Lj*). Primer orientation is indicated by _r, complementary and _f, forward. (F) Nondegenerate primers used for genotyping of *O. sativa* Tos17 insertion lines. Primer orientation is indicated by _r, complementary and _f, forward.

Biological material and phenotyping assays

AM and RLS phenotyping of L. japonicus whole plant transformormants

L. japonicus wild type ecotype B-129 Gifu and derived mutant lines *symrk-10* [48] and *symrk-7* [24, 75] as well as four independent transgenic lines carrying the *LeSYMRK* genomic region were tested, two in *symrk-7* and two in *symrk-10* background. For nodulation tests, plants were inoculated with *M. loti* R7A or, to visualize infection threads and confirm the presence of bacteria within nodules, *M. loti* R7A carrying pXLGD4 [76] as described [51]. For root hair response assays and gene expression analyzes, a *symrk-7* line homozygous for *LeSYMRK* was isolated. Root hair response assays were performed on plates containing ¹/₂ strength nitrogen-free B&D medium [77]

supplemented with 1% agar-agar and 0.1 μ M aminoethoxyvinylglycine (AVG). Roots of three-days old seedlings were inoculated with *M. loti* MAFF 303099 expressing DsRED (kind gift of M. Hayashi), suspended in ½ strength liquid B&D medium to a final optical density at 600 nm (OD₆₀₀) of 0.01. Control plants were mock-inoculated with sterile medium. Plants were kept vertically and roots protected from light. Root hair responses were assayed at 3-6 days post inoculation. Growth conditions were 24°C constant at 16 h light/8 h dark cycles.

AM and RLS phenotyping of hairy roots in L. japonicus and M. sativa

L. japonicus wild-type ecotype B-129 Gifu and derived mutant lines symrk-10 [48] and cyclops-3 {Szczyglowski, 1998 #41; Yano, 2008 #344} were inoculated with M. loti R7A as described [24]. Growth conditions were 24°C constant at 16-h-light/8-h-dark cycles. For infection of Agrobacterium rhizogenes-induced transgenic roots in Lotus, M. loti MAFF 303099 expressing DsRED was applied at OD600 of 0.02 in translucent plastic boxes containing 300 ml Seramis (Mars) and 150 ml liquid Fahraeus Plant (FP) medium [78]. A. rhizogenes-transformed M. truncatula A17 wild type and dmi2 5P (kind gift of G. Oldroyd, John Innes Centre, United Kingdom) plants were inoculated with S. meliloti 1021 carrying pBHR-mRFP [79] (OD600 of 0.02) in planting pots containing Seramis, and fertilized with FP medium supplemented with 50 µM KNO3 two times per week. For nodulation assays and simultaneous observation of infection thread (IT) formation in L. japonicus and M. truncatula, plants were harvested four and five weeks post inoculation, respectively. In L. japonicus plants transformed with CgSYMRK, nodulation was scored at four, five or 15 weeks post inoculation. Prior to inoculation, roots showing no eGFP fluorescence were removed in all cases. For AM phenotyping of L. japonicus and M. truncatula, plants were co-cultivated with G. intraradices BEG195 and harvested after three or two weeks of co-cultivation, respectively. Root systems were stained with acidic ink as described [32]. Prior to staining of A. rhizogenes-induced root systems, roots showing no eGFP fluorescence were removed. Roots were scored AM-positive (AM+) if symbiotic structures (arbuscules and vesicles) were present, as AM-negative (AM-) if no arbuscules were

present. Occasional *L. japonicus symrk* mutant roots showing vesicles not accompanied by arbuscules were scored AM–. Where complemented *L. japonicus symrk* mutant roots exhibited aborted infection sites in co-occurrence with successful infection and colonization events involving arbuscule and vesicle formation, roots were scored AM+.

AM and actinorhiza phenotyping of *D. glomerata SYMRK* knockdown roots

D. glomerata seeds and *Frankia* inoculum were a kind gift from K. Pawlowski (Department of Botany, Stockholm University, Sweden). *D. glomerata* was inoculated with compatible *Frankia* by potting in substrate with ~1 g/l crushed nodules and with *G. intraradices* BEG195 by adding substrate extracted from pots of inoculated *Allium schoenoprasum* plants. Growth conditions were 16 h light/8 h dark at 22°C and 60% relative humidity. Seeds of *T. majus* and *P. rhoeas* were purchased at Notcutts Garden Centres (UK). The ability to develop AM with *G. intraradices* was confirmed for all species involved in the study.

AM and actinorhiza phenotyping of C. glauca SYMRK knockdown roots

C. glauca hairy root phenotyping was done as described [38].

Genotyping and AM phenotyping of Oscyclops lines

All *O. sativa* plants were subspecies *japonica*, cultivar Nipponbare and grown as recommended at http://tos.nias.affrc.go.jp/~miyao/pub/tos17/. *Oscyclops* lines ND5032, NC2713, NC2415 and NG0782 were identified by screening a library of 42.700 rice mutant lines induced by retrotransposon *Tos17* [80]. For genotyping, primer *Tos17* was used with gene specific primers (Table 4). The presence and location of the insertions were confirmed by PCR and sequence analysis in all lines. For AM phenotyping, plants were co-cultivated with *G. intraradices* BEG195 and *Allium schoenoprasum* nurse plants for either two or three weeks. Quantification of AM colonization in rice roots followed the Magnified Line Intersect Method ([81], modified).

Plant transformation

L. japonicus hairy root and whole plant transformation

Transgenic roots on *Lotus symrk-10* and *cyclops-3* mutants were induced using *A. rhizogenes* strains AR1193 [82] and LBA1334 [83] as described by Díaz *et al.* [84] (modified). *L. japonicus symrk-7* and *symrk-10* lines carrying the *LeSYMRK* genomic region were obtained by *A. tumefaciens* Agl1 mediated transformation [85], using a pRK290 [86] based cosmid as binary vector.

M. truncatula hairy root transformation

Medicago seedlings were transformed as described at http://www.isv.cnrs-gif.fr/embo01/manuels/index.html (modified), using strain *A. rhizogenes* AR1193 [82].

D. glomerata hairy root transformation

Twelve-week-old *Datisca* plants were inoculated with *A. rhizogenes* strain LBA1334 [83] carrying the silencing construct by stem injection, and roots emerging at infection sites were covered with substrate. Three-week post inoculation roots were inspected for DsRED1 fluorescence. Nonfluorescent roots were removed, and plants were repotted and grown for eight weeks. After determination of the nodulation phenotype, individual fluorescent roots were divided into two halves. One half was stained for mycorrhiza visualization, the second used for total RNA extraction (RNeasy Plant Kit, Qiagen).

C. glauca hairy root transformation

C. glauca hairy roots were induced as described [87].

Quantitative PCR of reverse transcribed cDNA (qRT-PCR)

RNA was extracted from root tissues for expression level analyzes using the Nucleospin RNA Plant kit (Macherey-Nagel). Quantitative RT-PCR was performed with GeneAmp5700 (Applied Biosystems) using the SuperScript III Platinum Two-Step qRT-PCR-Kit (Invitrogen).

For determination of *SYMRK* expression levels in *Datisca symrk* knowckdown roots, a 123-bp *DgSYMRK* fragment was amplified using primers DgqPCR_SYMRK_f with DgqPCR_SYMRK_r (Table 4). As control, polyubiquitin cDNA was amplified using primers DgqPCR_Ubi_f with DgqPCR_Ubi_r (Table 4).

For expression level analysis of *NIN* [50] and *SbtM4* [51] in *Lotus symrk-7* roots carrying *LeSYMRK*, five days old seedlings of transgenic plants (*symrk-7* + *LeSYMRK*) homozygous for the *LeSYMRK* genomic region under control of the *LeSYMRK* promoter were mock-inoculated (controls) or inoculated with *M. loti* R7A (OD₆₀₀ = 0.01). Roots were harvested at four days post inoculation for RNA extraction and qPCR analysis. RNA was extracted from 6-8 bulked roots per sample. Primers for fragment amplification were LjqPCR_Ubi_f with LjqPCR_Ubi_r for determining polyubiquitin levels as control, LjqPCR_NIN_f with LjqPCR_NIN_r and LjqPCR_SbtM4_f with LjqPCR_SbtM4_r for test genes *NIN* and *SbtM4*, respectively (Table 4).

Representative fragments were sequenced for identity confirmation.

Computational analysis

Databases used for BLAST sequence search and analysis included http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/BLAST/, http://www.arabidopsis.org/Blast/, http://www.gramene.org/Multi/blastview, and http://genome.jgipsf.org/Poptr1/Poptr1.home.html. Sequence analysis and alignments were done using The Staden Package [88] v1.5.3 and Vector NTI v9.0. Protein domains and motifs were predicted using PROSITE [89], SIGNALP [90], TMHMM [91], and PredictNLS [92].

Accession Numbers

Sequences of *SYMRK* homologs were deposited at the EMBL Nucleotide Sequence Database (http://www.ebi.ac.uk/embl/) under accession numbers AY935263 (*A. glutinosa*); AM271000, AM931079 (*D. glomerata* coding and genomic sequence, respectively); AY935267 (*Lupinus albus*); AY935265 (*T. majus*); AY935266, AY940041 (*L. esculentum* coding and genomic sequence, respectively); AM270999 (*P. rhoeas*); AM851092 (*P. trichocarpa*). The accession number for pCAMBIA 1302 at GenBank (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Genbank/index.html) is AF234298.

The genomic/coding sequences used for prediction of exon-intron structures in Figures 6, 14 and 15 were:

SYMRK/DMI2/NORK [24, 36, 43]: AP004579/AF492655 (*L. japonicus*), AY940041/ AY935266 (*L. esculentum*), AP003866/AK099778 (*O. sativa*); *CYCLOPS* [19]: AP009158/EF569221 (*L. japonicus*), AP008212/EF569223 (*O. sativa*).

3.6 References

- 1 Berg R.H. (1999) *Frankia* forms infection threads. Can J Bot 77, 1327-1333
- 2 Brewin N.J. (2004) Plant Cell Wall Remodelling in the Rhizobium-Legume Symbiosis. Crit Rev Plant Sci 23, 293-316
- 3 Sprent J. (2001) Nodulation in Legumes. Royal Botanical Gardens
- 4 Uheda E., and Silvester W.B. (2001) The role of papillae during the infection process in the *Gunnera-Nostoc* symbiosis. Plant Cell Physiol 42, 780-783
- 5 Prell J., and Poole P. (2006) Metabolic changes of rhizobia in legume nodules. Trends Microbiol 14, 161-168
- 6 Pawlowski K., and Sprent J. (2008) Comparison between actinorhizal and legume symbiosis. In Nitrogen-fixing Actinorhizal Symbioses (Pawlowski K., and Newton W.E., eds), 261-288, Springer Netherlands
- 7 Swensen S.M., and Benson D.R. (2008) Evolution of actinorhizal host plants and *Frankia* endosymbionts. In Nitrogen-fixing Actinorhizal Symbioses (Pawlowski K., and Newton W.E., eds), 73-104, Springer Netherlands
- 8 Soltis D.E., *et al.* (1995) Chloroplast gene sequence data suggest a single origin of the predisposition for symbiotic nitrogen fixation in angiosperms. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92, 2647-2651
- 9 Ceremonie H., *et al.* (1999) Structural and functional comparison of *Frankia* root hair deforming factor and rhizobia Nod factor. Can J Bot 77, 1293-1301
- 10 Normand P., *et al.* (2007) Genome characteristics of facultatively symbiotic *Frankia sp.* strains reflect host range and host plant biogeography. Genome Res 17, 7-15
- 11 Laplaze L., *et al.* (2008) Molecular biology of actinorhizal symbioses. In Nitrogen-fixing Actinorhizal Symbioses (Pawlowski K., and Newton W.E., eds), 235-259, Springer Netherlands
- 12 Schüßler A., *et al.* (2001) A new fungal phylum, the Glomeromycota: phylogeny and evolution. Mycol Res 105, 1413-1421

82	
13	Paszkowski U (2006) A journey through signaling in arbuscular mycorrhizal
15	symbioses 2006. New Phytol 172, 35-46
14	Parniske M. (2004) Molecular genetics of the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis. Curr Opin Plant Biol 7, 414-421
15	Javot H., <i>et al.</i> (2007) A <i>Medicago truncatula</i> phosphate transporter indispensable for the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104, 1720-1725
16	Wang B., and Qiu Y.L. (2006) Phylogenetic distribution and evolution of mycorrhizas in land plants. Mycorrhiza 16, 299-363
17	Remy W., <i>et al.</i> (1994) Four hundred-million year-old vesicular arbuscular mycorrhizae Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91 11841-11843
18	Chen C., <i>et al.</i> (2007) Fungal symbiosis in rice requires an ortholog of a legume common symbiosis gene encoding a Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase. Plant Physiol 145, 1619-1628
19	Yano K., <i>et al.</i> (2008) CYCLOPS, a mediator of symbiotic intracellular accomodation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A
20	Imaizumi-Anraku H., <i>et al.</i> (2005) Plastid proteins crucial for symbiotic fungal and bacterial entry into plant roots. Nature 433, 527-531
21	Kanamori N., <i>et al.</i> (2006) A nucleoporin is required for induction of Ca2+ spiking in legume nodule development and essential for rhizobial and fungal symbiosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103, 359-364
22	Levy J., <i>et al.</i> (2004) A putative Ca2+ and calmodulin-dependent protein kinase required for bacterial and fungal symbioses. Science 303, 1361-1364
23	Saito K., <i>et al.</i> (2007) NUCLEOPORIN85 is required for calcium spiking, fungal and bacterial symbioses, and seed production in <i>Lotus japonicus</i> . Plant Cell 19, 610-624
24	Stracke S., <i>et al.</i> (2002) A plant receptor-like kinase required for both bacterial and fungal symbiosis. Nature 417, 959-962
25	Kistner C., and Parniske M. (2002) Evolution of signal transduction in intracellular symbiosis. Trends Plant Sci 7, 511-518
26	LaRue T., and Weeden N. (1994) The symbiosis genes of the host. In Proceedings of the 1st European Nitrogen Fixation Conference (Kiss G.B., and Endre G., eds), 147-151, Officina Press
27	Patil S., <i>et al.</i> (1995) Chimeric plant calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase gene with a neural visinin-like calcium-binding domain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92, 4897-4901
28	Ane J.M., <i>et al.</i> (2004) <i>Medicago truncatula DMI1</i> required for bacterial and fungal symbioses in legumes. Science 303, 1364-1367
29	Zhu H., <i>et al.</i> (2006) Tracing non-legume orthologs of legume genes required for nodulation and arbuscular mycorrhizal symbioses. Genetics
30	Tirichine L., <i>et al.</i> (2006) Deregulation of a Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent kinase leads to spontaneous nodule development. Nature 441, 1153-1156
31	Kistner C., <i>et al.</i> (2005) Seven <i>Lotus japonicus</i> genes required for transcriptional reprogramming of the root during fungal and bacterial symbiosis. Plant Cell 17, 2217-2229
32	Demchenko K., <i>et al.</i> (2004) Distinct roles of <i>Lotus japonicus SYMRK</i> and <i>SYM15</i> in root colonization and arbuscule formation. New Phytol 163, 381-392

- 33 Biermann B., and Linderman R.G. (1983) Use of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal roots, intraradical vesicles and extraradical vesicles as inoculum. New Phytol 95, 97-105
- 34 Zhang L.B., *et al.* (2006) Phylogeny of the Cucurbitales based on DNA sequences of nine loci from three genomes: implications for morphological and sexual system evolution. Mol Phylogenet Evol 39, 305-322
- 35 The Angiosperm Phylogeny Group (2003) An update of the Angiosperm Phylogeny Group classification for the orders and families of flowering plants: APG II. Bot J Linn Soc 141, 399-436
- 36 Markmann K., *et al.* (2008) Functional adaptation of a plant receptor-kinase paved the way for the evolution of intracellular root symbioses with bacteria. PLoS Biol 6, e68
- 37 Gherbi H., *et al.* (2008) *SymRK* defines a common genetic basis for plant root endosymbioses with arbuscular mycorrhiza fungi, rhizobia, and *Frankia* bacteria. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105, 4928-4932
- 38 Paszkowski U., *et al.* (2006) Maize mutants affected at distinct stages of the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis. Plant J 47, 165-173
- 39 Kikuchi S., *et al.* (2003) Collection, mapping, and annotation of over 28,000 cDNA clones from *japonica* rice. Science 301, 376-379
- 40 Shiu S.H., and Bleecker A.B. (2001) Receptor-like kinases from *Arabidopsis* form a monophyletic gene family related to animal receptor kinases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98, 10763-10768
- 41 Radutoiu S., *et al.* (2003) Plant recognition of symbiotic bacteria requires two LysM receptor-like kinases. Nature 425, 585-592
- 42 Dawson J.O. (2008) Ecology of actinorhizal plants. In Nitrogen-fixing Actinorhizal Symbioses (Pawlowski K., and Newton W.E., eds), 199-234, Springer Netherlands
- 43 Endre G., *et al.* (2002) A receptor kinase gene regulating symbiotic nodule development. Nature 417, 962-966
- 44 Radutoiu S., *et al.* (2007) LysM domains mediate lipochitin-oligosaccharide recognition and *Nfr* genes extend the symbiotic host range. Embo J 26, 3923-3935
- 45 Timmers A.C., *et al.* (1999) Refined analysis of early symbiotic steps of the Rhizobium-Medicago interaction in relationship with microtubular cytoskeleton rearrangements. Development 126, 3617-3628
- 46 Hayashi M., *et al.* (2000) Nodule Organogenesis in *Lotus japonicus*. J Plant Res 113, 489-495
- 47 Morandi D., *et al.* (2005) Characterisation of new symbiotic *Medicago truncatula* (Gaertn.) mutants, and phenotypic or genotypic complementary information on previously described mutants. Mycorrhiza 15, 283-289
- 48 Perry J.A., *et al.* (2003) A TILLING reverse genetics tool and a web-accessible collection of mutants of the legume *Lotus japonicus*. Plant Physiol 131, 866-871
- 49 Yoshida S., and Parniske M. (2005) Regulation of plant symbiosis receptor kinase through serine and threonine phosphorylation. J Biol Chem 280, 9203-9209
- 50 Schauser L., *et al.* (1999) A plant regulator controlling development of symbiotic root nodules. Nature 402, 191-195

84	
51	Takeda N., <i>et al.</i> (2007) Proteases in plant root symbiosis. Phytochemistry 68, 111 121
52	Banba M., <i>et al.</i> (2008) Divergence of evolutionary ways among common <i>sym</i> genes: <i>CASTOR</i> and <i>CCaMK</i> show functional conservation between two symbiosis systems and constitute the root of a common signaling pathway. Plant Cell Physiol
53	Zhu H., <i>et al.</i> (2005) Bridging model and crop legumes through comparative genomics Plant Physiol 137, 1189-1196
54	Berry A.M., <i>et al.</i> (1986) Fine structure of root hair infection leading to nodulation in the <i>Frankia-Alnus</i> symbiosis. Can J Bot 64, 292-305
55	Callaham D., <i>et al.</i> (1979) Root hair infection in actinomycete-induced root nodule initiation in <i>Casuarina Myrica</i> and <i>Comptonia</i> Bot Gaz 140, S1-S9
56	Madsen E.B., <i>et al.</i> (2003) A receptor kinase gene of the LysM type is involved in legume perception of rhizobial signals. Nature 425, 637-640
57	Diaz C.L., <i>et al.</i> (2000) Heterologous rhizobial lipochitin oligosaccharides and chitin oligomers induce cortical cell divisions in red clover roots, transformed with the pea lectin gene. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 13, 268-276
58	Berg R.H. (1999) Cytoplasmatic bridge formation in the nodule apex of actinorhizal root nodules. Can J Bot 77, 1351-1357
59	van Brussel A.A., <i>et al.</i> (1992) Induction of pre-infection thread structures in the leguminous host plant by mitogenic lipo-oligosaccharides of <i>Rhizobium</i> . Science 257, 70-72
60	Genre A., <i>et al.</i> (2008) Prepenetration apparatus assembly precedes and predicts the colonization patterns of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi within the root cortex of both <i>Medicago truncatula</i> and <i>Daucus carota</i> . Plant Cell 20, 1407-1420
61	Genre A., <i>et al.</i> (2005) Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi elicit a novel intracellular apparatus in <i>Medicago truncatula</i> root epidermal cells before infection. Plant Cell 17, 3489-3499
62	Parniske M., <i>et al.</i> (1997) Novel disease resistance specificities result from sequence exchange between tandemly repeated genes at the <i>Cf-4/9</i> locus of tomato. Cell 91, 821-832
63	Shiu S.H., <i>et al.</i> (2004) Comparative analysis of the receptor-like kinase family in Arabidopsis and rice. Plant Cell 16, 1220-1234
64	van der Hoorn R.A., <i>et al.</i> (2005) Structure-function analysis of <i>cf-9</i> , a receptor- like protein with extracytoplasmic leucine-rich repeats. Plant Cell 17, 1000-1015
65	De Mita S., <i>et al.</i> (2007) Adaptive evolution of the symbiotic gene NORK is not correlated with shifts of rhizobial specificity in the genus <i>Medicago</i> . BMC Evol Biol 7, 210
66	Dolan J., <i>et al.</i> (2007) The extracellular Leucine-Rich Repeat superfamily; a comparative survey and analysis of evolutionary relationships and expression patterns. BMC Genomics 8, 320
67	Esseling J.J., <i>et al.</i> (2004) A nonsymbiotic root hair tip growth phenotype in NORK-mutated legumes: implications for nodulation factor-induced signaling and formation of a multifaceted root hair pocket for bacteria. Plant Cell 16, 933-944
68	Doyle J.J., <i>et al.</i> (1997) A phylogeny of the chloroplast gene <i>rbcL</i> in the Leguminosae: taxonomic correlations and insights into the evolution of nodulation. Am J Bot 84, 541-554

- 69 Limpens E., *et al.* (2003) LysM domain receptor kinases regulating rhizobial Nod factor-induced infection. Science 302, 630-633
- 70 Doyle J.J., *et al.* (1997) A phylogeny of the chloroplast gene *rbcL* in the Leguminosae: taxonomic correlations and insights into the evolution of nodulation. American Journal of Botany 84, 541-554
- 71 Godfroy O., *et al.* (2006) A rice calcium- and calmodulin-dependent protein kinase restores nodulation to a legume mutant. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 19, 495-501
- 72 Karimi M., *et al.* (2002) GATEWAY vectors for *Agrobacterium*-mediated plant transformation. Trends Plant Sci 7, 193-195
- 73 Limpens E., *et al.* (2004) RNA interference in *Agrobacterium* rhizogenestransformed roots of *Arabidopsis* and *Medicago truncatula*. J Exp Bot 55, 983-992
- 74 Wesley S.V., *et al.* (2001) Construct design for efficient, effective and highthroughput gene silencing in plants. Plant J 27, 581-590
- 75 Szczyglowski K., *et al.* (1998) Nodule organogenesis and symbiotic mutants of the model legume *Lotus japonicus*. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 11, 684-697
- 76 Leong S.A., *et al.* (1985) Analysis of the 5' regulatory region of the gene for delta-aminolevulinic acid synthetase of *Rhizobium meliloti*. Nucleic Acids Res 13, 5965-5976
- 77 Broughton W.J., and Dilworth M.J. (1971) Control of leghaemoglobin synthesis in snake beans. Biochem J 125, 1075-1080
- 78 Fahraeus G. (1957) The infection of clover root hairs by nodule bacteria studied by a simple glass slide technique. J Gen Microbiol 16, 374-381
- 79 Smit P., *et al.* (2005) NSP1 of the GRAS protein family is essential for rhizobial Nod factor-induced transcription. Science 308, 1789-1791
- 80 Miyao A., *et al.* (2003) Target site specificity of the *Tos17* retrotransposon shows a preference for insertion within genes and against insertion in retrotransposon-rich regions of the genome. Plant Cell 15, 1771-1780
- 81 McGonigle T.P., *et al.* (1990) A new method which gives an objective measure of colonization of roots by vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. New Phytol 115, 495-501
- 82 Stougaard J., *et al.* (1987) The *Agrobacterium rhizogenes* pRi TL-DNA segment as a gene vector system for transformation of plants. Mol Gen Genet 207, 251-255
- 83 Offringa I.A., *et al.* (1986) Complementation of *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* tumor-inducing aux mutants by genes from the T_R-region of the Ri plasmid of *Agrobacterium rhizogenes.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 83, 6935-6939
- 84 Diaz C.L., *et al.* (2005) Induction of hairy roots for symbiotic gene expression studies. In *Lotus japonicus* Handbook (Márquez A.J., ed), 261-277, Springer
- 85 Lombari P., *et al.* (2003) A new transformation-regeneration procedure in the model legume *Lotus japonicus*: root explants as a source of large numbers of cells susceptible to *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation. Plant Cell Rep 21, 771-777
- 86 Ditta G., *et al.* (1980) Broad host range DNA cloning system for gram-negative bacteria: construction of a gene bank of *Rhizobium meliloti*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 77, 7347-7351

87	Diouf D., <i>et al.</i> (1995) Hairy root nodulation of <i>Casuarina glauca</i> : A system for the study of symbiotic gene expression in an actinorrhizal tree. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 8, 532-537
88	Staden R (1996) The Staden sequence analysis nackage Mol Riotechnol 5 233-
00	241
89	Hulo N., et al. (2008) The 20 years of PROSITE. Nucleic Acids Res 36, D245-249
90	Bendtsen J.D., <i>et al.</i> (2004) Improved prediction of signal peptides: SignalP 3.0. J Mol Biol 340, 783-795
91	Krogh A., <i>et al.</i> (2001) Predicting transmembrane protein topology with a hidden Markov model: application to complete genomes. J Mol Biol 305, 567-580
92	Cokol M., <i>et al.</i> (2000) Finding nuclear localization signals. EMBO Rep 1, 411-415

86

3.7 Acknowledgements

We are grateful to K. Pawlowski (Department of Botany, Stockholm University, Sweden) for supplying D. glomerata seeds, Frankia inoculum, and an A. glutinosa cDNA library, and for discussion. We thank M. Bucher (Institute of Plant Sciences, ETH Zürich, Switzerland) and J.D.G. Jones (The Sainsbury Laboratory, United Kingdom) for access to tomato cDNA and cosmid libraries, respectively, and P. Schulze-Lefert (Max Planck Institute for Plant Breeding Research, Cologne, Germany) for supplying the plasmid pJawohl8 RNAi. We gratefully obtained M. truncatula dmi2 mutant seeds from G. Oldroyd (John Innes Centre, United Kingdom) and *M. truncatula* A17 wild-type seed material from T. Wang (John Innes Centre, United Kingdom). M. Hayashi (University of Munich, Germany) and S. Goormachtig (Ghent University, Belgium) kindly provided DsRED expressing strains of *M. loti* MAFF and *Sinorhizobium meliloti* 1021, respectively. We thank J.A. Gossmann for making the Tropaeolum SYMRK complementation construct, and G. Strobel for technical assistance. Financial support was provided by the Center for French-Bavarian University Cooperation (CCUFB/BFHZ), and by PROCOPE (EGIDE/DAAD, French-German Bilateral Cooperation). Research at The Sainsbury Laboratory is funded by the Gatsby Charitable Foundation.

4 Special thanks

I would like to express my sincere thanks to my PhD supervisor, Martin Parniske, for much inspiring discussion, for his guidance, advice and support along a most exciting project. I am very grateful also to Gábor Giczey, who with Martin Parniske laid the foundation of the project, and introduced me to its background, the secrets of molecular genetics and the Sainsbury working environment with outstanding expertise and patience, and with great, refreshing humor.

I experienced the Parniske lab as a welcoming, inspiring and vivid environment and would like to warmly thank all past and present members whose stay in the lab overlapped with mine for the stimulating, humorous and open-minded atmosphere. There was always opportunity for discussion, help and support on any sort of question or problem. Great thanks also to the IT, workshop, glasshouse and kitchen crews for tremendous help and creativity in finding solutions for diverse problems and needs!

My family and friends were an immeasurable source of strength, motivation and balance throughout. Thank you that I can rely on you at any moment, that you are always there to provide unreserved help and advice.

Klaus, thank you for your love and support!

5 Appendix

5.1 List of publications and author contributions

For unpublished data that are not yet contained in manuscripts, aspects not prepared by the author of this thesis are as follows:

Gábor Giczey (The Sainsbury Laboratory, United Kingdom; present affiliation: Quintiles, Hungary) isolated a cosmid carrying tomato *SYMRK* for transgenic complementation of *Lotus symrk* mutants, and Matthew Smoker (The Sainsbury Laboratory, United Kingdom) performed whole plant transformations.

For published data or unpublished manuscripts, the author of this thesis contributed as follows:

Markmann, K., Giczey, G. and Parniske, M. (2008).

Functional adaptation of a plant receptor kinase gene paved the way for the evolution of intracellular root symbioses with bacteria. PLoS Biology 6(3): e68.

The experiments presented in this publication have been performed, and the data acquired and analyzed by the author of the thesis, except for the identification of *SYMRK* genes from *Lupinus albus*, *Tropaeolum majus* and *Lycopersicon esculentum*, which were isolated by Gabor Giczey (The Sainsbury Laboratory, United Kingdom; present affiliation: Quintiles, Hungary) or by him and the thesis' author in cooperation. The supervisor of this thesis, Martin Parniske (The Sainsbury Laboratory, United Kingdom; present affiliation: University of Munich (LMU), Germany) identified the rice *SYMRK* candidate. Manuscript and figures were prepared by the thesis' author in cooperation with Martin Parniske.

Gherbi, H.*, **Markmann, K.***, Svistonoof, S., Estevan, J., Autran, D., Giczey, G., Auguy, F., Péret, B., Laplaze, L., Franche, C., Parniske, M. and Bogusz, D. (2008).

SymRK defines a common basis for plant root endosymbioses with AM fungi, rhizobia and *Frankia* bacteria. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA 105(12): 4928-4932.

*These authors contributed equally to the work.

The author of the thesis designed, performed and analyzed the AM and RNS complementation experiments of *Lotus japonicus symrk* mutants with *Casuarina glauca SYMRK*. Hassen Gherbi (Institut de Recherche pour le Développement, France) and the thesis' author prepared the constructs used in this experiment in cooperation. The respective manuscript sections and figures were prepared by the author of the thesis, and the remainder of the manuscript was written by Hassen Gherbi and the thesis' author in cooperation.

Markmann, K. and Parniske, M. (2009).

Evolution of root endosymbiosis with bacteria: how novel are nodules? Trends in Plant Science: 14, 77-86.

The author of the thesis prepared all text and figures of the review, with Martin Parniske providing advice and discussion.

Yano, K., Yoshida, S., Müller, J., Singh, S., Banba, M., Vickers, K., **Markmann, K.**, White, C., Schuller, B., Sato, S., Asamizu, E., Tabata, S., Murooka, Y., Perry, J., Wang, T., Kawaguchi, M., Imaizumi-Anraku, H., Hayashi, M., Parniske, M. (2008).

CYCLOPS, a mediator of symbiotic intracellular accomodation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA: 105, 20540-20545.

All data, figures and text sections concerning the phenotyping of rice *CYCLOPS* insertion lines, and the complementation of *Lotus cyclops* mutants with rice and *Lotus CYCLOPS* genes were contributed by the author of this thesis. Rice *CYCLOPS* was originally isolated by Kate Vickers (The Sainsbury Laboratory, United Kingdom), who also retrieved the rice *cyclops* insertion mutant lines from the *Tos17* Mutant Panel Database (Rice Genome Resource Centre, Japan). Judith Müller isolated the homozygous mutant lines used in this study.

Perry, J., Welham, T., Brachmann, A., Charpentier, M., Markmann, K., Wang, T. and Parniske, M.

Mining the symbiotic component of the *Lotus japonicus* genome using classical genetics and thematic TILLING. Manuscript in preparation.

For this manuscript, AM and RNS phenotyping data of several *Lotus japonicus symrk* mutant alles were collected and analyzed by the author of the thesis.

5.2 Publications and manuscripts

The publications containing data stemming from the thesis presented here are attached below in the following order:

Markmann, K. and Parniske, M. (2009).

Evolution of root endosymbiosis with bacteria: how novel are nodules? Trends in Plant Science: 14, 77-86.

Markmann, K., Giczey, G. and Parniske, M. (2008).

Functional adaptation of a plant receptor kinase gene paved the way for the evolution of intracellular root symbioses with bacteria. PLoS Biology 6(3): e68.

Gherbi, H.*, Markmann, K.*, Svistonoof, S., Estevan, J., Autran, D., Giczey, G.,
Auguy, F., Péret, B., Laplaze, L., Franche, C., Parniske, M. and Bogusz, D. (2008). *SymRK* defines a common basis for plant root endosymbioses with AM fungi,
rhizobia and *Frankia* bacteria. Proceedings of the National Academy of

Sciences, USA 105(12): 4928-4932.

Yano, K., Yoshida, S., Müller, J., Singh, S., Banba, M., Vickers, K., **Markmann, K.**, White, C., Schuller, B., Sato, S., Asamizu, E., Tabata, S., Murooka, Y., Perry, J., Wang, T., Kawaguchi, M., Imaizumi-Anraku, H., Hayashi, M., Parniske, M. (2008).

CYCLOPS, a mediator of symbiotic intracellular accomodation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA: 105, 20540-20545.

The following manuscript is in preparation and is therefore not attached:

Perry, J., Welham, T., Brachmann, A., Charpentier, M., Markmann, K., Wang, T. and Parniske, M.

Mining the symbiotic component of the *Lotus japonicus* genome using classical genetics and thematic TILLING. Manuscript in preparation.

Evolution of root endosymbiosis with bacteria: how novel are nodules?

Katharina Markmann^{1,2} and Martin Parniske¹

¹ Genetics, Faculty of Biology, Ludwig Maximilians Universität, Munich, Germany

² Current address: Centre for Carbohydrate Recognition and Signalling, Department of Molecular Biology, 8000 Aarhus, Denmark

Plants form diverse symbioses with nitrogen-fixing bacteria to gain access to ammonium, a product of the prokaryote-exclusive enzyme nitrogenase. Improving the symbiotic effectiveness of crop plants like maize, wheat or rice is a highly topical challenge and could help reduce the need for energy-intense nitrogen fertilizer in staple food production. Root nodule symbiosis (RNS) constitutes one of the most productive nitrogen-fixing systems, but it is restricted to a small group of related angiosperms. Here, we review the genetic regulation of RNS and its interconnections with other plant symbiosis or plant developmental programs. Since RNS uses genetic programs that are widely conserved in land plants, we evaluate the prospects for a transfer to plants that are currently non-nodulating.

Root nodule symbiosis: a rare but efficient source of nitrogen for plants

Limitation of water or nutrients such as nitrogen, potassium and phosphate restricts plant growth and development in many terrestrial ecosystems. Mutualistic symbioses of roots with fungi or bacteria help plants to cope with these constraints. Associative nitrogen fixation is found in plants as diverse as ferns (e.g. Azolla), gymnosperms (e.g. coralloid roots of cycads) and monocots, which can host endophytic diazotrophs such as Azoarcus or Azos*pirillum*. Among the most sophisticated associations are intracellular (endo-) symbioses, where the microbial partner is accommodated within a living host cell [1]. This inter-organismic intimacy is based on complex molecular crosstalk between the partners and, except in parasitic associations where bacterial nitrogen fixation remains inefficient, allows efficient nutrient exchange to the benefit of both [1]. Root nodule symbiosis (RNS) effectively renders plants independent of other nitrogen supplies [2] but is restricted to only four related orders within the Eurosid clade of angiosperms [3]. RNS is characterized by two major evolutionary inventions: the intracellular uptake of bacteria and the formation of specialized organs, the root nodules [4,5]. The latter provide a suitable microenvironment for nitrogenase activity and allow for a protected, controlled development of high bacterial population densities. Nodules thus resemble 'micro-fermenters' within the host plant that are optimized for symbiosis maintenance.

Corresponding authors: Markmann, K. (kama@mb.au.dk); Parniske, M. (parniske@lmu.de).

There are two main types of RNS that differ in bacterial partners, infection mechanisms and nodule organogenesis and morphology [4,5]. Legumes, including important agricultural crops such as soybean (*Glycine max*), common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) and pea (*Pisum sativum*), interact with phylogenetically diverse nitrogen-fixing bacteria known as rhizobia [2,4]. Actinorhiza, a symbiosis with nitrogen-fixing actinobacteria of the genus *Frankia* [6], is formed by members of three rosid orders: the Fagales, Cucurbitales and Rosales [7]. Examples are alder (*Alnus* spp.), sea buckthorn (*Hippophae rhamnoides*) and the subtropical tree genus *Casuarina* [8].

Within the four orders where RNS occurs, its distribution is scattered [7,9]. It is an ongoing challenge to decipher the combination of molecular adaptations characterizing RNS-forming plants (i) relative to related species outside of the nodulating clade and (ii) relative to non-nodulating representatives within. The close kinship of taxa forming RNS prompted the proposition that a

Glossary

Actinorhiza (AR): mutualistic association of plant roots with nitrogen-fixing bacteria of the genus *Frankia* (Actinobacteria). Actinorhiza is a form of RNS, involving the development of nodules on host roots, where high densities of symbiotic bacteria reside within plant cells. The term Actinorhiza also refers to infected nodule organs representing the physical manifestation of the symbiosis. Host plants include members of the angiosperm orders Fagales, Cucurbitales and Rosales.

Rhizobium-legume symbiosis (RLS): RNS formed by legumes (Fabales) in association with diverse Gram-negative nitrogen-fixing bacteria termed rhizobia.

Arbuscular mycorrhiza (AM): a phylogenetically widespread mutualistic symbiosis of plant roots with fungi of the phylum Glomeromycota. AM fungi form finely branched hyphal structures (arbuscules) within host cells and deliver phosphates and other nutrients to the plant in exchange for carbohydrates.

Determinate nodules: root nodules forming in response to symbiotic bacteria where cells of the tip meristem fully differentiate once the nodule has reached its full size. The developmental stage of the inner nodule tissue is therefore uniform. Determinate nodules are formed by different legume lineages, and examples of determinate-nodule-forming plants include *Lotus japonicus* and *Glycine max* (soybean).

Indeterminate nodules: symbiotic root nodules that retain their tip meristem and continuously develop new infected tissue. As a result, indeterminate nodules display a zonal composition, with different stages of symbiosis development contained in the same nodule. The nodule vasculature can be peripheral (legumes) or centrally localized (actinorhizal plants and *Parasponia*), leading to a stem-like or root-like tissue organization, respectively. Examples of indeterminate-nodule-forming legumes include: *Medicago truncatula* (barrel medic), *Medicago sativa* (alfalfa), *Pisum sativum* (garden pea) and *Sesbania rostrata*.

Root nodulation symbiosis (RNS): root symbiosis of plants with nitrogen-fixing bacteria, which are hosted inside specific root-derived organs (nodules). RNS supplies the host plant with bacterial-fixed nitrogen in exchange for carbohydrates. The two main forms of RNS are AR with *Frankia* bacteria and RLS with rhizobia.

TRPLSC-648; No of Pages 10

ARTICLE IN PRESS

Trends in Plant Science Vol.xxx No.x

Review

common ancestor could have acquired a genetic predisposition to evolve nodulation [3]. This predisposition, consisting of one or more genetic advances, consequently became a basis for the evolution of all types of RNS. This hypothesis predicts that the existing forms of RNS have overlapping genetic programs. However, experimental evidence for a genetic program shared between both types of RNS was obtained only recently [10,11]: post-transcriptional gene silencing demonstrated that the <u>SYMBIOSIS</u> <u>RECEPTOR-LIKE KINASE (SYMRK) gene (also known as DOES NOT MAKE INFECTIONS 2 [DMI2] in Medicago</u>

truncatula [barrel medic] and <u>NODULATION RECEP-TOR KINASE</u> [NORK] in Medicago sativa [alfalfa]) [12,13], which is necessary for the interaction of legumes with rhizobia [12,13], is also required for actinorhiza with Frankia in the Fagales tree Casuarina glauca [10] and the cucurbit Datisca glomerata [11]. The common requirement of SYMRK is probably representative for other genes shared between RNS in legumes and actinorhiza (Figures 1, 2 and 3) and provides important support for the hypothesis that actinorhiza and legume RNS share a common genetic ancestry.



Figure 1. Common endosymbiosis genes exhibit divergent patterns of structural and functional evolution. SYMRK, which might form the entry point to the common AM and RNS program for endosymbiosis with fungi or bacteria, has at least three distinct structural versions. All of these support AM symbiosis with fungi, but only the longest version is sufficient for functional RNS [11]. This longest SYMRK version has been found only in rosids and seems to be present in all species that form RNS, as well as in their relatives, such as poplar or Tropaeolum, that do not form RNS but form only AM symbioses [11]. This pattern suggests an involvement of SYMRK in a genetic adaptation that might have provided a molecular basis for the evolution of RNS within the rosid lineage. A common ancestor of the rosid clade (dark purple) possibly acquired a specific adaptation of SYMRK, allowing plant-bacterial interactions to access the conserved AM genetic program for endosymbiosis, which encompasses at least six further genes (CASTOR [34]; POLLUX [31,34]; NUP85 [35]; NUP133 [36]; CCaMK [32,37]; CYCLOPS [33,38]). In contrast to SYMRK, these are structurally conserved across dicot and monocot angiosperms (Figure 2). Potentially, the monomorphic components of the common symbiosis program can support RNS [26,28,38,39,47]. The small pictograms refer to the root endosymbiosis types supported by the respective structural version of SYMRK. Angiosperm orders shaded dark gray include members forming AM and actinorhizal RNS with Frankia (AR), those shaded light purple form AM and another form of RNS, rhizobium-legume symbiosis (RLS). Members of orders shaded light blue form AM but no RNS. The plant names (same color code as for orders) refer to species containing the respective structural versions of SYMRK. Asterisks (*) indicate the availability of data on the functional capabilities of the respective SYMRK genes [10,11]. Abbreviations: AM, arbuscular mycorrhiza; AR, actinorhiza; RLS, rhizobium-legume symbiosis; RNS, root nodulation symbiosis. Key to plant names; alder, Alnus glutinosa; Casuarina, C, glauca; Datisca, D, glomerata; Lotus, L, japonicus; maize, Zea mays; Medicago, M. truncatula and M. sativa; poplar, P. trichocarpa; poppy, Papaver rhoeas; Tropaeolum, T. majus; rice, Oryza sativa. Predicted protein regions are abbreviated as: CEC, conserved extracellular domain; LRR, leucine-rich repeat; NEC, N-terminal region of unknown function; PK, protein kinase domain; TM, transmembrane domain. Nomenclature of angiosperm phylogeny is based on Ref. [81].

In this review, we discuss the genetic features that distinguish 'nodulators' from non-nodulating plants – and form the molecular prerequisite for the complex evolutionary achievement of nitrogen-fixing RNS.

What are the key genetic inventions of the nodulating clade?

Among the prime candidates for adaptations specific to RNS-forming plants are genes involved in the perception of rhizobial signaling molecules, namely lipochito-oligosaccharide nodulation (Nod) factors. These receptors are required for the earliest host responses to symbiotic rhizobia and are involved in determining host-symbiont specificity [14–17]. They are likely to represent relatively recent achievements during the evolution of legume RNS. In the Japanese legume Lotus japonicus, a close relative of the Eurasian birdsfoot trefoil, perception of Nod factors depends on the receptor-like kinases (RLKs) NOD FAC-TOR RECEPTOR 1 (NFR1) and NFR5 and is highly specific in that Nod factors produced by different bacterial strains can be distinguished if they show minor alterations of their chemical structure [15-17]. NFR-predicted proteins contain lysine motif (LysM) domains in their predicted extracellular part, and these domains are involved in Nod factor recognition in L. japonicus [17]. Closely related genes mediate Nod-factor signaling in other legumes such as M. truncatula [14,18]. In an approach to induce a compatible interaction of rhizobial bacteria with an incompatible legume, M. truncatula was equipped with L. japonicus Nod factor receptor genes (NFR1 and NFR5). Transgenic roots formed bacteria-containing nodules with the specific partner of L. japonicus, Mesorhizobium loti [17]. Although these nodules were not fully functional [17], the observations demonstrate that Nod factor receptors have a central role in defining host ranges in rhizobium-legume interactions. The Nod factor receptors are closely related to two receptors identified in the non-nodulating angiosperms Arabidopsis thaliana (thale cress) and rice (Oryza sativa), which are required for the defense-related perception of chitin oligomers, a chemical signature of fungi [19,20].

The high level of specificity of Nod-factor recognition and the necessity to evoke symbiosis-related rather than defense-related downstream responses call for artificial transfer of compatible receptors to potential new hosts. Alternatively, infection systems that are likely to be independent of Nod-factor signaling, such as those employed by certain photosynthetic bradyrhizobia that induce nodules on aerial plant parts [21] or actinorhiza with *Frankia* [22], represent an interesting resource for further exploitation towards developing artificial host systems. Because these bacteria lack common nod genes required for Nod-factor synthesis in rhizobia [21,22], they must rely on alternative strategies to induce nodule organogenesis and infection. A key question is whether the Nod-factor receptors are specific to the legume branch of the nodulating clade or whether actinorhiza plants employ the same type of receptor for detection of Frankia symbionts. Key genes required for Nod-factor synthesis have not been detected in the fully sequenced Frankia genomes ([22]; Box 1). However, the exceptional genus Parasponia belongs to

Box 1. Model systems for RNS transfer

Basal but efficient forms of RNS promise to involve a minimal set of host and bacterial genetic adaptations required for engineering artificial host systems. Developmental features of symbiosis establishment, such as infection mode, intracellular accommodation of the microbial symbiont or nodule organogenesis, depend on the host genotype [4,5], rendering the plant the prime target for such engineering efforts. Actinorhizal hosts [82] and legumes of the family Caesalpiniaceae, as well as some Fabaceae [4], retain their bacterial symbionts in tubular infection-thread-like structures lined with plant cell wall material. These have been referred to as 'fixation threads' [4] because they are the sites of bacterial nitrogen fixation in the respective lineages, and they might represent an ancient form of bacterial accommodation [4]. This is in contrast to many legumes of the families Mimosaceae and Fabaceae, including most fabacean crop legumes, where rhizobia are hosted within specialized membrane-bound compartments termed symbiosomes [83]. Because symbiosome formation poses stringent demands on the genetic compatibility of the symbiotic partners and plant control of the symbiosis, fixation thread symbioses like actinorhizas might be more suited as model systems for RNS transfer.

Bacterial candidates for engineering artificial RNS systems should be compatible with a wide range of host genetic backgrounds. Promising examples include broad-host-range symbionts like *Rhizobium* sp. strain NGR234 [84] or *Frankia* bacteria [22], of which many strains can efficiently infect phylogenetically diverse hosts after either intra- or intercellular infection modes [85]. Most actinorhiza-forming *Frankia* bacteria [86], as well as certain rhizobia, such as *Azorhizobium caulinodans* [87] and symbiotic *Burkholderia* strains [88], have the capacity to subsist and fix nitrogen under both symbiotic and nonsymbiotic conditions. Although other factors can restrict nitrogen fixation within plant roots [89], such strains could provide a basis for artificially generating beneficial associations on a nonspecific or partially specific basis [90].

the Rosales that are normally nodulated by *Frankia* but is nodulated by rhizobia. *Parasponia* nodulation requires the rhizobial common *nod* genes, which suggests that LysM RLKs could be involved in RNS in this plant [23]. Although *Parasponia* might be an exception, it is possible that the adaption of LysM receptors for the recognition of symbiotic bacteria goes back to the 'predisposition event', but their involvement in actinorhizal symbiosis with *Frankia* is presently unclear.

Bacterial uptake evolved by arbuscular mycorrhiza gene recruitment

RNS is genetically embedded in an ancient program for endosymbiosis that is widely conserved in plants today. The majority of land plants form arbuscular mycorrhiza (AM), a symbiosis with fungal symbionts of the phylum Glomeromycota [24]. AM hosts benefit from the extensive access of the fungal mycelia to soil compartments by exchanging photosynthates for water and nutrients such as phosphate [25]. AM-forming angiosperms have been shown to possess conserved genes required for intracellular accommodation of microbial symbionts [11,26-29]. Although originally evolved for symbiosis with fungi, components of this program are functional in RNS with bacteria and could potentially support RNS also in lineages that do not currently contain nodulating species. The 'common symbiosis program' is defined by genes that are required for both intracellular root symbioses with bacteria (RNS) and fungi (AM) [1]. In the model legume L. japonicus, seven common symbiosis genes have been ident-

Trends in Plant Science Vol.xxx No.x

Review





ARTICLE IN PRESS

Trends in Plant Science Vol.xxx No.x



Figure 3. Root nodulation symbiosis (RNS) with nitrogen-fixing bacteria is embedded in conserved genetic programs. Genes required for intracellular infection with (a) arbuscular mycorrhiza (AM) are shared with both main types of RNS, (b) rhizobium-legume symbiosis (RLS) and (c) actinorhiza (AR) with Frankia. Nodule organogenesis might be closely related to (d) lateral root formation. Three modules (i-iii) are apparent that define genetically separable response patterns in RNS. (i) Plant genes required for host-symbiont recognition in the different symbiosis types are likely to carry specific adaptations. Candidates are known only for RLS, where LysM kinases (LJNFRs in Lotus japonicus, and MtLYKs as well as MtNFP in Medicago truncatula) are required for the specific perception of rhizobial chito-oligosaccharide Nod factors (b) [14-18]. AM and AR are likely to employ other genes for recognition of fungal and Frankia signals, the chemical nature of which is not yet resolved ((a) and (c), respectively). (ii) The core module for intracellular infection is defined by at least seven genes that are required for endosymbiosis with both bacteria and fungi in legumes [30], and is likely to be conserved across AM-forming angiosperms [11,26,28,29,38,39,47]. SYMRK is likely to be active at the entry point of this program. The longest, probably rosid-specific version of the gene might carry an adaptation that specifically links receptor-mediated bacterial recognition to the common symbiosis program for endosymbiotic uptake. SYMRK is also required for AR, suggesting that the two forms of RNS rely on similar genetic programs [10,11]. Epidermal responses leading to intracellular infection involve distinct patterns of calcium oscillation in RLS and AM [54,55]. These calcium signals (referred to as 'calcium spiking') potentially represent a key trigger of AM- or RNSspecific downstream gene activation. In RLS, activation of the common symbiosis program is assumed to induce the synthesis of cytokinin, which is assumed to act as a signal regulating organogenetic response in the root cortex [52.68.69]. The cytokinin receptor LHK1 (CRE1 in M. truncatula) has a central role in nodule organogenesis induction [52,66,67]. (iii) In the legume L. Japonicus, continuous signaling from progressing intracellular infection, possibly via cytokinin, is necessary for maintenance and completion of nodule organogenesis [38] (b). Cytokinin balancing also has a central role in the induction of lateral roots (LRs), which structurally resemble actinorhizal nodules [5]. Response patterns are distinct in that a relative increase in cortical cytokinin levels induces nodulation but represses lateral-root formation [67,75]. Three histidine kinases (AtLHK1, AtLHK2 and AtLHK3), including a putative ortholog of LiLHK1 (MtCRE1), are involved in regulating LR formation in the nonsymbiotic Arabidopsis thaliana [73] (d). It is possible that cytokinin induction of nodule organogenesis involves specific spatial induction patterns of cytokinin biosynthesis, molecular adaptations of LJLHK1 (MtCRE1) or downstream targets that are exclusive to RNS-forming species.

ified [30], and for four of these, orthologs were isolated from other legumes such as *M. truncatula*, *M. sativa* and garden pea [12,31–33]. The RLK SYMRK (DMI2; NORK) functions among the earliest components of the common symbiosis program, near the point where rhizobium–legume signaling merges with the AM genetic program [12,13,16]. Further common symbiosis proteins include the two predicted cation channels CASTOR and POLLUX (*M. truncatula* DMI1) [31,34], two <u>nu</u>clear <u>pore</u> proteins (NUP85 [35] and NUP133 [36]), the <u>calcium</u> and <u>calm</u>odulin dependent

exon-intron borders. Arrowheads indicate exon-intron borders that cannot be correlated between predicted orthologs with certainty. Predicted protein regions are abbreviated as: AI; CaM, autoinhibitory domain overlapping with calmodulin binding site; EF, calcium-binding EF hand; CC, coiled-coil region; CEC, conserved extracellular region; LRR, leucine-rich repeat motif; NEC, N-terminal extracellular region of unknown function; NLS, nuclear localization signal; PK, protein kinase domain; TM, transmembrane domain; SP, signal peptide. The annotations follow *in silico* predictions or published annotation of the depicted or homologous sequences where appropriate [11,13,37,38]. The genomic and coding sequences used for prediction of exon-intron structures were: (a) *SYMRK (DMI2; NORK)* [11–13], AP004579 and AF492655 (*Lotus*), AY00401 and AY935266 (tomato); AP003866 and AK099778 (rice); (b) *CASTOR* [34], AB162016 and AB162157 (*Lotus*), NC_008396 and AK08216 (rice); (c) *POLLUX (DMI1*) [31,34], AB162017 and AB162158 (*Lotus*), NC_008394 and AK072312 (rice); (d) *NUP85* [35], AP009253 and AB284835 (*Lotus*), NC_008394 and AK072636 (rice); (e) *NUP133* [36], AJ890252 and AJ890251 (*Lotus*), NC_008396 and AK073981 (rice); (f) *CCaMK (DMI3*) [32,37], AM230792 and AM230793 (*Lotus*), AC097175 and AK070533 (rice); (g) *CYCLOPS* [38], AP009158 and EF569221 (*Lotus*), AP008212 and EF569223 (rice). Coding sequences used for exon-intron structure determination are derived from cDNA, not from *in silico* predictions. Parts of the figure are modified from Ref. [11].

<u>k</u>inase CCaMK (*M. truncatula* DMI3) [32,37] and the nuclear protein CYCLOPS [38] (*M. truncatula* INTER-ACTING <u>PROTEIN OF DMI3</u> [IPD3]) [33].

The requirement of legume genes for both bacterial and fungal symbioses inspired the hypothesis that pre-existing AM genes were recruited during the evolution of RNS [1]. Indeed, predicted common symbiosis gene orthologs from non-legume dicots and from monocots were shown to be essential for AM in these lineages or supported AM if introduced in legume mutants deficient in the respective genes. Rice lines mutated in CASTOR, POLLUX, CCaMK (DMI3) or CYCLOPS (IPD3) were unable to establish symbiosis with AM fungi [26,28,29,38,39], and transgenic introduction of CASTOR, CCaMK and CYCLOPS into corresponding legume mutants restored AM formation [26,28,38,39]. SYMRK genes from different dicot angiosperms and the monocot rice complemented the loss of AM in an L. japonicus symrk mutant [11]. This provides evidence for a conserved genetic framework of AM in angiosperms (Figure 1).

In contrast to RNS, plant organogenetic programs are not induced during AM [40]. However, in both symbioses the host plant accommodates the respective microbial symbiont inside living plant cells. Prior to AM fungal infection of host epidermal and cortical cells, characteristic nuclear movements and rearrangements of cytoskeleton and organelles occur [41,42]. Formation of the resulting cellular 'pre-penetration apparatus' was found to depend on the common symbiosis genes DMI2 (SYMRK) and DMI3 (CCaMK) in M. truncatula [42], indicating their involvement in preparing host cells for the intracellular invasion by fungal symbionts. Strikingly similar phenomena were observed in both rhizobium-legume [43,44] and actinorhizal [45] interactions, where cytoplasmic bridges, termed 'pre-infection threads', form in host cells before bacterial invasion. In both AM and RNS, these cytological structures dictate the path of microbial progression through infected host cells [41–45]. Consistent with this, mutant phenotypes of legumes impaired in common symbiosis genes involve either a total block or early arrest of intracellular microbial infection [30]. Together, these data strengthen the hypothesis [1] that AM gene recruitment during RNS evolution laid the basis for intracellular accommodation of bacteria. The recruitment event could have enabled the integration of receptor-mediated perception of bacterial partners into the pre-existing AM genetic program, which was a decisive step in the evolution of RNS. The genetic basis for this novel link might be identical to the enigmatic predisposition event at the root of the nodulating clade.

SYMRK is a likely determinant of the genetic predisposition for nodulation

Genetic adaptations conferring the predisposition to nodulate [3] have been acquired by the ancestor of the monophyletic nodulating clade. Therefore, the corresponding features should be present in nodulating and non-nodulating members of this clade. At the same time, such adaptations should be absent in other angiosperm lineages. A corresponding pattern has so far only been detected for *SYMRK*, making this gene a prime candidate for carrying decisive sequence and functional alterations acquired by the ancestor of the nodulating clade. Among common symbiosis genes required for endosymbiotic infection in AM and RNS, contrasting evolutionary patterns are apparent (Figures 1 and 2). Unique structural and functional divergence was found between SYMRK genes isolated from different angiosperm lineages (Figures 1 and 2). At least three distinct versions of SYMRK exist, which differ in the domain configuration of the predicted products and in their potential to confer symbiotic ability [11]. Only the longest version, which is present in rosids including legumes, actinorhizal hosts and also non-nodulating species, fully supports both AM and RNS [11]. Both shorter SYMRK versions fully support AM but not RNS when transgenically introduced into a legume symrk mutant background [11]. The precise molecular features that are responsible for these differences remain to be determined. Interestingly, only the monocot version can support basic RNSrelated responses, including organogenesis induction and rare, aberrant infection events [11]. The precise extent to which non-rosid SYMRK versions can function in root interactions with bacteria remains to be determined. But the apparent correlation between the occurrence of the full-length SYMRK version in a monophyletic group including all RNS-forming lineages and the potential of this version, as opposed to the shorter ones, to support functional endosymbiosis with bacteria suggests that SYMRK is involved in the predisposition for nodulation. By contributing to the general ability of rosid lineages to evolve RNS, the longest SYMRK version is likely to represent one of the genetic advances that paved the way for RNS evolution in an ancestor of the nodulating clade [11].

In contrast to SYMRK, other common symbiosis genes exhibit a conserved exon-intron structure within the coding sequence and similar predicted protein domains in hosts from dicot and monocot angiosperm lineages [27,32,34-36,38] (Figure 2). Examples are CASTOR, CCaMK and CYCLOPS, where this structural conservation coincides with conserved functionality in root endosymbioses. CCaMK from the monocots rice [46] and Lilium longiflorum [47] restored RNS when introduced into ccamk mutants of the legume M. truncatula, although later stages of symbiosis establishment were compromised when rice CCaMK was used for complementation [46]. In castor, ccamk and cyclops loss-of-function mutants from L. japonicus, rice versions of the respective genes fully restored both AM and RNS [28,38].

Potentially, with the exception of SYMRK [11], common symbiosis proteins from non-nodulating lineages can thus support RNS without major modification. The observed sequence adaptations of *SYMRK* might have been sufficient for the recruitment of the common symbiosis program in an ancestor of all nodulators.

Combining infection and organogenesis: what makes a 'predisposed rosid' a 'nodulator'?

Despite the scattered occurrence of nodulation within the rosid lineage, plant-bacterial endosymbioses have only been detected in association with nodule organogenesis. A known exception is *Gleditsia triacanthos* (honey locust), in which infection-thread formation and symbiotic nitro-

gen fixation do not involve the development of nodules [48]. In addition, organogenesis can be uncoupled from intracellular infection in nodulating legume species [47,49–52]. Mutants of *Sinorhizobium meliloti* exist that fail to induce root-hair reactions or intracellular infection in their host, *M. sativa*, but are able to induce nodule organogenesis [49]. By contrast, particular lines of *M. sativa*, *M. truncatula* and *L. japonicus* develop spontaneous nodules in the complete absence of rhizobia [47,49–52]. These data indicate that intracellular infection and nodule organogenesis are genetically separable processes in RNS. Consequently, genes involved in spatially coordinating and synchronizing nodule organogenesis with bacterial infection are essential for an efficient RNS.

Mutants in three independent loci were identified in L. *japonicus* that exhibit root nodule organogenesis in the absence of rhizobia. Two of the respective genes have been isolated [37,52]. Versions of CCaMK that are mutated in or lack the autoregulatory domain of the protein can induce the development of bacteria-free nodules with normal tissue organization in legumes forming either determinate [37] or indeterminate nodules [47]. CCaMK is presumed to be involved in deciphering nucleus-associated 'calcium spiking' [32,53], periodic fluctuations of calcium concentration that occur in response to rhizobia or isolated Nod factors [54]. Similar calcium-fluctuations of a distinct pattern occur in response to AM fungi [55], suggesting that calcium spiking might be involved in inducing different downstream responses in bacterial and fungal symbioses [55]. However, the observation that monocot orthologs can restore nodulation in ccamk loss-of-function mutants [28,46,47] rules out the possibility that legume-specific adaptations of CCaMK are essential for nodule organogenesis in this lineage.

In the *L. japonicus* intracellular infection program, *CCaMK* functions upstream of the common symbiosis gene *CYCLOPS* [38], which is required for intracellular infection but not for induction of nodule organogenesis. However, nodule organogenesis aborts at a primordial stage in *cyclops* mutants [38]. This developmental arrest can be circumvented by autoactive CCaMK, indicating that the initiation of organogenesis is partially parallel to the common symbiosis program for intracellular infection [38]. Importantly, these observations also suggest that in the wild-type situation, the progression of intracellular bacterial infection is a prerequisite for completion of nodule development [38].

RNS-related responses induced by an autoactive CCaMK version require several putative transcriptional regulators [37,47,56], which, in contrast to CCaMK itself, are not required for AM [56–59]. These include the GRAS-type transcription factors <u>NODULATION SIGNALING</u> <u>PATHWAY 1</u> (NSP1) [60,61] and NSP2 [61,62], the <u>ETHYLENE RESPONSE FACTOR</u> (ERF)-type AP2 protein <u>ERF REQUIRED FOR NODULATION 1</u> (ERN1) [56] and NODULE INCEPTION (NIN) [59,63]. These all belong to families that contain close homologs in other angiosperms, including the nonsymbiotic *A. thaliana* and the monocot rice [56,60,61,64]. It is possible that specific adaptations of the respective legume genes are required for their function in RNS because *NbNSP1* from *Nicotiana*

benthamiana (tobacco) only partially complemented RNS in *M. truncatula nsp1* mutants [61].

Interestingly, these genes are required for both nodule organogenesis and infection-thread initiation (NSP1 [57,60]; NSP2 [58,62]; NIN [59]) or infection-thread development (ERN1 [56]). Their precise role during symbiosis establishment is unclear but potentially involves the regulation of distinct response patterns in root epidermal and cortical layers [65].

Several lines of evidence, most notably the discovery that a cytokinin receptor (\underline{L} . JAPONICUS <u>H</u>ISTIDINE <u>K</u>INASE 1 [LHK1] [52,66], *M. truncatula* <u>C</u>YTOKININ <u>RESPONSE 1 [CRE1] [67]</u>) has an important role in initiation of nodulation, indicate that cytokinin is a key trigger for nodule organogenesis, as discussed in two recent reviews [68,69].

In a possible scenario, Nod-factor signaling via the common symbiosis program initiates cytokinin production, which in turn induces transcriptional regulation of genes controlling progression of nodule organogenesis [68] in a cell-type-specific manner [69].

Cytokinin is a trigger for nodule organogenesis

Consistent with an essential role of cytokinin in initiating nodule organogenesis, an autoactive version of the cytokinin receptor LHK1 induces spontaneous nodule organogenesis in the absence of rhizobia [52]. By contrast, an *lhk1* loss-of-function allele (*hit1-1*) supports intracellular bacterial infection but strongly impairs the formation of nodules [66]. Experimental downregulation of the *M. truncatula* predicted ortholog of this gene, *CRE1*, led to loss of nodule organogenesis [67], indicating a role of cytokinin in the formation of both determinate and indeterminate nodules.

Both rhizobial and *Frankia* strains have been reported to secrete cytokinin [70,71], and Nod-factor-deficient, nonnodulating strains of *Sinorhizobium meliloti* regain the potential to induce nodule-like organs when manipulated to secrete *trans*-zeatin, a naturally occurring cytokinin [72]. These observations suggest a possible role of cytokinin secreted by bacterial symbionts during symbiosis establishment in the induction of nodule organogenesis in RNS.

Photosynthetic *Bradyrhizobium* strains were identified that lack the *nodABC* operon required for Nod-factor synthesis and were proposed to induce nodulation in a Nodfactor-independent manner by using purine derivatives, which could be related or identical to phytoactive cytokinins [21]. Together, these data suggest that bacterial symbionts might contribute to nodule organogenesis induction, or even circumvent the Nod-factor signaling pathway, by releasing cytokinin and activating the LHK1-mediated organogenesis program.

Presumed *LHK1* or *CRE1* orthologs are conserved in angiosperms, including *Arabidopsis* and rice [73,74]. Testing the potential of deregulated versions to autoinduce similar organogenetic responses in non-nodulating plants could reveal whether nodulating groups evolved a partially specific, LHK1-mediated cytokinin response [65] or whether they fully rely on pre-existing programs for organogenesis.

The direct involvement of cytokinin signaling in the regulation of nodule organogenesis relates RNS to fundamental developmental processes, such as lateral-root generation [67,73,75], regulation of root length [52,66,67,73] and vascular morphogenesis [52,76] (Figure 3). The evolution of nodule organogenesis might thus have involved the adaptation of pre-existing root developmental programs such that they respond to hormonal re-balancing of the root cortex induced by signals associated with endosymbiotic bacterial infection [68,77,78]. Consistent with this is the occurrence of nodules and nodule-like structures in diverse land plant lineages, indicating that the genetic tools for their formation are not limited to RNS-competent rosids. For example, nodules that are likely to have evolved as modified lateral roots similar to actinorhizal nodules occur naturally in some gymnosperms such as *Podocarpus* spp., where they are colonized by AM fungi and potentially provide a setting for bacterial nitrogen fixation [79]. Artificial induction of nodule-like structures was reported in rice after partially macerated root tissue was exposed to rhizobial bacteria [80]. Finally, nitrogen-fixing nodules differ greatly in their morphological and developmental characteristics between RNS-forming groups [4,5], giving further indication that a broad range of host genetic backgrounds can potentially support nodule formation.

Concluding remarks

The emergence of RNS seems to be based on the evolutionary concept of recruitment, in that many RNS-related processes rely on conserved genetic programs that also support pre-existing plant developmental processes and that later acquired additional roles in RNS. Its restricted occurrence in a few rosid plant orders, all part of a monophyletic clade, indicates that more than one specific molecular adaptation was necessary to make RNS evolution possible (Figure 3). These respective genetic changes probably served to link, or add to, pre-existing genetic programs, creating a novel trait of high ecological and economic value. The plant genes involved in these adaptations represent vantage points for efforts to transfer RNS to new hosts. Respective candidate proteins are involved (i) in direct host-microbiont crosstalk (for example, LysM receptor kinases such as L. japonicus NFRs or M. truncatula LYKs and NFP) and (ii) in mediating the molecular integration of plant-bacterial signaling into the host genetic background, thereby 'tapping' pre-existing plant programs for additional use in RNS. A possible example of such a 'recruiter protein' is the RLK SYMRK (DMI2; NORK), which probably contributed to the potential of AM hosts to form endosymbioses with bacteria [1], a capacity that later became associated with nodule organogenesis on independent evolutionary occasions [1,3], perhaps through the cytokinin receptor LHK1 (CRE1).

Efforts towards engineering novel host systems should focus on identifying the crucial specificities of RNS and aim to bring these together within target hosts. To achieve artificial forms of RNS efficient in symbiotic nitrogen fixation, more insights will further be required into the fine-tuning of host-bacterial recognition and compatibility determination (Box 2). In the past, genetic dissection of RNS has predominantly focused on legume model systems

Box 2. Superficial details

In addition to Nod factors, other rhizobial molecules, such as exopolysaccharides and secreted effector proteins [49,91,92], can contribute to establishing fully compatible interactions with legumes. This equally applies to symbioses involving narrow- [49] and broad-host-range rhizobial strains like *Rhizobium sp.* strain NGR234 [91]. The possible existence of additional checkpoints for mutual compatibility in rhizobium–legume systems, potentially involving as yet unknown molecular components [17,91,92], might challenge a successful biotechnological transfer of fully compatible RNS. Deciphering the precise roles of bacterial surface molecules and secreted proteins in both legume and actinorhizal RNS represents an intriguing field for future research efforts.

where the plant genetic programs involved are likely to be strongly derived. Less specialized forms of RNS, including actinorhizal associations with *Frankia* bacteria, combine features that render them more promising models for potential RNS transfer to new hosts (Box 1). Deciphering genetic determinants for the existing diversity of RNS within and beyond the legume lineage will thus be an important step towards identifying a basic set of RNS genetic requirements and, ultimately, combining them in potential new systems.

Acknowledgements

We thank Martin Groth, Stefanie Kiebart, Esben Madsen and Thomas Ott for discussions and for critically reading the manuscript. We apologize to the authors whose work we could not discuss here owing to space limitations.

References

- 1 Kistner, C. and Parniske, M. (2002) Evolution of signal transduction in intracellular symbiosis. *Trends Plant Sci.* 7, 511–518
- 2 Young, J.P.W. (1992) Phylogenetic classification of nitrogen-fixing organisms. In *Biological Nitrogen Fixation* (Stacey, G. *et al.*, eds), pp. 43–86, Chapman & Hall
- 3 Soltis, D.E. et al. (1995) Chloroplast gene sequence data suggest a single origin of the predisposition for symbiotic nitrogen fixation in angiosperms. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 92, 2647–2651
- 4 Sprent, J.I. (2007) Evolving ideas of legume evolution and diversity: a taxonomic perspective on the occurrence of nodulation. *New Phytol.* 174, 11–25
- 5 Wall, L.G. and Berry, A.M. (2008) Early interactions, infection and nodulation in actinorhizal symbiosis. In *Nitrogen-fixing Actinorhizal Symbioses* (Pawlowski, K. and Newton, W.E., eds), pp. 147–166, Springer
- 6 Pawlowski, K. and Sprent, J. (2008) Comparison between actinorhizal and legume symbiosis. In *Nitrogen-fixing Actinorhizal Symbioses* (Pawlowski, K. and Newton, W.E., eds), pp. 261–288, Springer
- 7 Swensen, S.M. (1996) The evolution of actinorhizal symbioses: evidence for multiple origins of the symbiotic association. Am. J. Bot. 83, 1503– 1512
- 8 Dawson, J.O. (2008) Ecology of actinorhizal plants. In Nitrogen-fixing Actinorhizal Symbioses (Pawlowski, K. and Newton, W.E., eds), pp. 199–234, Springer
- 9 Doyle, J.J. *et al.* (1997) A phylogeny of the chloroplast gene rbcL in the Leguminosae: taxonomic correlations and insights into the evolution of nodulation. *Am. J. Bot.* 84, 541–554
- 10 Gherbi, H. et al. (2008) SymRK defines a common genetic basis for plant root endosymbioses with arbuscular mycorrhiza fungi, rhizobia, and Frankia bacteria. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105, 4928–4932
- 11 Markmann, K. *et al.* (2008) Functional adaptation of a plant receptorkinase paved the way for the evolution of intracellular root symbioses with bacteria. *PLoS Biol.* 6, e68
- 12 Endre, G. et al. (2002) A receptor kinase gene regulating symbiotic nodule development. Nature 417, 962–966
- 13 Stracke, S. et al. (2002) A plant receptor-like kinase required for both bacterial and fungal symbiosis. Nature 417, 959–962

- 14 Limpens, E. et al. (2003) LysM domain receptor kinases regulating rhizobial Nod factor-induced infection. Science 302, 630–633
- 15 Madsen, E.B. *et al.* (2003) A receptor kinase gene of the LysM type is involved in legume perception of rhizobial signals. *Nature* 425, 637–640
- 16 Radutoiu, S. et al. (2003) Plant recognition of symbiotic bacteria requires two LysM receptor-like kinases. Nature 425, 585–592
- 17 Radutoiu, S. et al. (2007) LysM domains mediate lipochitinoligosaccharide recognition and Nfr genes extend the symbiotic host range. EMBO J. 26, 3923–3935
- 18 Amor, B.B. et al. (2003) The NFP locus of Medicago truncatula controls an early step of Nod factor signal transduction upstream of a rapid calcium flux and root hair deformation. Plant J. 34, 495–506
- 19 Kaku, H. *et al.* (2006) Plant cells recognize chitin fragments for defense signaling through a plasma membrane receptor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U. S. A. 103, 11086–11091
- 20 Wan, J. et al. (2008) A LysM receptor-like kinase plays a critical role in chitin signaling and fungal resistance in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell 20, 471–481
- 21 Giraud, E. $et\ al.\ (2007)$ Legumes symbioses: absence of Nod genes in photosynthetic bradyrhizobia. Science 316, 1307–1312
- 22 Normand, P. et al. (2007) Genome characteristics of facultatively symbiotic Frankia sp. strains reflect host range and host plant biogeography. Genome Res. 17, 7–15
- 23 Marvel, D.J. et al. (1987) Rhizobium symbiotic genes required for nodulation of legume and nonlegume hosts. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 84, 1319–1323
- 24 Schüßler, A. et al. (2001) A new fungal phylum, the Glomeromycota: phylogeny and evolution. Mycol. Res. 105, 1413–1421
- 25 Javot, H. et al. (2007) Phosphate in the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis: transport properties and regulatory roles. Plant Cell Environ. 30, 310–322
- 26 Chen, C. et al. (2007) Fungal symbiosis in rice requires an ortholog of a legume common symbiosis gene encoding a Ca2+/calmodulindependent protein kinase. Plant Physiol. 145, 1619–1628
- 27 Zhu, H. et al. (2006) Tracing non-legume orthologs of legume genes required for nodulation and arbuscular mycorrhizal symbioses. *Genetics* 172, 2491–2499
- 28 Banba, M. et al. (2008) Divergence of evolutionary ways among common sym genes: CASTOR and CCaMK show functional conservation between two symbiosis systems and constitute the root of a common signaling pathway. Plant Cell Physiol. 49, 1659–1671
- 29 Gutjahr, C. et al. (2008) Arbuscular mycorrhiza-specific signaling in rice transcends the common symbiosis signaling pathway. Plant Cell, DOI: 10.1105/tpc.108.062414
- 30 Kistner, C. *et al.* (2005) Seven *Lotus japonicus* genes required for transcriptional reprogramming of the root during fungal and bacterial symbiosis. *Plant Cell* 17, 2217–2229
- 31 Ane, J.M. et al. (2004) Medicago truncatula DMI1 required for bacterial and fungal symbioses in legumes. Science 303, 1364–1367
- 32 Levy, J. et al. (2004) A putative Ca²⁺ and calmodulin-dependent protein kinase required for bacterial and fungal symbioses. Science 303, 1361–1364
- 33 Messinese, E. et al. (2007) A novel nuclear protein interacts with the symbiotic DMI3 calcium- and calmodulin-dependent protein kinase of Medicago truncatula. Mol. Plant Microbe Interact. 20, 912–921
- 34 Imaizumi-Anraku, H. et al. (2005) Plastid proteins crucial for symbiotic fungal and bacterial entry into plant roots. Nature 433, 527–531
- 35 Saito, K. et al. (2007) NUCLEOPORIN85 is required for calcium spiking, fungal and bacterial symbioses, and seed production in *Lotus japonicus. Plant Cell* 19, 610–624
- 36 Kanamori, N. et al. (2006) A nucleoporin is required for induction of Ca²⁺ spiking in legume nodule development and essential for rhizobial and fungal symbiosis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103, 359–364
- 37 Tirichine, L. et al. (2006) Deregulation of a Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent kinase leads to spontaneous nodule development. Nature 441, 1153– 1156
- 38 Yano, K. et al. (2008) CYCLOPS, a mediator of symbiotic intracellular accomodation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105, 20540–20545
- 39 Chen, C. et al. (2008) OsIPD3, an ortholog of the Medicago truncatula DMI3 interacting protein IPD3, is required for mycorrhizal symbiosis in rice. New Phytol. 180, 311–315
- 40 Parniske, M. (2004) Molecular genetics of the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 7, 414–421

- 41 Genre, A. et al. (2008) Prepenetration apparatus assembly precedes and predicts the colonization patterns of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi within the root cortex of both Medicago truncatula and Daucus carota. Plant Cell 20, 1407–1420
- 42 Genre, A. et al. (2005) Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi elicit a novel intracellular apparatus in *Medicago truncatula* root epidermal cells before infection. *Plant Cell* 17, 3489–3499
- 43 Timmers, A.C. et al. (1999) Refined analysis of early symbiotic steps of the Rhizobium-Medicago interaction in relationship with microtubular cytoskeleton rearrangements. Development 126, 3617– 3628
- 44 van Brussel, A.A. et al. (1992) Induction of pre-infection thread structures in the leguminous host plant by mitogenic lipooligosaccharides of *Rhizobium*. Science 257, 70–72
- 45 Berg, R.H. (1999) Cytoplasmatic bridge formation in the nodule apex of actinorhizal root nodules. Can. J. Bot. 77, 1351–1357
- 46 Godfroy, O. et al. (2006) A rice calcium- and calmodulin-dependent protein kinase restores nodulation to a legume mutant. Mol. Plant Microbe Interact. 19, 495–501
- 47 Gleason, C. et al. (2006) Nodulation independent of rhizobia induced by a calcium-activated kinase lacking autoinhibition. Nature 441, 1149–1152
- 48 de Faria, S.M. et al. (1999) Nodulação em espécies florestais, especifidade hospedeira e implicações na sistemática de Leguminosae. In Interrelação fertilidade, biologia do solo e nutrição de plantas. [Soil Fertility, Soil Biology and Plant Nutrition Interrelationships] (Siquieira, J.O. et al., eds), pp. 667-686, Solos: Sociedade Brasileira de Ciencias de Solo-Universidade Federal de Lavras Dept
- 49 Finan, T.M. *et al.* (1985) Symbiotic mutants of *Rhizobium meliloti* that uncouple plant from bacterial differentiation. *Cell* 40, 869–877
- 50 Truchet, G. et al. (1989) Alfalfa nodulation in the absence of Rhizobium. Mol. Gen. Genet. 219, 65–68
- 51 Tirichine, L. *et al.* (2006) Spontaneous root-nodule formation in the model legume *Lotus japonicus*: a novel class of mutants nodulates in the absence of rhizobia. *Mol. Plant Microbe Interact.* 19, 373–382
- 52 Tirichine, L. *et al.* (2007) A gain-of-function mutation in a cytokinin receptor triggers spontaneous root nodule organogenesis. *Science* 315, 104–107
- 53 Mitra, R.M. et al. (2004) A Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase required for symbiotic nodule development: gene identification by transcript-based cloning. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 101, 4701–4705
- 54 Oldroyd, G.E. and Downie, J.A. (2006) Nuclear calcium changes at the core of symbiosis signalling. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 9, 351–357
- 55 Kosuta, S. *et al.* (2008) Differential and chaotic calcium signatures in the symbiosis signaling pathway of legumes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 105, 9823–9828
- 56 Middleton, P.H. et al. (2007) An ERF transcription factor in Medicago truncatula that is essential for Nod factor signal transduction. Plant Cell 19, 1221–1234
- 57 Catoira, R. et al. (2000) Four genes of Medicago truncatula controlling components of a nod factor transduction pathway. Plant Cell 12, 1647– 1665
- 58 Oldroyd, G.E. and Long, S.R. (2003) Identification and characterization of nodulation-signaling pathway 2, a gene of *Medicago truncatula* involved in Nod factor signaling. *Plant Physiol.* 131, 1027–1032
- 59 Schauser, L. *et al.* (1999) A plant regulator controlling development of symbiotic root nodules. *Nature* 402, 191–195
- 60 Smit, P. et al. (2005) NSP1 of the GRAS protein family is essential for rhizobial Nod factor-induced transcription. Science 308, 1789–1791
- 61 Heckmann, A.B. et al. (2006) Lotus japonicus nodulation requires two GRAS domain regulators, one of which is functionally conserved in a non-legume. Plant Physiol. 142, 1739–1750
- 62 Kalo, P. *et al.* (2005) Nodulation signaling in legumes requires NSP2, a member of the GRAS family of transcriptional regulators. *Science* 308, 1786–1789
- 63 Marsh, J.F. et al. (2007) Medicago truncatula NIN is essential for rhizobial-independent nodule organogenesis induced by autoactive calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase. Plant Physiol. 144, 324-335
- 64 Schauser, L. et al. (2005) Evolution of NIN-like proteins in Arabidopsis, rice, and Lotus japonicus. J. Mol. Evol. 60, 229–237
- 65 Oldroyd, G.E. and Downie, J.A. (2008) Coordinating nodule morphogenesis with rhizobial infection in legumes. *Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.* 59, 519–546

- 66 Murray, J.D. et al. (2007) A cytokinin perception mutant colonized by *Rhizobium* in the absence of nodule organogenesis. *Science* 315, 101–104
- 67 Gonzalez-Rizzo, S. et al. (2006) The Medicago truncatula CRE1 cytokinin receptor regulates lateral root development and early symbiotic interaction with Sinorhizobium meliloti. Plant Cell 18, 2680–2693
- 68 Frugier, F. et al. (2008) Cytokinin: secret agent of symbiosis. Trends Plant Sci. 13, 115–120
- 69 Oldroyd, G.E. (2007) Plant science. Nodules and hormones. Science 315, 52–53
- 70 Stevens, G.A. and Berry, A.M. (1988) Cytokinin secretion by Frankia sp.HFP ArI3 in defined medium. Plant Physiol. 87, 15–16
- 71 Sturtevant, D.B. and Taller, B.J. (1989) Cytokinin Production by Bradyrhizobium japonicum. Plant Physiol. 89, 1247-1252
- 72 Cooper, J.B. and Long, S.R. (1994) Morphogenetic rescue of *Rhizobium meliloti* nodulation mutants by *trans*-zeatin secretion. *Plant Cell* 6, 215–225
- 73 Nishimura, C. *et al.* (2004) Histidine kinase homologs that act as cytokinin receptors possess overlapping functions in the regulation of shoot and root growth in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell* 16, 1365–1377
- 74 Han, Q.M. et al. (2004) A CHASE domain containing protein kinase OsCRL4, represents a new AtCRE1-like gene family in rice. J. Zhejiang Univ. Sci. 5, 629–633
- 75 Laplaze, L. et al. (2007) Cytokinins act directly on lateral root founder cells to inhibit root initiation. Plant Cell 19, 3889–3900
- 76 Mähönen, A.P. et al. (2000) A novel two-component hybrid molecule regulates vascular morphogenesis of the Arabidopsis root. Genes Dev. 14, 2938–2943
- 77 Guinel, F.C. and Geil, R.D. (2002) A model for the development of the rhizobial and arbuscular mycorrhizal symbioses in legumes and its use to understand the roles of ethylene in the establishment of these two symbioses. *Can. J. Bot.* 80, 695–720
- 78 Mathesius, U. et al. (2000) Rhizobia can induce nodules in white clover by 'hijacking' mature cortical cells activated during lateral root development. Mol. Plant Microbe Interact. 13, 170–182
- 79 Becking, J.H. (1965) Nitrogen fixation and mycorrhiza in *Podocarpus* root nodules. *Plant Soil* 23, 213–226

- Trends in Plant Science Vol.xxx No.x
- 80 Al-Mallah, M.K. et al. (1989) Formation of nodular structures on rice seedlings by Rhizobia. J. Exp. Bot. 40, 473–478
- 81 The Angiosperm Phylogeny Group (2003) An update of the Angiosperm Phylogeny Group classification for the orders and families of flowering plants: APG II. Bot. J. Linn. Soc. 141, 399–436
- 82 Berg, R.H. (1999) Frankia forms infection threads. Can. J. Bot. 77, 1327–1333
- 83 Oke, V. and Long, S.R. (1999) Bacteroid formation in the *Rhizobium*-legume symbiosis. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 2, 641–646
- 84 Pueppke, S.G. and Broughton, W.J. (1999) *Rhizobium* sp. strain NGR234 and *R. fredii* USDA257 share exceptionally broad, nested host ranges. *Mol. Plant Microbe Interact.* 12, 293–318
- 85 Miller, I.M. and Baker, D.D. (1986) Nodulation of actinorhizal plants by *Frankia* strains capable of both root hair infection and intercellular penetration. *Protoplasma* 131, 82–91
- 86 Silvester, W.B. et al. (2008) Oxygen responses, haemoglobin, and the structure and function of vesicles. In Nitrogen-fixing Actinorhizal Symbioses (Pawlowski, K. and Newton, W.E., eds), pp. 105–146, Springer
- 87 Lee, K.B. et al. (2008) The genome of the versatile nitrogen fixer Azorhizobium caulinodans ORS571. BMC Genomics 9, 271
- 88 Elliott, G.N. et al. (2007) Burkholderia phymatum is a highly effective nitrogen-fixing symbiont of Mimosa spp. and fixes nitrogen ex planta. New Phytol. 173, 168–180
- 89 Webster, G. et al. (1997) Interactions of rhizobia with rice and wheat. Plant Soil 194, 115–122
- 90 Normand, P. and Mullin, B.C. (2008) Prospects for the study of a ubiquitous actinomycete, *Frankia*, and its host plants. In *Nitrogenfixing Actinorhizal Symbioses* (Pawlowski, K. and Newton, W.E., eds), pp. 289–303, Springer
- 91 Le Quere, A.J. et al. (2006) Structural characterization of a K-antigen capsular polysaccharide essential for normal symbiotic infection in *Rhizobium* sp. NGR234: deletion of the rkpMNO locus prevents synthesis of 5,7-diacetamido-3,5,7,9-tetradeoxy-non-2-ulosonic acid. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 28981–28992
- 92 Kambara, K. et al. (2008) Rhizobia utilize pathogen-like effector proteins during symbiosis. Mol. Microbiol. 71, 92–106

Functional Adaptation of a Plant Receptor-Kinase Paved the Way for the Evolution of Intracellular Root Symbioses with Bacteria

Katharina Markmann^{1,2}, Gábor Giczey^{2¤}, Martin Parniske^{1,2*}

1 Genetics, Faculty of Biology, Ludwig Maximilians Universität, Munich, Germany, 2 The Sainsbury Laboratory, John Innes Centre, Norwich, United Kingdom

Nitrogen-fixing root nodule symbioses (RNS) occur in two major forms—Actinorhiza and legume-rhizobium symbiosis—which differ in bacterial partner, intracellular infection pattern, and morphogenesis. The phylogenetic restriction of nodulation to eurosid angiosperms indicates a common and recent evolutionary invention, but the molecular steps involved are still obscure. In legumes, at least seven genes—including the symbiosis receptor-kinase gene *SYMRK*—are essential for the interaction with rhizobia bacteria and for the Arbuscular Mycorrhiza (AM) symbiosis with phosphate-acquiring fungi, which is widespread in occurrence and believed to date back to the earliest land plants. We show that *SYMRK* is also required for Actinorhiza symbiosis of the cucurbit *Datisca glomerata* with actinobacteria of the genus *Frankia*, revealing a common genetic basis for both forms of RNS. We found that *SYMRK* exists in at least three different structural versions, of which the shorter forms from rice and tomato are sufficient for AM, but not for functional endosymbiosis with bacteria in the legume *Lotus japonicus*. Our data support the idea that *SYMRK* sequence evolution was involved in the recruitment of a pre-existing signalling network from AM, paving the way for the evolution of intracellular root symbioses with nitrogen-fixing bacteria.

Citation: Markmann K, Giczey G, Parniske M (2008) Functional adaptation of a plant receptor-kinase paved the way for the evolution of intracellular root symbioses with bacteria. PLoS Biol 6(3): e68. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0060068

Introduction

Nitrogen limits plant growth in many terrestrial ecosystems. Evolutionary adaptations to this constraint include symbiotic associations with bacteria that are capable of converting atmospheric nitrogen into ammonium. Extracellular associations of plants with diverse groups of nitrogenfixing bacteria are phylogenetically widespread, but only a small group evolved the ability to accommodate bacteria endosymbiotically inside cell wall boundaries. Bacterial symbionts are confined within tubular structures called infection threads, which are surrounded by a host-derived membrane that is continuous with the plasma membrane, and bound by plant cell wall-like material [1,2]. The bulk of host plants including all actinorhizal species retain the bacterial symbionts within these structures during the nitrogen-fixing stage of the symbiosis [1,3]. In the most advanced forms found exclusively among legumes (Fabales) and Gunnera [4], symbiotic bacteria are delimited from the host cell cytoplasm only by a plant-derived membrane in the mature stage of the symbioses. In the respective legumes, they develop into bacteroids contained in organelle-like symbiosomes, where nitrogen fixation takes place (for a recent review, see [5]). Bacterial endosymbioses in both legumes and actinorhizal plants are typically associated with the formation of novel plant organs, so-called nodules, which are root-derived in the majority of cases [6]. Nitrogen-fixing root nodule symbiosis (RNS) occurs in two major forms. Actinorhiza hosts belong to three eurosid orders (Figure 1) and nodulate with Grampositive actinobacteria of the genus Frankia [7]. Legumes, on the contrary, enter specific interactions with members of a diverse group of Gram-negative bacteria, termed rhizobia. For almost a century, the extreme diversity in organ

structure, infection mechanisms, and bacterial symbionts among nodulating plants obscured the fact that the nodulating clade is monophyletic, which was revealed by molecular phylogeny relatively recently [8]. The restriction of endosymbiotic root nodulation to a monophyletic group of four angiosperm orders (Figure 1) is coincident with a patchy occurrence within this clade. These observations led to the hypothesis that a genetic change acquired by a common ancestor may predispose members of this lineage to evolve nodulation endosymbiosis [8].

The molecular adaptations underlying the evolution of plant-bacterial endosymbioses are still a mystery, despite a substantial biotechnological interest in understanding the genetic differences between nodulating and non-nodulating plants. While the molecular communication between legumes and rhizobia has been studied in some detail, important clues are expected from the genetic analysis of the yet underexplored Actinorhiza.

Bacterial signalling molecules and corresponding plant

Academic Editor: Detlef Weigel, Max Planck Insitute for Developmental Biology, Germany

Received January 21, 2008; Accepted February 6, 2008; Published March 4, 2008

¤ Current address: Quintiles, Budapest, Hungary

Copyright: © 2008 Markmann et al. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Abbreviations: AM, Arbuscular Mycorrhiza; LRR, leucine-rich repeat; NEC, Nterminal extracellular region of predicted SYMRK proteins; PIT, pre-infection thread; PPA, pre-penetration apparatus; RNS, root nodule symbiosis; RACE, rapid amplification of cDNA ends; RNAi, RNA interference;

^{*} To whom correspondence should be addressed. E-mail: parniske@lmu.de

Author Summary

As an adaptation to nutrient limitations in terrestrial ecosystems, most plants form Arbuscular Mycorrhiza (AM), which is a symbiotic relationship between phosphate-delivering fungi and plant roots that dates back to the earliest land plants. More recently, a small group including the legumes and close relatives has evolved the ability to accommodate nitrogen-fixing bacteria intracellularly. The resulting symbiosis is manifested by the formation of specialized root organs, the nodules, and comes in two forms: the interaction of legumes with rhizobia, and the more widespread Actinorhiza symbiosis of mostly woody plants with Frankia bacteria. The symbiosis receptor kinase SYMRK acts in a signalling pathway that legume plants require to trigger the development of nodules and the uptake of fungi or bacteria into their root cells. Here we show that the induction of Actinorhiza nodulation also relies on SYMRK, consistent with the idea that both types of nodulation evolved by recruiting common signalling genes from the pre-existing AM program. We observed that SYMRK from different land plant lineages differs significantly in exon composition, with a "fulllength" version in the nodulating clade and shorter SYMRK genes in plants outside this lineage. Only the most complete SYMRK version was fully functional in nodulation, suggesting this gene played a central role in the recruitment event associated with the evolution of intracellular root symbioses with bacteria.

receptors involved in RNS are known only for the legumerhizobium interaction. *Frankia* signals may be biochemically distinct from rhizobial chito-oligosaccharide nodulation factors [9], which would suggest an independent mechanism of host-symbiont recognition in Actinorhiza.

Phenotypic analysis of legume mutants has revealed a genetic link between RNS and Arbuscular Mycorrhiza (AM), which is a phosphate-scavenging association between plant roots and fungi belonging to the phylum Glomeromycota [10]. AM is widespread among land plants, where forms of AM are found in representatives of all major lineages. Fossil evidence for ancient AM-like associations [11] suggests a role of this symbiosis in the colonization of land about 450 million years ago.

The link of plant-fungal and plant-bacterial endosymbioses in legumes, which involves at least seven genes [12–16] termed "common symbiosis genes" [17], inspired the idea that during the evolution of bacterial endosymbiosis, genes were recruited from the pre-existing AM genetic program [18]. However, the molecular steps involved are not clear.

Results

To gain insight into the evolution of nitrogen-fixing root nodulation, we analysed common symbiosis genes across angiosperm lineages with different symbiotic abilities. Many, including the calcium/calmodulin kinase gene *CCaMK* [14,19], or genes encoding the predicted cation channels CASTOR and POLLUX [12,20,21], are conserved in overall domain structure. We discovered exceptional diversification among genes encoding the symbiosis receptor kinase SYMRK in different species (Figure 1). While putative SYMRK kinase domains are conserved and contain characteristic sequence motifs discriminating them from related kinases (Figure S1), the predicted extracellular portion of SYMRK occurs in at least three versions of domain composition (Figure 1 and Table 1). The longest *SYMRK* version is present in all tested eurosids, including nodulating and non-nodulating lineages. Comprising 15 exons, it encodes three leucine-rich repeat (LRR) motifs and an extended N-terminal domain of unknown function (NEC-domain, Figure 1 and Table 1). Outside of the eurosid clade, which encompasses all nodulating groups, one or more exons are absent from *SYMRK* coding sequences (Figure 1 and Table 1).

Genetic evidence indicates that SYMRK acts near a point of molecular convergence of AM and legume-rhizobium signalling [16,22]. The presumed ability of its diverged extracellular domain to perceive symbiosis-related signals [16] renders it a prime target for investigating the molecular adaptations underlying the evolution of RNS.

The homogenous occurrence of "full-length" *SYMRK* genes among legumes, actinorhizal plants, and non-nodulating eurosids raises the intriguing possibility that *SYMRK* is involved in the proposed genetic predisposition [8] of this clade to evolve nodulation. An important prediction following from this hypothesis is the common requirement of a fulllength *SYMRK* version for all types of RNS. Furthermore, also non-nodulating members of this monophyletic clade may carry nodulation-competent versions of *SYMRK*. To test this concept, we analysed the functional capabilities of "fulllength" *SYMRK* genes from symbiotically diverse eurosids.

SYMRK Is Required for Actinorhiza and AM in Datisca glomerata

To investigate SYMRK function in Actinorhiza, we reduced root mRNA levels of D. glomerata (Datisca) SYMRK (DgSYMRK) via RNA-interference (RNAi). Quantitative PCR following reverse transcription showed a 36%-99% reduction of DgSYMRK transcript levels in knockdown roots (n = 16) compared with vector control roots (n = 16). Eight weeks after inoculation with Frankia bacteria, no nodules were detected on DgSYMRK RNAi roots (Figure 2A and 2B), except for small, primordial swellings on 16% of independent transformed roots (9/55). Nonsilenced control roots of the same plants and roots transformed with a binary vector lacking the silencing cassette (transgenic control roots) showed wild type-like nodules with lobed structure typical for Datisca (Figure 2A and 2B). This result demonstrates that SYMRK is essential for Actinorhiza development in Datisca. In conjunction with the well-documented role of legume SYMRK in the interaction with rhizobia [16,23], SYMRK thus represents a common genetic requirement for the two types of bacterial root endosymbiosis.

To test whether *DgSYMRK* is also required for AM, we inspected *DgSYMRK* RNAi roots for AM formation with the fungus *Glomus intraradices (Glomus)*. *Datisca* wild-type roots of the same plants used for hairy root induction and independent transgenic control roots formed AM, with dense arbuscular colonization of inner cortical cells (Figure 2C–2F). In contrast, symbiotic development in *DgSYMRK* RNAi roots was strongly impaired. In 82% of independent transformed roots, no fungal infection was observed, despite the presence of extensive extraradical mycelium (Figure 2G), with those roots exhibiting strong reduction levels of *DgSYMRK* being nonsymbiotic concerning both nodulation and AM formation. Occasional infection attempts occurred but typically were aborted in the outer cell layers (Figure 2G and 2H). We conclude that similar to the situation in legumes, *SYMRK* of





All putative *SYMRK* genes encode an N-terminal signal peptide, an extracellular region with two or three LRR motifs and one imperfect LRR, a transmembrane domain, and an intracellular serine/threonine protein kinase. *SYMRK* regions encoding putative kinase domains exhibit conserved intron positions and phases. Bars illustrate the exon-intron and predicted protein domain structure of representative *SYMRK* candidates. Positions of introns are indicated by black arrowheads. Predicted protein domains are SP, signal peptide; NEC, N-terminal extracellular region; CEC, conserved extracellular region preceeding LRRs; LR(R), leucine-rich repeats; TM, transmembrane domain; and PK, protein kinase domain. Names refer to species sampled and are shaded according to their root endosymbiotic capabilities: black, endosymbiosis with *Frankia* bacteria (Actinorhiza) and AM formation; gray, endosymbiosis with rhizobia and AM formation; white, AM formation only. Pictograms symbolize AR, Actinorhiza; RLS, Rhizobium-Legume Symbiosis; AM, Arbuscular Mycorrhiza. Dashed frames have no phylogenetic implications. The cladogram depicts relationships of angiosperm orders as deduced by molecular markers [53,54]. The four orders containing nodulating taxa are shaded light gray. Squares at the tips of branches indicate the presence of taxa with particular root endosymbiotic phenotypes (colour code is as for sampled plants). Filled and white wedges indicate branches where taxa on order and family level have been omitted, respectively. Popular species designations refer to Alder, *Alnus glutinosa*; Poplar, *Po. trichcarpa*; Tomato, *Ly. esculentum*; Poppy, *P. rhoeas*; Rice, *O. sativa*; Maize, *Z. mays*. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0060068.g001
Table 1. SYMRK Homologs, Conceptual SYMRK Proteins, and the G	Closest Arabidopsis Sequences
---	-------------------------------

Species	mRNA Accession	AAs	Exons	LRRs	Percent AA Identity/Similarity		
					Overall	EC	IC
L. japonicus	AF492655 [16]	923	15	3	100/100	100/100	100/100
Me. truncatula	AJ491998 [16]	925	15	3	82/87	74/83	92/95
Lu. albus	AY935267 ^a	923	15 ^c	3	79/86	72/83	89/92
Al. glutinosa	AY935263ª	941	15 ^c	3	61/75	51/69	78/88
D. glomerata	AM271000 ^a	934	15	3	61/73	54/67	71/80
Po. trichocarpa	AM851092 ^b	933	15 ^d	3	59/71	49/66	75/81
T. majus	AY935265ª	945	15 ^c	3	59/72	50/65	74/84
Ly. esculentum	AY935266 ^a	903	14	2	54/68	45/65	72/81
P. rhoeas	AM270999 ^a	902	14 ^c	2	54/69	43/59	75/86
Z. mays	DQ403195 [55]	579	12	2	55/69	30/49	74/86
O. sativa	XM_478749 [56]	576	12	2	55/69	33/51	72/84
A. thaliana	NM_105440 [57]	929	15	3	34/51	29/43	50/68
A. thaliana	NM_129261 [57]	933	15	3	33/50	27/42	50/69

Percentages of AA identity/similarity are relative to the *L. japonicus SYMRK* sequence and were obtained via BLASTX analysis using the NCBI Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/BLAST/).

AAs, amino acids; LRRs, predicted leucine-rich repeat domains; EC, predicted extracellular region and IC, predicted intracellular region of the conceptual proteins. ^a This publication.

^b The genomic sequence is available at http://genome.jgi-psf.org/Poptr1/Poptr1.home.html, the gene location is Poptr1/LG_VII:12333164-12338867.

^c Only cDNA sequence information was obtained. The exon-intron structure was predicted based on splice site prediction and conserved intron position on other SYMRK genes.

^d Only genomic sequence information was obtained. The exon-intron structure was predicted based on splice site prediction and conserved intron position on other SYMRK genes. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0060068.t001

the actinorhizal plant *Datisca* is involved in both bacterial and fungal endosymbioses.

SYMRK Does Not Mediate Specificity in Legume-Rhizobium Recognition

To determine whether SYMRK plays a role in the specific recognition of rhizobia by legume hosts, we tested whether L. japonicus (Lotus) SYMRK (LjSYMRK) can mediate nodulation in another legume, which interacts with a different rhizobial partner. The specific symbiont of Lotus is Mesorhizobium loti, whereas Medicago truncatula (Medicago) interacts with Sinorhizobium meliloti. Medicago dmi2 5P mutants exhibit a deletion in exon three of the SYMRK ortholog DMI2, leading to a frameshift and premature stop codon. Dmi2 5P plants form no infection threads or nodules upon inoculation with either rhizobial strain. Transgenic roots of these plants, and of wildtype control plants carrying LjSYMRK, formed infection threads and indeterminate, pink nodules typical for Medicago [24] with S. meliloti (Figure S2 and Table 2). LjSYMRK can therefore fully restore nodulation of Medicago with S. meliloti, indicating that SYMRK is not directly involved in determining legume-rhizobium specificity.

Medicago dmi2 5P mutants are also impaired in AM. No arbuscules were observed within 2 wk of co-cultivation, with fungal infection being aborted at the root surface or after entry into epidermal cells (Figure S2 and Table 2). *LjSYMRK* restored the AM defect in transgenic roots of this line (Figure S2 and Table 2), demonstrating that *SYMRK* is sufficiently similar to *DMI2* to support both fungal and bacterial endosymbioses in *Medicago*.

"Full-Length" *SYMRK* Versions from Symbiotically Distinct Eurosids Can Support Both AM and RNS in *Lotus*

To analyze the symbiotic capabilities of "full-length" eurosid *SYMRK* genes from a legume (*MtDMI2*), an actinorhizal plant (*DgSYMRK*), and the non-nodulating, AM-forming *Tropaeolum majus* (*Tropaeolum*; Brassicales) (*TmSYMRK*), we

tested their potential to function in the Lotus symbiosis signalling context. We introduced these genes, under the control of the Lotus SYMRK promoter region, into roots of Lotus line SL1951-6 (symrk-10), which carries a symrk mutant allele encoding a kinase-dead SYMRK version [25,26]. Upon inoculation with Glomus, symrk-10 roots form no AM, and fungal infections are typically associated with aberrant hyphal swellings and are aborted after entry into epidermal cells (Figure 3A and 3B, and Table 2). Interaction with M. loti is blocked at an early stage, and no infection threads or nodules form (Figure 3C and 3D, and Table 2). In symrk-10 roots transformed with MtDMI2, DgSYMRK or TmSYMRK both AM and nodulation were restored, the latter involving the formation of infection threads and pink, bacteriacontaining nodules (Table 2 and Figure 3) that were indistinguishable from wild-type nodules. In conclusion, consistent with a role of SYMRK in the predisposition to evolve RNS, we could not detect a functional diversification of the eurosid SYMRK version linked to features differentiating actinorhizal or legume nodulation, or to the specific recognition of bacterial symbionts. Thus, other factors, such as nod factor receptor kinases [22,27,28] or yet-unknown additional components, are likely accountable for the finetuning of recognition specificity in plant-bacterial endosymbioses within the eurosids.

SYMRK Versions of Reduced Length Restore AM but Not RNS in *Lotus*

SYMRK from the non-nodulating eudicots *Papaver rhoeas* (poppy) and *Lycopersicon esculentum* (tomato) represent intermediate length and domain composition (Figure 1 and Table 1). To explore the symbiotic capabilities of this version, we introduced the two-LRR encoding *LeSYMRK* genomic sequence fused to the *LjSYMRK* promoter into *Lotus symrk-10* transgenic roots. *LeSYMRK* selectively restored AM symbiosis, whereas neither infection threads nor nodules developed upon inoculation with *M. loti* (Table 2 and Figure S3E–S3L).



Figure 2. Nodulation and AM Formation Are Impaired in DgSYMRK Knockdown Roots

Co-transformed roots express DsRED1 as visible marker.

(A and B) Nodulated wild-type root (left), control root transformed with pRedRoot lacking the silencing cassette (middle), and non-nodulated DgRNAi knockdown root (right) (A) under white light and (B) with transgenic roots showing DsRED1 fluorescence.

(C-H) AM phenotype of D. glomerata (Datisca) wild type, transgenic control, and DgSYMRK knockdown roots. (C and D) Wild-type and (E and F) transgenic control roots are well colonized and show arbuscules in inner cortical cells. (G and H) Typical DqSYMRK knockdown root with no AM formation but extraradical mycelium and aborted fungal infections (H and arrow in G). Such features were not seen in Datisca wild-type or transgenic control roots and are reminiscent of those observed on L. japonicus symrk mutant roots (Figure 3). Roots were inoculated simultaneously with Frankia bacteria and G. intraradices (8 wk). Transgenic and regenerated nontransgenic roots of 27 (control) and 23 (DgSYMRK RNAi construct) plants from three independent experiments were tested. Independent transformed roots examined were n = 42(control) and n = 55 (DgSYMRK RNAi).

Scale bars: (A and B) 2 mm; (C, E, and G) 0.1 mm; (D, F, and H) 0.02 mm. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0060068.g002

A reduced SYMRK version is present in the AM-forming, non-nodulating monocots Oryza sativa (rice) and Zea maize (maize), encoding two LRRs only and a short N-terminal region, mainly covered by a single exon aligning with exon four of LjSYMRK (Figure 1 and Figure S1). To determine whether the short SYMRK version of rice, OsSYMRK, is sufficient for endosymbiosis formation in Lotus, we introduced the OsSYMRK genomic sequence controlled by the LjSYMRK promoter into symrk-10 roots. AM formation was fully restored in these roots, whereas nodulation with M. loti was impaired (Table 2 and Figure S3M-S3Z). OsSYMRK-

containing symrk-10 roots inoculated with M. loti exhibited primordial swellings generally devoid of bacteria (Figure S3U-S3X). In rare cases, infection threads and small round nodules were observed, which contained bacterial colonies (Figure S3Y and S3Z). Hence, similar to LeSYMRK, OsSYMRK is compromised in supporting bacterial endosymbiosis in Lotus.

Discussion

A Molecular Link between the Two Types of RNS

In legumes, SYMRK is indispensable for root endosymbiosis with rhizobia and AM fungi [16,23]. We show here that this endosymbiosis gene is also required for nodulation in the actinorhizal plant Datisca. SYMRK, which is likewise essential for Actinorhiza formation of the tree species Casuarina glauca (Fagales) [29], represents the first known plant gene required for Actinorhiza, indicating a shared genetic basis of the two different types of RNS. A future task will be to determine whether further endosymbiosis genes acting in concert with SYMRK in legumes are also required for Actinorhiza.

An Ancient Genetic Program for AM among Angiosperms

The ability of different SYMRK versions from both dicot and monocot lineages to restore AM in Lotus indicates a homologous nature of the AM genetic program in angiosperms. This is consistent with the observation that loss-offunction mutations in the rice version of the legume symbiosis gene CCaMK results in loss of AM symbiosis [30]. In Arabidopsis, the absence of root symbiotic capability is accompanied by a deletion of several symbiosis genes, including SYMRK and CCaMK [21,31,32].

A Role of SYMRK in the Predisposition to Evolve RNS

Our survey of SYMRK sequences across angiosperms revealed at least three structurally distinct versions, and we could show that this polymorphism is functionally related to the root symbiotic capabilities of host plants. The variation in SYMRK domain composition is exceptional among the known common symbiosis genes. The congruence between the phylogenetic distribution of the "full-length" SYMRK version with the nodulating clade strongly suggests a link between SYMRK sequence evolution and the acquisition of endosymbiotic root nodulation with bacteria. An attractive hypothesis is that SYMRK sequence divergence was a critical step in mediating the recruitment of the otherwise conserved common symbiosis pathway from the pre-existing AM genetic program. Recruitment was proposed to account for the genetic link of AM and nodulation in legumes [17,18] and would make root-bacterial endosymbiosis as a whole a fascinating example for novel traits evolving on the basis of pre-existing genetic patterns.

A common feature associated with endosymbiotic bacterial infection in both actinorhizal [33] and legume hosts [34] is the formation of intracellular pre-infection threads (PITs) in host cells. These cytoplasmic structures resemble the pre-penetration apparatus (PPA) preceding fungal infection during AM formation [35]. Forming in anticipation of bacterial symbionts, PITs are thought to coordinate the uptake of bacteria and determine the spatial progression of infection through the host cell [33,34]. A similar role in guiding fungal transition through host cells in AM has been demonstrated for PPAs [35]. These developmental similarities in AM,

Table 2. Restoration of Root Symbioses in Medicago dmi2 and Lotus symrk Mutants Transformed with Different SYMRK Versions

Plant Genotype	Transgene	AM+	п	Nod+	Nodules/Nodulated Plant
dmi2 5P	marker only ^a	0/21	-	0/17	0
dmi2 5P	LjSYMRK	20/23	+	16/25	4.5
symrk-10	marker only ^a	3/251	-	0/62	0
symrk-10	LjSYMRK	40/45	+	32/39	4.9
symrk-10	MtSYMRK	20/25	+	18/31	4.2
symrk-10	DgSYMRK	20/40	+	6/18	5.8
symrk-10	TmSYMRK	20/28	+	14/21	2.6
symrk-10	LeSYMRK	24/34	-	0/31	0
symrk-10	OsSYMRK	38/40	+ ^b	6 ^c /43	1.5

Numbers refer to Ag. rhizogenes-transformed root systems of Me. trunculata (Medicago) dmi2 5P or L. japonicus (Lotus) symrk-10 mutants.

Constructs were under control of the LjSYMRK promoter region. Numbers are compiled results of one (Medicago) or two to three (Lotus) independent experiments. Wild-type roots transformed with the same constructs formed wild type–like AM, ITs, and nodules. IT, infection thread formation; Nod+, number of root systems showing nodules containing bacteria. ^a Plants were transformed with the respective binary vector lacking a SYMRK expression cassette.

^b Infection threads were seen very rarely in these roots.

^c Nodule-like structures were small and showed, with one exception, no pinkish coloration under white light.

doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0060068.t002

Actinorhiza, and legume-rhizobium infection may reflect a common genetic program for endosymbiosis establishment and symbiont uptake in all three types of interactions. In AM, PPAs are not formed in mutants that are defective in certain common symbiosis genes [35]. It is therefore possible that a recruitment of AM symbiosis genes during the evolution of RNS facilitated the induction of intracellular accommodation structures in response to bacteria.

SYMRK Domain Function and Evolution

Repetitive LRR modules have been implicated in the determination and evolution of novel recognition specificities of receptor proteins [36-38]. Interestingly, adaptive changes reflecting positive selective constraints can be traced in LRR- and NEC-encoding regions of SYMRK genes from different Medicago species, but these do not correlate with shifts in rhizobial specificity [39]. Our functional comparison of eurosid SYMRK versions indicates that SYMRK is not involved in determining recognition specificity in nodulation. However, an extended SYMRK version containing a set of three LRR motifs, as present in eurosid SYMRK genes, is required for fully supporting nodulation symbiosis of Lotus with M. loti. Shorter SYMRK versions from tomato or rice only suffice for AM. These functional differences may be caused by individual amino acid sequence polymorphisms, or alternatively, exons that are specifically required for bacterial endosymbiosis may be lacking in rice and tomato SYMRK versions.

At an overall structural level, exon acquisition from other genes encoding LRR or NEC-like domains [23,40] or, alternatively, retainment of exons in eurosid *SYMRK* genes, may have been an integral genetic factor in the evolution of bacterial endosymbiosis in angiosperms. The observation of small nodule-like structures on *Lotus symrk* mutant roots transformed with the *OsSYMRK* construct is counterintuitive, considering that the *LeSYMRK* version, which resembles the legume version more closely, does not support such developmental responses. One possible explanation may be that the nonmatching NEC region of *LeSYMRK* negatively interferes with nodulation, but not AM signalling in *Lotus*.

The NEC domain encoded by *Lotus SYMRK* exons two and three, upstream of the conserved LRR flanking region (CEC),

is present across eudicot plants (Figure 1). Its function outside the nodulating group is unknown. The proposed involvement of *SYMRK* in processes such as reduction of the touch sensitivity of root hairs [41] may rely on this domain thereby imposing selective constraints. The NEC domain shows possible overall relatedness but only a low level of similarity to sequences present in the rice genome, and to sequences other than *SYMRK* candidates in genomes of dicots like *Arabidopsis* [23]. The apparent divergence observed among these potentially homologous sequences of yet unknown function is consistent with a hypothetical role as a receptor domain.

It will be a future challenge to determine the contribution of individual SYMRK LRR units as well as of the NEC domain and to resolve at the amino acid level the features of SYMRK proteins involved in conferring endosymbiotic nodulation capacity.

Additional Components Required for Nodulation

The diversity and scattered occurrence of nodulation symbioses within the eurosid lineage suggest multiple independent origins [42]. Only a subset of the plant species carrying the "full-length" version of *SYMRK* develop root nodules, yet *SYMRK* of the non-nodulating *Tropaeolum* proved competent to support nodulation in *Lotus*. Hence, there must be additional genetic features distinguishing the nodulators. Candidate genes include those that express the legume LysM receptor kinases NFR1 and NFR5 [22,27,43], which are required for responsiveness to rhizobial lipo-chito-oligosaccharide nodulation factors, but not for AM formation. A potential relevance of LysM receptors in Actinorhiza, or the identity of alternative receptors perceiving yet unknown *Frankia* signals, remains to be determined.

Materials and Methods

Isolation of SYMRK homologues. We used a PCR strategy employing degenerate primers to obtain *SYMRK* sequence information from diverse angiosperms, for which no genome or root-derived expressed sequence tag sequences were available. Degenerate primers for the isolation of *SYMRK* genes were positioned in regions of the coding sequence conserved among *SYMRK* candidates, but not in other similar *O. sativa* (rice) and *A. thaliana* (*Arabidopsis*) sequences. For primer sequences, see Table S1.



Figure 3. Datisca, Medicago, and Tropaeolum SYMRK Restore Fungal and Bacterial Endosymbioses in Lotus symrk-10 Mutants

Transgenic roots were identified via fluorescence of eGFP encoded on the transfer-DNA.

(A–D) L. japonicus (Lotus) symrk-10 roots transformed with the respective control vector lacking a SYMRK expression cassette.

(E-AB) Lotus symrk-10 roots transformed with Lotus (E-J), Me. truncatula (Medicago) (K-P), D. glomerata (Datisca) (Q-V) and T. majus (Tropaeolum) (W-AB) SYMRK under control of the LjSYMRK promoter region.

(A, B, E, F, K, L, Q, R, W, and X) Roots co-cultivated with *G. intraradices* for 3 wk. (A and B) Transgenic control roots devoid of intraradical hyphae or arbuscules, with aborted fungal infection structures within epidermal cells (B and arrow in A). Roots carrying *Lotus* (E and F), *Medicago* (K and L), *Datisca* (Q and R), and *Tropaeolum* (W and X) *SYMRK* with dense fungal colonization of the inner root cortex (E, K, Q, and W) and arbuscule formation in inner cortical cells (F, L, R, and X).

(C, D, G–J, M–P, S–V, and Y–AB) Root systems inoculated with *M. loti* expressing *DsRED* for 4 wk. (C and D) Transgenic control roots showing no nodules. *symrk-10* root systems transformed with *Lotus* (G–J), *Medicago* (M–P), *Datisca* (S–V), and *Tropaeolum* (W–AB) *SYMRK* develop nodules on transgenic roots.

Nodules exhibit pink coloration in white light, indicating the presence of symbiosis-specific leghemoglobins (I, O, U, and AA) and DsRED fluorescence in inner nodule tissue indicating the presence of *M. loti* (J, P, V, and AB). Scale bars: (A, E, K, Q, and W) 0.1 mm; (B, F, L, R, and X) 0.02 mm; (C, D, G, H, M, N, S, T, Y, and Z) 2 mm; (I, J, O, P, U, V, AA, and AB) 0.5 mm. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0060068.g003

 λ Zap cDNA libraries were available for isolation of *Ly. esculentum* (tomato) and *Alnus glutinosa* (alder) *SYMRK*. A cosmid clone carrying the *LeSYMRK* genomic region was isolated from a pooled tomato Cf2/ 9 library (kind gift of J.D.G. Jones, The Sainsbury Laboratory, United Kingdom) and shotgun sequenced.

For rapid amplification of cDNA ends (RACE) reactions, total RNA was extracted from roots of uninoculated seedlings or young plants and DNaseI treated. RT and 5'/3'RACE reactions were done using the SMART RACE kit (Clontech), following nested degenerate PCR reactions ([10 s 94 °C, 10 s 52 °C, 30 s 72 °C] × 35, 5 min 72 °C) to obtain initial sequence information.

Construct generation for mutant complementation and Datisca SYMRK RNAi experiments. For hairy root complementation assays, SYMRK cDNAs were amplified from root cDNA preparations (Superscript II, Invitrogen) of the respective species. Binary transformation vectors were pCAMBIA 1302 or pK7WG2D,1 [44] derivatives. L. japonicus (Lotus), Me. truncatula (Medicago), D. glomerata (Datisca), and T. majus (Tropaeolum) SYMRK coding sequences were amplified from complementary DNA using primers LjSYMR-K_EC_f with LjSYMRK_PK_r, MtSYMRK_EC_f with MtSYMRK_PK_r, DgSYMRK_EC_f with DgSYMRK_PK_r and TmSYMRK_EC_f with TmSYMRK_PK_r (Table S1), respectively. An MtSYMRK genomic segment containing intron one was amplified from total DNA using primers MtSYMRK_EC_f with MtSYMRK_01_r (Table S1) and ligated to the 3' fragment of the MtSYMRK cDNA following BstB1 digestion of both. The genomic sequences of tomato and rice SYMRK were amplified from total DNA using primers LeSYMRK_EC_f with LeSYMRK_PK_r and Os-SYMRK_EC_f with OsSYMRK_PK_r (Table S1), respectively. A 285-bp fragment amplified with primers polyA_NOS_f and poly-A_NOS_r (Table S1) from pJawohl8 RNAi (kind gift of P. Schulze-Lefert, Max Planck Institute for Plant Breeding Research, Cologne, Germany) was used as terminater in all constructs. SYMRK genes or coding sequences were under control of 4,970 bp of genomic sequence preceding the LjSYMRK translation start site. For pK7WG2D constructs, the cauliflower mosaic virus (CaMV) 35S promoter driving the Gateway-cassette was deleted Sal1(10124)-Sal1(38)

For *Datisca* RNAi experiments, a pRedRoot- [45] based binary vector encoding DsRED1 for visible selection was equipped with a pKANNIBAL [46] CaMV 35S promoter-driven hairpin construct containing 367-bp of 3' coding and untranslated sequence of *DgSYMRK* in forward and reverse orientation, amplified with primers DgSYMRK_RNAi_f and DgSYMRK_RNAi_r (Table S1).

Biological material and phenotyping assays. L. japonicus wild-type ecotype B-129 Gifu and derived mutant line symrk-10 [25] were inoculated with M. loti R7A as described [16]. Growth conditions were 24 °C constant at 16-h-light/8-h-dark cycles. For infection of Agrobacterium rhizogenes-induced transgenic roots in Lotus, M. loti MAFF 303099 expressing DsRED was applied at a final optical density at 600 nm (OD_{600}) of 0.02 in translucent plastic boxes containing 300 ml Seramis (Mars) and 150 ml liquid Fahraeus Plant (FP) medium [47]. Ag. rhizogenes-transformed Me. truncatula A17 wild type and dmi2 5P (kind gift of G. Oldroyd, John Innes Centre, United Kingdom) plants were inoculated with S. meliloti 1021 carrying pBHR-mRFP [48] (OD₆₀₀ of 0.02) in planting pots containing Seramis, and fertilized with FP medium supplemented with 50 µM KNO3 two times per week. For nodulation assays and simultaneous observation of infection thread (IT) formation in Lotus and Medicago, plants were harvested 4 and 5 wk post inoculation, respectively. Prior to inoculation, roots showing no eGFP fluorescence were removed. For AM phenotyping of Lotus and Medicago, plants were co-cultivated with G. intraradices BEG195 and harvested after 3 or 2 wk of co-cultivation, respectively. Root systems were stained with acidic ink as described [49]. Prior to staining of Ag. rhizogenes-induced root systems, roots showing no eGFP fluorescence were removed. Roots were scored AM-positive (AM+) if symbiotic structures (arbuscules and vesicles) were present, as AM-negative (AM-) if no arbuscules were present. Occasional Lotus symrk mutant roots showing vesicles not accompanied by arbuscules were scored AM-. Where complemented Lotus symrk mutant roots exhibited aborted infection sites in co-occurrence with successful infection and colonization events involving arbuscule and vesicle formation, roots were scored AM+. Datisca seeds and Frankia inoculum were a kind gift from K. Pawlowski (Department of Botany, Stockholm University,

Sweden). Datisca was inoculated with compatible Frankia by potting in substrate with ~1 g/l crushed nodules and with G. intraradices BEG195 by adding substrate extracted from pots of inoculated Allium schoenoprasum plants. Growth conditions were 16 h light/8 h dark at 22 °C and 60% relative humidity. Seeds of T. majus and P. rhoeas were purchased at Notcutts Garden Centres (UK). The ability to develop AM with G. intraradices was confirmed for all species involved in the study.

Lotus transformation. Transgenic roots on *Lotus symrk-10* mutants were induced using *Ag. rhizogenes* strains AR1193 [50] and LBA1334 [51] as described by Díaz et al. [52] (modified).

Medicago transformation. *Medicago* seedlings were transformed as described at http://www.isv.cnrs-gif.fr/embo01/manuels/index.html (modified), using strain *Ag. rhizogenes* AR1193 [50].

Datisca transformation. Twelve-wk-old Datisca plants were inoculated with Ag. rhizogenes strain LBA1334 [51] carrying the silencing construct by stem injection, and roots emerging at infection sites were covered with substrate. Three-wk post inoculation roots were inspected for DsRED1 fluorescence. Nonfluorescent roots were removed, and plants were repotted and grown for 8 wk. After determination of the nodulation phenotype, individual fluorescent roots were divided into two halves. One half was stained for mycorrhiza visualization, the second used for total RNA extraction (RNeasy Plant Kit, Qiagen). Quantitative RT-PCR was performed with GeneAmp5700 (Applied Biosystems) using the SuperScript III Platinum Two-Step qRT-PCR-Kit (Invitrogen). A 123-bp DgSYMRK fragment was amplified using primers DgqPCR_SYMRK_f with DgqPCR_SYMRK_r (Table S1). As control, polyubiquitin cDNA was amplified using primers DgqPCR_Ubi_f with DgqPCR_Ubi_r (Table S1). Representative fragments were sequenced for identity confirmation.

Computational analysis. Databases used for BLAST sequence search and analysis included http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/BLAST/, http://www.arabidopsis.org/Blast/, http://www.gramene.org/Multi/blastview, and http://genome.jgi-psf.org/Poptr1/Poptr1.home.html.

Supporting Information

Figure S1. SYMRK Kinase Regions Share Several Defining Conserved Amino Acid Motifs, Which Are Absent in Similar Sequences in *Arabidopsis* and Rice

Black shading indicates amino acid residues identical in all sequences, residues found in at least 50% of the sequences are shaded gray. Bars delimit predicted SYMRK protein domains. Dark blue, conserved extracellular region (CEC); black, LRRs; gray, imperfect LRR; white, juxtamembrane regions; brown, transmembrane region; green, protein kinase domain. Light blue bars with stars mark some of the regions conserved among SYMRK candidates, but not in other homologous sequences in rice and *A. thaliana*. Locus tags are indicated for similar sequences not regarded as SYMRK candidates. Sequences aligning with regions upstream of exon 4 of *LjSYMRK* are not included.

Found at doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0060068.sg001 (96 KB DOC).

Figure S2. LjSYMRK Restores Nodulation and AM Formation in Medicago dmi2 5P Mutants

Transformation assay and selection were as in Figure 3. (A, B, K, and L) *Me. truncatula* (*Medicago*) *dmi2* 5P roots transformed with the respective control vector lacking an LjSYMRK expression cassette.

(C-F, M, and N) *Medicago* wild-type and (G-J, O and P) *dmi2* 5P roots transformed with the *LjSYMRK* coding sequence controlled by the *LjSYMRK* promoter.

(Å–J) Roots inoculated with *S. meliloti* expressing *DsRED* for 5 wk. (A and B) Transgenic *dmi2* 5P roots carrying the control vector, showing no nodules. (C and D) Nodules on transgenic and nontransgenic roots of a wild-type plant transformed with *LjSYMRK* and (E and F) individual nodule containing *DsRED* expressing *S. meliloti* bacteria. (G and H) *dmi2* 5P root system with nodule formation confined to roots transformed with *LjSYMRK*. (I and J) Nodule on an *LjSYMRK* containing *dmi2* 5P root showing bacterial DsRED expression.

(K-P) Roots co-cultivated with *G. intraradices* for 2 wk. (K and L) Transgenic *dmi2* 5P control roots lacking hyphal proliferation and

arbuscule formation in the inner root cortex. Hyphal swellings in the root periphery (L and arrow in K) indicate abortion of fungal infections. Longer co-cultivation for 3 wk or more allowed for successful fungal infections of mutant roots, which was similarly reported for other *dmi2* mutant lines [58]. (M and N) Wild-type and (O and P) *dmi2* 5P roots transformed with *LjSYMRK* showing dense fungal colonization of the root inner cortex accompanied by arbuscule formation.

Scale bars: (A–D and G–H) 2 mm; (E–F and I–J) 0.5 mm; (K, M, and O) 0.1 mm; (L, N, and P) 0.02 mm.

Found at doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0060068.sg002 (1.8 MB PDF).

Figure S3. Tomato and Rice SYMRK Restore AM Symbiosis in Lotus symrk-10 Mutants, but Cannot or Only Partially Complement Bacterial Endosymbiosis Formation

Transformation assay and selection were as in Figure 3. (A–D) Lotus symrk-10 roots transformed with the respective control vector lacking a SYMRK expression cassette. (E–L) Lotus wild-type (E–H) and symrk-10 (1–L) roots transformed with LeSYMRK. (M–Z) Lotus wild-type (M–R) and symrk-10 (S–Z) roots transformed with OsSYMRK.

(A, B, E, F, I, J, M, N, S, and T) Roots co-cultivated with *G. intraradices* for three weeks. (A and B) Transgenic *symrk-10* control root with extraradical mycelium but no intraradical fungal colonization or arbuscule formation. Swollen hyphal structures indicative of aborted fungal infections can be observed within epidermal cells (B and arrow in A). (E and F) Wild-type and (I and J) *symrk-10* roots transformed with *LeSYMRK*, showing fungal colonization of the inner root cortex (E, I) and arbuscule formation in inner cortical cells (F, J). (M and N) Wild-type and (S and T) *symrk-10* mutant roots transformed with *OsSYMRK*, similarly showing cortical AM colonization (M, S) and arbuscule formation (N, T).

(C, D, G, H, K, L, O-R, and U-Z) Root systems inoculated with *M. loti* expressing *DsRED* for 4 wk. (C and D) *symrk-10* root system with transgenic control roots, showing no nodules. (G and H) and (O-R) Wild-type root systems with *M. loti*-containing pink nodules on nontransgenic and on transgenic roots carrying *LeSYMRK* or *OsSYMRK*, respectively, indicating that these transgenes do not impair nodulation in transgenic wild-type roots. (K and L) *symrk-10* root system transformed with *LeSYMRK*, showing no nodules. In a single case, one nodule primordium was observed. (U-Z) *symrk-10* root system transformed with *OsSYMRK*, showing no fully developed nodules, but nodule primordia which are mostly noncolonized by bacteria, the latter proliferating on the primordial surface (W and X). In rare cases, small nodules were observed that contained bacteria, but, with one exception, showed no pinkish coloration in white light (Y and Z).

References

- Berg RH (1999) Frankia forms infection threads. Can J Bot 77: 1327–1333.
 Brewin NJ (2004) Plant cell wall remodelling in the rhizobium-legume
- symbiosis. Crit Rev Plant Sci 23: 293–316.
- 3. Sprent J (2001) Nodulation in legumes. Kew: Royal Botanical Gardens.
- Uheda E, Silvester WB (2001) The role of papillae during the infection process in the *Gunnera-Nostoc* symbiosis. Plant Cell Physiol 42: 780–783.
 Prell I, Poole P (2006) Metabolic changes of rhizobia in legume nodules.
- Prell J, Poole P (2006) Metabolic changes of rhizobia in legume nodules. Trends Microbiol 14: 161–168.
- Pawlowski K, Sprent J (2008) Comparison between actinorhizal and legume symbiosis. In: Pawlowski K, Newton WE, editors. Nitrogen-fixing actinorhizal symbioses. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands. pp. 261–288.
- Swensen SM, Benson DR (2008) Evolution of actinorhizal host plants and *Frankia* endosymbionts. In: Pawlowski K, Newton WE, editors. Nitrogenfixing actinorhizal symbioses. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands. pp. 73-104.
- Soltis DE, Soltis PS, Morgan DR, Swensen SM, Mullin BC, et al. (1995) Chloroplast gene sequence data suggest a single origin of the predisposition for symbiotic nitrogen fixation in angiosperms. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92: 2647–2651.
- Ceremonie H, Debelle F, Fernandez MP (1999) Structural and functional comparison of *Frankia* root hair deforming factor and rhizobia Nod factor. Can J Bot 77: 1293–1301.
- Schüßler A, Schwarzott D, Walker C (2001) A new fungal phylum, the Glomeromycota: phylogeny and evolution. Mycological Research 105: 1413–1421.
- Remy W, Taylor TN, Haas H, Kerp H (1994) Four hundred-million year-old vesicular arbuscular mycorrhizae. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91: 11841– 11843.
- Imaizumi-Anraku H, Takeda N, Charpentier M, Perry J, Miwa H, et al. (2005) Plastid proteins crucial for symbiotic fungal and bacterial entry into plant roots. Nature 433: 527–531.
- 13. Kanamori N, Madsen LH, Radutoiu S, Frantescu M, Quistgaard EM, et al.

Scale bars: (A, E, I, M, and S) 0.1 mm; (B, F, J, N, and T) 0.02 mm; (C, D, G, H, K, L, O, P, U, V) 2 mm; (Q, R, and W–Z) 0.5 mm.

Found at doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0060068.sg003 (3.8 MB PDF).

Table S1. Primer Sequences

Found at doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0060068.st001 (106 KB DOC).

Accession Numbers

Sequences of *SYMRK* homologs were deposited at the EMBL Nucleotide Sequence Database (http://www.ebi.ac.uk/embl/) under accession numbers AY935263 (*Al. glutinosa*); AM271000, AM931079 (*D. glomerata* coding and genomic sequence, respectively); AY935267 (*Lupinus albus*); AY935265 (*T. majus*); AY935266, AY940041 (*Ly. esculentum* coding and genomic sequence, respectively); AM270999 (*P. rhoeas*); AM851092 (*Po. trichocarpa*). The GenBank (http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/Genbank/index.html) accession number for pCAMBIA 1302 is AF234298.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to K. Pawlowski (Department of Botany, Stockholm University, Sweden) for supplying D. glomerata seeds, Frankia inoculum, and an Al. glutinosa cDNA library, and for discussion. We thank M. Bucher (Institute of Plant Sciences, ETH Zürich, Switzerland) and J.D.G. Jones (The Sainsbury Laboratory, United Kingdom) for access to tomato cDNA and cosmid libraries, respectively, and P. Schulze-Lefert (Max Planck Institute for Plant Breeding Research, Cologne, Germany) for supplying the plasmid pJawohl8 RNAi. We gratefully obtained Me. truncatula dmi2 mutant seeds from G. Oldroyd (John Innes Centre, United Kingdom) and Me. truncatula A17 wild-type seed material from T. Wang (John Innes Centre, United Kingdom). M. Hayashi (University of Munich, Germany) and S. Goormachtig (Ghent University, Belgium) kindly provided DsRED expressing strains of M. loti MAFF and Sinorhizobium meliloti 1021, respectively. We thank J.A. Gossmann for making the Tropaeolum SYMRK complementation construct, and G. Strobel for technical assistance.

Author contributions. KM, GG and MP conceived and designed the experiments, performed the experiments, and analyzed the data. KM and MP wrote the paper.

Funding. Research at the Sainsbury Laboratory is funded by the Gatsby Charitable Foundation.

Competing interests. The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

(2006) A nucleoporin is required for induction of Ca2+ spiking in legume nodule development and essential for rhizobial and fungal symbiosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103: 359–364.

- Levy J, Bres C, Geurts R, Chalhoub B, Kulikova O, et al. (2004) A putative Ca2+ and calmodulin-dependent protein kinase required for bacterial and fungal symbioses. Science 303: 1361–1364.
- Saito K, Yoshikawa M, Yano K, Miwa H, Uchida H, et al. (2007) NUCLEOPORIN85 is required for calcium spiking, fungal and bacterial symbioses, and seed production in *Lotus japonicus*. Plant Cell 19: 610–624.
- Stracke S, Kistner C, Yoshida S, Mulder L, Sato S, et al. (2002) A plant receptor-like kinase required for both bacterial and fungal symbiosis. Nature 417: 959–962.
- Kistner C, Parniske M (2002) Evolution of signal transduction in intracellular symbiosis. Trends Plant Sci 7: 511–518.
- LaRue T, Weeden N (1994) The symbiosis genes of the host. In: Kiss GB, Endre G, editors. Proceedings of the 1st European Nitrogen Fixation Conference. Szeged, Hungary: Officina Press. pp. 147–151.
- Patil S, Takezawa D, Poovaiah BW (1995) Chimeric plant calcium/ calmodulin-dependent protein kinase gene with a neural visinin-like calcium-binding domain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92: 4897–4901.
- Ane JM, Kiss GB, Riely BK, Penmetsa RV, Oldroyd GE, et al. (2004) *Medicago truncatula* DMI1 required for bacterial and fungal symbioses in legumes. Science 303: 1364–1367.
- Zhu H, Riely BK, Burns NJ, Ane JM (2006) Tracing non-legume orthologs of legume genes required for nodulation and arbuscular mycorrhizal symbioses. Genetics. 172: 2491–2499.
- Radutoiu S, Madsen LH, Madsen EB, Felle HH, Umehara Y, et al. (2003) Plant recognition of symbiotic bacteria requires two LysM receptor-like kinases. Nature 425: 585-592.
- Endre G, Kereszt A, Kevei Z, Mihacea S, Kalo P, et al. (2002) A receptor kinase gene regulating symbiotic nodule development. Nature 417: 962– 966.
- 24. Timmers AC, Auriac MC, Truchet G (1999) Refined analysis of early

symbiotic steps of the Rhizobium-Medicago interaction in relationship with microtubular cytoskeleton rearrangements. Development 126: 3617– 3628.

- Perry JA, Wang TL, Welham TJ, Gardner S, Pike JM, et al. (2003) A TILLING reverse genetics tool and a web-accessible collection of mutants of the legume *Lotus japonicus*. Plant Physiol 131: 866–871.
- Yoshida S, Parniske M (2005) Regulation of plant symbiosis receptor kinase through serine and threonine phosphorylation. J Biol Chem 280: 9203– 9209.
- Madsen EB, Madsen LH, Radutoiu S, Olbryt M, Rakwalska M, et al. (2003) A receptor kinase gene of the LysM type is involved in legume perception of rhizobial signals. Nature 425: 637–640.
- Radutoiu S, Madsen LH, Madsen EB, Jurkiewicz A, Fukai E, et al. (2007) LysM domains mediate lipochitin-oligosaccharide recognition and Nfr genes extend the symbiotic host range. Embo J 26: 3923–3935.
- 29. Gherbi H, Markmann K, Svistoonoff S, Estevan J, Autran D, et al. (2008) SymRK defines a common genetic basis for plant root endosymbioses with AM fungi, rhizobia and Frankia bacteria. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. In press.
- Chen C, Gao M, Liu J, Zhu H (2007) Fungal symbiosis in rice requires an ortholog of a legume common symbiosis gene encoding a Ca2+/calmodulindependent protein kinase. Plant Physiol 145: 1619–1628.
- 31. Kevei Z, Seres A, Kereszt A, Kalo P, Kiss P, et al. (2005) Significant microsynteny with new evolutionary highlights is detected between *Arabidopsis* and legume model plants despite the lack of macrosynteny. Mol Genet Genomics 274: 644–657.
- Zhu H, Choi HK, Cook DR, Shoemaker RC (2005) Bridging model and crop legumes through comparative genomics. Plant Physiol 137: 1189–1196.
- Berg RH (1999) Cytoplasmatic bridge formation in the nodule apex of actinorhizal root nodules. Can J Botany 77: 1351–1357.
- 34. van Brussel AAN, Bakhuizen R, Spaink HP, Tak T, Lugtenberg BJJ, et al. (1992) Induction of pre-infection thread structures in the leguminous host plant by mitogenic lipo-oligosaccharides of *Rhizobium*. Science 257: 70–72.
- 35. Genre A, Chabaud M, Timmers T, Bonfante P, Barker DG (2005) Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi elicit a novel intracellular apparatus in *Medicago truncatula* root epidermal cells before infection. Plant Cell 17: 3489–3499.
- 36. Parniske M, Hammond-Kosack KE, Golstein C, Thomas CM, Jones DA, et al. (1997) Novel disease resistance specificities result from sequence exchange between tandemly repeated genes at the Cf-4/9 locus of tomato. Cell 91: 821–832.
- Shiu SH, Karlowski WM, Pan R, Tzeng YH, Mayer KF, et al. (2004) Comparative analysis of the receptor-like kinase family in *Arabidopsis* and rice. Plant Cell 16: 1220–1234.
- van der Hoorn RA, Wulff BB, Rivas S, Durrant MC, van der Ploeg A, et al. (2005) Structure-function analysis of Cf-9, a receptor-like protein with extracytoplasmic leucine-rich repeats. Plant Cell 17: 1000–1015.
- 39. De Mita S, Santoni S, Ronfort J, Bataillon T (2007) Adaptive evolution of the symbiotic gene NORK is not correlated with shifts of rhizobial specificity in the genus *Medicago*. BMC Evol Biol 7: 210.
- Dolan J, Walshe K, Alsbury S, Hokamp K, O'Keeffe S, et al. (2007) The extracellular Leucine-Rich Repeat superfamily; a comparative survey and analysis of evolutionary relationships and expression patterns. BMC Genomics 8: 320.
- 41. Esseling JJ, Lhuissier FG, Emons AM (2004) A nonsymbiotic root hair tip growth phenotype in NORK-mutated legumes: implications for nodulation

factor-induced signaling and formation of a multifaceted root hair pocket for bacteria. Plant Cell 16: 933–944.

- 42. Doyle JJ, Doyle JL, Ballenger JA, Dickson EE, Kajita T, et al. (1997) A phylogeny of the chloroplast gene *rbcL* in the Leguminosae: taxonomic correlations and insights into the evolution of nodulation. Am J Botany 84: 541–554.
- Limpens E, Franken C, Smit P, Willemse J, Bisseling T, et al. (2003) LysM domain receptor kinases regulating rhizobial Nod factor-induced infection. Science 302: 630–633.
- Karimi M, Inze D, Depicker A (2002) GATEWAY vectors for Agrobacteriummediated plant transformation. Trends Plant Sci 7: 193–195.
- 45. Limpens E, Ramos J, Franken C, Raz V, Compaan B, et al. (2004) RNA interference in Agrobacterium rhizogenes-transformed roots of Arabidopsis and Medicago truncatula. J Exp Bot 55: 983–992.
- 46. Wesley SV, Helliwell CA, Smith NA, Wang MB, Rouse DT, et al. (2001) Construct design for efficient, effective and high-throughput gene silencing in plants. Plant J 27: 581–590.
- Fahraeus G (1957) The infection of clover root hairs by nodule bacteria studied by a simple glass slide technique. J Gen Microbiol 16: 374–381.
- Smit P, Raedts J, Portyanko V, Debelle F, Gough C, et al. (2005) NSP1 of the GRAS protein family is essential for rhizobial Nod factor-induced transcription. Science 308: 1789–1791.
- Demchenko K, Winzer T, Stougaard J, Parniske M, Pawlowski K (2004) Distinct roles of *Lotus japonicus SYMRK* and *SYM15* in root colonization and arbuscule formation. New Phytol 163: 381–392.
- Stougaard J, Abildsten D, Marcker KA (1987) The Agrobacterium rhizogenes pRi TL-DNA segment as a gene vector system for transformation of plants. Mol Gen Genet 207: 251–255.
- 51. Offringa IA, Melchers LS, Regensburg-Tuink AJG, Costantino P, Schilperoort RA, et al. (1986) Complementation of Agrobacterium tumefaciens tumorinducing aux mutants by genes from the T_R-region of the Ri plasmid of Agrobacterium rhizogenes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 83: 6935–6939.
- Diaz CL, Gronlund M, Schlaman HRM, Spaink HP (2005) Induction of hairy roots for symbiotic gene expression studies. In: Márquez AJ, editor. Lotus japonicus handbook. Berlin: Springer. pp. 261–277.
- The Angiosperm Phylogeny Group (2003) An update of the Angiosperm Phylogeny Group classification for the orders and families of flowering plants: APG II. Bot J Linn Soc 141: 399–436.
- 54. Zhang LB, Simmons MP, Kocyan A, Renner SS (2006) Phylogeny of the Cucurbitales based on DNA sequences of nine loci from three genomes: implications for morphological and sexual system evolution. Mol Phylogenet Evol 39: 305–322.
- Paszkowski U, Jakovleva L, Boller T (2006) Maize mutants affected at distinct stages of the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis. Plant J. 47: 156–173.
- Kikuchi S, Satoh K, Nagata T, Kawagashira N, Doi K, et al. (2003) Collection, mapping, and annotation of over 28,000 cDNA clones from *japonica* rice. Science 301: 376–379.
- Shiu SH, Bleecker AB (2001) Receptor-like kinases from Arabidopsis form a monophyletic gene family related to animal receptor kinases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98: 10763–10768.
- Morandi D, Prado E, Sagan M, Duc G (2005) Characterisation of new symbiotic *Medicago truncatula* (Gaertn.) mutants, and phenotypic or genotypic complementary information on previously described mutants. Mycorrhiza 15: 283–289.

PLoS Biology | www.plosbiology.org

<pre>III.LONSGNAME # 56 6006 11L #WEIT#@DOSNWESS- VIKUD # 58 MARY METAN # 16 % DG SV P # PLSSL I S YD DC M DM KI PSS I YKL PHLKS VFCCNEHKS - PEDPAMMISSL M TO Y IILAN REN RA PSG 6006 11L #WEIT#@DOSNWESS- VIKUD I S NUK KA 19 YVYKWIN D I M KI # 16 00 S IF 7 S PSSL I S YD D C M DM KI PSS I YKL PHLKS VFCCNEHKS - PEDPAMMISSL M TO Y IILAN REN RA PSG 6006 11L #WEIT#@DOSNWESS- VIKUD I S NUK KA 19 YVYKWIN D I M KI # 16 00 S IF 7 S PSSL I S YD D C M D C M KE # 17 D S YD D C M D C M KE # 17 D S YD D C M D C M KE # 17 D S YN D C M D C M KE # 17 D S YN D S YN D C M D C M KE # 17 D S YN D S YN D C M D C M KE # 17 D S YN D S YN D S YN D C M D C M KE # 17 D S YN D S YN D C M D C M KE # 17 D S YN D S YN D S YN D S YN D M YN D YN D YN D YN D YN D YN D YN</pre>			PFERS IN DEPTRICE KUDET VO FOR CONTRACTOR FOR A TARAN ON TO THE PART A TARAN ON THE PA	
 VGUTOKNREBILLIONS ULELTOKNREBILLIONS ULELTOKNRELLIUNS ULELTOKNRELLIUNS ULELTOKNRELLIUNS UNUTUNICALIONNA UNUTUNICALIONNA UNUTUNICALIONNA UNUTUNICALIONNA ULELUNICALIONA ULELUNICALIANA <li< td=""><td> GREK</td><td>A CHERINPELICYON A CHERINPELICYON 9) TERNENPELICYON 9) TERNENPELICYON 1, ALTHERINPELICYON 1, ALTHERINPELICYON 1, ALTHERINPELICYON 1, ANDRENDPELICYON 1, ANDREN</td><td>795 FLAILKREPTENGS 7995 FELALIKREPTENGS 8009 SELALIKREPTENGS 8029 SELALIKREPTENGS 8029 SELALIKREPTENGS 8029 SELALIKREPTENGS 8029 SELALIKREPTENGS 9029 SELALIKREPTENGS 712 SELALIKREPHENGS 150 SELALIKREPEGS 151 SELALIKREPEGS 153 SELALIKREPEGS 154 SELAUIARREPEGS 159 SELAUIARREPEGS 150 SELAURAREPEGS 153 BAISNOFGLARKN 153 BAISNOFGLARKN 153 BAISNOFGLARKN 154 SELAURAREPEGS</td><td></td></li<>	 GREK	A CHERINPELICYON A CHERINPELICYON 9) TERNENPELICYON 9) TERNENPELICYON 1, ALTHERINPELICYON 1, ALTHERINPELICYON 1, ALTHERINPELICYON 1, ANDRENDPELICYON 1, ANDREN	795 FLAILKREPTENGS 7995 FELALIKREPTENGS 8009 SELALIKREPTENGS 8029 SELALIKREPTENGS 8029 SELALIKREPTENGS 8029 SELALIKREPTENGS 8029 SELALIKREPTENGS 9029 SELALIKREPTENGS 712 SELALIKREPHENGS 150 SELALIKREPEGS 151 SELALIKREPEGS 153 SELALIKREPEGS 154 SELAUIARREPEGS 159 SELAUIARREPEGS 150 SELAURAREPEGS 153 BAISNOFGLARKN 153 BAISNOFGLARKN 153 BAISNOFGLARKN 154 SELAURAREPEGS	
 L. japonicus (35 M. sativa (36 A. glutinosa (37 D. glumerata (36 D. glumerata (36 P. trichoexe (36) L. esculentum (36) L. esculentum (36) P. Thoese (35) P. Thoese (35) O. sativa (34) At1967120 (36) At196720 (37) 	 I. japonicus (50 M. sativa (50 A. glutinosa (52 D. glumerate (51 P. tribocarpa (50) t. richocarpa (51) L. esculentum (48) Z. mays (15) O. sativa (15) O. sativa (15) At1967720 (51) 	 L. japonicus (64 M. gratiros (64 A. gratirosa (65 D. gramerata (65 P. trichocarpa (64 trichocarpa (65) 	 L. japonicus (M. sativa (A. glutinosa D. glomerata (D. glomerata (T. majus (T. majus (D. sativa (At1967720 (At1967720 (At1967720 (Figure S1



Figure S2



Figure S3

SymRK defines a common genetic basis for plant root endosymbioses with arbuscular mycorrhiza fungi, rhizobia, and *Frankia* bacteria

Hassen Gherbi*, Katharina Markmann[†], Sergio Svistoonoff*, Joan Estevan*, Daphné Autran*, Gabor Giczey[†], Florence Auguy*, Benjamin Péret*, Laurent Laplaze*, Claudine Franche*, Martin Parniske[†], and Didier Bogusz^{**}

*Equipe Rhizogenèse, Unité Mixte de Recherche Diversité et Adaptation des Plantes Cultivées (DIAPC), Institut de Recherche pour le Développement (IRD), 911 Avenue Agropolis, 34394 Montpellier Cedex 5, France; and [†]Department of Biology, Genetics, Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität, Maria-Ward-Strasse 1a, 80638 Munich, Germany

Edited by Sharon R. Long, Stanford University, Stanford, CA, and approved January 15, 2008 (received for review November 8, 2007)

Root endosymbioses vitally contribute to plant nutrition and fitness worldwide. Nitrogen-fixing root nodulation, confined to four plant orders, encompasses two distinct types of associations, the interaction of legumes (Fabales) with rhizobia bacteria and actinorhizal symbioses, where the bacterial symbionts are actinomycetes of the genus Frankia. Although several genetic components of the host-symbiont interaction have been identified in legumes, the genetic basis of actinorhiza formation is unknown. Here, we show that the receptor-like kinase gene SymRK, which is required for nodulation in legumes, is also necessary for actinorhiza formation in the tree Casuarina glauca. This indicates that both types of nodulation symbiosis share genetic components. Like several other legume genes involved in the interaction with rhizobia, SymRK is also required for the interaction with arbuscular mycorrhiza (AM) fungi. We show that SymRK is involved in AM formation in C. glauca as well and can restore both nodulation and AM symbioses in a Lotus japonicus symrk mutant. Taken together, our results demonstrate that SymRK functions as a vital component of the genetic basis for both plant-fungal and plant-bacterial endosymbioses and is conserved between legumes and actinorhiza-forming Fagales.

actinorhizal symbioses | Casuarina glauca | mycorrhizae | signaling

Root endosymbioses are associations between plants and soil microorganisms involving intracellular accommodation of microbes within host cells. The most widespread of these associations is arbuscular mycorrhiza (AM), which is formed by the majority of land plants with fungi belonging to the phylum Glomeromycota (1). In contrast, nitrogen-fixing nodulation symbioses of plant roots and bacteria are restricted to four orders of eurosid dicots (2). Actinorhiza, formed by members of the Fagales, Rosales, and Cucurbitales with Gram-positive Frankia bacteria, differs from the interaction of legumes with Gramnegative rhizobia in several morphological and cytological aspects (3). Although these differences suggest independent regulatory mechanisms, the close relatedness of nodulating lineages indicates a common evolutionary basis of root nodulation symbioses (2). In the legume-rhizobia interaction, among the key factors mediating recognition between the plant and the bacteria are Nod factors (NFs). NFs are bacterial lipochitooligosaccharides with an N-acetylglucosamine backbone (4). The perception of NFs induces a series of responses in host roots, including ion flux changes and membrane depolarization, rhythmic calcium oscillations in and around the nucleus (calcium spiking), cytoskeletal modifications and root hair curling, and activation of cortical cell divisions (5). Extensive mutant screenings performed in legumes led to the identification of several loci involved in this signaling cascade, and recently most of the corresponding genes were identified by map-based approaches (6). In Lotus japonicus, two genes, NFR1 and NFR5 encoding receptor-like serine/threonine kinases with LysM domains, are assumed to be involved in NF perception, because the corresponding mutants are impaired in the earliest NF responses (7). Several downstream components of the NF signaling cascade, including the leucine-rich-repeat receptor kinase gene *L. japonicus SymRK* (*DMI2/NORK* in *Medicago truncatula* and *M. sativa*, respectively) (8, 9), are dually involved in AM and nodulation symbiosis. *SymRK* is likely active near the junction of fungal and rhizobial signaling cascades (8). This makes it a particularly interesting candidate for studying a possible role of legume symbiosis genes in *Casuarina glauca*, which similarly forms AM, but in contrast to legumes interacts not with rhizobia but with *Frankia* bacteria to form actinorhiza.

In actinorhizal symbioses, very little is known about signaling mechanisms involved in plant-bacteria recognition. Analyses of the genome of three Frankia strains (10), the biochemical characterization of a Frankia root hair-deforming factor whose chemical structure is unknown (11), and the failure of Frankia DNA to complement rhizobial nod gene mutants (12) suggest that Frankia symbiotic signals are structurally different from rhizobial NFs. No plant genes involved in the perception and transduction of Frankia symbiotic signals have been identified to date, mostly due to the lack of genetic tools in actinorhizaforming plants. Here, we isolate CgSymRK, a predicted SymRK gene from the actinorhizal tree C. glauca, and analyze its role in root endosymbioses. Our results reveal that SymRK is required for both AM and actinorhiza formation in C. glauca, indicating shared genetic mechanisms between fungal and bacterial root endosymbioses in C. glauca and legumes.

Results

Isolation of C. glauca SymRK. A C. glauca SymRK candidate, CgSymRK, was isolated by using a degenerate priming approach based on similarity with legume SymRK sequences. The gene is 7,280 bp long and contains 15 putative exons, encompassing a 2,829-bp coding sequence. Intron positions and phases are identical to SymRK genes of L. japonicus and other legumes, including Medicago truncatula, Pisum sativum, and Sesbania rostrata. The predicted protein of 941 aa contains an N-terminal

Author contributions: H.G. and K.M. contributed equally to this work; H.G., K.M., S.S., J.E., D.A., G.G., F.A., B.P., L.L., C.F., M.P., and D.B. designed research; H.G., K.M., S.S., J.E., D.A., G.G., F.A., B.P., L.L., and C.F. performed research; H.G., K.M., S.S., J.E., D.A., G.G., F.A., B.P., L.L., and D.B. analyzed data; and H.G., K.M., S.S., L.L., C.F., M.P., and D.B. wrote the paper.

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

This article is a PNAS Direct Submission.

Data deposition: The sequences reported in this paper have been deposited in the GenBank database [accession nos. EU294188 (*CgSymRK* genomic) and EU273286 (*CgSymRK* CDS)].

⁺To whom correspondence should be addressed. E-mail: bogusz@mpl.ird.fr.

This article contains supporting information online at www.pnas.org/cgi/content/full/ 0710618105/DC1.

^{© 2008} by The National Academy of Sciences of the USA



Fig. 1. *C. glauca SymRK* gene. (*A*) Genomic structure of *CgSymRK* with indicated predicted protein domains. Exons are depicted as boxes, introns as a black line. SP, predicted signal peptide; EC, extracellular domain; LRR leucine-rich repeat motifs; TM, transmembrane domain; PK, protein kinase domain. Percentages of similarity and identity between *CgSYMRK* and *LJSYMRK* are indicated below each predicted protein domain. *(P)* Distance tree of predicted SYMRK protein sequences based on a CLUSTALW alignement. Numbers above the branches represent the percentages of 1,000 bootstrap replications.

region of unknown function, three leucine-rich repeat motifs, a transmembrane region, and a serine/threonine protein kinase (Fig. 1A). The SYMRK kinase domain is highly conserved between legumes and actinorhizal plants. However, SYMRK extracellular regions are conserved between the two actinorhizal plants C. glauca and A. glutinosa but highly variable between legumes and actinorhizal plants (data not shown). Both actinorhizal proteins cluster together in a phylogenetic distance tree in the same subgroup as the legume SYMRK (Fig. 1B). Southern blot experiments suggested that only one SymRK gene exists in C. glauca (data not shown). In C. glauca roots infected with Frankia, real-time expression analysis revealed very little change in CgSymRK transcript abundance within 2 weeks after inoculation [supporting information (SI) Fig. 5A]. However, we cannot rule out that localized changes in CgSymrk expression might occur. CgSymRK expression was three times higher in 3-week-old nodules than in uninoculated roots (SI Fig. 5B).

CgSymRK Is Necessary for Actinorhizal and AM Symbioses in C. glauca.

To investigate the role of SymRK in root endosymbioses in C. glauca, we reduced CgSymRK expression levels in Agrobacteriuminduced hairy roots by using RNAi. In parallel, control plants bearing nontransgenic and hairy roots transformed with a control vector comprising the GFP reporter gene but lacking the RNAi cassette were analyzed. A total of 78 RNAi composite plants and 48 transgenic control composite plants showing high GFP fluorescence in hairy roots were analyzed in two independent experiments. At 3 weeks after inoculation, plants transformed with the control vector began to develop nodules that were similar in size and shape to those produced on nontransgenic roots (Fig. 2A and B). As observed in ref. 13, nodulation of transgenic control hairy roots was reduced compared with nontransgenic controls. In CgSymRK RNAi roots, the frequency of nodulated root systems was 50% less than in transgenic control root systems (SI Table 1). Nodulated RNAi roots showed strong alterations in nodule development



Knockdown phenotype of CgSymRK after Frankia inoculation. (A) Fig. 2. Nontransgenic nodule consisting of multiple lobes 10 weeks postinoculation (wpi). A nodular root develops at the apex of each nodule lobe. (B) Nodule on a hairy root transformed with a control vector at 10 wpi. Nodule morphology is similar to wild-type nodules. (C) Nodule-like structure formed on CgSymRK knockdown (RNAi) roots 10 wpi. Nodule lobes are small and do not branch to form a multilobed structure. (D and E) Sections of wild-type and transgenic control nodules. Each nodule lobe exhibits a central vascular bundle and cortical parenchyma infected with Frankia. (F) Section of a nodule-like structure observed on an RNAi plant showing few small infected cells and abnormal accumulation of polyphenols in the endodermis. (G) Closeup of area in D, showing both infected and uninfected cortical cells. Infected cells are hypertrophied and filled with Frankia. (H) Closeup of area in E. As in nontransgenic nodules, hypertrophied cortical cells are filled with Frankia. (I) Closeup of area in F. Infected cells are few and small compared with cells in nontransgenic and transgenic control nodules. IC, infected cell with Frankia; RN, root nodule; NA, nodule apex; VT, vascular tissue; P, polyphenol droplets; RH, root hair. [Scale bars: 1 mm (A–C); 100 μm (D–F); 25 μm (G–I).]

compared with control roots. We observed a gradient of phenotypes ranging from aborted prenodules (Fig. 2C and F) to nodules usually consisting of one thin lobe, whereas mature nodules in transgenic and nontransgenic control roots were multilobed (Fig. 2 A and B and D and E). On CgSymRK RNAi root nodules, the nodular roots, which are unbranched roots exhibiting negative geotropism growing at the apex of each nodule lobe, often behaved like adventitious roots exhibiting normal root growth and branching (data not shown). These aberrant nodules and nodular roots were never seen on transgenic or nontransgenic control roots. Histological analysis of 10 aberrant symbiotic structures of CgSymRK RNAi roots revealed an accumulation of phenolic compounds (Fig. 2F) and the presence of small infected cells in the cortex (Fig. 2) contrasting with the hypertrophied infected cells observed in nontransgenic and transgenic control nodules (Fig. 2G and H). We tested the ability of CgSymRK RNAi nodules to fix nitrogen via acetylene reduction activity (ARA) assays. CgSymRK RNAi nodules exhibited a quasinull ARA compared with transgenic control nodules (SI Fig. 6). To test the efficacy of CgSymRK knockdown in RNAi roots, CgSymRK expression was tested by quantitative RT-PCR (qPCR) in subcultivates of five CgSymRK RNAi roots. A 52-76% reduction of CgSymRK mRNA levels was observed in RNAi roots compared with transgenic control roots (SI Fig. 7). Taken together, our results indicate that a reduction inCgSymRK expression results in severe impairment in actinorhiza formation and symbiotic nitrogen fixation.

In legumes, *SymRK* has been shown to play also a crucial role in the establishment of AM symbiosis (14). To investigate whether *CgSymRK* is also involved in AM formation in *C. glauca*, RNAi hairy roots plants were generated and cultivated in pots

containing Glomus intraradices inoculum. Plants were harvested after 4 or 8 weeks, and GFP fluorescence was checked in transformed roots. Seventeen control and 21 RNAi plants showing GFP fluorescence and six nontransformed root systems were subjected to AM analysis. In nontransgenic control plants, fungal structures such as intraradical hyphae, vesicles, and arbuscules (SI Figs. 8 and 9 A and B) were observed at high frequencies ranging from 22% to 52% total root length colonization. Similar structures were observed at relatively high frequencies in roots of most transgenic control plants, 4 or 8 weeks after inoculation (SI Figs. 8 and 9 C and D). The slight reduction of colonization compared with nontransgenic control roots might be linked to modifications of hormonal balance. In contrast, most plants transformed with the CgSymRK RNAi construct showed very weak levels of AM colonization, and four composite plants showed a complete absence of intraradical structures 4 weeks after inoculation (SI Fig. 8). The absence of intracellular colonization was not due to an absence of inoculum, because extraradical hyphae were very often observed. Some RNAi roots showed extensive development of extraradical mycelium, usually growing along the epidermal cells and forming appressoria, which were frequently associated with abnormal, swollen hyphal structures (SI Fig. 9 E and F). Most fungal penetration attempts aborted, resulting in very low levels of intraradical colonization (SI Fig. 8). However, on the rare occasions where penetration succeeded, intraradical hyphae, arbuscules, and vesicles morphologically similar to those found in transgenic and nontransgenic control roots were observed (SI Fig. 9 G and H). Compared with control roots, colonized patches were generally smaller, spreading over few cells near the entry point and never succeeding in colonizing the whole root. These results indicate that CgSymRK knockdown strongly affects early steps of the AM interaction, especially fungal penetration into the root cortex, thereby revealing a conservation of SymRK function in AM between legumes and C. glauca.

CgSymRK Can Restore Root Endosymbioses in a Legume symrk Mutant. To test whether *CgSymRK* can function in root endosymbioses in a legume, we introduced its coding sequence linked to the *L. japonicus SymRK* promoter region into *Agrobacterium rhizogenes*-induced roots of *L. japonicus symrk-10* (15) mutants. Interaction with AM fungi is usually aborted in *L. japonicus symrk* mutants at the epidermal level (14), with few hyphae invading the root cortex and no arbuscules developing within 3–6 weeks of exposure to fungal inoculum.

Similarly, after 3 weeks of cocultivation with *G. intraradices, symrk-10* roots transformed with a vector lacking a *SymRK* expression cassette (control vector) formed no AM, and typical hyphal swellings formed in epidermal cells indicating abortion of fungal infections (SI Table 2; Fig. 3 *A* and *B*). In contrast, wild-type (Fig. 3 *C* and *D*) and *symrk-10* (Fig. 3 *E* and *F*) plants transformed with *CgSymRK* developed AM (SI Table 2), involving the formation of wild-type-like cortical arbuscules (Fig. *F*) and infection sites in the complemented mutants. Similar results were obtained with wild-type and *symrk-10* mutant plants transformed with an *LjSymRK* expression cassette controlled by the same promoter region §I Table 2). These results demonstrate that *CgSymRK* can complement the mycorrhization defect of *L. japonicus symrk* mutants.

Wild-type *L. japonicus* plants respond to inoculation with their rhizobial symbiont *Mesorhizobium loti* by root hair curling, infection thread formation, and nodule development. *L. japonicus symrk* mutants, in contrast, show no normal curling reaction of root hairs, and bacteria are unable to induce infection thread or nodule formation (8). This was equally the case in *symrk-10* roots transformed with a control vector (SI Table 2; Fig. 4 A and B), whereas *L. japonicus* wild-type and *symrk-10* roots carrying *CgSymRK* formed wild-type-like infection threads and nodules (Table 2; Fig. 4 *C*–*E* and *F*-*H*, respectively). These exhibited bacteria-filled and

Fig. 3. AM formation in *L. japonicus symrk-10* mutants complemented with the *CgSymRK* coding sequence under control of the*LjSymRK* promoter, after 3 weeks of cocultivation with *G. intraradices*. Cleared roots with fungal structures are stained with acidic ink. (A and B) *symrk-10* roots transformed with a control vector. (A) Noncolonized root with extraradical mycelium and aborted infection structure (arrow). (B) Fungal appressorium and entry point associated with aborted infection structure within host epidermal cell. *C* and *D*) Wild-type and (*E* and *F*) *symrk-10* roots transformed with *CgSymRK* linked to the *LjSymRK* promoter. Fungal hyphae grow through epidermis and exodermis and from arbuscules and vesicles in the inner root cortex. A, arbuscule; IH, intraradical hyphae; V, vesicle. [Scale bars: 100 μ m (*A*, *C*, and *E*); 20 μ m (*B*, *D*, and *F*).]

noninfected host cells (Fig. 4*I* and *J*). *L. japonicus* wild-type and *symrk-10* roots transformed with a *L. japonicus SymRK* expression cassette equally formed infection threads and infected nodules §I Table 2; Fig. 4*K* and *L*, respectively). The observation that *SymRK* from the actinorhiza-forming plant *C. glauca* can restore not only the interaction with AM fungi but also with *M. loti* bacteria in *L. japonicus symrk* mutants indicates that this gene is highly conserved in its function in both AM and nodulation symbioses, whereas the specificity of recognition of bacterial partners is *SymRK*-independent.

Discussion

There are three major types of root endosymbioses in angiosperms. These include the arbuscular mycorrhiza symbiosis with fungi and nitrogen-fixing root nodulation of legumes and actinorhiza-forming plants. In recent years, there has been a tremendous increase in knowledge of the molecular mechanisms responsible for NF perception and signal transduction in legumes (6). Genetic approaches in model legumes led to the identification of several components and the definition of a signaling cascade (5). Part of this signaling cascade is also involved in transduction of the symbiotic signal in AM symbioses (5). This gave rise to the hypothesis that the evolutionarily recent legume-rhizobia symbiosis reuses some of the molecular mechanisms of the more ancient AM symbiosis (16). This common signaling pathway includes the receptor kinase SymRK/DMI2. So far, nothing is known about the symbiotic signals and their perception during actinorhizal symbioses. Available data indicate only that the Frankia symbiotic signal is likely chemically

PLANT BIOLOGY



Fig. 4. Nodulation in *L. japonicus symrk-10* mutants complemented with the *CgSymRK* coding sequence under control of the*LjSymRK* promoter, 8 weeks after inoculation with *M. loti* MAFF expressing *DsReD*. Transgenic roots carried ans*GFP* reporter gene. (*A*, *C*, and *F*) Roots and nodules under white light. (*B*, *D*, and *G*) Transgenic roots and nodules showing GFP fluorescence. (*E* and *H*) Red fluorescence of bacterial DsRED. (*A* and *B*) *symrk-10* root transformed with the control vector, showing no nodules. (*C–E*) Transgenic wild-type root carrying the *Cg-SymRK* coding sequence. Nodules contain *DsReD*-expressing bacteria (*E*). (*F–H*) *symrk-10* mutant root transformed with the *CgSymRK* coding sequence, carrying wild-type-like nodules. (*I–L*) Semithin sections of nodules stained with toluidine blue. (*I* and *J*) Nodules on *symrk-10* mutant and wild-type roots complemented with the *CgSymRK* coding sequence, respectively. (*K* and *L*) Nodules on *symrk-10* mutant and wild-type roots complemented with the *LjSymRK* coding sequence, respectively. Infection threads (IT) are contained within bacteria-infected cells (IC). [Scale bars: 500 µm (*A–H*); 25 µm (*I–L*).]

different from NFs (10–12). Here, we report the isolation and characterization of *CgSymRK*, a *SymRK/DMI2* homolog from the actinorhizal tree *C. glauca*. Our data demonstrate that *CgSymRK* is functionally equivalent to *LjSymRK* in symbiosis formation in *L. japonicus*. In our experience, both AM and nodulation symbiosis formation in hairy roots of *L. japonicus* can vary in efficiency, particularly in complemented mutant tissue. Despite the differences in numbers of rescued root systems between the symbiosis types (*CgSymRK*) and constructs, phenotypic analyses clearly suggest that both symbiosis types can be fully supported by *CgSymRK* in *L. japonicus*.

Moreover, we were able to show that CgSvmRK is necessary for functional symbiosis with Frankia. We therefore conclude that CgSymRK is probably a component of the signaling pathway involved in the perception and the transduction of yet-unknown Frankia factors. As in legumes (17, 18) CgSymRK expression level remained constant during root infection and increased in mature nodules compared with noninoculated roots. The reduction in the number of nodulated plants obtained by RNAi is less pronounced than the one obtained in legumes (18, 19); however, it clearly indicates that CgSymRK is involved during the early stages of Frankia root hair infection. A second symbiotic defect was observed downstream of this infection with striking differences in the nodule morphology and tissue organization relative to the control. Cg-SymRK RNAi hairy roots mostly developed small nonfixing nodulelike structures. Light microscopy revealed that the nodule apical meristem was absent, and we did not observe the gradient of infection and differentiation in the cortex that is present in transgenic and nontransgenic control nodules. Cortical cells also seemed to be less infected, and infected cells were smaller than those of control nodules. In addition, we observed the formation of dense deposits of polyphenols in *CgSymRK* RNAi nodules. These data suggest that the loss of *CgSymRK* function also affects *C. glauca– Frankia* symbiotic interaction after bacterial penetration. This is consistent with qPCR results that indicate an enhancement of *CgSymRK* expression in mature nodules.

We also analyzed the role of *CgSymRK* in the *G. intraradices–C. glauca* interaction. Hairy roots of *C. glauca* carrying the *CgSymRK* RNAi construct were able to form arbuscules and vesicles morphologically similar to those found in control plants, suggesting that *CgSymRK* is not involved in the formation of these late symbiotic structures. However, most RNAi plants showed a significant decrease in fungal colonization. At the root surface, hyphae developed abundant appressoria, but these colonization attempts rarely succeeded, pointing to a role of *CgSymRK* during hyphal penetration. Similar results were shown for *L. japonicus symrk* (14) and *M. truncatula dmi2* mutants (20, 21). This work report a role of *SymRK* in AM symbiosis formation in a nonlegume plant.

In summary, our data indicate that *SymRK* is involved in the symbiotic signal transduction pathway leading to actinorhizal symbioses. Our results demonstrate that, in *C. glauca* as in legumes, *SymRK* is involved in the establishment of both nitrogen-fixing nodule and AM symbioses, thus supporting the hypothesis that signaling genes have been recruited from the more ancient AM symbiosis during the evolution of nitrogen-fixing symbioses. It will now be essential to compare signal transduction pathways involved in endosymbiotic accommodation of AM fungi, rhizobia, and *Frankia* to develop strategies for the transfer of nodulation to nonnodulated plants.

Materials and Methods

Plant, Bacterial, and Fungal Material. C. glauca seeds were provided by Carter Seeds and grown as described in ref. 22. L. japonicus ecotype B-129 Gifu and L. japonicus symrk mutant symrk-10 from the same ecotype (15) were grown for transformation as described in ref. 23. C. glauca and L. japonicus plants were transformed with A. rhizogenes strains A4RS (24) and AR1193 (25). For nodulation phenotyping of C. glauca, plants were inoculated with Frankia strain Ccl3. C. glauca mycorrhization experiments were performed in pots containing an autoclaved mixture of quartz sand and soil (4:1). Plants were transferred from in vitro cultures and grown for 4-8 weeks in a growth chamber and watered with a modified Hoagland solution (22) containing 10 µM phosphate. G. intraradices inoculum was prepared by extracting spores from in vitro cultures of G. intraradices (26). One Petri dish showing extensive sporulation was kept at 4°C for at least 3 weeks and used to inoculate 2 liters of sand:soil mixture. For nodulation phenotyping of L. japonicus, composite plants were grown in plastic pots with 300 ml of Seramis substrate (Mars) and 150 ml of FP medium (27) and inoculated with Mesorhizobium loti strain MAFF expressing DsReD (M. Hayashi, personal communication). To test for AM formation, plants were cocultivated withG. intraradices BEG195 in chive nurse pots as described (14) and harvested after 3 weeks. Transgenic roots were selected via GFP fluorescence and stained with acidic ink as described (14) for visualization of fungal structures.

Identification and Cloning of CgSymRK Sequences and Phylogenetic Analysis. Amplification of CgSymRK was conducted on a cDNA library prepared from C. glauca uninfected roots by using the degenerated primers SymRKdeg-5 (5'-CCAAGACATGAATGGTCTCTGGTNGARTGGGC-3) and SymRKdeg-3 (5'-GAATC-CATAGATCTCATATATTCAGAAGCRTTRTTYTC-3). The amplified fragment was cloned into a pGEM-T easy vector (Promega) and sequenced. cDNA fragments were obtained by RACE-PCR on a root cDNA library by using the Marathon cDNA amplification kit (Clontech), and the CDS was amplified by using primers CqSymRKATG (5'-ATGATGGAGGGATTGCATAAT-3') and CqSymRKSTOP (5'-TCCTCCACAGCCAAGATAA -3'). The CgSymRK genomic sequence was obtained by using a Genome Walker kit (Clontech) and cloned in a pGEM-T easy vector. For the phylogenetic analysis, sequences (with GenBank accession numbers in parentheses) from Alnus glutinosa (62946487), Sesbania rostrata (56412259), Melilotus alba (21698802), Pisum sativum (21698794), Lathyrus sativus (89213719), Vicia hirsuta (21698800), Medicago truncatula (21698783), Lotus japonicus (21622628), Medicago sativa (21698781), Lupinus albus (62946493), Tropaeolum

majus (62946489), Astragalus sinicus (61723807), and Lycopersicon esculentum (62944413) were retrieved from GenBank via BLASTP search performed with the L. japonicus-predicted SYMRK sequence. Sequences of SYMRK homologs in Arabidopsis thaliana(-: At5g48740; -2: At2g37050; -3 At1g67720) described in ref. 28 were also included. A. thaliana (-: At3g25560), an NSP-interacting kinase (29), was used to root the tree. The alignment was performed by using the CLUSTALW and Neighbor-Joining algorithms in the CLC-Free Workbench 4 software package (CLC bio).

Agrobacterium rhizogenes-Mediated Transformation, RNAi and Complementa-

tion. C. glauca and L. japonicus hairy root transformation was performed by following standard procedures (13, 23). To produce the knockdown construct, 365 bp corresponding to the kinase domain of CgSymRK sequence were amplified from genomic DNA by using CgRNAi-5 (5'-GGGAGCTGGAGGAT-GCTTTGA-3') and CgRNAi-3 (5'-TAAGTAGTAGTAGGTGGGGGAGATTATTC-3') primers containing 5' Xhol or BamHI restriction sites for CgRNAI-5 and KpnI or ClaI for CgRNAI-3. Amplified fragments (XhoI-CgRNAi-KpnI and BamHI-CgRNAi-Clal) were then cloned into pKannibal (30) downstream of the CaMV 35S promoter, and the RNAi cassette was then cloned into the pHKN29 binary vector (31). This vector also contains the GFP gene under the control of the CaMV 35S promoter. For functional complementation, the CaSymRK coding sequence was fused to LjSymRK promoter (2,415-bp) and terminator (315-bp) regions and transferred into the pHKN29 binary vector. For complementation of L. japonicus symrk mutants with LjSymRK, the binary vector pCAMBIA 1302 was equipped with 4,970 bp of the LjSymRK promoter region fused to the LjSymRK coding sequence and a 285-bp NOS terminator fragment amplified from pJawohl8 RNAi [kind gift of P. Schulze-Lefert (Max Planck Institute, Cologne, Germany)] by using primers TNOS-5 5'-AATAAACCTAGGATCAGCT-TGCATGCCGGTCG-3' and TNOS-3 5'-AAATAAGTCGACCTAGAGTCAAGCA-GATCGTTCAAAC-3'.

qPCR and Acetylene Reduction Assay. Total RNA was extracted by using the RNeasy Plant Mini Kit (Qiagen). RNAs were quantified with Quant-iT Ribogreen RNA Reagent (Invitrogen). One hundred nanograms of total RNA

- 1. Schüssler A, Schwarzott D, Walker C (2001) A new fungal phylum, the *Glomeromycota*: phylogeny and evolution. *Mycol Res* 105:1413–1421.
- Soltis DE, et al. (1995) Chloroplast gene sequence data suggest a single origin of the predisposition for symbiotic nitrogen fixation in angiosperms. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92:2647–2651.
- Pawlowski K, Bisseling T (1996) Rhizobial and actinorhizal symbioses: What are the shared features? *Plant Cell* 8:1899–1913.
- D'Haeze W, Holsters M (2002) Nod factor structures, responses, and perception during initiation of nodule development. *Glycobiology* 12:79R–105R.
- Oldroyd GE, Downie JA (2006) Nuclear calcium changes at the core of symbiosis signalling. Curr Opin Plant Biol 9:351–357.
- Jones KM, Kobayashi H, Davies BW, Taga ME, Walker GC (2007) How rhizobial symbionts invade plants: the Sinorhizobium-Medicago model. Nat Rev Microbiol 5:619–633.
- 7. Radutoiu S, et al. (2003) Plant recognition of symbiotic bacteria requires two LysM receptor-like kinases. Nature 425:585–592.
- Stracke S, et al. (2002) A plant receptor-like kinase required for both bacterial and fungal symbiosis. Nature 417:959–962.
- Endre G, et al. (2002) A receptor kinase gene regulating symbiotic nodule development. Nature 417:962–966.
- 10. Normand P, et al. (2007) Genome characteristics of facultatively symbiotic Frankia sp. strains reflect host range and host plant biogeography. Genome Res 17:7–15.
- Ceremonie H, Debelle F, Fernandez MP (1999) Structural and functional comparison of Frankia root hair deforming factor and rhizobia Nod factor. Can J Bot 77:1293–1301.
- Ceremonie H, Cournoyer B, Maillet F, Normand P, Fernandez MP (1998) Genetic complementation of rhizobial nod mutants with *Frankia* DNA: artifact or reality? *Mol Gen Genet* 260:115–119.
- Diouf D, et al. (1995) Hairy root nodulation of Casuarina glauca: a system for the study of symbiotic gene expression in actinorhizal tree. Mol Plant–Microb Interact 8:532– 537.
- Demchenko K, Winzer T, Stougaard J, Parniske M, Pawlowski K (2004) Distinct roles of Lotus japonicus SYMRK and SYM 15 in root colonization and arbuscule formation. New Phytol 163:381–392.
- Perry JA, et al. (2003) A TILLING reverse genetics tool and a web-accessible collection of mutants of the legume Lotus japonicus. Plant Physiol 131:866–871.
- Kistner C, Parniske M (2002) Evolution of signal transduction in intracellular symbiosis. Trends Plants Sci 7:511–518.
- Bersoult A, et al. (2005) Expression of the Medicago truncatula DM12 gene suggests roles of the symbiotic nodulation receptor kinase in nodules and during early nodule development. Mol Plant–Microbe Interact 18:869–876.
- Capoen W, Goormachtig S, De Rycke R, Schroeyers K, Holsters M (2005) SrSymRK, a plant receptor essential for symbiosome formation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102:10369– 10374.

was reverse-transcribed by using SuperScriptIII H⁻ reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen) and oligo(dT)₁₂₋₁₈. qPCR was performed by using the FullVelocity SYBR Green QPCR Master Mix (Stratagene). The primers used were *qCgSymRKFor1* 5'-GCAGGAGGTAGCAGTGAAGGTTC-3' and *qCgSymRKRev2* 5'-GCGATCTTGAAGCGAGCATTAG-3'. The FullVelocity cycling PCR program on an MX 3005P (Stratagene) was as follows: 1 cycle at 95°C for 5 min, 40 cycles at 95°C for 10 s and 60°C for 30 s, ended by 1 cycle at 95°C for 1 min, 60°C for 30 s, and 95°C for 30 s. Reactions were performed in triplicate, and the comparative threshold-cycle method was used to quantify *CgSymRK* expression (32). The results were standardized with *CgUbi* expression levels (32). The acetylene reduction assay was performed according to ref. 33.

Histochemical Analysis and Microscopy. *C. glauca* nodules were fixed as described in ref. 34. *L. japonicus* nodules were fixed in a solution containing 50% EtOH, 4% formaldehyde, and 5% acetic acid and dehydrated in 70% EtOH. Samples were embedded in Technovit 7100 resin (Heraeus Kulzer), and thin sections (6 μ m) were cut with a microtome (Microm HM355S), stained with toluidine blue (0.01%), and mounted in Clearium Mountant (Surgipath). Visualization of AM in *L. japonicus* was performed as described in ref. 14. To visualize AM in *C. glauca*, roots were cleared for 1–2 days in 10% KOH at 90°C, rinsed, and stained for at least 1 h with a 0.05% trypan blue/5% acetic acid solution at 60°C and destained in water as described (35). Samples were viewed under a DMRB microscope (Leica). Colonization was assessed with a microscope by using the gridline intersect method (35) on at least 100 intersections per sample.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS. We thank Dr. G. Bécard (Unité Mixte de Recherche 5546, Toulouse) for providing the *G. intraradices* starting cultures, Dr. H. Kouchi (National Institute of Agrobiological Sciences, Ibaraki, Japan) for providing pHKN29, Dr. A. Galiana [Centre de Coopération Internationale en Recherche Agronomique pour le Développement (CIRAD), Montpellier, France] for help with the ARA experiment, and M. Collin and V. Vaissayre (IRD) for technical assistance in cytology and the *in vitro* culture. Financial support was provided by IRD, the Center for French–Bavarian University Cooperation (CCUFB/BFHZ) Project, the PROCOPE (EGIDE/DAAD, French–German Bilateral Cooperation) project, and the Agence Nationale de la Recherche Project NewNod (ANR-06-BLAN-0095).

- Limpens E, et al. (2005) Formation of organelle-like N2-fixing symbiosomes in legume root nodules is controlled by DMI2. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102:10375– 10380.
- Morandi D, Prado E, Sagan M, Duc G (2005) Characterisation of new symbiotic Medicago truncatula (Gaertn.) mutants, and phenotypic or genotypic complementary information on previously described mutants. Mycorrhiza 15:283–289.
- Calantzis C, Morandi D, Arnould C, Gianinazzi-Pearson V (2001) Cellular interactions between G. mosseae and a Myc(-) dmi2 mutant in Medicago truncatula. Symbiosis 30:97–108.
- Franche C, et al. (1997) Genetic transformation of the actinorhizal tree Allocasuarina verticillata by Agrobacterium tumefaciens. Plant J 11:897–904.
- Diaz G, Gronlund M (2005) in *Lotus japonicus Handbook*, ed Marquez AJ (Springer, New York), pp 261–277.
- Jouanin L, Tourneur J, Tourneur C, Casse-Delbart F (1986) Restriction maps and homologies of the three plasmids of *Agrobacterium rhizogenes* strain A4. *Plasmid* 16:124–134.
- Stougaard J, Abildsten D, Marcker KA (1987) The Agrobacterium rhizogenes pRi TL-DNA segment as a gene vector system for transformation of plants. Mol Gen Genet 207:251–255.
- St-Arnaud M, Hamel C, Vimard B, Caron M, Fortin JA (1996) Enhanced hyphal growth and spore production of the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus *Glomus intraradices* in an *in vitro* system in the absence of host roots. *Mycol Res* 100:328–332.
- Fahraeus G (1957) The infection of clover root hairs by nodule bacteria studied by a simple glass slide technique. J Gen Microbiol 16:374–381.
- Zhu H, Riely BK, Burns NJ, Ane JM (2006) Tracing nonlegume orthologs of legume genes required for nodulation and arbuscular mycorrhizal symbioses. *Genetics* 172:2491–2499.
- Fontes EPB, Santos AA, Luz DF, Waclawovsky AJ, Chory J (2004) The geminivirus nuclear shuttle protein is a virulence factor that suppresses transmembrane receptor kinase activity. Genes Dev 18:2545–2556.
- Wesley SV, et al. (2001) Construct design for efficient, effective and high-throughput gene silencing in plants. Plant J 27:581–590.
- Kumagai H, Kouchi H (2003) Gene silencing by expression of hairpin RNA inLotus japonicus roots and root nodules. Mol Plant–Microbe Interact 16:663–668.
- Hocher V, et al. (2006) Expressed sequence-tag analysis in Casuarina glauca actinorhizal nodule and root. New Phytol 169:681–688.
- Hardy RW, Holsten RD, Jackson EK, Burns RC (1968) The Acetylene-Ethylene Assay for N (2) Fixation: Laboratory and Field Evaluation. *Plant Physiol* 43:1185–1207.
- Svistoonoff S, et al. (2003) cg12 expression is specifically linked to infection of root hairs and cortical cells during Casuarina glauca and Allocasuarina verticillata actinorhizal nodule development. Mol Plant–Microbe Interact 16:600–607.
- Brundrett MC, Piché Y, Peterson RL (1984) A new method for observing the morphology of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizae. Can J Bot 62:2128–2134.

Table 1. Reduced nodulation in CgSymRK RNAi composite plants

Root systems (genotype)	Nodulated/total root systems analyzed	% nodulated root systems	
Nontransgenic	59/63	94	
Transgenic (GFP+)	24/48	50	
CgSymRK RNAi (GFP+)	21/78	27	

Nodulation was scored 12 weeks after inoculation with Frankia.

Table 2. Complementation of Nodulation and AM formation in *Lotus symrk* mutants carrying *CgSYMRK*

Root systems (genotype)	Nodulated/total root systems analyzed	AM+/total root systems analyzed	
symrk-10 + control vector (GFP+)	0/34	0/34	
wild type + CgSymRK (GFP+)	21/23	31/31	
symrk-10 + CgSymRK (GFP+)	11/63	27/48	
wild type + LjSymRK (GFP+)	11/11	16/17	
symrk-10 + LjSymRK (GFP+)	8/20	7/22	

Nodulation was scored 4, 8, or 15 weeks after inoculation with M. loti, and AM after 3 weeks of cocultivation with G. intraradices. Results are compiled from two independent experiments.





SI Fig. 5. *CgSymRK* mRNA levels in *C. glauca* roots and nodules determined by quantitative RT-PCR. *CgSymRK* expression levels in (A) inoculated roots and (B) mature nodules (grey bar) are given relative to non-inoculated roots. *CgUbi* was used as reference gene. ni, non inoculated roots. Error bars indicate standard errors of the mean of three technical replicates.

SI Figure 6



SI Fig. 6. Acetylene reduction activity (ARA) assays to assess the effects of *CgSymRK* RNAi on nitrogen fixation. Values obtained with two nontransgenic control root systems, two transgenic control root systems and five *CgSymRK* RNAi root systems are compared. NT: non-transgenic control; TC: transgenic control; 1-5: *CgSymRK* RNAi root systems with small unilobed nodules (1-3) and nodules showing 2-3 lobes each (4-5). Error bars indicate standard errors of the mean.



SI Fig. 7. Quantification of *CgSymRK* mRNA levels in 5 independent *CgSymRK* RNAi plants determined by realtime qPCR. *CgUbi* was used as reference. The average of two independent non-transgenic control roots and three transgenic control roots is shown. Expression levels are presented relative to transgenic control roots. All error bars indicate standard errors of the mean of 3 technical replicates on different samples. NT, non-transgenic control roots; TC, transgenic control roots. RNAi, *CgSymRK* RNAi plants.

SI Figure 8



SI Fig. 8. Intraradical colonization of *C. glauca* roots 4 or 8 weeks after inoculation with *G. intraradices*. Presence of intraradical hyphae, arbuscules/coiled hyphae and vesicles was assessed in roots from non-transgenic control (NT) and composite plants transformed with the control vector (TC) or with a *CgSymRK* RNAi vector (RNAi). Each bar represents quantitative analysis of one root system.

SI Figure 9



SI Fig. 9. Colonization of *C. glauca* roots by *G. intraradices* 8 weeks after inoculation. (A-B) Nontransgenic control roots and (C-D) roots transformed with the control vector show high colonization levels, arbuscules (Ar) vesicles (V) and intraradical hyphae (Ih) are present at high frequencies. (E-H) *CgSymRK* knockdown (RNAi) roots. Overall colonization levels are very low, but extensive extraradical hyphal growth can be observed on few roots (E). Hyphae tend to develop at the root surface following the epidermal cells forming appressoria (Ap) and aberrant hyphal swellings. (G-H) Penetration succeeds rarely, but can lead to the formation of vesicles (G) and arbuscules (H) morphologically similar to those formed in control plants. Scale bars: A, C, E, G : 50 μ m ; B, D, F, H : 5 μ m.

CYCLOPS, a mediator of symbiotic intracellular accommodation

Koji Yano^{a,b,c,1}, Satoko Yoshida^{b,d,1}, Judith Müller^{b,1}, Sylvia Singh^b, Mari Banba^c, Kate Vickers^d, Katharina Markmann^{b,d}, Catharine White^b, Bettina Schuller^b, Shusei Sato^e, Erika Asamizu^e, Satoshi Tabata^e, Yoshikatsu Murooka^a, Jillian Perry^d, Trevor L. Wang^f, Masayoshi Kawaguchi^{g,h}, Haruko Imaizumi-Anraku^c, Makoto Hayashi^{a,b,c,2}, and Martin Parniske^{b,d,2}

^aDepartment of Biotechnology, Graduate School of Engineering, Osaka University, 2-1 Yamadaoka, Suita, Osaka 565-0871, Japan; ^bGenetics Institute, Ludwig Maximilians Universität, Grosshaderner Strasse 2-4, D-82152 Munich, Planegg-Martinsried, Germany; ^cNational Institute of Agrobiological Sciences, 2-1-2 Kannondai, Tsukuba, Ibaraki 305-8602, Japan; ^dThe Sainsbury Laboratory, Colney Lane, Norwich NR4 7UH, United Kingdom; ^eKazusa DNA Research Institute, 2-6-7 Kazusa-Kamatari, Kisarazu, Chiba 292-0818, Japan; ^fJohn Innes Centre, Colney Lane, Norwich NR4 7UH, United Kingdom; ^gDepartment of Biological Sciences, Graduate School of Science, University of Tokyo, 7-3-1 Hongo, Bunkyo, Tokyo 113-0033, Japan; and ^hCore Research for Evolutional Science and Technology (CREST), Japan Science and Technology Agency, 4-1-8 Honcho, Kawaguchi, Saitama 332-0112, Japan

Edited by Jeffery L. Dangl, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, NC, and approved October 14, 2008 (received for review July 17, 2008)

The initiation of intracellular infection of legume roots by symbiotic rhizobia bacteria and arbuscular mycorrhiza (AM) fungi is preceded by the induction of calcium signatures in and around the nucleus of root epidermal cells. Although a calcium and calmodulin-dependent kinase (CCaMK) is a key mediator of symbiotic root responses, the decoding of the calcium signal and the molecular events downstream are only poorly understood. Here, we characterize Lotus japonicus cyclops mutants on which microbial infection was severely inhibited. In contrast, nodule organogenesis was initiated in response to rhizobia, but arrested prematurely. This arrest was overcome when a deregulated CCaMK mutant version was introduced into cyclops mutants, conferring the development of full-sized, spontaneous nodules. Because cyclops mutants block symbiotic infection but are competent for nodule development, they reveal a bifurcation of signal transduction downstream of CCaMK. We identified CYCLOPS by positional cloning. CYCLOPS carries a functional nuclear localization signal and a predicted coiled-coil domain. We observed colocalization and physical interaction between CCaMK and CYCLOPS in plant and yeast cell nuclei in the absence of symbiotic stimulation. Importantly, CYCLOPS is a phosphorylation substrate of CCaMK in vitro. Cyclops mutants of rice were impaired in AM, and rice CYCLOPS could restore symbiosis in Lotus cyclops mutants, indicating a functional conservation across angiosperms. Our results suggest that CYCLOPS forms an ancient, preassembled signal transduction complex with CCaMK that is specifically required for infection, whereas organogenesis likely requires additional yet-to-be identified CCaMK interactors or substrates.

BiFC | map-based cloning | plant-microbe symbiosis | protein phosphorylation | protein-protein interaction

egume plants can establish endosymbiotic interactions with nitrogen-fixing rhizobia and phosphate-delivering arbuscular mycorrhiza (AM) fungi. Plant root hairs form a tight curl in which rhizobia are entrapped. From this closed infection pocket, the bacteria are guided by plant membrane-delimited infection threads (ITs) into the root nodule, a specialized organ developed by the plant to provide an optimized environment for nitrogen fixation (1). AM fungal hyphae are guided through epidermal and cortical cells toward the inner cortex (2), where arbuscules, highly branched intracellular symbiotic structures, are formed (3). Intracellular infection by rhizobia and AM fungi is preceded by an exchange of specific signaling molecules. Rhizobia produce lipochito-oligosaccharides (Nod factors) that activate host plant responses including root hair deformation, and preinfection thread formation, which are structures that determine the path of IT growth through the root (4), and initiation of cortical cell division (1). One of the earliest plant responses to stimulation by Nod factors is Ca²⁺-spiking, which consists of perinuclear oscillations of calcium concentration in root cells (5). In the legume Lotus japonicus, a shared genetic program defined by seven "common symbiosis genes" (6), is required for the establishment of both symbioses (7). An LRR-receptor kinase SYMRK (8, 9), the ion channel-like proteins CASTOR and POLLUX (10, 11), and the nucleoporins NUP85 and NUP133 (12, 13) are all required for the generation of Ca²⁺-spiking, whereas a calcium and calmodulin-dependent protein kinase (CCaMK) is not, suggesting that CCaMK functions downstream of Ca²⁺-spiking (14-16). CCaMK is composed of a kinase domain, a calmodulin-binding site and 3 EF hand motifs (16). Its catalytic activity is modulated by either free, or calmodulin (CaM)-bound Ca²⁺ ions (16, 17), suggesting that CCaMK converts the Ca²⁺ oscillation signal into a protein phosphorylation read-out. Deregulation of CCaMK by either a point mutation in the autophosphorylation site, or the deletion of the C-terminal regulatory domain, results in spontaneous nodule formation in the absence of rhizobia, demonstrating that CCaMK is a central regulator of the nodule organogenesis program (16, 17). CCaMK is also required for root hair curling and IT formation upon rhizobial infection and arbuscule formation during AM (7, 18, 19). However, how CCaMK differentially activates infection- vs. organogenesis-related pathways is still unclear.

CYCLOPS has been positioned downstream of *CCaMK*, because *cyclops* mutants exhibit impaired AM and rhizobial infection, but retain Ca²⁺-spiking and formation of nodule primordia (7, 20–23). In this work, we describe the map-based cloning of *CYCLOPS*, which we found to encode a nuclear-localized protein with a coiled-coil motif. CYCLOPS is an ortholog of *Medicago truncatula* IPD3, which was recently identified as *Interacting Protein of DMI3* (the *M. truncatula* CCaMK ortholog) (24). We show that CYCLOPS specifically interacts with kinase-active CCaMK in planta and is phosphorylated by CCaMK in vitro, suggesting that CYCLOPS is a phosphorylation

Author contributions: K.Y., S.Y., J.M., S.T., H.I.-A., M.H., and M.P. designed research; K.Y., S.Y., J.M., S. Singh, M.B., K.V., K.M., C.W., B.S., S. Sato, E.A., Y.M., J.P., T.L.W., M.K., H.I.-A., M.H., and M.P. performed research; K.Y., S.Y., J.M., M.H., and M.P. analyzed data; and J.M., S.Y., S. Singh, M.H., and M.P. wrote the paper.

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

This article is a PNAS Direct Submission.

Data deposition: The genomic sequences reported in this paper have been deposited in the DNA Data Bank of Japan [accession nos. LjT10G21 (AP009154), LjT12C04 (AP009155), LjT14N05 (AP009156), LjT12H02 (AP009157), and LjB11B14 (AP009158)] and the GenBank database [accession nos. EF569221–EF569224 (CYCLOPS cDNAs from different species)].

 $^{^1\}mbox{K.Y.},\,\mbox{S.Y.},\,\mbox{and J.M.}$ contributed equally to this work.

²To whom correspondence may be addressed. E-mail: makotoh@affrc.go.jp or parniske@ lmu.de.

This article contains supporting information online at www.pnas.org/cgi/content/full/ 0806858105/DCSupplemental.

^{© 2008} by The National Academy of Sciences of the USA



Fig. 1. Phenotypic characteristics of the *cyclops-3* mutant. (A) Growth phenotype in nitrogen-limiting conditions of ecotype Gifu WT (*Left*) and *cyclops-3* (*Right*). (B) WT nodule. (C) *cyclops-3* nodule primordium. (D) Infection thread within WT root hair. (E) Aborted infection within curled root hair of *cyclops-3*. (A–C) Plants were grown for 1 month after inoculation with M. *loti* MAFF303099. (D and E) Plants were grown for 2 weeks after inoculation with M. *loti* BN02 expressing GFP. [Scale bars: (A) 1.0 cm; (B and C) 1.0 m; (D and E) 20 μ m.] (F and G) Quantitative RT-PCR analysis of NIN (F) and ENOD40-1(G) expression in noninoculated (0 days) WT (white columns) and *cyclops-3* (black columns) roots, and at 1, 2, 4, and 8 dpi with M. *loti* (F and G). Mean values \pm SD are shown.

target of CCaMK. Our data position CYCLOPS on an infectionspecific branch of the signaling network downstream of CCaMK.

Results

cyclops Mutants Abort Infection by Rhizobia and AM Fungi. In forward genetic screens, we previously identified an allelic series of mutants impaired in the interaction with both rhizobia and AM fungi [supporting information (SI) Table S1]. Phenotypic analysis revealed that in contrast to WTL. japonicus plants (Fig. 1A), which developed mature nodules upon inoculation with M. loti under nitrogen-limiting conditions (Fig. 1B) on cyclops-3 mutant roots, nodule development was prematurely arrested, and only nodule primordia were observed (Fig. 1 A and C; Table S1). In WT plants, intracellular ITs developed and grew through the root hair toward the nodule primordium (Fig. 1D). On cyclops-3 mutant roots, curled root hair tips were colonized by rhizobia, however no ITs were observed (Fig. 1E). Because of this characteristic mutant phenotype, the corresponding gene was called CYCLOPS. In rare cases ITs were initiated, but elongation was aborted within root hairs (22). On cyclops mutant roots, the passage of AM fungal hyphae through the outer cell layers was characterized by abnormal hyphal swellings forming within epidermal or outer cortical cells, indicating an impairment of the intracellular infection process (Fig. S1A and B). Where infection events were successful, hyphal growth proceeded toward the inner root cortex, and apoplastic growth along the root axis led to longitudinal spread of the fungal infection. Despite fungal colonization of the root cortex, arbuscules were almost completely absent from cyclops mutants (Fig. S1 A and B, Table S2) (7). These data indicate that CYCLOPS is required for fungal infection of the outer cortical cell layers and for arbuscule development.

Expression of NIN and ENOD40–1 Is Impaired in cyclops Mutants. In L. *japonicus*, transcription of the NIN and ENOD40–1 genes is induced within a few hours during the symbiotic interaction with M. loti (25, 26). The transcript levels of these genes are useful markers for the activity of symbiotic signal transduction processes (26, 27). In the WT, biphasic induction kinetics were



Fig. 2. Spontaneous nodule formation on *cyclops-4* and WT *L. japonicus* hairy roots transformed with 35S promoter-driven gain-of-function CCaMK^{T265D}. CCaMK^{T265D} was introduced into *cyclops-4* or WT hairy roots. (*A–D*) Spontaneous nodule development on *cyclops-4* (*A* and *B*) and WT roots (C and *D*) induced by CCaMK^{T265D}. Transformed roots were visualized by GFP fluorescence (*B* and *D*). Nodules were observed 8 weeks after transformation. (Scale bar, 1 mm.)

observed for both genes upon inoculation with *M. loti* (Fig. 1 *F* and *G*). The first phase occurred at, or before, 1 day after inoculation (dpi), and the second between 4–8 dpi. This two-phase induction most likely reflects epidermal and cortical expression of *NIN* and *ENOD40–1*, as reported previously (28). *NIN* induction was still detectable, but at 8 dpi was 17-fold reduced in *cyclops-3* compared to the WT (Fig. 1*F*). In contrast, slight variations in *ENOD40–1* transcript levels in *cyclops-3* mutant roots were not statistically significant (Fig. 1*G*). These data indicate that *CYCLOPS* is required for full transcriptional activation of *NIN* and *ENOD40–1*.

CYCLOPS Is Dispensable for Nodule Organogenesis. In contrast to previously identified common symbiosis mutants, cyclops mutants retain the ability to initiate cortical cell division. However, it is unclear whether CYCLOPS is necessary for the progression of nodule organogenesis beyond the primordium stage. To answer this question, we took advantage of a derivative of CCaMK conferring spontaneous nodulation. CaMV 35S promoter-driven expression of CCaMK^{T265D}, in which the predicted autophosphorylation site Thr-265 was replaced by Asp, resulted in spontaneous nodule formation in the absence of rhizobia in the WT as well as the cyclops-4 background (Fig. 2 A-D and Table S3). The size of spontaneous nodules formed on *cyclops-4* roots did not differ significantly (P < 0.01) from those formed on WT roots (Fig. 2 A and C, Table S3). None of the negative controls including WT and cyclops-4 plants transformed with WT CCaMK developed spontaneous nodules (Table S3). These results indicate that CYCLOPS is dispensable for nodule organogenesis and suggest that the developmental arrest observed in cyclops mutants is an indirect consequence of the aborted bacterial infection.

Map-Based Cloning of CYCLOPS. The CYCLOPS gene was isolated from *L. japonicus* by using a map-based approach (Fig. S2*A*–*C*). Comparison with corresponding cDNA clones originating from nodulated roots (29) revealed that CYCLOPS is composed of 11 exons encoding a protein of 518 aa (Figs. S2*D* and S3*A*). Point mutations or single nucleotide deletions result in frame shifts and/or premature stop codons in cyclops-2, -3, -4, and -5 (Table S1). Cyclops-1 carries a transposon insertion in intron 10, resulting in a sequence insertion between exons 10 and 11 of the cDNA (Fig. S2*D*, Table S1). Hairy root transformation of cyclops-3 with the genomic CYCLOPS sequence, including the native promoter,

resulted in the development of WT-like nodules upon inoculation with *M. loti* (Fig. S4). Similarly, the introduction of *CY-CLOPS* cDNA fused to the native promoter into the same mutant line restored WT-like nodulation, as well as AM formation (Fig. S1, Table S2). The identification of genetic lesions in each of the 5 independent *cyclops* alleles together with the transgenic complementation of the mutant phenotype is unequivocal evidence for the correct identification of the *CY-CLOPS* gene.

Within the conceptual *CYCLOPS* gene product, a coiled-coil motif in the C-terminal 67 aa residues and 2 nuclear localization signals (NLSs) were predicted (Figs. S34 and S5). However, no overall similarity to proteins of known function was identified by interrogation of public databases. Genomic DNA gel blot analysis and searches in the complete genome sequence (30) indicated that *CYCLOPS* is a single copy gene in *L. japonicus* and that single copy *CYCLOPS*-related sequences occur in other legume species including *Medicago truncatula* and *Pisum sativum* (data not shown). A combination of database searches and PCR amplification of cDNA from the respective species identified putative *CYCLOPS* orthologs in *M. truncatula* (*IPD3*) (24), *P. sativum*, and *Oryza sativa* (Fig. S5).

CYCLOPS Expression and Subcellular Localization. By quantitative RT-PCR, CYCLOPS mRNA was detectable in uninfected roots and increased in abundance between 4–8 dpi with M. loti (Fig. S6A), which is after the initiation of IT development and cortical cell division. CYCLOPS mRNA accumulated in mature nodules, whereas the mRNA level in roots harvested 3 weeks after inoculation, nodules on which were removed, was comparable to uninfected roots (Fig. S6B). In situ hybridization of mature nodules indicated that CYCLOPS mRNA was present in cells of the central tissue (Fig. S6 C and D). CYCLOPS promoter activity during nodule development was monitored in L. japonicus hairy roots transformed with fusions of the CYCLOPS promoter to the beta-glucuronidase (GUS) reporter gene. Upon treatment with M. loti, strong GUS activity was observed in dividing cortical cells during early stages of nodule development (Fig. S6E). In agreement with the in situ hybridization results, strong expression was detected in the central tissue of mature nodules at later stages (Fig. S6F). CYCLOPS mRNA was not detectable in plant shoots, regardless of whether the plants were inoculated with M. *loti* or not (Fig. S6B).

To determine the subcellular localization of CYCLOPS, we transiently expressed GFP-CYCLOPS fusion constructs driven by the 35S promoter in Nicotiana benthamiana leaf epidermis cells (Fig. S7). GFP-CYCLOPS and a C-terminal truncation lacking the coiled-coil motif (GFP-CYCLOPS 1-449) were exclusively detected in the cell nucleus (Fig. S7A and B), whereas CYCLOPS deletion mutants lacking either the second or both predicted NLS (GFP-CYCLOPS 1-421 and 1-366) were distributed randomly in the cytosol and nucleus, similar to the pattern observed with GFP alone (Fig. S7 C-E), indicating that at least the NLS proximal to the C terminus is functional. Because CCaMK was also localized in the nucleus (31), we tested for possible colocalization with CYCLOPS in L. japonicus root cells. Fusion constructs of CCaMK-GFP and RFP-CYCLOPS, both under the control of the CaMV 35S promoter, were introduced into WT L. japonicus roots via A. rhizogenes transformation. Transformed hairy roots exhibited GFP and RFP fluorescence in the same nuclei (Fig. S8 A-D). Similar results were obtained with protoplast cells derived from L. japonicus root tissue (data not shown). The observed spatiotemporal expression pattern of CYCLOPS and its nuclear colocalization with CCaMK are consistent with the findings obtained for the M. truncatula CYCLOPS ortholog IPD3 (24).

CYCLOPS Interacts With CCaMK in the Nucleus. In yeast two-hybrid (Y2H) analysis, full-length CYCLOPS fused to the GAL4 DNA binding domain (BD) showed strong autoactivation in yeast (data not shown). Consequently, a CYCLOPS deletion derivative BDfusion (residues 1-259) or full-length CYCLOPS fused to the GAL4 activation domain (AD), both lacking autoactivation (data not shown), were used for subsequent experiments. We detected a strong interaction between CYCLOPS and CCaMK (Fig. 3A and B). A CCaMK point-mutation in the autophosphorylation site (T265I) that causes nodule development in the absence of rhizobia (16) did not disrupt interactions with CYCLOPS (Fig. 34). However, 2 kinase-defective CCaMK mutants, G30E (as in theccamk-3 mutant) (16) and a point-mutant of a catalytic lysine residue (K44A) (32), as well as the K44A/T265I double mutant, did not interact with CYCLOPS (Fig. 34), suggesting that kinase activity of CCaMK is required for interaction with CYCLOPS. The analysis of deletion constructs revealed that the 2 C-terminal EF-hand motifs of CCaMK are not required for a strong interaction with CY-CLOPS (Fig. 3A). A CYCLOPS deletion series delimited the region required for CCaMK interaction between CYCLOPS residues 81-366 (Fig. 3B). Using CYCLOPS 1-259 as bait revealed that CYCLOPS forms homodimers, and that the region between residues 81–366 is necessary for self-interaction (Fig. \mathcal{B}).

To confirm CYCLOPS protein interactions in planta, we performed bimolecular fluorescence complementation (BiFC) in transiently transformed *N. benthamiana* epidermis cells (33, 34). Strong fluorescence was observed in the nucleus when CYCLOPS and CCaMK fused to the C- and N-terminal half of YFP, respectively, were coexpressed (Fig. 3 *C* and *E*). Consistent with the requirement of kinase-active CCaMK for interaction in Y2H assays (Fig. 3*A*), no fluorescence was observed in cells cotransformed with constructs encoding CYCLOPS and CCaMK kinase-dead mutants (K44A and G30E) (Fig. 3*D* and data not shown). Self-interaction of full-length CYCLOPS was also observed in planta (Fig. 3*F*).

CCaMK Phosphorylates CYCLOPS In Vitro. Their strong interaction in plant and yeast cells prompted us to analyze whether CCaMK can phosphorylate CYCLOPS in in vitro kinase assays. CYCLOPS, CYCLOPS¹⁻⁴⁴⁹, and CYCLOPS^{81–366}, which interacted with CCaMK in the Y2H assay, were all phosphorylated by CCaMK (Fig. 3*G*, *Left Image*). The N-terminal truncation CY-CLOPS^{255–518}, did not interact in the Y2H assay and was not phosphorylated by CCaMK (Fig. 3*G*, *Left Image*). The relatively stronger phosphorylation of CYCLOPS¹⁻³⁶⁶ may indicate additional CCaMK phosphorylation sites that are inaccessible in the full-length protein. Ca²⁺ alone increased autophosphorylation of CCaMK, whereas full-length CYCLOPS phosphorylation was stimulated by Ca²⁺/CaM (Fig. 3*G*, *Right Image*). These results demonstrate that CYCLOPS is a substrate of CCaMK in vitro.

Rice CYCLOPS Is Indispensable for AM and Restores Rhizobial and Fungal Symbiosis in Lotus cyclops-3. Alignment of the nucleotide and protein sequences of L. japonicus CYCLOPS and rice (Oryza sativa) OsCYCLOPS revealed a 45% overall amino acid sequence identity, and a conserved exon-intron structure (Figs. S34 and S5). To elucidate the function of CYCLOPS in rice, we analyzed the AM phenotype of 4 independent Tos17 lines (35), which each carry an insertion within exon 6 of OsCYCLOPS (Fig. S3A). Upon cocultivation with G. intraradices, arbuscules were not observed in any of the mutant root systems tested, despite the presence of abundant intraradical mycelium (Fig. S3B), indicating that OsCYCLOPS is required for arbuscule and hence, AM development in rice. Hyphal swellings within epidermal and outer cortical cells, resembling aborted infection sites observed in L. japonicus cyclops mutant roots, were also present in rice cyclops mutant roots, but were not indicative of the mutant phenotype in this species as they similarly occurred in rice



Fig. 3. CYCLOPS–CCaMK interactions and in vitro phosphorylation. (*A* and *B*) Detection of protein–protein interactions by Y2H analysis. Representative yeast growth on the selection medium (-leu, -trp, -his, -ade) is shown, and interaction results are indicated on the right. (+, growth; –, no growth; ±, very weak growth; AD, fused to the activation domain of GAL4; BD, fused to the DNA binding domain of GAL4). (*A*) Schematic illustrations of CCaMK derivatives (gray box, kinase domair; slashed box, calmodulin binding domain; black box, EF-hand; star, amino acid replacement) and their interaction with CYCLOPS. (*B*) Schematic illustrations of CYCLOPS derivatives (black box, coiled-coil motif; white box, NLS) and interaction of CYCLOPS derivatives with CCaMK and CYCLOPS^{1–259}. (*C*–*F*) Detection of protein–protein interactions in *N. benthamiana* leaves by BiFC. YFP fluorescence of leaves cotransformed with CCaMK-YFP^N (N-terminal half of YFP)-CYCLOPS (*C*) or CCaMK K44A-YFP^N and YFP^C-CYCLOPS (*D*). *Lower Images* in (*C*) and (*D*) show RFP fluorescence of the corresponding area resulting from cotransformed with CCaMK-YFP^N and YFP^C-CYCLOPS (*E*) or CYCLOPS-YFP^N and YFP^C-CYCLOPS (*F*). *Lower Images* in (*F*) and (*F*) show the cell architecture (differential interference contrast) of the same cell. [Scale bars, 50 μ m (*E* and *F*).] (*G*) In vitro phosphorylation of CYCLOPS by CCaMK. (*Left Images*) Phosphorylation of full-length CYCLOPS and derivatives in the presence of calicum (Ca²⁺) and calmodulin (CaM). (*Right Images*) Phosphorylation of full-length CYCLOPS and berviatives as a solutive sind calm calmodulin (CaM). (*Right Images*) Autoradiographs of kinase assays (³²P) and (*Lower Images*) Coomassie staining (CBB) of the same cell.

segregants of the same lines carrying wild-type alleles of OsCY-CLOPS (data not shown). By using A. rhizogenes infection, we generated L. japonicus cyclops-3 hairy roots carrying a fusion of the OsCYCLOPS coding sequence to the Lotus CYCLOPS promoter region. In these roots, both AM and nodulation by M. loti were restored (Table S2, Fig. S1), demonstrating that the OsCYCLOPS gene of nonnodulating rice can support not only AM fungal, but also bacterial endosymbiosis.

Discussion

In this study, we identified CYCLOPS by map-based cloning. CYCLOPS encodes a plant-specific protein with a short C-terminal coiled-coil domain and a functional NLS.CCaMK and CYCLOPS are both required for the intracellular accommodation of bacteria and AM fungi. These phenotypes positionCCaMK and CYCLOPS on a pathway required for the induction of plant infection structures. In contrast to other common symbiosis genes, both genes act downstream of the generation of Ca^{2+} -spiking (23). CCaMK has previously been localized to the nucleus and the presence of calcium-binding EF-hands and a calmodulin-binding domain made it a prime candidate to be the direct receiver of the calcium signal during spiking (14–16). We found that CYCLOPS and CCaMK colocalize within the nucleus, and we could observe physical interaction between the 2 proteins in yeast, as well as in plant cell nuclei, as was described for the M. truncatula orthologs IPD3 and DMI3 (24). Moreover, CYCLOPS was found to be a substrate for the CCaMK kinase in vitro. It is likely that the molecular mechanism by which CCaMK and CYCLOPS mediate the induction of infection structures involves the activation of symbiosis-related genes downstream (7). In a hypothetical signaling pathway, the perinuclear calcium spiking induced by rhizobial Nod factors or signals from AM fungi (36) modulate CCaMK kinase activity and hence the phosphorylation status of CYCLOPS (Fig. 4). Phosphorylation of CYCLOPS may, in turn, influence the transcription of infection-related plant genes. The identity of signaling components that function directly downstream of CYCLOPS and CYCLOPSregulated genes remains to be identified.

Although the physical interaction of CCaMK and CYCLOPS and their requirement for infection are clear cut, there are significant phenotypic differences between corresponding mutants. In ccamk loss-of-function mutants, root-hair curling and cortical cell division were abolished upon symbiotic interaction with M. loti (14–16, 20, 21), whereas both responses were detected incyclops mutants. Moreover, the introduction of gain-of-function CCaMK into the cyclops mutant background complemented the lack of organogenesis of full-sized (spontaneous) nodules, demonstrating that CYCLOPS is not required for nodule organogenesis. The interaction in Y2H and BiFC occurred in the absence of calcium spiking, indicating that CYCLOPS and CCaMK form a preassembled, stimulus-independent complex. This complex is likely to contain additional signaling components required for nodule initiation. The loss of CYCLOPS may weaken other interactions within the complex. Such reduced stability of the CCaMK complex may explain the reduction of spontaneous nodule numbers in the cyclops mutant background (Table S3).

Our data reveal a bifurcation of signal transduction at or below CCaMK. One CYCLOPS-dependent pathway leads to IT formation and AM infection, whereas a second CYCLOPS-independent pathway mediates nodule organogenesis and roothair curling (Fig. 4). These 2 pathways may have additional



Fig. 4. Model for the function of CYCLOPS and CCaMK. Upon $C\hat{a}^+$ -spiking generated in the nucleus, CCaMK is activated by binding of calcium (Ca) to the C-terminal EF hands, leading to autophosphorylation (P) and/or binding of calcium-activated calmodulin (CaM) to the CaM binding domain (CBD). Subsequently, signal transduction initiated by CCaMK proceeds via different routes. In the root cortex, CCaMK induces and maintains nodule organogenesis which requires a sustained, elevated concentration of cytokinin (CK). In cells subject to microbial invasion, CCaMK signals via CYCLOPS to mediate infection. Infection thread development and ramification appears to be required for nodule progression, providing a continuous supply of morphogenetic signal, the Nod factor. (NLS, nuclear localization signal; CC, coiled-coil domain.)

tissue-specific components because a mutant version of *CCaMK*, *snf1*, encoding a deregulated kinase, spontaneously induces the expression of *NIN* in the cortical but not the epidermal cell layer, where nodule organogenesis or infection are respectively initiated (16). The second and *CYCLOPS*-independent pathway proceeds via hypothetical additional phosphorylation target(s) of CCaMK and likely involves the activation of cytokinin synthesis. Cytokinin is subsequently perceived in a cell nonautonomous fashion by the cytokinin receptor LHK1 (37), an event leading to the induction of cell division in hormonally predetermined cells (38).

If *CYCLOPS* is not required for nodule organogenesis, why do *cyclops* mutants not develop mature nodules upon rhizobial infection? Nodule meristem progression mediated by CCaMK may require the continuous and sufficient supply of bacterial morphogenetic signals such as Nod factors being released by rhizobia into the developing ITs that are not provided in *cyclops* mutants. Thus, the continuation of nodule morphogenesis would rely on continuous IT development that is itself dependent on *CYCLOPS*. This hypothesis is consistent with the fact that the expression domain of *CYCLOPS* is congruent with the anticipated developmental region explored by ITs in the developing nodule, as shown in our *CYCLOPS* promoter-GUS expression analysis (Fig. S6).

The nodule primordia phenotype of *cyclops* resembles *M. truncatula hcl* mutants, which induce limited cortical cell divisions in response to rhizobia, and in which spontaneous nodules form on transformation of gain-of-function CCaMK (39). However, in contrast to *cyclops* mutants, loss-of-function *hcl* mutants show an aberrant root-hair response toward rhizobia, resulting either in extensive root-hair deformation without curling, or extensive curling and a lack of bacteria within curled root hairs (40). *HCL* encodes the LysM-type receptor-like kinase LYK3, which is a putative ortholog of the *L. japonicus* Nod factor receptor NFR1 (27, 41). Infection and nodule organogenesis are spatially and temporally coordinated, and the CCaMK–CYCLOPS complex may contribute to this coordination. When CCaMK versions in which the C-terminal regulatory domain was deleted were introduced into the *M. truncatula dmi3-1 (ccamk)* mutant background, spontaneous nodules formed in the absence of rhizobia. Importantly, when these transgenic roots were inoculated with rhizobia, the developing nodules were not infected (17). This specific restoration of the organogenesis, but not the infection program, may be explained by our observation that the site between the CaM-binding domain and the second EF hand is required for the *L. japonicus* CCaMK–CYCLOPS interaction in yeast (Fig. 34), a domain that is lacking in the *M. truncatula* DMI3 1–311 or 1–326 C-terminal deletions.

Interestingly, the allelic series of symbiosis-defective *cyclops* mutants exclusively comprises frame shifts or premature stop codons, suggesting that they represent loss-of-function alleles (Table S1). No mutants with single amino acid substitutions leading to missense mutations were recovered from forward screens for nodulation defective mutants (42). This is an exceptional bias suggesting that amino acid substitutions are either largely tolerated without significantly impacting CYCLOPS function, or lethal.

Amino acid sequences with high overall similarity to CYCLOPS were only found in legume plants. The C-terminal region of CYCLOPS, comprising the second NLS and the coiled-coil motif, is conserved in a wide range of plant species, including the moss *Physcomitrella patens*, the primitive angiosperm *Amborella trichopoda*, and higher plants like *Vitis vinifera* and *Populus trichocarpa*. No sequence with significant similarity to CYCLOPS was identified in the genome of the asymbiotic plant *Arabidopsis thaliana*, in which other common symbiosis genes like *SYMRK* or *CCaMK* are also absent (43).

The symbiosis between plants and AM fungi dates back to the earliest land plants (44). Our analysis of rice cyclops mutants has demonstrated the importance of OsCYCLOPS for the establishment of AM. The finding that CYCLOPS is conserved in AMforming angiosperms is consistent with an ancient and specific role of CYCLOPS in symbiosis. The observed intraradical colonization, but lack of intracellular arbuscules in cyclops mutants, indicates a function predominantly serving the intracellular accommodation of the AM fungi in both L. japonicus and rice. The evolution of plant-derived structures supporting bacterial infection (infection threads) was a critical step during the evolution of root nodule symbiosis (6). In L. japonicus cyclops mutants, arbuscule development and the initiation or elongation of ITs, are aborted (7, 22, this study). This is consistent with the idea that both symbioses share a common genetic program and hence an evolutionary history. Genetic and structural considerations strongly suggest that the IT evolved from the pre-penetration apparatus observed in response to AM fungi (2). The additional and perhaps later invention of nodule organogenesis relies on yet unidentified CCaMKdownstream components that act independently of CYCLOPS.

Materials and Methods

Plant Material, Inoculation, and Growth Conditions. *L. japonicus* ecotype Gifu WT and *cyclops* mutants identified in genetic screens and through TILLING (42) (Table S1) were grown and inoculated with *M. loti* MAFF303099 or BN02 as described (45).

Expression Analysis. RNA was quantified by real-time PCR, or detected by in situ hybridization of root sections with CYCLOPS antisense and sense probes as described in (46) and *SI Materials and Methods*.

Plasmid Construction. Detailed information is provided in *SI Materials and Methods*.

Transformation of CYCLOPS and CCaMK Constructs. T-DNA constructs (described in *SI Materials and Methods*) were introduced by hairy root transformation as described (47), plants were cocultivated with rhizobia or *G. intrara*-

dices BEG195, and nodulation or AM formation was scored as described in *SI* Materials and Methods.

Subcellular Localization, BiFC Analysis, and Microscopy. T-DNA constructs (described in *SI Materials and Methods*) were introduced into *N. benthamiana* leaf cells by *A. tumefaciens*-mediated transient transformation, and leaf cells were analyzed with an epifluorescence microscope (for detailed description, see *SI Materials and Methods*). For colocalization analysis, 35S/CCaMK-GFP and 35S/RFP-CYCLOPS T-DNA constructs (described in *SI Materials and Methods*) were introduced into *L. japonicus* WT plants by hairy root transformation, and the localization of the corresponding proteins was assessed by confocal laser scanning microscopy.

Yeast Two-Hybrid Analysis. Y2H analysis was carried out according to standard procedures (Stratagene Product Manual #235702; pBD-GAL4 Cam Phagemid Vector Kit) by using the yeast strain AH109 (Clontech). Synthetic drop-out media (-trp, -leu, -his, 1 mM 3-amino-1,2,4-triazole and -trp, -leu, -his, -ade) were used for selection of protein interactions.

In Vitro Kinase Assays. Protein purification and kinase assays were done as described (16) with modifications (see *SI Materials and Methods*).

- 1. Oldroyd GE, Downie JA (2004) Calcium, kinases, and nodulation signalling in legumes. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 5:566–576.
- Genre A, Chabaud M, Faccio A, Barker DG, Bonfante P (2008) Prepenetration apparatus assembly precedes and predicts the colonization patterns of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi within the root cortex of both *Medicago truncatula* and *Daucus carota*. *Plant Cell* 20:1407–1420.
- 3. Parniske M (2008) Arbuscular Mycorrhiza, the mother of plant root endosymbioses. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 10:763–775.
- van Brussel AAN, et al. (1992) Induction of preinfection thread structures in the leguminous host plant by mitogenic lipo-oligosaccharides of *Rhizobium*. Science 257:70–72.
- 5. Ehrhardt DW, Wais R, Long SR (1996) Calcium spiking in plant root hairs responding to *Rhizobium* nodulation signals. *Cell* 85:673–681.
- Kistner C, Parniske M (2002) Evolution of signal transduction in intracellular symbiosis. Trends Plants Sci 7:511–518.
- Kistner C, et al. (2005) Seven Lotus japonicus genes required for transcriptional reprogramming of the root during fungal and bacterial symbiosis. Plant Cell 17:2217–2229.
- Endre G, et al. (2002) A receptor kinase gene regulating symbiotic nodule development. Nature 417:962–966.
- Stracke S, et al. (2002) A plant receptor-like kinase required for both bacterial and fungal symbiosis. Nature 417:959–962.
- Ane JM, et al. (2004) Medicago truncatula DMI1 required for bacterial and fungal symbioses in legumes. Science 303:1364–1367.
- Imaizumi-Anraku H, et al. (2005) Plastid proteins crucial for symbiotic fungal and bacterial entry into plant roots. Nature 433:527–531.
- Saito K, et al. (2007) NUCLEOPORIN85 is required for calcium spiking, fungal and bacterial symbioses, and seed production in *Lotus japonicus*. Plant Cell 19:610–624.
- Kanamori N, et al. (2006) A nucleoporin is required for induction of Ca²⁺ spiking in legume nodule development and essential for rhizobial and fungal symbiosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103:359–364.
- Levy J, et al. (2004) A putative Ca²⁺ and calmodulin-dependent protein kinase required for bacterial and fungal symbioses. Science 303:1361–1364.
- Mitra RM, et al. (2004) A Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase required for symbiotic nodule development: Gene identification by transcript-based cloning. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 101:4701–4705.
- Tirichine L, et al. (2006) Deregulation of a Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent kinase leads to spontaneous nodule development. Nature 441:1153–1156.
- Gleason C, et al. (2006) Nodulation independent of rhizobia induced by a calciumactivated kinase lacking autoinhibition. Nature 441:1149–1152.
- Catoira R, et al. (2000) Four genes of Medicago truncatula controlling components of a nod factor transduction pathway. Plant Cell 12:1647–1666.
- 19. Mulder L (2003) Genes required for symbioses in *Lotus japonicus*. PhD thesis (University of East Anglia, Norwich, England).
- Schauser L, et al. (1998) Symbiotic mutants deficient in nodule establishment identified after T-DNA transformation of Lotus japonicus. Mol Gen Genet 259:414–423.
- Szczyglowski K, et al. (1998) Nodule organogenesis and symbiotic mutants of the model legume Lotus japonicus. Mol Plant-Microbe Interact 11:684–697.
- Yano K, et al. (2006) New nodulation mutants responsible for infection thread development in Lotus japonicus. Mol Plant–Microbe Interact 19:801–810.
- Miwa H, Sun J, Oldroyd GE, Downie JA (2006) Analysis of Nod-factor-induced calcium signaling in root hairs of symbiotically defective mutants of *Lotus japonicus*. Mol Plant–Microbe Interact 19:914–923.
- 24. Messinese E, et al. (2007) A novel nuclear protein interacts with the symbiotic DMI3 calcium- and calmodulin-dependent protein kinase of *Medicago truncatula*. *Mol Plant–Microbe Interact* 20:912–921.
- Schauser L, Roussis A, Stiller J, Stougaard J (1999) A plant regulator controlling development of symbiotic root nodules. *Nature* 402:191–195.

Genotyping and AM Phenotyping of Oscyclops Lines. O. sativa subspecies japonica, cv. Nipponbare, was grown as recommended at http://tos.nias.affrc.go.jp/~miyao/pub/tos17/. The Oscyclops mutant lines ND5032, NC2713, NC2415, and NG0782 were identified by interrogation of a rice-mutant sequence tag library induced by retrotransposon Tos17 (35). For genotyping, primer Tos17 was used with gene-specific primers (Table S4). The presence and location of the insertions were confirmed by PCR and sequence analysis. For AM phenotyping, plants were cocultivated with G. intraradices BEG195 and Allium schoenoprasum nurse plants for 2 or 3 weeks and AM colonization was quantified as described in (48).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS. We thank J. Stougaard (University of Aarhus, Aarhus, Denmark) and K. Szczyglowski (Agriculture and Agri-food Canada, London, Ontario, Canada) for providing cyclops-1, -2, and -3 seeds, respectively. BiFC vectors were kindly provided by T. Lahaye (University of Halle, Halle, Germany). We also thank K.H. Braun, G. Büttner, and G. Strobel for technical assistance. This work was supported by joint research grants of the Japan Science and Technology Agency (to H.I.-A., M.K., M.H., and M.P.). H.I.-A. was supported by the Program of Basic Research Activities for Innovative Biosciences. The Lotus TILLING facility was funded by grants of the Sainsbury Laboratory was funded by the Gatsby Charitable Foundation.

- Takeda N, Okamoto S, Hayashi M, Murooka Y (2005) Expression of LjENOD40 genes in response to symbiotic and nonsymbiotic signals: LjENOD40–1 and LjENOD40–2 are differentially regulated in Lotus japonicus. Plant Cell Physiol 46:1291–1298.
- 27. Radutoiu S, et al. (2003) Plant recognition of symbiotic bacteria requires two LysM receptor-like kinases. Nature 425:585–592.
- Gronlund M, et al. (2005) Analysis of promoter activity of the early nodulin Enod40 in Lotus japonicus. Mol Plant–Microbe Interact 18:414–427.
- Asamizu E, Nakamura Y, Sato S, Tabata S (2005) Comparison of the transcript profiles from the root and the nodulating root of the model legume *Lotus japonicus* by serial analysis of gene expression. *Mol Plant–Microbe Interact* 18:487–498.
- Sato S, et al. (2008) Genome structure of the legume, Lotus japonicus. DNA Res 15:227–239.
- Smit P, et al. (2005) NSP1 of the GRAS protein family is essential for rhizobial Nod factor-induced transcription. Science 308:1789–1791.
- Carrera AC, Alexandrov K, Roberts TM (1993) The conserved lysine of the catalytic domain of protein kinases is actively involved in the phosphotransfer reaction and not required for anchoring ATP. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 90:442–446.
- Hu CD, Chinenov Y, Kerppola TK (2002) Visualization of interactions among bZIP and Rel family proteins in living cells using bimolecular fluorescence complementation. *Mol Cell* 9:789–798.
- Walter M, et al. (2004) Visualization of protein interactions in living plant cells using bimolecular fluorescence complementation. Plant J 40:428–438.
- Miyao A, et al. (2003) Target site specificity of the Tos17 retrotransposon shows a preference for insertion within genes and against insertion in retrotransposon-rich regions of the genome. Plant Cell 15:1771–1780.
- 36. Kosuta S, et al. (2008) Differential and chaotic calcium signatures in the symbiosis signaling pathway of legumes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 105:9823–9828.
- Tirichine L, et al. (2007) A gain-of-function mutation in a cytokinin receptor triggers spontaneous root nodule organogenesis. Science 315:104–107.
- Oldroyd GE, Downie JA (2008) Coordinating nodule morphogenesis with rhizobial infection in legumes. Annu Rev Plant Biol 59:519–546.
- Marsh JF, et al. (2007) Medicago truncatula NIN is essential for rhizobial-independent nodule organogenesis induced by autoactive calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase. Plant Physiol 144:324–335.
- Catoira R, et al. (2001) The HCL gene of Medicago truncatula controls Rhizobiuminduced root hair curling. Development 128:1507–1518.
- Smit P, et al. (2007) Medicago LYK3, an entry receptor in rhizobial nodulation factor signaling. Plant Physiol 145:183–191.
- 42. Perry JA, et al. (2003) A TILLING reverse genetics tool and a web-accessible collection of mutants of the legume *Lotus japonicus*. Plant Physiol 131:866–871.
- Zhu H, Riely BK, Burns NJ, Ane J-M (2006) Tracing nonlegume orthologs of legume genes required for nodulation and arbuscular mycorrhizal symbioses. *Genetics* 172:2491–2499.
- Remy W, Taylor TN, Hass H, Kerp H (1994) Four hundred-million-year-old vesicular arbuscular mycorrhizae. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 91:11841–11843.
- 45. Tansengco ML, Hayashi M, Kawaguchi M, Imaizumi-Anraku H, Murooka Y (2003) crinkle, a novel symbiotic mutant that affects the infection thread growth and alters the root hair, trichome, and seed development in Lotus japonicus. Plant Physiol 131:1054–1063.
- 46. Aida M, Ishida T, Tasaka M (1999) Shoot apical meristem and cotyledon formation during *Arabidopsis* embryogenesis: Interaction among the CUP-SHAPED COTYLEDON and SHOOT MERISTEMLESS genes. *Development* 126:1563–1570.
- Diaz CL, Gronlund M, Schlamann H, Spaink HP (2005) in *Lotus japonicus* Handbook, ed Marquez AJ (Springer, Dordrecht, The Netherlands), pp 261–277.
- McGonigle TP, Miller MH, Evans DG, Fairchild GL, Swan JA (1990) A new method which gives an objective measure of colonization of roots by vesicular and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. *New Phytol* 115:495–501.

Supporting Information

Yano et al. 10.1073/pnas.0806858105

SI Materials and Methods

Expression Analysis. Total RNA was extracted with the RNeasy Plant Mini Kit (Qiagen), followed by DNase I treatment. Quantitative RT-PCR was performed with the GeneAmp5700 (Applied Biosystems) by using the QuantiTect SYBR Green RT-PCR Kit (Qiagen). The relative expression value was normalized by using *EF-1*. Amplification efficiencies of each product were 0.82 (*CYCLOPS*), 0.91 (*NIN*), 0.81 (*ENOD40–1*), and 0.91 (*EF-1*). Experiments were carried out 3 times with 3 independent samples. Primer sequences for the amplification of *CYCLOPS*, *NIN*, *ENOD40–1*, and *EF-1* are listed in Table S4.

In Situ Hybridization. A cDNA fragment of *CYCLOPS* (493 bp) was amplified (see Table S4 for primer sequences) and cloned into the pGEM-T Easy Vector (Promega). Plasmids digested with SpeI were used as templates for T7 RNA Polymerase (antisense probe), or were digested with NcoI for transcription via SP6 RNA Polymerase (sense probe). Hybridization of $10-\mu$ m root sections was performed as described (1). Signals were detected with an Olympus BX-50 microscope.

Plasmid Construction. For promoter-GUS analysis (Fig. S6 E and F) and complementation tests (Fig. S4), a Gateway compatible destination vector, pCYCLOPS-GW, was constructed as follows: HPTII in pCAMBIA1300 was replaced with GFP and an AscI linker was introduced into the SmaI site (2, 3). A genomic sequence of the CYCLOPS promoter region (3,788 bp) was amplified by PCR, digested with BamHI and AscI, and ligated with the vector. The transcript terminator (968 bp) was amplified by PCR, followed by digestion with AscI and SacI and ligation with the vector. The reading frame cassette A of the Gateway vector conversion system (Invitrogen) was introduced into the AscI site of the vector. A GUS entry clone was constructed as follows: The GUSPlus gene in pCAMBIA1305.1 was amplified by 2 rounds of PCR and the fragment introduced into pDONR/ Zeo (Invitrogen) via Gateway BP reaction (Invitrogen). An entry clone carrying the CYCLOPS genomic coding sequence was constructed by amplification of the coding region (4,054 bp) by 2 rounds of PCR, followed by introduction of the PCR product into pDONR/Zeo (Invitrogen) via the Gateway BP reaction (Invitrogen). Each fragment was then transferred from the entry vectors into pCYCLOPS-GW by Gateway LR reactions (Invitrogen).

For the RFP-CYCLOPS and CCaMK-GFP fusion constructs, *CYCLOPS* and *CCaMK* cDNA were amplified by PCR and cloned into pENTR-D Topo or pENTR-SD-D Topo (Invitrogen). The CYCLOPS entry clone was transferred into pK7WGR2 (4) by Gateway LR reactions. The CCaMK entry clone was transferred into pK7FWG2 (4) by Gateway LR reactions.

Constructs used for GFP fusions (Fig. S7), Y2H analysis (Fig. 3*A* and *B*), BiFC (Fig. 3*C*–*F*), and protein purification (Fig. 3*G*) were made by using Gateway technology (Invitrogen). Full-length and truncated *CYCLOPS* or *CCaMK* cDNA fragments were amplified by PCR and cloned into pENTR-D Topo or pENTR-SD-D Topo (Invitrogen). Point mutations were introduced by PCR as described previously (5). Resulting entry clones were transferred to destination vectors by Gateway LR reactions. The following destination vectors were used: For N-terminal GFP fusions, a Gateway-compatible pAMPAT-MCS derivative (GenBank accession AY436765); for Y2H, modified pBD-GAL4 Cam (Stratagene) and pGAD424 (Clontech) vectors in

which Gateway cassettes were introduced; for BiFC, pSPYNE 35S GW and pGWB735/1 vectors (unpublished, gift from Dr. Thomas Lahaye, University of Halle, Halle, Germany); for CYCLOPS protein purification from *E. coli*, pDEST17 (Invitrogen).

For the complementation analysis of cyclops-4 with gain-offunction CCaMK^{T265D}, the binary vector backbone encoding the CaMV 35S promoter was constructed as follows: The PCR fragment of multi cloning sites (XbaI-StuI-SpeI-BamHI-KpnI-AscI) flanked by the 35S promoter and the Nos terminator, was digested with HindIII and SacI. The fragment was inserted into the HindIII-SacI site of pHKN29r (2, 3), which resulted in p35S-GFP. The 35S promoter and the Nos terminator were amplified with pBI121 (6) as a template. The primers for PCR were: HindIII-35S-f and 35S-MCS-r for 35S promoter, and MCS-Nos-f and Nos-SacI- r for Nos terminator amplification. The gain-of-function mutation of CCaMK (CCaMK^{T265D}) was constructed as follows: The mutation was introduced by PCR using 2 primer combinations, followed by PCR ligation of 2 fragments with the outermost primer combination. The primers for PCR were: XbaI-CCaMK-f and CCaMK-TD-r for the 5' region of CCaMK, and CCaMK-TD-f and CCaMK-AscI-r for the 3' region of *CCaMK*. All primer sequences are shown in Table S4. The final PCR product was digested with XbaI and AscI, and inserted in the XbaI-AscI site of p35S/GFP.

For hairy root complementation of Ljcyclops-3 with rice OsCYCLOPS, CYCLOPS coding sequences were amplified from cDNA preparations (SuperScript II, Invitrogen) obtained from uninoculated root material of O. sativa subspecies japonica, cultivar Nipponbare, or L. japonicus ecotype Gifu roots and cloned into a pCAMBIA 1301 derived vector. L. japonicus and rice CYCLOPS coding sequences were amplified by using primers LjCYCL ATG f with LjCYCL TAA r and OsCYCL ATG_f with OsCYCL_TAA_r, respectively. A 285-bp fragment amplified with primers polyA NOS f and polyA NOS r from pJawohl8 RNAi (kind gift of P. Schulze-Lefert, MPI for Plant Breeding Research, Cologne, Germany) was used as the terminator in all constructs. CYCLOPS coding sequences were fused to a 2,271 bp genomic sequence, preceding the LjCYCLOPS transcription start site and containing the promoter. Primer sequences are listed in Table S4.

Plant Transformation and Microscopy. The *CYCLOPS* promoter-GUS construct, the *LjCYCLOPS* and *OsCYCLOPS* genome sequence constructs, *CCaMK-GFP*, *RFP-CYCLOPS*, *CCaMK* WT, and *CCaMK^{T265D}* cDNA constructs were introduced into *L. japonicus* WT ecotype Gifu or *cyclops* mutant hairy roots by *Agrobacterium rhizogenes* AR1193 (7) according to (8) with minor modifications. *L. japonicus cyclops* mutants identified in genetic screens and through TILLING (9) are listed in Table S1. Plant growth conditions and inoculation with *M. loti* MAFF303099 or BN02 were described previously (10). Signals were detected with an Olympus SZX12 stereomicroscope (Figs. S4 and S6 *E* and *F*), a Leica SP5 confocal laser scanning microscope (Fig. S8), or a Leica MZFLIII stereomicroscope (Fig. 2).

Transformation of cyclops-4 with Gain-of-Function CCaMK^{T265D} and **Plant Cultivation Conditions.** Seven-day-old *L. japonicus* Gifu WT or cyclops-4 seedlings were uprooted and inoculated with *Agrobacterium rhizogenes* strain LBA1334 (11) harboring a WT CCaMK or a gain-of-function CCaMK^{T265D} construct, both fused to the CaMV 35S promoter. After 5 days of cocultivation, plants were transferred to HRE medium, and after 6 more days, they were transferred to vermiculite. After 8 weeks, hairy roots were examined, and the number of spontaneous nodules was analyzed.

Subcellular Localization, BiFC Analysis, and Microscopy. For transient transformation of *N. benthamiana* leaves (12), *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* strains GV3101 pMP90 (13) and AGL1 (14) were used for GFP-fusions and BiFC experiments, respectively. *Agrobacterium* strains carrying a plasmid encoding the P19 silencing suppressor (15) and CaMV 35S promoter-driven RFP were cotransformed for enhancing expression and as a transformation control, respectively. Leaf cells were observed with a Leica DMI4000B inverse fluorescence microscope with GFP (excitation: BP 470/40, bichromatic mirror 500; emission: BP 525:50) and YFP (excitation: BP 500/20, dichromatic mirror 515; emission: BP 535:30) filter sets (Figs. 3 *C*–*F* and S7). Images were taken either with a Leica DFC300FX or DFC350FX R2 digital camera.

In Vitro Kinase Assays. CYCLOPS and CYCLOPS derivatives (1–449, 81–366 and 255–518) were expressed from pDEST17 (Invitrogen) as N-terminal 6xHis-tagged fusion proteins in *E. coli* strain Rosetta pLacI (Novagen). Expression products were affinity purified via nickel-agarose (Qiagen) under denaturing conditions by using 8 M urea (CYCLOPS, CYCLOPS 1–449 and 81–366), or native conditions (CYCLOPS 255–518), respectively. Denatured proteins were refolded by stepwise dialysis. Dialysis was carried out against buffer A (20 mM Pipes, 200 mM KCl, 250 mM arginine, 10% glycerol, 1 mM DTT, pH 7.9)

- Aida M, Ishida T, Tasaka M (1999) Shoot apical meristem and cotyledon formation during *Arabidopsis* embryogenesis: Interaction among the CUP-SHAPED COTYLEDON and SHOOT MERISTEMLESS genes. *Development* 126:1563–1570.
- Kumagai H, Kouchi H (2003) Gene silencing by expression of hairpin RNA in Lotus japonicus roots and root nodules. Mol Plant-Microbe Interact 16:663–668.
- Maekawa T, et al. (2008) Polyubiquitin promoter-based binary vectors for overexpression and gene silencing in Lotus japonicus. Mol Plant–Microbe Interact 21:375–382.
- Karimi M, Inze D, Depicker A (2002) GATEWAY vectors for Agrobacterium-mediated plant transformation. Trends Plants Sci 7:193–195.
- Tirichine L, et al. (2006) Deregulation of a Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent kinase leads to spontaneous nodule development. Nature 441:1153–1156.
- Jefferson RA, Kavanagh TA, Bevan MW (1987) GUS fusions: Beta-glucuronidase as a sensitive and versatile gene fusion marker in higher plants. EMBO J 6:3901–3907.
- Stougaard J, Abildsten D, Marcker KA (1987) The Agrobacterium rhizogenes pRi TL-DNA segment as a gene vector system for transformation of plants. Mol Gen Genet 207:251–255.
- 8. Diaz CL, Gronlund M, Schlamann H, Spaink HP (2005) in *Lotus japonicus* Handbook, ed Marquez AJ (Springer, Dordrecht, The Netherlands), pp 261–277.
- Perry JA, et al. (2003) A TILLING reverse genetics tool and a web-accessible collection of mutants of the legume Lotus japonicus. Plant Physiol 131:866–871.
- Tansengco ML, Hayashi M, Kawaguchi M, Imaizumi-Anraku H, Murooka Y (2003) crinkle, a novel symbiotic mutant that affects the infection thread growth and alters the root hair, trichome, and seed development in Lotus japonicus. Plant Physiol 131:1054–1063.
- Offringa IA, et al. (1986) Complementation of Agrobacterium tumefaciens tumorinducing aux mutants by genes from the T_R-region of the Ri plasmid of Agrobacterium rhizogenes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:6935–6939.

containing 6 M, 4 M, 2 M, 1 M, and 0 M urea. Dialysed protein samples were centrifuged (50,000 × g, 30 min, 4 °C) and the supernatant was used for kinase assays. Protein elutions obtained from native purification (CYCLOPS 255–518) were combined and transferred into buffer A by PD-10 column (GE Healthcare). Purification of maltose binding protein (MBP) tagged CCaMK and in vitro kinase assays were described previously (5). Each reaction was carried out by using 1- μ g MBP-CCaMK protein and 2- μ g full-length 6xHis-CYCLOPS, or derivatives, as substrate. Phosphorylation reactions were performed at 25 °C for 30 min in the presence of either 4 mM EGTA or 0.1 mM CaCl₂ with or without 0.5 μ M bovine calmodulin (Sigma).

Complementation Analysis With OsCYCLOPS. For analysis of root nodule symbiosis complementation, A. rhizogenes-induced transgenic roots of L. japonicus WT Gifu and of the cyclops-3 mutant line (Table S1) (transformed with the OsCYCLOPS, or LiCYCLOPS coding sequence, respectively, each fused to the LjCYCLOPS promoter) were inoculated with M. loti MAFF303099 expressing DsRED. After 4 weeks of cocultivation (WOC), plants were analyzed for the simultaneous presence of nodules and ITs. For AM complementation analysis, transformed plants were cocultivated with G. intraradices BEG195, and harvested after 3 WOC; transformed roots were stained as described (16). Roots were scored "AM+", if symbiotic structures (arbuscules and vesicles) were present, and as "AM-", if no arbuscules and no vesicles were observed. Roots were considered complemented and scored AM+, when aborted infection sites in co-occurrence with successful infection, and fungal colonization events, accompanied by arbuscule and vesicle formation, were observed.

- Wulff BB, Thomas CM, Smoker M, Grant M, Jones JD (2001) Domain swapping and gene shuffling identify sequences required for induction of an Avr-dependent hypersensitive response by the tomato Cf-4 and Cf-9 proteins. *Plant Cell* 13:255– 272.
- Koncz C, Schell J (1986) The promoter of the TL-DNA gene 5 controls the tissue-specific expression of chimaeric genes carried by a novel type of Agrobacterium vector. Mol Gen Genet 204:383–396.
- Lazo GR, Stein PA, Ludwig RA (1991) A DNA transformation-competent Arabidopsis genomic library in Agrobacterium. Biotechnol (NY) 9:963–967.
- Voinnet O, Rivas S, Mestre P, Baulcombe D (2003) An enhanced transient expression system in plants based on suppression of gene silencing by the p19 protein of tomato bushy stunt virus. *Plant J* 33:949–956.
- Demchenko K, Winzer T, Stougaard J, Parniske M, Pawlowski K (2004) Distinct roles of Lotus japonicus SYMRK and SYM15 in root colonization and arbuscule formation. New Phytol 163:381–392.
- Kistner C, et al. (2005) Seven Lotus japonicus genes required for transcriptional reprogramming of the root during fungal and bacterial symbiosis. Plant Cell 17:2217– 2229.
- Schauser L, et al. (1998) Symbiotic mutants deficient in nodule establishment identified after T-DNA transformation of Lotus japonicus. Mol Gen Genet 259:414–423.
- Szczyglowski K, et al. (1998) Nodule organogenesis and symbiotic mutants of the model legume Lotus japonicus. Mol Plant–Microbe Interact 11:684–697.
- Yano K, et al. (2006) New nodulation mutants responsible for infection thread development in Lotus japonicus. Mol Plant–Microbe Interact 19:801–810.
- Lupas A, Van Dyke M, Stock J (1991) Predicting coiled coils from protein sequences. Science 252:1162–1164.



Fig. S1. *OsCYCLOPS* restores both fungal and bacterial endosymbioses in *Lotus cyclops-3* mutants. Transgenic roots were *A. rhizogenes* induced and selected via fluorescence of eGFP encoded on the transfer DNA. (*A*, *B*, *G*, and *H*) *cyclops-3* roots transformed with a control vector lacking a *CYCLOPS* expression cassette. (*C*, *D*, and *I–L*) *cyclops-3* roots carrying the *LjCYCLOPS* coding sequence and (*E*, *F*, and *M–P*), the *OsCYCLOPS* coding sequence, both under control of the *LjCYCLOPS* promoter region. (*A–F*) Roots cocultivated with *G. intraradices* for 3 weeks. (*A* and *B*) Transgenic control root with extraradical mycelium, but no intraradical fungal colonization or arbuscule formation. (*A* and *B*) Fungal infection attempts aborted within the epidermal or outer cortical tissue. (*C–F*) *cyclops-3* roots carrying the *LjCYCLOPS* (*C* and *D*) and *OsCYCLOPS* (*E* and *F*) coding sequences, showing dense fungal colonization (*C* and *E*) and arbuscule formation in the inner cortical tissue (*D* and *F*). (*G–P*) Root systems inoculated with a *DsRED* expressing strain of *M. loti* and incubated for 4 weeks. (*G* and *H*) Transgenic control root without mature nodules. Small primordial swellings (arrow in *G*) do not contain bacteria (not shown). Such swellings are typically formed in *Ljcyclops* mutant roots upon *M. loti* inoculation (17, 20). (*I–P*) *cyclops-3* roots carrying the *LjCYCLOPS* (*I–L*) and *OsCYCLOPS* (*M–P*) coding sequences, showing mature nodules exhibit pink coloration in white light (*K* and *O*) and red fluorescence of the inner nodule tissue (*L* and *P*) indicating the presence of symbiosis-specific leghemoglobins and of *DsRED*- expressing bacteria, respectively. (ai, aborted infection; ap, fungal appressorium; ar, arbuscule; eh, extraradical hypha; is, infection site; vt, root vasculature.) [Scale bars: 0.1 mm (*A*, *C*, and *E*); 0.02 mm (*B*, *D*, and *F*); 2 mm (*G–J* and *M–N*); 0.5 mm (*K–L* and *O–P*).]



Fig. 52. Positional cloning of *CYCLOPS*. (*A*) Genetic map of the *CYCLOPS* locus on linkage group 2. TM0020, TM0974, and TM1522 are SSR markers. (*B*) Physical map of the *CYCLOPS* locus. LjB11B14 is a BAC clone, LjT12H02, LjT14N05, LjT12C04, and LjT10G21 are TAC clones. Two F₂ populations from *cyclops-3* × MG-20 (458 plants) and *cyclops-4* × MG-20 (2,183 plants) were analyzed for mapping. (*C*) Candidate genes in the *CYCLOPS* locus delimited by recombination events. (*I*, NBS-LRR type disease resistance protein; II, hypothetical protein; III, CYCLOPS; IV, ATP-dependent Clp protease-like protein.) Positions of markers are indicated together with the number of recombinant plants in the mapping population. (*D*) Gene structure of *CYCLOPS*. Black boxes indicate exons. Gray box indicates alternative splicing (retention of intron 3) identified through sequence analysis of cDNA clones and RT-PCR across exon borders. The asterisk indicates the position of a premature stop codon in the splice variant. Arrows indicate the positions of mutations in *cyclops* alleles.



Fig. S3. Characterization of *O. sativa cyclops Tos17* insertion lines. (*A*) Exon structures of *L. japonicus* (*Lj*) CYCLOPS and rice (*Os*) CYCLOPS genes are conserved. Exons are labeled 1–11. Only regions covering the coding sequences are represented. Dotted lines indicate intron positions, black bars represent predicted nuclear localization signals (NLSs) and gray bars are coiled-coil regions in the conceptual amino acid sequences. Only the functionally confirmed NLS (Fig. S7) of *L. japonicus* CYCLOPS is depicted. The positions of *Tos17* insertions in the 4 rice *cyclops* lines are indicated. (*B*) AM quantification in rice *cyclops* insertion lines after 2 and 3 weeks of coculture (WOC) with *G. intraradices*. For each of the lines and at each time point, roots of 12 WT and 12 mutant plants were tested. Values are derived from 100 intersects randomly scored in 4 roots per plant. Intersects were scored as containing arbuscules, vesicles, or intraradical hyphae only. Mean values ± SD are shown. (Hom., homozygous; WT, wild-type plants.)



Fig. S4. Complementation of *cyclops-3* with the *CYCLOPS* genomic sequence. Hairy roots were induced via *A. rhizogenes*-mediated transformation, and inoculated with *M. loti* MAFF303099. (*A* and *B*) A vector containing the *CYCLOPS* genomic sequence including its own promoter was introduced into mutant plants homozygous for the *cyclops-3* allele. Nodule development was observed in 27 of 30 transformed plants, with an average number of 4.0 ± 1.8 fully developed, WT-like nodules per plant. (*C* and *D*) The *cyclops-3* mutant was transformed with an empty vector. None of the 29 transformed plants developed WT-like nodules. (*B* and *D*) GFP fluorescence indicating transformed hairy roots. (Scale bar, 2 mm.)

DNAS

Pea Medicago Lotus Rice	MEGRGFSGLYKNSSEELFLKTVMESPIGMPVPTMEMLGFKTVSQSFRADSEELFKRWL MEGRGFSGLYKNSSEELFLKTVMESPIGMPVPTMEMLGFKTVSQSFRTDSEELFKRWL MEGRGFSGLYRNSSEELFLKTVMESPIGMPVPSMEMLGFKNVSQGFRADSEELFKRWL MEGRGLSELFRNTSEDMFLKAMMENSMGVAAAAPSMEMMGFRNLSQGFREDSEELFNSWL *****:* *::*:**::**::**::*: .:*:*:	58 58 58 60
Pea	TNE-EGYNSTSMGLNSRLSKRISTELVNVSNQQHVGVASEGRNNDKSCLQNSFLTNDVSG	117
Medicago	TNDQEGYNSSSMGLNSRLSKRISTEIANMSNQQHIGVASEGRNNDKSCLQNNFLANDVSS	118
Lotus	TNG-EGYNSSSIGFSSRLSKRISTELVNGSNQLQVGVASDGRNNDKPFIQNNLLANDVSG	117
Rice	MNG-EIPGFSAMNNRPRQPSRLSSEAAGFPNQQHE-IAQEHFPTDNLIPQNLAVHSEFTM	118
	* * * * *	
Pea	DFN-FPIREPVDRELQSGNLFLAKAWFLTDQRMTRSRSSELRRRYTEMQNTQAPQGLDSM	176
Medicago	DFN-FPIRDPVDRELQSSNLFLAKAWFITDQRMTRSRSSELRRRYTEMQNSQAPQGLDSM	177
Lotus	DFN-FPIRDPVDRELQPSNLFLAKAWFLSDQRMTRSRSSELRRRYSEMQNGLATQGIESI	176
Rice	NHNQQQLKNAAEKGMQASDLLLAKAWFHSTQPMTRSRSSELRKRYAAMQSNMPPI	173
	1.* 11111 1*1*1***** 1 * **********	
Pea	FMAPKHDANIIKEELAHFNGFDYLSMCEIPSOKGSFMSPSNSSSSTFNTOOLVDVDKVSS	236
Medicago	FMVPEHDTNTIKEELANFNGFDYLSMCELPSOKGTFMSPSNSSSSTFNTHOLVDVDKVSS	237
Lotus	CMDPOHGAEATKOEVANFNGYNYLSMCELPSOKGSFMSPSNSCSSNFNTPOFGDMDKVSS	236
Rice	TTETIETANKLRODLTNASTVNSAPMSNTPSOTPTFVSPSSSSTSPLDNPHIVAODTITS	233
	* ****.***.**	07.00
Pea	CVSMLKGTLORKRLECOVEKDAAEDGLNEIFGIREPLFOSGFNEGOENWNHOKLVNVOGD	296
Medicago	CVSMLKGTLORKKLECOVEKEAAEDGLNEIFCIREPLFOSAFNE-EESWNOOKLVNVOGD	296
Lotus	CVSMLKGTLORRRLSSOLEKEAAEDDLNGIFYPOEPLFOTGFDOGOENWSNOTPVNVOVD	296
Rice	VVSMLKDTLERKKLSSHANGDTSSGISFGFYDSOHFOONILGGTDIFPLVTTS	286
	*****.**:*::* : :	
Pea	FTDOVKDTGVIETLEGAANFVLEGFANOTSOIHGGTASGEPSOSESSAAAPVISSGLDAC	356
Medicago	FTDOVNDPGVMOTLEGTTNFVLDGFANOTNOIOGRTASGEPSOSESSAAAPVISSGLDAC	356
Lotus	SIGEVKDHGVLQTLEGSTNPVVDGFANQINQIYVGTASGEPSQSESSNAAPVISSGLDTC	356
Rice	QIQDSVMLPKVERPTEQGSGNFVAPANQVWLGTASREPSQSGSSTAIPAPSAGFEVC	343
	111* 11 .1* .11 .**1 *** ***** ** * *. *1*11.*	
Pea	EGPSNSSQTLCDSSWKQVGESTQNRAKGVREQIMDN-LKDD	408
Medicago	EGPSNSNQTLGDSSWKQVGESTQNKVRGVREQIMDN-LKDDRKRKSLERYGSV	408
Lotus	EGPINSNQTLCESSWKQVGVSKSSENTQNRVKGFREQIMDN-LKDDKKRKSLERYGSI	413
Rice	DDLPPIGQAMTVCESTRTNAANGNGTADCRSKGKDFRERILKENLKDDRKKGSLTRMGSI	403
	1 * *1 1*1 .1 1.1 1**1*1.1 ****1*1 * * **1	
Pea	TSAVSDDKVDTT <mark>KKRR</mark> VERSRKMAEAKERNLTPTIPSDMQAVMKRCENLEKEVRSLKLNL	468
Medicago	TSAVSDGKMDNT <mark>KKRR</mark> VERSRKMAEAKERNLTPTIPSDMQAILKRCENLEKEVRSLKLNL	468
Lotus	TSAVSDDKGDTT <mark>KKRR</mark> VERSRKMAEAKERNSTPSVPSDMQAVLKRCENLEKEVRSLKLNL	473
Rice	SSEQAD-KGDPT <mark>KKRR</mark> VERSRKMAEAKERSSTPVIPS <mark>DIQVVIKRCETIEKEVRSIKINL</mark> :* :* * * ****************************	462
Pea	SFMNRKDSEQTKQIEDLQKQNEELADEKERLLEEIERLLSETGK1 513	
Medicago	SFMNRKDSEQTKQIEDLQKQNEDLADEKERLLEEIERILSETGKI 513	
Lotus	SFMNRKDSEQTKQIEDLQKQNEELADEKERLLEEIERILSETEKM 518	
Rice	SFMNRKDSEQTKQIEELQKQNEDLVEEKERLLEEIERIVSDTNT- 506	

Fig. 55. Alignment of the *Lotus japonicus, Medicago truncatula, Pisum sativum* (pea), and *Oryza sativa* (rice) CYCLOPS proteins. Accession numbers are as follows: LjCYCLOPS, ABU63668; MtCYCLOPS, ABU63671; PsCYCLOPS, ABU63669; OsCYCLOPS, ABU63670. Alignment was done with CLUSTALW (http:// align.genome.jp/). Residues that are identical among all 4 protein sequences (*), conserved substitutions (:), and semiconserved substitutions (.) are indicated. *Medicago*, pea, and rice CYCLOPS comprise 513, 513, and 506 residues and have overall 78%, 79%, and 47% sequence identity with *L. japonicus* CYCLOPS, respectively. Two predicted nuclear localization signals (NLSs) identified by PSORT (http://www.psort.org/) are highlighted in black. Note that the 1st NLS of pea CYCLOPS is overlapped by 2 redundant sequences of 4 amino acid residues (RKRK and KRKR). Only 1 NLS was predicted in rice CYCLOPS. A predicted coiled-coil motif at the C terminus of the protein (http://www.ch.embnet.org/software/COILS_form.html) (21) is highlighted in gray (threshold value is 0.999 with 28 residues scan).

TAS PNAS



Fig. S6. Expression of *CYCLOPS* in response to *M. loti* MAFF303099. Quantitative RT-PCR analysis of (*A*) *CYCLOPS* expression in WT roots, noninoculated (0 days) and at 1, 2, 4, and 8 days post inoculation (dpi). (*B*) *CYCLOPS* expression in uninoculated WT *L. japonicus* roots (UR) and shoots (US), and in inoculated shoots (IS), infected roots without nodules (IR), and nodules (N) 3 weeks post inoculation (wpi). Fold increases in expression are shown relative to uninoculated roots (*A* and *B*). Mean values \pm standard deviations are shown. (*C* and *D*) In situ hybridization of nodules with *CYCLOPS* antisense probe (*C*) and sense probe (*D*). (Scale bars, 100 μ m.) (*E* and *F*) Activity of the *CYCLOPS* promoter fused to the *GUS* reporter gene in WT roots. (*E*) Dividing cortical cells in the root inoculated with *M. loti.* (*F*) Mature nodule. [Scale bars, 100 μ m (*E*) and 1.0 mm (*F*).]

<

<



Fig. S7. Subcellular localization of CYCLOPS. Fusions of GFP to the N terminus of either full-length or C-terminally truncated CYCLOPS derivatives were transiently expressed in *N. benthamiana leaves* via *A. tumefaciens* transformation. (*A*) GFP-CYCLOPS (full-length). (*B*) GFP-CYCLOPS 1–449, lacking the coiled-coil motif. (C) GFP-CYCLOPS 1–421 lacking the second NLS. (*D*) GFP-CYCLOPS 1–366 lacking both NLSs. (*E*) Expression of free GFP. *Left Images* show the cell architecture (differential interference contrast); *Right Images* show GFP fluorescence of the same cell. (Scale bars, 50 μm.)

DNAS


Fig. S8. Colocalization of CYCLOPS and CCaMK in *L. japonicus* root nuclei. *L. japonicus* WT seedlings were cotransformed with 2 *Agrobacterium* strains carrying either a CCaMK-GFP or RFP-CYCLOPS T-DNA construct. Cotransformed hairy roots were selected by fluorescence of both fusion proteins. (A) Laser transmission image. (B) CCaMK-GFP. (C) RFP-CYCLOPS. (D) Merged image of A–C. (Scale bar, 50 μm.)

SANG SA

Table S1. cyclops mutant alleles

Allele		Previous allele	Ref(s)	Mutation			Phenotype	
	Line			cDNA	Amino acid	Nod*	AM ⁺	
cyclops-1	10512.9	sym6-1	(17, 18)	Insertion between exons 10 and 11	+15 residues after R478	np	-	
cyclops-2	1962-124	sym6-2	(18)	Deletion A737	+17 residues after L245	np	-	
cyclops-3	EMS126	sym30, sym6-3	(17, 18, 19)	G1112A	W371 stop	np	_	
cyclops-4	N-4	sym82	(20)	C319T	Q107 stop	np	-	
cyclops-5	SL1347-2		(9, [±])	Deletion G1281	+29 residues after K427	np	-	

Complementation between *cyclops-1* and *cyclops-2* (18), or *cyclops-3* (17) was previously described. *"np" indicates nodule primordia with arrested infection within curled root hairs. ""-" indicates defects in AM symbiosis.

PNAS PNAS

⁺The *cyclops-5* allele was identified in this work through TILLING (9).

Table S2. Restoration of root symbioses in the Lotus cyclops-3 mutant

SANG SANG

Plant genotype	Transgene	AM+	IT	Nod+	Nodules/ nodulated plant
cyclops-3	marker only*	0/12	-	0/11	0
WT	LjCYCLOPS	12/12	+	30/32	5.0
cyclops-3	LjCYCLOPS	19/24	+	14/21	3.1
WT	OsCYCLOPS	14/14	+	16/16	7.3
cyclops-3	OsCYCLOPS	18/25	+	15/24	3.0

AM+, root systems containing arbuscules; IT, infection thread formation; Nod+, roots with fully developed nodules. Numbers refer to A. rhizogenes-transformed root systems. Numbers are compiled results of 2 independent experiments. Constructs were equipped with the L. japonicus (Lj) or rice (Os) CYCLOPS coding sequence and were under the control of the LjCYCLOPS promoter region.

*Plants were transformed with the respective binary vector lacking a CYCLOPS expression cassette.

Table S3. Spontaneous nodule formation with gain-of-function CCaMK

Genotype	Construct	Inoculation	Nod+/total*	Nod/plant ⁺	Nod size, cm ⁺
WT	T265D	_	27/28	7.19 ± 4.58	0.690 ± 0.159
cyclops-4	T265D	_	10/66	1.80 ± 1.03	0.699 ± 0.180
WT	T265T	_	0/44	0	-
cyclops-4	T265T	-	0/34	0	-

Spontaneous nodules (Nod) were developed without inoculation. Nod were scored 8 weeks after transplanting.

*Number of plants with spontaneous nodules per number of transformed plants.

[†]Average \pm SD is shown.

PNAS PNAS

Table S4. Primer sequences

PNAS PNAS

Target sequence		Primer sequence
Expression analysis:		
CYCLOPS	forward	5'-GCTGGCAGATGAAAAAGAGC-3'
	reverse	5'-GCGTGTTTGAGCACAACATT-3'
NIN	forward	5'-TGGATCAGCTAGCATGGAAT-3'
	reverse	5'-TCTGCTTCTGCTGTTGTCAC-3'
ENOD40-1	forward	5'-TCACCATGGAGGTATGCTCA-3'
	reverse	5'-TTTGGAACAGCACAAGTTGG-3'
EF-1	forward	5'-GCAGGTCTTTGTGTCAAGTCTT-3'
	reverse	5'-CGATCCAGAACCCAGTTCT-3'
Plasmid construction:		
CYCLOPS promoter	forward	5'-ATGGATCCCCAGAGATCCCTGATGATG-3'
	reverse	5'-ATGGCGCGCCTTCCAATTGAAGCTGTTGTTTTC-3'
CYCLOPS transcript terminator	forward	5'-ATGGCGCGCCTATGAGAATCAATGTTGTGCTCAAACACG-3'
	reverse	5'-ATGAGCTCTGTTAATTTTGTTAGCTCAAGTGG-3'
GUSPlus 1st PCR	forward	5'-AAAAAGCAGGCTACCATGGTAGATCTGAGGGTAA-3'
	reverse	5'-AGAAAGCTGGGTTCACACGTGATGGTGATGGT-3'
GUSPlus 2nd PCR	forward	5'-GGGGACAAGTTTGTACAAAAAGCAGGCT-3'
	reverse	5'-GGGGACCACTTTGTACAAGAAAGCTGGGT-3'
CYCLOPS genomic sequence 1st PCR	forward	5'-AAAAAGCAGGCTTGGAAATGGAAGGGAGGGG-3'
	reverse	5'-AGAAAGCTGGGTTCATTACATTTTTCAGTTTCTGATAGAATTC-3'
CYCLOPS genomic sequence 2nd PCR	forward	5'-GGGGACAAGTTTGTACAAAAAGCAGGCT-3'
	reverse	5'-GGGGACCACTTTGTACAAGAAAGCTGGGT-3'
In situ hybridization:		
CYCLOPS cDNA (493 bp)	forward	5'-CTGCGAAAGCTCATGGAAAC-3'
	reverse	5'-GCGTGTTTGAGCACAACATT-3'
Primer name		Primer sequence
Complementation analysis of cyclops-4 with gain	-of-function CCaMK:	
HindIII-35S-f	forward	5'-TCCAGTAAGCTTTCCCCAGATTAGCCTTTTCA-3'
35S-MCS-r	reverse	5'-CCTAGGTACCGGATCCACTAGTAGGCCTTCTAGAGTCCCCCGTGTTCT-3'
MCS-Nos-f	forward	5'-AGTGGATCCGGTACCTAGGCGCGCGCCATCGATCGTTCAAACATTTGGC-3'
Nos-Sacl-r	reverse	5'-AATCGGAGCTCGATCTAGTAACATAGATGACACCG-3'
Xbal-CCaMK-f	forward	5'-GCTCTAGAATGGGATATGATCAAACCAGAAAG-3'
CCaMK-TD-r	reverse	5'-CCTTCCAATCCTTCTCATAGAAAC-3'
CCaMK-TD-f	forward	5'-TCAGTTTCTATGAGAAGGATTGGA-3'
CCaMK-Ascl-r	reverse	5'-AGGCGCGCCCTATGATGGACGAAGAGAGAGA-3'
Genotyping of O. sativa Tos17 insertion lines:		
OsCYCL_In3_f	forward	5'-AGGCATTTTCATCACCCATC-3'
OsCYCL_Ex6_f	forward	5'-CACCCAGTCAGACTCCAACA-3'
OsCYCL_Ex6_r	reverse	5'-ATGCTGTACCAAGCCAAACC-3'
Tos17_f/r	for/rev	5'-ATTGTTAGGTTGCAAGTTAGTTAAGA-3'
OsCYCLOPS cross-species complementation analy	sis*:	
LjCYCL_ATG_f	forward	5'-aattaacctaggatccATGGAAGGGAGGGGGTTTTCTGG-3'
LjCYCL_TAA_r	reverse	5'-aataatcccgggTTACATTTTTCAGTTTCTGATAG-3'
OsCYCL_ATG_f	forward	5'-aattaacctaggatccATGGAGGGCAGGGGTCTGTCTGAG-3'
OsCYCL_TAA_r	reverse	5'-aataatcccgggTTATGTGTTGGTATCAGAGACG-3'
polyA_NOS_f	forward	5'-aataaacctaggATCAGCTTGCATGCCGGTCG-3'
polyA_NOS_r	reverse	5'-aaataagtcgacCTAGAGTCAAGCAGATCGTTCAAAC-3'

*Lower case characters indicate engineered sequences including restriction sites.

5.3 Curriculum Vitae

CURRICULUM VITAE

KATHARINA MARKMANN

PERSONAL DATA Date of Birth Nov. 02, 1976 Place of Birth Telgte (North-Rhine-Westphalia, Germany) PRIMARY AND SECONDARY EDUCATION 1983-1987 Everwordt-Grundschule Freckenhorst 1987-1996 Gymnasium Laurentianum Warendorf Aug.-Dec. 1993 Niles North High School (Chicago, Illinois, USA) June 1996 Abitur (Final examination) HIGHER EDUCATION Oct. 1996- Jan. 2003 Philipps-Universität Marburg Degree program: Biology (diploma); main subjects: Mycology, Ecology, Cell Biology/Applied Botany July 1998 Pre-Diploma examination; average: 1.0 Sept. 1998-June 1999 Wilfrid Laurier University (Waterloo, Ontario, Canada); courses in Biology and Anthropology (student exchange program) Dec. 2001-Nov. 2002 Diploma thesis (Dept. of Mycology, Prof. Dr. Gerhard Kost); average: 1.0 Nov. 2002 Diploma examination; average: 1.0 Oct. 2003-Oct. 2004 PhD (The Sainsbury Laboratory, John Innes Centre, Norwich, United Kingdom; Prof. Dr. Martin Parniske) PhD continued (Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München, Oct. 2004-July 2008 Genetics; Prof. Dr. Martin Parniske) Post-doctoral scientist (Centre for carbohydrate recognition Aug. 2008-present and signalling (CARB), University of Aarhus, Aarhus, Denmark; Prof. Dr. Jens Stougaard)

July 24-27, 2004	6 th European Nitrogen Fixation Conference (Toulouse, France; joint poster presentation)	
July 22-26, 2006	7 th European Nitrogen Fixation Conference (Aarhus, Denmark; poster presentation)	
Jan. 21-26, 2007	Joint 15 th International Congress on Nitogen Fixation & 12 th International Conference of the African Association for Biological Nitrogen Fixation (Cape Town, South Africa; invited oral presentation)	
Aug. 30-Sept. 03, 2008	8 th European Nitrogen Fixation Conference (Ghent, Belgium; poster presentation)	
Awards and Grants		
Scholarship	Scholarship of the German National Merit Foundation (Studienstiftung des deutschen Volkes) (Jan. 2000- Jan. 2003)	
Course Studentship	Spanish language course, funded by the German National Merit Foundation (April 2003)	
Poster Award	1 st poster prize at the 7 th European Nitrogen Fixation Conference (Aarhus, Denmark)	
Research Grants	Grants by the BFHZ (Bayerisch-Französisches Hochschulzentrum) (2004- 2006) and PROCOPE/DAAD (Deutscher Akademischer Austausch Dienst) (2006-2007) supporting collaborative projects with a French research team	
PUBLICATIONS		

Markmann, K. and Parniske, M. (2009).

Evolution of root endosymbiosis with bacteria: how novel are nodules? Trends in Plant Science: 14, 77-86.

Markmann, K., Giczey, G. and Parniske, M. (2008).
Functional adaptation of a plant receptor kinase gene paved the way for the evolution of intracellular root symbioses with bacteria. PLoS Biology 6(3): e68.

Gherbi, H.*, Markmann, K.*, Svistonoof, S., Estevan, J., Autran, D., Giczey, G., Auguy, F.,

Péret, B., Laplaze, L., Franche, C., Parniske, M. and Bogusz, D. (2008).

SymRK defines a common basis for plant root endosymbioses with AM fungi, rhizobia and *Frankia* bacteria. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA 105(12): 4928-4932.

Yano, K., Yoshida, S., Müller, J., Singh, S., Banba, M., Vickers, K., **Markmann, K.** et al. White, C., Schuller, B., Sato, S., Asamizu, E., Tabata, S., Murooka, Y., Perry, J., Wang, T., Kawaguchi, M., Imaizumi-Anraku, H., Hayashi, M., Parniske, M. (2008).

CYCLOPS, a mediator of symbiotic intracellular accomodation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA: 105, 20540-20545.

Perry, J., Welham, T., Brachmann, A., Charpentier, M., Markmann, K., Wang, T. and Parniske, M.

Mining the symbiotic component of the *Lotus japonicus* genome using classical genetics and thematic TILLING. Manuscript in preparation.